# VASCULAR INFLAMMATION IN AGING AND NEURODEGENERATION

EDITED BY: Donghui Zhu, Axel Montagne and Zhen Zhao PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience





#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83250-602-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83250-602-8

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

# VASCULAR INFLAMMATION IN AGING AND NEURODEGENERATION

Topic Editors: **Donghui Zhu**, Stony Brook University, United States **Axel Montagne**, University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom **Zhen Zhao**, University of Southern California, United States

**Citation:** Zhu, D., Montagne, A., Zhao, Z., eds. (2022). Vascular Inflammation in Aging and Neurodegeneration. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83250-602-8

# Table of Contents

05 Shifted Dynamics of Glucose Metabolism in the Hippocampus During Aging

Ivan Ge, Gregory Wohl Kirschen and Xinxing Wang

14 Association of Aortic Stiffness and Cognitive Decline: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Qian Liu, Jinghuan Fang, Chaohua Cui, Shuju Dong, Lijie Gao, Jiajia Bao, Yanbo Li, Mengmeng Ma, Ning Chen and Li He

- 24 Inflammatory Biomarkers Aid in Diagnosis of Dementia Erik B. Erhardt, John C. Adair, Janice E. Knoefel, Arvind Caprihan, Jillian Prestopnik, Jeffrey Thompson, Sasha Hobson, David Siegel and Gary A. Rosenberg
- **35** *Microglial TREM2 Mitigates Inflammatory Responses and Neuronal Apoptosis in Angiotensin II-Induced Hypertension in Middle-Aged Mice* Xiaotian Xu, Lin Du, Jianxiong Jiang, Ming Yang, Zhaoxia Wang, Yingge Wang, Tieyu Tang, Xuetao Fu and Jiukuan Hao
- Glibenclamide Attenuates Neuroinflammation and Promotes Neurological Recovery After Intracerebral Hemorrhage in Aged Rats
   Bing Jiang, Ying Zhang, Yan Wang, Zheng Li, Qianwei Chen, Jun Tang and Gang Zhu
- 61 Vascular Dementia and Underlying Sex Differences Firoz Akhter, Alicia Persaud, Younis Zaokari, Zhen Zhao and Donghui Zhu
- 78 The Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio Is Associated With the Risk of Subsequent Dementia in the Framingham Heart Study Jaime Ramos-Cejudo, Andrew D. Johnson, Alexa Beiser, Sudha Seshadri, Joel Salinas, Jeffrey S. Berger, Nathanael R. Fillmore, Nhan Do, Chunlei Zheng, Zanetta Kovbasyuk, Babak A. Ardekani, Omonigho M. Bubu, Ankit Parekh, Antonio Convit, Rebecca A. Betensky, Thomas M. Wisniewski and Ricardo S. Osorio
- 87 The Interplay Between Brain Vascular Calcification and Microglia Upasana Maheshwari, Sheng-Fu Huang, Sucheta Sridhar and Annika Keller
- 101 Microvascular Changes in Parkinson's Disease- Focus on the Neurovascular Unit

Gesine Paul and Osama F. Elabi

109 Aging-Related Vascular Inflammation: Giant Cell Arteritis and Neurological Disorders

Ryu Watanabe and Motomu Hashimoto

116 Pathophysiological Mechanisms Underlying Idiopathic Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus: A Review of Recent Insights

Phillip A. Bonney, Robert G. Briggs, Kevin Wu, Wooseong Choi, Anadjeet Khahera, Brandon Ojogho, Xingfeng Shao, Zhen Zhao, Matthew Borzage, Danny J. J. Wang, Charles Liu and Darrin J. Lee

#### 126 The Role of Neutrophils in the Dysfunction of Central Nervous System Barriers

Bruno Santos-Lima, Enrica Caterina Pietronigro, Eleonora Terrabuio, Elena Zenaro and Gabriela Constantin

#### 141 The Stress Hyperglycemia Ratio is Associated With the Development of Cerebral Edema and Poor Functional Outcome in Patients With Acute Cerebral Infarction

Yilun Deng, Simiao Wu, Junfeng Liu, Meng Liu, Lu Wang, JinCheng Wan, Shihong Zhang and Ming Liu





## Shifted Dynamics of Glucose Metabolism in the Hippocampus During Aging

#### Ivan Ge<sup>1</sup>, Gregory Wohl Kirschen<sup>2</sup> and Xinxing Wang<sup>3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Ward Melville High School, East Setauket, NY, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, The Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Neurobiology and Behavior, The State University of New York at Stony Brook, Stony Brook, NY, United States

Aging is a process that adversely affects brain functions such as cognition. Brain activity is highly energy consuming, with glucose serving as the main energy source under normal circumstances. Whether the dynamics of glucose metabolism change with aging is not well understood. This study sought to investigate the activity-dependent changes in glucose metabolism of the mouse hippocampus during aging. In brief, after 1 h of contextual exploration in an enriched environmental condition or 1 h in a familiar home cage condition, metabolites were measured from the hippocampus of both young adult and aged mice with metabolomic profiling. Compared to the home cage context, the enriched contextual exploration condition resulted in changes in the concentration of 11 glucose metabolism-related metabolites in the young adult hippocampus. In contrast, glucose metabolism-related metabolite changes were more apparent in the aged group altered by contextual exploration when compared to those in the home cage condition. Importantly, in the aged groups, several key metabolites involved in glycolysis, the TCA cycle, and ketone body metabolism accumulated, suggesting the less efficient metabolization of glucose-based energy resources. Altogether, the analyses revealed that in the aged mice altered by enriched contextual exploration, the glucose resource seems to be unable to provide enough energy for hippocampal function.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Zhen Zhao, University of Southern California, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Juan Song, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, United States Yan Gu, Zhejiang University, China Mi-Hyeon Jang, Mayo Clinic, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Xinxing Wang xinxing.wang@stonybrook.edu

Received: 25 April 2021 Accepted: 19 May 2021 Published: 14 June 2021

#### Citation:

Ge I, Kirschen GW and Wang X (2021) Shifted Dynamics of Glucose Metabolism in the Hippocampus During Aging. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:700306. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.700306 Keywords: aging, glucose metabolism, hippocampus, energy, enriched contextual exploration

## HIGHLIGHTS

- Glycolysis becomes less efficient in the aged hippocampus altered by contextual exploration.
- TCA cycle is altered in the aged hippocampus by contextual exploration.
- Ketone body metabolism is elevated in the aged hippocampus altered by contextual exploration.

## INTRODUCTION

Aging is a degenerative process that affects almost all biological organisms (Mattson and Arumugam, 2018). During the aging process, there is a buildup of biological waste products and metabolites that likely contribute to the development of degenerative diseases. For instance, aging has been associated with diseases such as atherosclerosis with the accumulation of oxidized lipid

particles in the subintimal layer of the arterial wall (Tyrrell and Goldstein, 2021), and age-related macular degeneration with the accumulation of cholesterol-rich drusen deposits in the central area of the retina (Al-Zamil and Yassin, 2017). Importantly, age-related degeneration has a particularly prominent effect on the brain and can negatively impact important functions such as cognition and sleep (Mattis and Sehgal, 2016; Mander et al., 2017; Schaum et al., 2020). Although many molecular mechanisms underlying brain degeneration have been discovered, the mechanisms involved in possible changes in energy-related metabolism remain largely unknown.

Since neurons require high energy consumption to function normally, notably to drive a sodium gradient across the cell membrane via the Na+/K+-ATPase, the cell's energy production capability is vital for the execution of brain physiological functions (Dienel, 2019). Although previous research demonstrates that energy metabolism is altered in the aged brain compared to the young adult brain, a more specific and quantitative description of energy metabolic pathways in the brain (Hoyer, 1990; Camandola and Mattson, 2017; Drulis-Fajdasz et al., 2018; Manza et al., 2020), especially in animals completing behavioral tasks, is not well-understood. Glucose is the major energy resource responsible for supporting brain activity under non-starvation conditions (Mergenthaler et al., 2013; Dienel, 2019). Previous non-invasive imaging techniques provided direct and indirect evidence of glucose level changes in the brain during neural activity (Choi et al., 2001; Raichle and Mintun, 2006; Magistretti and Allaman, 2015). It is also important to note that several other studies showed that activity led to increases in blood flow and glucose, but only slightly increases oxygen consumption. This elucidates the hypothesis that both oxidative and non-oxidative glucose metabolism might be involved in providing energy for neural activity (Belanger et al., 2011; Figley and Stroman, 2011). However, detailed metabolic mechanisms underlying these changes are lacking.

To better understand the possible changes in metabolites during hippocampal activity, we used a metabolomics method to analyze the dynamics of energy-related pathways in the mouse brain. In this present study, we performed a global metabolomics analysis to investigate the differences in the hippocampal energy metabolism of both young adult (6week-old) and aged (78-week-old) mice under resting and hippocampal-engaged contextual exploration conditions. Metabolites in the glucose metabolic pathway, tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, and ketone body metabolism were measured in both age categories as well as both conditions. The activity-dependent dynamics were compared between the two conditions. Strikingly, we found substantially more changes in concentrations of metabolites in the aged group altered by contextual exploration compared to that of the young adult group. Interestingly, in the aged group, the glycolytic efficiency decreased while the ketone body metabolism increased. While changes in the overall energy production remain unknown, a clear shift in the energy production pathway was observed.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Experimental Animals**

Mice used for the metabolomics were either 6-week (young adult) or 78-week (aged) C57BL/6 male mice (The Jackson Laboratory). Animals were housed under a 12-h light/dark cycle cage and given *ad libitum* access to food and water. All experimental procedures were carried out in accordance with guidelines from the National Institutes of Health and approved by the Stony Brook University Animal Care and Use Committee.

## **Enriched Contextual Exploration**

Young adult and aged mice cohorts that were set as a contextual exploration group were given 1 week to become familiar with the exploration task. We arranged a cohort of 12 male mice that were 6-weeks-old and another cohort of 12 male mice that were 78-weeks-old. Six of the mice of each age were housed in a cage with 4-6 novel objects (wood blocks and plastic balls, 100-200 cm<sup>3</sup>), defined as an enriched environment group (EE), to increase context exploration as we have previously described (Shen et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2020). All mice were tested in a plastic cage (24.5  $\times$  47 cm) with wood bedding. The other six mice of each age were placed in a cage with only bedding, defined as a home cage group (HC or resting group). One hour after the mice were left in these two conditions, we sacrificed the mice and promptly collected the entire hippocampi for metabolomic analysis. All experiments were performed during the night cycle of mice and animals were sacrificed in a random order.

## **Metabolomic Profiling**

Animals were anesthetized with urethane (i.p. 1.5g/kg) and transcardially perfused with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) buffer. In each mouse, two hippocampi were separated immediately from both hemispheres on ice and directly frozen by dry ice before being stored in a -80°C freezer until processing. For sample extraction, several recovery standards were used before the first step in the extraction process to allow confirmation of extraction efficiency (MicroLab STAR system, Hamilton Company). To remove protein, small molecules bound to protein were dissociated or trapped in the precipitated protein matrix, and chemically diverse metabolites were recovered, with samples precipitated with methanol for 2 min (Glen Mills GenoGrinder 2000) followed by centrifugation. Samples were then placed briefly on a TurboVap (Zymark) to remove the organic solvent content and then frozen and dried with nitrogen. Instrument variability was determined by calculating the median relative standard deviation for the standards added to each sample before injection into the mass spectrometers. Overall process variability was determined by calculating the median relative standard deviation for all endogenous metabolites (i.e., non-instrument standards) present in 100% of the pooled matrix samples. Metabolomic profiling analysis utilized multiple platforms, including ultra-high performance liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry (UPLC-MS/MS) methods and hydrophilic interaction chromatography (HILIC)/UPLC-MS/MS, which was performed by Metabolon, Inc. Aliquots of the sample were analyzed using a Waters Acquity UPLC (Waters Corp.) and LTQ mass spectrometer (MS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.), which consisted of an electrospray ionization source and a linear ion-trap mass analyzer. The MS analysis alternated between MS and datadependent MSn scans using dynamic exclusion; scanning varied slightly between methods but covered 70–1,000 mass-tocharge ratio.

A global metabolite class within carbohydrates and energy categories was investigated. Compounds were identified by comparison to library entries for purified standards, including retention time/index, mass-to-charge ratio, and chromatographic data (including MS/MS spectral data) using Metabolon's hardware and software. Peaks were quantified using the area under the curve. Comprehensive metabolomic data analysis was performed using MetaboAnalyst 5.0 (https:// www.metaboanalyst.ca). Principal component analysis (PCA) was performed using MATLAB and applied for a preliminary evaluation of data quality between groups. Hierarchical cluster analysis (based on *t*-tests) was performed to create a heatmap of differentially expressed metabolites using MetaboAnalyst 5.0.

## **Statistical Analysis**

The original values for each metabolite are normalized in terms of raw area counts. All metabolites are rescaled to set the median equal to 1 and the missing values are imputed with the minimum. The data was analyzed with Student's *t*-tests (unpaired, two-tailed). A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM).

## RESULTS

## Metabolomics of the Aged Hippocampus Altered by an Enriched Contextual Exploration

Endogenous neurogenesis, neural circuit plasticity, and cognitive function in the hippocampus all decline during aging (Mattson and Arumugam, 2018). Recent studies, including the work from our group, have shown that the hippocampus, a key brain area for episodic memory, exhibits dramatic changes in concentration of metabolites related to energy consumption altered by a behavior task (McNay et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2020). While previous studies have shown the declining functionality of the aging hippocampus, the causes underlying this decay remain largely unknown. The impaired energy supply may contribute to the dysfunction of the aged hippocampus given that neuronal coding is an energy-intensive activity. We, therefore, aim to analyze the dynamics of energy productionrelated metabolites in the aged hippocampus in comparison to those of the young adult hippocampus altered by enriched contextual exploration, which serves as a stimulus to activate the hippocampus.

To analyze the dynamics of these metabolites in the hippocampus across aging, we first profiled metabolites of the hippocampus after hippocampus-engaged behaviors as outlined in Figure 1A. At both ages, out of the 593 analyzed metabolites, we sorted out 54 metabolites closely linked with carbohydrate metabolism and energy production. Using PCA analysis of six biological replicates of each group, we found a clear separation in the young adult and aged group under EE but not the HC condition (Figure 1B). Of the 6-weeks old mice groups, 11 metabolites had a significant difference (p < 0.05, unpaired t-test) between EE and HC conditions. In contrast to the changes in metabolite levels in young adult mice, the changes were more pronounced in aged mice after EE (Figure 1C). As shown in the hierarchical clustering heatmap (Figure 1D), we discovered activity-dependent changes in metabolites in the aged hippocampus that are involved in multiple pathways including glycolysis, pyruvate metabolism, galactose metabolism, TCA cycle, and oxidative phosphorylation.

Taken together, our metabolomic analysis of the young adult and aged hippocampus revealed substantial changes in levels of energy production-related metabolites in the aged mice when compared to those in young adult mice after enriched contextual exploration. This analysis suggests a possible energy metabolism shift in the aged hippocampus altered by a hippocampus-engaged exploratory behavior.

## Decreased Glycolytic Dynamics in the Aged Hippocampus Altered by an Enriched Contextual Exploration

Substantial changes in metabolites in the activated hippocampus of both young adult and aged groups altered by enriched contextual exploration motivated us to explore the metabolism of glucose, an essential carbohydrate metabolite. Importantly, the mammalian brain heavily depends on glucose as its main source of energy, although it can adapt to utilize ketone bodies during periods of starvation (Hasselbalch et al., 1994; Mergenthaler et al., 2013). It has been generally considered that the brain glucose metabolism starts with glycolysis in the astrocytes (Belanger et al., 2011). The end product of glycolysis, pyruvate, is then catalyzed into lactate, which is then transported into neurons to enter the TCA cycle for further metabolization. TCA cycle metabolites are then used to generate ATP via the electron transport chain in the mitochondria.

Therefore, we first analyzed the metabolites involved in glycolysis as summarized in **Figure 2A**. The concentrations of glucose and glycolytic metabolites between HC and EE were compared. We found that in the young adult hippocampus there was a slight increase of glucose and metabolites involved in glycolysis, including glucose-6-phosphate, dihydroxyacetone phosphate (DHAP), 3-phosphoglycerate, and phosphoenolpyruvate altered by enriched contextual exploration (**Figures 2B-G**). A significant increase of pyruvate was observed in these mice under EE. In contrast, in the aged hippocampus, a substantial increase in hippocampal glucose concentration was observed altered by contextual



**FIGURE 1** Metabolic analysis of the hippocampus altered by content exploration in aged mice. (A) Experimental design schematic for the metabolic analysis of aged hippocampus. (B) PCA analysis of six repeats of young adult and aged group underlying home cage (HC) and enriched environment (EE) conditions. (C) Volcano plot of the fold-change and *p*-value for all 54 metabolites between HC and EE conditions. The horizontal dashed line represents the significance cutoff specified in the analysis (p < 0.05). HC, n = 6; EE, n = 6; unpaired *t*-test. (D) Hierarchical clustering heatmap and averaged value of metabolites between HC and EE conditions.



phosphoenolpyruvate (G), and pyruvate (H) in young adult and aged mice under the unpaired t-test.

exploration (Figure 2H). In turn, levels of glucose 6-phosphate and fructose 1,6-bisphosphate had increased substantially (Figures 2C,D). Interestingly, we discovered that levels of DHAP and 3-phosphoglycerate, which are downstream of glucose 6-phosphate and fructose 1,6-bisphosphate, surprisingly remained unchanged (Figures 2E,F). Furthermore, levels of phosphoenolpyruvate also remained unchanged during EE conditions (Figure 2G). We should point out that an increase in pyruvate (Figure 2H), the end product of glycolysis, was discovered. This suggests a compensation mechanism from other energy sources to supplement the shortage in pyruvate production during glycolysis.

Altogether, the analyses revealed that glycolysis, the first step of glucose metabolism for energy production, changed during EE conditions and ended with elevated pyruvate levels in young adult mice. However, although the directional dynamics remained similar in the early steps of glycolysis in the aged mice, there was a significant break from the trend in the cleavage from fructose 1,6-bisphosphate to DHAP, suggesting a possible defect in the cellular mechanisms of the aged animals.



#### Disrupted Cellular Respiration Pathway in the Aged Hippocampus in Comparison to That of the Young Adult Altered by an Enriched Contextual Exploration

To further analyze the changes in the metabolic pathway between young adult and aged mice altered by enriched contextual exploration, we analyzed the pathway following the production of pyruvate, the end product of glycolysis. Pyruvate serves as an essential substrate for ATP production via the TCA cycle. In the presence of oxygen, the mitochondrion facilitates aerobic respiration via the TCA cycle. Acetyl-CoA is first produced from pyruvate, which then enters the TCA cycle and is then oxidized to CO2 while reducing NAD to NADH and FAD to FADH<sub>2</sub>, as illustrated in Figure 3. NADH and FADH<sub>2</sub> are then used by the electron transport chain to generate ATP as part of oxidative phosphorylation. In the TCA cycle, the metabolites of citrate, aconitate, alphaketoglutarate, succinate, succinylcarnitine, fumarate, and malate were detected and analyzed in the hippocampus of the four experimental conditions.

In the young adult hippocampus, a slight increase in metabolite levels involved in the TCA cycle was observed, including aconitate and fumarate altered by enriched contextual exploration (**Figure 3**). In contrast, in the aged hippocampus, a visible increase in succinate was found altered by contextual exploration. Succinyl-CoA was preferentially diverted into succinylcarnitine as opposed to succinate in the aged home cage condition animals as compared that of the young adult. This

suggests that the TCA cycle does not run as efficiently in aged animals in comparison to young adult animals. Succinylcarnitine, a metabolic "dead end," accumulates in aged control hippocampi, suggesting less energy production via the TCA in aged animals. Importantly, this diverted effect seemed to be "rescued" in aged animals by placing them under EE conditions, leading to increased succinate and decreased succinylcarnitine.

Altogether, the analyses revealed that certain metabolite levels in the TCA cycle significantly increased in young adult mice altered by contextual exploration. However, these significant increases were not paralleled in the aged mice placed under the same conditions. In the aged hippocampus, the TCA cycle may be diverting metabolites to succinylcarnitine, making it less efficient at running aerobic metabolism, suggesting possible additional mechanisms to compensate the short of TCA-based energy production.

#### Elevated Ketone Metabolism in the Aged Hippocampus in Comparison to That of the Young Adult Altered by an Enriched Contextual Exploration

In the aged hippocampus, both glycolysis and the TCA cycle seemingly become less efficient altered by contextual exploration and are unable to supply the energy demands of the brain. The brain might supplement its energy requirements by utilizing ketone bodies when glucose levels are insufficient. Therefore, we set out to measure ketone concentrations in the hippocampus across aging and hippocampal stimulation.



Ketone bodies include acetoacetate and beta-hydroxybutyrate (BHBA). Acetoacetate can be transformed into acetyl-CoA to enter the TCA cycle in the absence of sufficient ATP production from glycolysis and the TCA cycle (Figure 4A). In our metabolomics assay, we successfully detected BHBA (Figure 1). In the young adult brain, there were few changes observed in the concentration of BHBA altered by contextual exploration. However, a substantial increase in BHBA concentration was observed in the aged brain altered by contextual exploration (Figure 4B). The oxidation of BHBA eventually leads to the production of acetyl-CoA, which requires the transfer of CoA from succinyl-CoA. This may result in a higher concentration of succinate (Figure 3). This is a possible cause of the increase in succinate observed in the TCA cycle.

Altogether, the analyses revealed that the level of the ketone body BHBA remains comparable in the aged brain as compared to the young adult brain during HC. Additionally, there was no change in the level of BHBA in the young adult brain between HC and EE. However, the level of BHBA in the aged hippocampus is substantially elevated during EE.

#### DISCUSSION

How does energy metabolism change in the aged brain, especially during cognitive activity? In this study, using a metabolome analysis method, we measured the changes in the levels of various metabolites under enriched contextual exploration conditions in both the young adult and aged hippocampus. The entire metabolite profiling displayed substantial changes in concentrations of metabolites involved in energy production pathways. We first explored changes in glucose metabolism by analyzing the levels of metabolites involved in the glycolytic process. The levels of certain metabolites experienced significant changes and we discovered an overall decrease in efficiency of pyruvate production in the aged brain. Furthermore, we analyzed levels of metabolites in the TCA cycle, finding an increase in succinate in the aged brain. This suggests a secondary pathway, namely from ketone bodies, that bolstered the concentration of succinate. Together, our results suggest impairments in specific enzymes of metabolic pathways that lead to the overall decrease in energy metabolism in the aged brain at baseline and after contextual exploration.

During hippocampus-engaged behaviors, it has been shown that glucose levels decrease substantially in the extracellular compartment (McNay et al., 2000, 2001), and glucose utilization is increased to meet the elevated neural activities (De Bundel et al., 2009; Belanger et al., 2011; Figley and Stroman, 2011), suggesting elevated glucose-related metabolism. Thus, to better investigate this, we analyzed the levels of various metabolites in the glucose-related metabolism to gauge the changes in these levels after hippocampus-engaged behaviors. Using metabolomic analyses, we found that EE led to changes in the concentration of a variety of energy production-related metabolites in the young adult hippocampus. Interestingly, in the aged hippocampus, we observed an apparent diversion of pyruvate and acetyl-CoA toward ketone metabolism in the aged brain, especially under conditions of enriched environmental exploration, as compared to the young adult brain. Previous studies indicated that physical activity regulates cerebral blood flow which affects oxygen level and brain metabolism (Querido and Sheel, 2007; Overgaard et al., 2012). Although we conducted experiments during the dark cycle when mice were more active, aged mice tend to exercise less vigorously and exhibit more variable exploratory behavior. Aging related changes in behavior and blood flow may involve in shifted energy metabolism in the brain.

During glycolysis, although there was a substantial increase in pyruvate concentration during the EE condition in the aged hippocampus, the absolute levels of pyruvate between the young adult and aged hippocampus show a lower metabolism efficiency in the aged hippocampus (**Figure 2H**). While there were no significant differences in the levels of glucose between the young adult and aged hippocampus under both HC and EE conditions, there were major differences in the levels of pyruvate under both conditions. In the aged hippocampus, the glucose concentration was substantially increased under EE, possibly reflecting increased blood glucose delivery to the hippocampus, but impairment in the ability to utilize this glucose for aerobic metabolism, which is consistent with previous observations in humans (Goyal et al., 2017).

Astrocytes take up glucose from the bloodstream and fuel neurons with lactate, which serve as a crucial way to provide energy in the brain. A lot of delicate experiments showing how lactate is generated and utilized in neuron-astrocyte coupling and serve as fuel for mitochondria to provide neuron energy (Diaz-Garcia et al., 2017; Descalzi et al., 2019). Previous studies have shown that the aged hippocampus increases glycogen metabolism enzyme concentrations and shifts in these enzymes' localization from astrocytes to neurons (Drulis-Fajdasz et al., 2018). However, given the decrease of pyruvate in the aged cohort despite a substantial increase in glucose levels, we hypothesize a decrease in efficiency of glucose metabolism in the aged brain. Future work should aim to specifically measure glucose consumption in different brain areas across ages, for example, by measuring glucose transporter kinetics and glucose labeling to trace the accumulation of metabolic by-products.

In the TCA cycle of the young adult brain, there was an increase in the levels of aconitate and fumarate during the EE condition. In the TCA cycle of the aged brain, there was a substantial increase in succinate concentration during EE conditions (Figure 3). The question remains regarding the cause of this buildup of succinate. One possibility is that succinate dehydrogenase is less efficient in the aged brain as compared to the young adult brain. Alternatively, we hypothesize that this increased succinate may result as a byproduct of BHBA metabolism. In our further analysis, we found that BHBA levels had a sharp, significant increase from the aged HC to the aged EE condition (Figure 4B). Since the breakdown of BHBA to acetyl-CoA involves changing succinyl-CoA to succinate, this may serve as a possible mechanism to explain the significant increase in succinate in the aged cohort.

Neurodegeneration is the progressive decline of functionality due, in part, to alterations in cellular metabolism and respiration (Procaccini et al., 2016). The functionality of the brain fundamentally relies on energy that is metabolized from various sources. This current study adds to a growing body of literature

#### REFERENCES

- Al-Zamil, W. M., and Yassin, S. A. (2017). Recent developments in agerelated macular degeneration: a review. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 12, 1313–1330. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S143508
- Belanger, M., Allaman, I., and Magistretti, P. J. (2011). Brain energy metabolism: focus on astrocyte-neuron metabolic cooperation. *Cell Metab.* 14, 724–738. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2011.08.016
- Camandola, S., and Mattson, M. P. (2017). Brain metabolism in health, aging, and neurodegeneration. *EMBO J.* 36, 1474–1492. doi: 10.15252/embj.201695810
- Choi, I. Y., Lee, S. P., Kim, S. G., and Gruetter, R. (2001). In vivo measurements of brain glucose transport using the reversible Michaelis-Menten model and simultaneous measurements of cerebral blood flow changes during hypoglycemia. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 21, 653–663. doi: 10.1097/00004647-200106000-00003
- De Bundel, D., Smolders, I., Yang, R., Albiston, A. L., Michotte, Y., and Chai, S. Y. (2009). Angiotensin IV and LVV-haemorphin 7 enhance spatial working memory in rats: effects on hippocampal glucose levels and blood flow. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 92, 19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2009.02.004
- Descalzi, G., Gao, V., Steinman, M. Q., Suzuki, A., and Alberini, C. M. (2019). Lactate from astrocytes fuels learning-induced mRNA translation in excitatory and inhibitory neurons. *Commun. Biol.* 2:247. doi: 10.1038/s42003-019-0495-2
- Diaz-Garcia, C. M., Mongeon, R., Lahmann, C., Koveal, D., Zucker, H., and Yellen, G. (2017). Neuronal stimulation triggers neuronal glycolysis and not lactate uptake. *Cell Metab.* 26, 361 e364–374 e364. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.06.021
- Dienel, G. A. (2019). Brain glucose metabolism: integration of energetics with function. *Physiol. Rev.* 99, 949–1045. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00062.2017
- Drulis-Fajdasz, D., Gizak, A., Wojtowicz, T., Wisniewski, J. R., and Rakus, D. (2018). Aging-associated changes in hippocampal glycogen metabolism in mice. Evidence for and against astrocyte-to-neuron lactate shuttle. *Glia* 66, 1481–1495. doi: 10.1002/glia.23319
- Figley, C. R., and Stroman, P. W. (2011). The role(s) of astrocytes and astrocyte activity in neurometabolism, neurovascular coupling, and the production of functional neuroimaging signals. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 33, 577–588. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07584.x
- Goyal, M. S., Vlassenko, A. G., Blazey, T. M., Su, Y., Couture, L. E., Durbin, T. J., et al. (2017). Loss of brain aerobic glycolysis in normal human aging. *Cell Metab.* 26, 353 e353–360 e353. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.07.010

using a metabolomics approach to understand the energy supply dynamics. This work provides insights into metabolic derangements associated with aging and degeneration which may lead to the development of therapeutic strategies to help mitigate such degeneration.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Stony Brook University Animal Care and Use Committee.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

IG and XW carried out the experiment and data analysis. IG, GK, and XW wrote the manuscript. All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript.

- Hasselbalch, S. G., Knudsen, G. M., Jakobsen, J., Hageman, L. P., Holm, S., and Paulson, O. B. (1994). Brain metabolism during short-term starvation in humans. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 14, 125–131. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.1994.17
- Hoyer, S. (1990). Brain glucose and energy metabolism during normal aging. Aging (Milano) 2, 245–258. doi: 10.1007/BF03323925
- Magistretti, P. J., and Allaman, I. (2015). A cellular perspective on brain energy metabolism and functional imaging. *Neuron* 86, 883–901. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.03.035
- Mander, B. A., Winer, J. R., and Walker, M. P. (2017). Sleep and human aging. *Neuron* 94, 19–36. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.02.004
- Manza, P., Wiers, C. E., Shokri-Kojori, E., Kroll, D., Feldman, D., Schwandt, M., et al. (2020). Brain network segregation and glucose energy utilization: relevance for age-related differences in cognitive function. *Cereb. Cortex* 30, 5930–5942. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhaa167
- Mattis, J., and Sehgal, A. (2016). Circadian rhythms, sleep, and disorders of aging. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 27, 192–203. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.02.003
- Mattson, M. P., and Arumugam, T. V. (2018). Hallmarks of brain aging: adaptive and pathological modification by metabolic states. *Cell Metab.* 27, 1176–1199. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.05.011
- McNay, E. C., Fries, T. M., and Gold, P. E. (2000). Decreases in rat extracellular hippocampal glucose concentration associated with cognitive demand during a spatial task. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 2881–2885. doi: 10.1073/pnas.050583697
- McNay, E. C., McCarty, R. C., and Gold, P. E. (2001). Fluctuations in brain glucose concentration during behavioral testing: dissociations between brain areas and between brain and blood. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 75, 325–337. doi: 10.1006/nlme.2000.3976
- Mergenthaler, P., Lindauer, U., Dienel, G. A., and Meisel, A. (2013). Sugar for the brain: the role of glucose in physiological and pathological brain function. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 587-597. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.07.001
- Overgaard, M., Rasmussen, P., Bohm, A. M., Seifert, T., Brassard, P., Zaar, M., et al. (2012). Hypoxia and exercise provoke both lactate release and lactate oxidation by the human brain. *FASEB J.* 26, 3012–3020. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-191999
- Procaccini, C., Santopaolo, M., Faicchia, D., Colamatteo, A., Formisano, L., de Candia, P., et al. (2016). Role of metabolism in neurodegenerative disorders. *Metabolism* 65, 1376–1390. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2016.05.018
- Querido, J. S., and Sheel, A. W. (2007). Regulation of cerebral blood flow during exercise. Sports Med. 37, 765–782. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200737090-00002

- Raichle, M. E., and Mintun, M. A. (2006). Brain work and brain imaging. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 29, 449–476. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.29.051605.112819
- Schaum, N., Lehallier, B., Hahn, O., Palovics, R., Hosseinzadeh, S., Lee, S. E., et al. (2020). Ageing hallmarks exhibit organ-specific temporal signatures. *Nature* 583, 596–602. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2499-y
- Shen, J., Wang, D., Wang, X., Gupta, S., Ayloo, B., Wu, S., et al. (2019). Neurovascular coupling in the dentate gyrus regulates adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Neuron* 103, 878 e873–890 e873. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2019.05.045
- Tyrrell, D. J., and Goldstein, D. R. (2021). Ageing and atherosclerosis: vascular intrinsic and extrinsic factors and potential role of IL-6. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 18, 58–68. doi: 10.1038/s41569-020-0431-7
- Wang, X., Liu, H., Morstein, J., Novak, A. J. E., Trauner, D., Xiong, Q., et al. (2020). Metabolic tuning of inhibition regulates hippocampal

neurogenesis in the adult brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 117, 25818–25829. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2006138117

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Ge, Kirschen and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Association of Aortic Stiffness and Cognitive Decline: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Qian Liu<sup>†</sup>, Jinghuan Fang<sup>†</sup>, Chaohua Cui, Shuju Dong, Lijie Gao, Jiajia Bao, Yanbo Li, Mengmeng Ma, Ning Chen<sup>\*</sup> and Li He<sup>\*</sup>

Department of Neurology, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

**Background:** Increased aortic stiffness has been found to be associated with cognitive function decline, but the evidence is still under debate. It is of great significance to elucidate the evidence in this debate to help make primary prevention decisions to slow cognitive decline in our routine clinical practice.

**Methods:** Electronic databases of PubMed, EMBASE, and Cochrane Library were systematically searched to identify peer-reviewed articles published in English from January 1, 1986, to March 16, 2020, that reported the association between aortic stiffness and cognitive function. Studies that reported the association between aortic pulse wave velocity (PWV) and cognitive function, cognitive impairment, and dementia were included in the analysis.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Donghui Zhu, Stony Brook University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Fnu Firoz Akhter, Stony Brook University, United States Vida Demarin, Sisters of Mercy Health System, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Ning Chen drchenning@163.com Li He heli2003new@126.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

> Received: 13 March 2021 Accepted: 24 May 2021 Published: 24 June 2021

#### Citation:

Liu Q, Fang J, Cui C, Dong S, Gao L, Bao J, Li Y, Ma M, Chen N and He L (2021) Association of Aortic Stiffness and Cognitive Decline: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:680205. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.680205 **Results:** Thirty-nine studies were included in the qualitative analysis, and 29 studies were included in the quantitative analysis. The aortic PWV was inversely associated with memory and processing speed in the cross-sectional analysis. In the longitudinal analysis, the high category of aortic PWV was 44% increased risk of cognitive impairment (OR 1.44; 95% Cl 1.24–1.85) compared with low PWV, and the risk of cognitive impairment increased 3.9% (OR 1.039; 95% Cl 1.005–1.073) per 1 m/s increase in aortic PWV. Besides, meta-regression analysis showed that age significantly increased the association between high aortic PWV and cognitive impairment risk.

**Conclusion:** Aortic stiffness measured by aortic PWV was inversely associated with memory and processing speed and could be an independent predictor for cognitive impairment, especially for older individuals.

Keywords: aortic stiffness, pulse wave velocity, cognitive impairment, vascular dementia, aging

## INTRODUCTION

With the population aging, an increasing number of older adults suffer from cognitive impairment and dementia, which substantially reduce the quality of life in the elderly and bring a substantial medical burden to their family and the whole society (Langa and Levine, 2014). It is of great significance to recognize the risk factors to prevent cognitive impairment and dementia (Livingston et al., 2017).

In recent years, through the growing investigations and the more in-depth understanding of aortic stiffness, it was found that aortic stiffness is not only related to increased risk of cardiovascular

diseases and related mortality (Vlachopoulos et al., 2010) but also involved in the aging changes of brain and cognitive function (Vlachopoulos et al., 2010; Zeki Al Hazzouri et al., 2013; Yukutake et al., 2015; Iulita et al., 2018; Rouch et al., 2018). With advancing age, the aortic vessel wall's elastic fibers are gradually reduced and replaced by collagen fibers or deposition of calcification, which impairs elastic aorta's elasticity and causes aortic stiffness (Thorin-Trescases and Thorin, 2016). The stiffening and loss of recoil in the aorta would transmit excessive and damaging pulsatile load to the peripheral arteries of body organs. Theoretically, the brain is more susceptible to pulsatile damage due to its low-resistance and high-flow characteristics (Thorin-Trescases and Thorin, 2016; Iulita et al., 2018). Aortic stiffness was reported to be closely associated with cerebral structural changes, primarily the cerebral small vessel disease and brain atrophy (Mitchell et al., 2011; Webb et al., 2012; van Sloten et al., 2015, 2016). There have been studies that focus on the relationship between aortic stiffness and cognitive function. However, their results were inconsistent (Poels et al., 2007; Singer et al., 2013; van Sloten et al., 2015).

Among various pulse wave velocity (PWV) measurements for aortic stiffness, carotid-femoral PWV (cfPWV) that measure the PWV along the aortic and aortoiliac pathways is the recommended gold-standard non-invasive technique to assess aortic stiffness because of its reliability and feasibility, which is highly related with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) directly measuring PWV (Laurent et al., 2006; Boutouyrie et al., 2014). While brachial-ankle PWV (baPWV) or femorotibial PWV (ftPWV), the commonly used PWV index measured outside the main aortic track, reflects mainly the stiffness of the small arteries rather than pure aortic stiffness, its predicted value in cardiovascular disease is still controversial (Boutouyrie et al., 2014; Iulita et al., 2018). Thus, considering the validation in clinic practice, we performed a systematic review and meta-analysis about the association between aortic stiffness measured using the validated aortic PWV and cognitive function, risk of cognitive impairment, or dementia to help clarify the association between aortic stiffness and cognitive function in the aging process.

## METHOD

This systematic review and meta-analysis was reported, adhering to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) statement and Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) checklist (Stroup et al., 2000; Liberati et al., 2009).

## Search Strategy and Data Source

We searched for articles published from January 1, 1986, to March 16, 2020, through electronic databases, including PubMed, Cochrane Library, and EMBASE using "aortic stiffness" and "cognitive impairment" as major themes (precise search terms are provided in the **Supplementary Material**). The search was restricted to articles published in the English language. Also, we reviewed the reference lists of all relevant articles for potentially eligible studies.

## Selection Strategy and Criteria

Two investigators (QL and CHC) independently screened all relevant studies and determined eligibility based on the title, abstract, and full texts. Studies were included if they matched the following inclusion criteria: (1) human studies and full-length publications in peer-reviewed journals; (2) cross-sectional or longitudinal designed studies; (3) in order to comprehensively explore the association between aortic stiffness and cognition in adults, we included the studies with participants aged 18 years or older, regardless of sample size and types of population (including general population or targeting on a particular population with a risk factor or disease); (4) reporting an association between aortic stiffness and cognitive function; (5) evaluating aortic stiffness exclusively using validated PWV measurement along aorta; (6) cognitive function were assessed with validated scales, and mild cognitive impairment (MCI) or dementia was diagnosed based on clinic diagnostic standards or guidelines. Studies were excluded if they met the exclusion criteria: (1) casecontrol study or placebo-controlled clinical trial (involving a specific intervention); (2) the article did not report an association between aortic stiffness and cognitive impairment; and (3) the aortic stiffness was assessed using PWV measured outside the aortic track, at the upper (baPWV) or lower limb (ftPWV).

## **Data Extraction**

Two investigators (QL and CHC) independently extracted data from each eligible study. Any disagreements were resolved by consensus or consultation with a third investigator (JHF). The following information was extracted from each eligible study: authors, published year, design (follow-up years for longitudinal studies), country, study population, sample size, male (%), mean age, mean or median aortic PWV value (m/s), cognitive tests, adjusted covariates, and main results. The outcomes for metaanalysis were various domains of cognitive function, cognitive impairment, and dementia. In cognitive function domains, we focused on attention, executive function, global cognitive function, memory, processing speed, and visuospatial ability. For those studies that published more than one article from the same cohort, (1) if they had the same study design and cognitive outcomes, we included only the one with the results either that could be included in meta-analysis or with the largest sample size; (2) if they reported on different cognitive outcomes, we included different cognitive domains' data in each of these articles separately in the analysis. Required metrics not reported in the article were requested from the corresponding authors by email.

## **Quality Assessment**

Two investigators (QL and JHF) independently assessed the quality of included studies using the modified version of Newcastle Ottawa Scale (NOS) (Wells et al., 2014) (see the **Supplementary Material**). The NOS includes items on participant selection, the validity of measurements, and whether adjusting associations by systolic and/or mean blood pressure (MBP), age and education, and assessment of outcomes. For cross-sectional studies, the maximum score was 5 points, and scores <3 points were considered as high risk of bias. For

longitudinal studies, the maximum score was 8 points, and scores <4 points were considered as high risk of bias.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All analyses were performed using Comprehensive Meta-Analysis software version 3 (CMA 3.0, Biostat Inc., Englewood, NJ, USA). For cross-sectional studies, Pearson's r correlation coefficients were pooled as the effect size to show the association between aortic PWV and cognitive function (attention, executive function, global cognitive function, memory, processing speed, and visuospatial ability). Multiple scales for one cognitive domain in each study were collapsed into a single effect size (Borenstein and Wiley, 2009). Negative associations indicated that greater stiffness (aortic PWV) was associated with worse cognitive function. Additionally, the r correlation coefficients and 95% CI between aortic PWV and Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) scores were synthesized. For longitudinal studies, the odds ratios (ORs) were pooled as effect size to show the association between aortic PWV (the highest stiffness group vs. the lowest group) and risk of cognitive impairment and dementia. Since most studies reported ORs of continuous aortic PWV metric, we also pooled the adjusted ORs per absolute aortic PWV (1 m/s) to explore between constant aortic PWV values and the risks of cognitive impairment or dementia. A random-effects model was used to pool these effect estimates when significant heterogeneity existed among studies.

Among the included studies, a few studies recruited participants specifically with chronic kidney disease (including end-stage renal disease), hypertension, and complain of memory loss. Thus, we divided these studies into three categories according to their participants' condition: chronic kidney disease, hypertension, and complaint of memory loss. Sensitivity analyzes were performed by excluding these three categories of studies one by one from the pooled estimates to show the influence of these specific conditions on the overall effect size and 95% CI. Moreover, we performed subgroup analysis when there were more than three papers in each of the above three categories. Meta-regression analysis was conducted to evaluate the influence of mean age, percentage of male, MBP, and percentage of education of high school or less on the association between aortic stiffness and cognitive decline.

Q test and I-squared statistics were used to examine the heterogeneity across studies, with a  $P \leq 0.10$  and  $I^2 \geq$  50% indicating significant heterogeneity (Higgins et al., 2003; Borenstein and Wiley, 2009). Egger's test and funnel plot were used to evaluate publication bias, and P < 0.05 of Egger's test and/or funnel plot asymmetry was considered as the existence of publication bias (Borenstein and Wiley, 2009).

## RESULTS

## **Qualitative Summary Characteristic of Included Studies**

As shown in the diagram of the selection process (**Figure 1**), among 2,869 records, 65 articles were evaluated based on full text. Finally, 39 studies were summarized for detailed review, including 28 studies with 29,955 participants from 14 different

countries in the cross-sectional analysis (Hanon et al., 2005; Scuteri et al., 2005; Poels et al., 2007; Elias et al., 2009; Kearney-Schwartz et al., 2009; Triantafyllidi et al., 2010; Watson et al., 2011; Singer et al., 2013; Nilsson et al., 2014, 2017; Zhong et al., 2014; Cooper et al., 2016; Geijselaers et al., 2016; Lim et al., 2016; Pase et al., 2016b; Riba-Llena et al., 2016; Tasmoc et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2017; Meyer et al., 2017; Suleman et al., 2017; Karasavvidou et al., 2018; Kennedy et al., 2018; Muela et al., 2018; Araghi et al., 2019; DuBose et al., 2019; Palta et al., 2019; Dixon et al., 2020; Zijlstra et al., 2020) and 16 studies with 23,448 participants from seven different countries in the longitudinal analysis (Poels et al., 2007; Scuteri et al., 2007, 2013; Waldstein et al., 2008; Watson et al., 2011; Zeki Al Hazzouri et al., 2013; Watfa et al., 2015; Hajjar et al., 2016; Pase et al., 2016a; Tsao et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2017; Nilsson et al., 2017; Cui et al., 2018; Rouch et al., 2018; Araghi et al., 2019; Menezes et al., 2019) (Supplementary Tables 1, 2). Only the study of Zijlstra et al. measured aortic PWV using MRI and showed median PWV of 9.6 m/s (interquartile range: 7.8-13.0) (Zijlstra et al., 2020). The other studies used cfPWV and showed mean or median PWV ranging from 4.96 to 14.3 m/s. For the cross-sectional study, modified NOS scores ranged from 1 to 5 points, and 10 studies (35.7%) (Scuteri et al., 2005; Kearney-Schwartz et al., 2009; Tasmoc et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2017; Suleman et al., 2017; Karasavvidou et al., 2018; Muela et al., 2018; Araghi et al., 2019; Dixon et al., 2020; Zijlstra et al., 2020) had a low score of 1-2 points. For longitudinal studies, the score ranges from 3 to 8 points, with two studies (12.5%) (Kim et al., 2017; Araghi et al., 2019) having a low score of 3 points (Supplementary Tables 1, 2).

In the cross-sectional studies, some reported a significant association between aortic PWV and cognitive function or cognitive decline (Hanon et al., 2005; Scuteri et al., 2005; Elias et al., 2009; Kearney-Schwartz et al., 2009; Watson et al., 2011; Nilsson et al., 2014; Zhong et al., 2014; Cooper et al., 2016; Lim et al., 2016; Pase et al., 2016b; Tasmoc et al., 2016; Meyer et al., 2017; Kennedy et al., 2018; Muela et al., 2018; Araghi et al., 2019; DuBose et al., 2019; Palta et al., 2019; Dixon et al., 2020; Zijlstra et al., 2020), while some did not support significant association between aortic PWV and cognitive function or dementia (Poels et al., 2007; Triantafyllidi et al., 2010; Singer et al., 2013; Geijselaers et al., 2016; Riba-Llena et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2017; Nilsson et al., 2017; Suleman et al., 2017) (Supplementary Table 1). Among them, studies that included exclusive participants with chronic kidney disease (Tasmoc et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2017; Karasavvidou et al., 2018; Zijlstra et al., 2020) or hypertension (Triantafyllidi et al., 2010; Riba-Llena et al., 2016; Muela et al., 2018) mainly did not support the association between aortic stiffness and cognitive decline. However, those studies with participants complaining of memory loss showed a significant association (Hanon et al., 2005; Scuteri et al., 2005; Kearney-Schwartz et al., 2009; Dixon et al., 2020) (Supplementary Table 1).

In longitudinal studies, 13 studies with 17,727 participants (followed up 1–15 years) suggested significant associations between aortic PWV and cognitive decline or dementia (Scuteri et al., 2007, 2013; Waldstein et al., 2008; Watson et al., 2011; Zeki Al Hazzouri et al., 2013; Watfa et al., 2015; Hajjar et al., 2016;



Pase et al., 2016a; Tsao et al., 2016; Cui et al., 2018; Rouch et al., 2018; Araghi et al., 2019; Menezes et al., 2019), in which three studies included participants with complaints of memory loss (Scuteri et al., 2007, 2013; Rouch et al., 2018), whereas two studies with 5,721 participants (followed up about 4 years) (Poels et al., 2007; Nilsson et al., 2017) and one study with 135 hemodialysis participants (followed up 1 year) (Kim et al., 2017) did not find association between aortic PWV and cognitive impairment (Supplementary Table 2).

# Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity and Cognitive Function

Eighteen studies with 15,489 participants were eligible for meta-analysis of association between aortic PWV and cognitive function (Hanon et al., 2005; Poels et al., 2007; Elias et al., 2009; Watson et al., 2011; Singer et al., 2013; Nilsson et al., 2014; Zhong et al., 2014; Cooper et al., 2016; Geijselaers et al., 2016; Lim et al., 2016; Pase et al., 2016b; Riba-Llena et al., 2016; Tasmoc et al., 2016; Kennedy et al., 2018; Muela et al., 2018; DuBose et al., 2019; Dixon et al., 2020; Zijlstra et al., 2020). Among them, there were 157 chronic kidney disease participants (Tasmoc et al., 2016; Zijlstra et al., 2020), 976 hypertension participants (Riba-Llena et al., 2016; Muela et al., 2018), and 364 participants complaining of memory loss (Hanon et al., 2005; Dixon et al., 2020). As shown in **Figure 2**, we detected a significant association between aortic PWV and attention (r = -0.174), global cognitive function (r = -0.122), memory (r = -0.061), and processing speed (r = -0.119) in all participants (**Figure 2**, **Table 1**). Nevertheless, significant heterogeneity existed among studies (**Supplementary Table 3**). After studies with participants of chronic kidney disease, of hypertension, and complaining loss of memory were excluded, the aortic PWV was still statistically associated with memory (r = -0.022) and processing speed (r = -0.048) (**Table 1**), without significant heterogeneity and publication bias (**Supplementary Table 3**).

A significant association between aortic PWV and MMSE scores was detected among 11 studies with 9,034 participants (r = -0.11, 95% CI -0.15 to -0.07) (Hanon et al., 2005; Scuteri et al., 2005; Poels et al., 2007; Triantafyllidi et al., 2010; Nilsson et al., 2014; Zhong et al., 2014; Lim et al., 2016; Tasmoc et al., 2016; Karasavvidou et al., 2018; Muela et al., 2018; Dixon et al., 2020), but there were significant heterogeneity and publication bias (**Supplementary Table 4**, **Supplementary Figure 5**). After studies with participants with specific disease or condition (Hanon et al., 2005; Scuteri et al., 2005; Triantafyllidi et al., 2010; Tasmoc et al., 2010; Tasmoc et al., 2005; Were excluded, the significance disappeared, while in the subgroup



of participants complaining of memory loss (Hanon et al., 2005; Scuteri et al., 2005; Dixon et al., 2020), the aortic PWV was significantly associated with MMSE score (r = -0.27), and there were no heterogeneity and significant publication bias (**Supplementary Table 4**). These results supported aortic stiffness associated with cognitive impairment. However, as a screening test for dementia, the MMSE scale might not be a validated and sensitive tool for detecting cognitive impairment in the general population (Waldstein et al., 2008; Pase et al., 2012).

# Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity and Cognitive Impairment or Dementia

Six studies with 13,648 participants were included in synthesizing adjusted ORs of the highest vs. lowest category of aortic PWV to cognitive impairment (Scuteri et al., 2013; Zeki Al Hazzouri et al., 2013; Pase et al., 2016a; Cui et al., 2018; Araghi et al., 2019; Menezes et al., 2019), and three studies with 4,532 participants were synthesized for adjusted ORs for dementia (Pase et al., 2016a; Nilsson et al., 2017; Rouch et al., 2018). The pooled results showed that the highest category of aortic PWV independently increased risk of cognitive impairment (OR 1.44, 95% CI 1.124-1.845) and dementia (OR 2.1; 95% CI 1.159-3.804) than the lowest group of aortic PWV, though with moderate heterogeneity (Figure 3), but no significant publication bias (Supplementary Figure 6). After studies with participants complaining of memory loss (Scuteri et al., 2013; Rouch et al., 2018) were excluded, the significantly increased risk for cognitive impairment remained, but not for dementia (Supplementary Figure 2).

We also calculated the pooled ORs of continuous aortic PWV (m/s) to cognitive impairment or dementia. It showed that the cognitive impairment risk increased 3.9% (OR 1.039; 95% CI 1.005–1.073) per 1 m/s of aortic PWV increase from six studies (15,711 participants) reporting risk of cognitive impairment (Poels et al., 2007; Watson et al., 2011; Watfa et al., 2015; Pase et al., 2016a; Araghi et al., 2019; Menezes et al., 2019). There were moderate heterogeneity and no publication bias (**Figure 4**, **Supplementary Figure 6**). However, for the five studies with 7,655 participants reporting risk for dementia (Poels et al., 2007;

Pase et al., 2016a; Nilsson et al., 2017; Cui et al., 2018; Rouch et al., 2018), we did not detect a significant association between continuous aortic PWV (m/s) and the risk of dementia (**Figure 4**, **Supplementary Figure 3**).

## **Meta-Regression Analysis**

The meta-regression analysis showed that age, the proportion of males, and MBP significantly increased the association between aortic PWV and memory or processing speed in all participants (**Supplementary Table 5**). However, the significance disappeared after excluding studies investigating this association under specific diseases or conditions (**Supplementary Table 6**). Besides, we found that age significantly increased the risk of cognitive impairment of high vs. low aortic PWV in all participants (**Supplementary Table 5**, **Supplementary Figure 4**). The influence of age on this association remained after excluding participants with specific diseases or conditions (**Supplementary Tables 5**, **6**). However, neither age nor other listed variables had an impact of the association between continuous aortic PWV (m/s) and cognitive impairment risk (**Supplementary Tables 5**, **6**).

## DISCUSSION

This comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis showed that aortic stiffness measured with aortic PWV was inversely associated with the function of memory and processing speed, and aortic PWV was an independent predictor for cognitive impairment. Besides, age could increase the association between high aortic PWV and the risk of cognitive impairment.

The association between aortic stiffness and memory was thought to be mainly due to the microvascular injury in deep white matter (Mitchell et al., 2011; Kloppenborg et al., 2014; Cooper et al., 2016), and the statistical mediation analysis showed that cerebrovascular resistance (52% of indirect effect) and white matter hyperintensities (41% of indirect effect) accounted for major observed relation between cfPWV and memory (Cooper et al., 2016). Besides, the excessive pulsatile damage from aortic stiffness to the medial temporal lobe and hippocampus may

Outcomes		An	Analysis 1		Ana	Analysis 2		Ané	Analysis 3		Ana	Analysis 4
	Studies	Studies Participants	s r (95% Cl)	Studies	Studies Participants	r (95% CI)	Studies	Studies Participants	s r (95% CI)	Studies	Studies Participants	r (95% CI)
Attention	o	5,198	5,198 -0.174 (-0.313, -0.027)*	2	5,041	0.006 (-0.051, 0.063)	2	4,335	0.031 (-0.009, 0.071)	4	4,279	0.034 (-0.012, 0.079)
Executive Function	13	10,070	-0.051 (-0.118, 0.017)	1	9,913	-0.006 (-0.061, 0.050)	0	9,207	0.017 (-0.043, 0.076)	Ø	9,151	0.003 (-0.054, 0.059)
Global cognitive function	Q	1,999	-0.122 (-0.218, -0.024)*	9	1,999	-0.122 (-0.218, -0.024)*	4	1,293	-0.113 (-0.255, 0.034)	0	1,127	-0.055 (-0.143, 0.033)
Memory	14	12,328	12,328 -0.061 (-0.101, -0.020)*	12	12,171	-0.034 (-0.063, -0.004)*	10	11,465	-0.022 (-0.041, -0.003)*	റ *	11,409	-0.022 (-0.042, -0.001)*
Processing speed	13	8,775	-0.119 (-0.190, -0.047)*	1	8,618	-0.056 (-0.094, -0.017)*	10	8,476	-0.048 (-0.081, -0.016)*	o *	8,420	-0.048 (-0.082, -0.014)*
Visuospatial ability	Ŋ	1,280	-0.085 (-0.300, 0.140)	Ŋ	1,280	-0.085 (-0.300, 0.140)	4	1,138	-0.073 (-0.328, 0.192)	4	1,138	-0.073 (-0.328, 0.192)

turther excluded studies with participants complaining loss of memory based on analysis 3 and just included studies with participants from general older adults. \*P < 0.05

contribute to poor memory as well (Wåhlin et al., 2014; Lilamand et al., 2016). It was reported that the major brain structural changes caused by aortic stiffness was white matter lesion (Tarumi et al., 2015; van Sloten et al., 2015), which was thought to preferentially cause the decline of processing speed and executive function (Kloppenborg et al., 2014; Biesbroek et al., 2017). However, we just detected a significant correlation between aortic stiffness and processing speed but not executive function. The non-significant association between aortic stiffness and executive function in our analysis may due to the heterogeneity among studies or the non-linear association (Nilsson et al., 2014; Zhong et al., 2014; Dixon et al., 2020), which prevented the detection of significant linear association using the correlation coefficient as the effect size. Several pathophysiologic mechanisms might be involved in the diminishing effect of aortic stiffness on cognitive function. Besides the microvascular damage caused by excessive pulsatile load (Mitchell et al., 2011; van Sloten et al., 2015; Lilamand et al., 2016), the reduced cerebral perfusion due to aortic stiffness may aggravate the white matter lesion and brain atrophy (Tarumi et al., 2011). Moreover, the Aβ deposition was found to play an important role in the association between aortic stiffness and cognitive impairment (Hughes et al., 2013, 2018).

Besides increased risk for cognitive impairment, our results indicated that the high aortic stiffness increased the risk of dementia by 2-fold. But the significant association disappeared after excluding the study of Rouch et al. We speculated that this may due to the limited studies for synthesized analysis and short follow-up years. Although the study by Rouch et al. just followed up in a relatively short period of 4.5 years, including specific participants of MCI in their study would make it more sensitive to detect the independent association between aortic stiffness and risk of dementia (Rouch et al., 2018).

Additionally, the meta-regression analysis indicated that age increased the risk of cognitive impairment caused by high aortic PWV. This is consistent with studies that showed that the interaction of PWV and age (PWV  $\times$  age) increased the magnitude of associations between PWV and cognitive performance (Elias et al., 2009; Pase et al., 2016b; Menezes et al., 2019). Since both aortic stiffness and cognitive impairment are age-related changes (Langa and Levine, 2014; Iulita et al., 2018), there should be vicious loop between age, aortic stiffening, and cognitive decline. Thus, it is important to make early interventions to prevent progression of aortic stiffness to delay cognitive impairment and dementia. A recently published metaanalysis using Cohen's d index as effect sizes also showed a negative relationship between arterial stiffness with executive function and memory, but they did not find age to modify the strength of this association (Alvarez-Bueno et al., 2020). This might because they included studies with PWV index involving the stiffness of the peripheral arteries (i.e., baPWV), which could diminish the direct effect of age on aortic stiffness. Besides, they did not analyze the association between PWV and risk for cognitive impairment, a cumulative result of cognitive function decline, in which the effect of age on this association should be more pronounced.

A few limitations should be noticed. First, the limited amount of studies included in the meta-analysis may prevent the full

 TABLE 1
 Sensitive analyses of association between aortic PWV and cognitive function



a faster decline in several domains of cognitive function with higher aortic stiffness (Hajjar et al., 2016; Menezes et al., 2019), it would be more convincing if we further confirmed this longitudinal association in our quantitative analysis.

## CONCLUSION

In summary, this systematic review and meta-analysis suggested that aortic stiffness is inversely associated with cognitive function, an independent predictor for cognitive impairment, and a potential risk factor for dementia, especially in the elderly. This study supports the assessment of the aortic PWV in routine clinical practice for primary prevention to slow down early the progression of cognitive decline.

Outcomes	Studies	Participants	Odds ratio		Jpper limit	p-Value	Odds ratio	and 95% Cl
cognitive impairme	ent							
	Zeki 2013	1331	1.590	1.160	2.180	0.004		-0-
	Araghi 2019	3828	1.400	1.131	1.732	0.002		0 I
	Pase 2016	1101	1.710	1.132	2.584	0.011		-0-
	Scuteri 2013	105	4.330	1.300 1	14.422	0.017		<b>──</b> ─→
	Cui 2018	356	1.570	1.014	2.430	0.043		
	Menezes 201	9 6927	0.954	0.759	1.199	0.687	-0	}
I²=67.1%, p=0.01	overall	13648	1.440	1.124	1.845	0.004		•
dementia								
	Pase 2016	1101	2.140	1.288	3.555	0.003		
	Rouch 2018	375	3.540	1.932	6.487	0.000		
	Nilsson 2017	3056	1.110	0.529	2.327	0.782	_	5
I²=64.7%, p=0.06	overall	4532	2.100	1.159	3.804	0.014		
						0	.1 0.2 0.5	1 2 5 10

FIGURE 3 | Forest plot of association between categorical aortic pulse wave velocity (PWV) (high vs. low) and cognitive impairment and dementia.

Outcomes	Studies	Participants	Odds ratio	LowerUpper limit limit	p-Value	Odds ratio and 95% CI
cognitive impairmen	t					
•	Pase 2016	1101	1.400	1.131 1.732	0.002	
	Poels 2007	2767	0.975	0.922 1.031	0.370	4
	Araghi 2019	3828	1.044	1.007 1.082	0.019	
	Watson 2011	406	1.053	0.972 1.141	0.206	- I
	Watfa 2015	682	1.050	1.020 1.080	0.001	
	Menezes 201	9 6927	1.031	0.995 1.068	0.091	
I²=62.9%, p=0.02	overall	15711	1.039	1.005 1.073	0.024	•
dementia						
acmentia	Pase 2016	1101	1.450	1.127 1.865	0.004	
	Poels 2007	2767	0.970	0.906 1.039	0.382	0
	Nilsson 2017	3056	1.000	0.914 1.094	1.000	
	Rouch 2018	375	1.138	1.016 1.274	0.025	
	Cui 2018	356	1.600	1.020 2.510	0.041	│
I²=76.6%, p=0.002	overall	7655	1.106	0.980 1.249	0.103	
					C	0.5 1 2

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study included the are in article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

QL and JF: study conception and design. NC and LH: supervision and administration. QL, JF, MM, and NC: writing-manuscript preparation and intellectual input. QL, JF, CC, NC, and LH: data interpretation. QL, JF, CC, and SD: data analysis. QL, JF, CC, SD, LG, JB, and YL: experiment or data collection. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### REFERENCES

- Alvarez-Bueno, C., Cunha, P. G., Martinez-Vizcaino, V., Pozuelo-Carrascosa, D. P., Visier-Alfonso, M. E., Jimenez-Lopez, E., et al. (2020). Arterial stiffness and cognition among adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational and longitudinal studies. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 9:e014621. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.119.014621
- Araghi, M., Shipley, M. J., Wilkinson, I. B., McEniery, C. M., Valencia-Hernández, C. A., Kivimaki, M., et al. (2019). Association of aortic stiffness with cognitive decline: whitehall II longitudinal cohort study. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 35, 861–869. doi: 10.1007/s10654-019-00586-3
- Biesbroek, J. M., Weaver, N. A., and Biessels, G. J. (2017). Lesion location and cognitive impact of cerebral small vessel disease. *Clin. Sci.* 131, 715–728. doi: 10.1042/CS20160452
- Borenstein, M., and Wiley, I. (2009). *Introduction to Meta-Analysis*. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.
- Boutouyrie, P., Fliser, D., Goldsmith, D., Covic, A., Wiecek, A., Ortiz, A., et al. (2014). Assessment of arterial stiffness for clinical and epidemiological studies: methodological considerations for validation and entry into the European Renal and Cardiovascular Medicine registry. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 29, 232–239. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gft309
- Cooper, L. L., Woodard, T., Sigurdsson, S., Van Buchem, M. A., Torjesen, A. A., Inker, L. A., et al. (2016). Cerebrovascular damage mediates relations between aortic stiffness and memory. *Hypertension* 67, 176–182. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.06398
- Cui, C., Sekikawa, A., Kuller, L. H., Lopez, O. L., Newman, A. B., Kuipers, A. L., et al. (2018). Aortic stiffness is associated with increased risk of incident dementia in older adults. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* 66, 297–306. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180449
- Dixon, K., LaMonica, H., Duffy, S. L., Phillips, C. L., Grunstein, R. R., Naismith, S. L., et al. (2020). Arterial stiffness relates to executive dysfunction in later life. *Neuropsychol. Dev. Cogn. B Aging Neuropsychol. Cogn.* 27, 140–151. doi: 10.1080/13825585.2019.1597009
- DuBose, L. E., Moser, D. J., Harlynn, E., Fiedorowicz, J. G., and Pierce, G. L. (2019). Education moderates the effects of large central artery aging on cognitive performance in middle-aged and older adults. *Physiol. Rep.* 7:e14291. doi: 10.14814/phy2.14291
- Elias, M. F., Robbins, M. A., Budge, M. M., Abhayaratna, W. P., Dore, G. A., and Elias, P. K. (2009). Arterial pulse wave velocity and cognition with advancing age. *Hypertension* 53, 668–673. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.108.126342
- Geijselaers, S. L. C., Sep, S. J. S., Schram, M. T., van Boxtel, M. P. J., van Sloten, T. T., Henry, R. M. A., et al. (2016). Carotid stiffness is associated with impairment of cognitive performance in individuals with and

#### FUNDING

This study was funded by the National Key R&D Program of China (2018YFC1311400 and 2018YFC1311401) and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant nos. 81772435 and 81971162).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many thanks to Dr. Sandhi M. Barreto in ELSA-Brasil Cohort study for kindly providing us the supportive data in their study.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2021.680205/full#supplementary-material

without type 2 diabetes. The Maastricht Study. *Atherosclerosis* 253, 186–193. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.07.912

- Hajjar, I., Goldstein, F. C., Martin, G. S., and Quyyumi, A. A. (2016). Roles of arterial stiffness and blood pressure in hypertensionassociated cognitive decline in healthy adults. *Hypertension* 67, 171–175. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.06277
- Hanon, O., Haulon, S., Lenoir, H., Seux, M. L., Rigaud, A. S., Safar, M., et al. (2005). Relationship between arterial stiffness and cognitive function in elderly subjects with complaints of memory loss. *Stroke* 36, 2193–2197. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000181771.82518.1c
- Higgins, J. P., Thompson, S. G., Deeks, J. J., and Altman, D. G. (2003). Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* 327, 557–560. doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557
- Hughes, T. M., Kuller, L. H., Barinas-Mitchell, E. J., Mackey, R. H., McDade, E. M., Klunk, W. E., et al. (2013). Pulse wave velocity is associated with beta-amyloid deposition in the brains of very elderly adults. *Neurology* 81, 1711–1718. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000435301.64776.37
- Hughes, T. M., Wagenknecht, L. E., Craft, S., Mintz, A., Heiss, G., Palta, P., et al. (2018). Arterial stiffness and dementia pathology: atherosclerosis risk in communities (ARIC)-PET study. *Neurology* 90, E1248–E1256. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000005259
- Iulita, M. F., Noriega de la Colina, A., and Girouard, H. (2018). Arterial stiffness, cognitive impairment and dementia: confounding factor or real risk? J. Neurochem. 144, 527–548. doi: 10.1111/jnc.14235
- Karasavvidou, D., Boutouyrie, P., Kalaitzidis, R., Kettab, H., Pappas, K., Stagikas, D., et al. (2018). Arterial damage and cognitive decline in chronic kidney disease patients. J. Clin. Hypertens. 20, 1276–1284. doi: 10.1111/jch.13350
- Kearney-Schwartz, A., Rossignol, P., Bracard, S., Felblinger, J., Fay, R., Boivin, J. M., et al. (2009). Vascular structure and function is correlated to cognitive performance and white matter hyperintensities in older hypertensive patients with subjective memory complaints. *Stroke* 40, 1229–1236. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.532853
- Kennedy, G., Meyer, D., Hardman, R. J., Macpherson, H., Scholey, A. B., and Pipingas, A. (2018). Physical fitness and aortic stiffness explain the reduced cognitive performance associated with increasing age in older people. J. Alzheimers Dis. 63, 1307–1316. doi: 10.3233/JAD-171107
- Kim, E. D., Meoni, L. A., Jaar, B. G., Shafi, T., Linda Kao, W. H., Estrella, M. M., et al. (2017). Association of arterial stiffness and central pressure with cognitive function in incident hemodialysis patients: the PACE study. *Kidney Int. Rep.* 2, 1149–1159. doi: 10.1016/j.ekir.2017.07.013
- Kloppenborg, R. P., Nederkoorn, P. J., Geerlings, M. I., and van den Berg, E. (2014). Presence and progression of white matter hyperintensities and cognition: a meta-analysis. *Neurology* 82, 2127–2138. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000505

- Langa, K. M., and Levine, D. A. (2014). The diagnosis and management of mild cognitive impairment: a clinical review. JAMA 312, 2551–2561. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.13806
- Laurent, S., Cockcroft, J., Van Bortel, L., Boutouyrie, P., Giannattasio, C., Hayoz, D., et al. (2006). Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: methodological issues and clinical applications. *Eur. Heart J.* 27, 2588–2605. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehl254
- Liberati, A., Altman, D. G., Tetzlaff, J., Mulrow, C., Gotzsche, P. C., Ioannidis, J. P., et al. (2009). The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 62, e1–e34. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.006
- Lilamand, M., Vidal, J. S., Plichart, M., De Jong, L. W., Duron, E., and Hanon, O. (2016). Arterial stiffness and medial temporal lobe atrophy in elders with memory disorders. J. Hypertens. 34, 1331–1337. doi: 10.1097/HJH.00000000000954
- Lim, S. L., Gao, Q., Nyunt, M. S. Z., Gong, L., Lunaria, J. B., Lim, M. L., et al. (2016). Vascular health indices and cognitive domain function: Singapore longitudinal ageing studies. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 50, 27–40. doi: 10.3233/JAD-150516
- Livingston, G., Sommerlad, A., Orgeta, V., Costafreda, S. G., Huntley, J., Ames, D., et al. (2017). Dementia prevention, intervention, and care. *Lancet* 390, 2673–2734. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31363-6
- Menezes, S. T., Giatti, L., Colosimo, E. A., Ribeiro, A. L. P., Brant, L. C. C., Viana, M. C., et al. (2019). Aortic stiffness and age with cognitive performance decline in the ELSA-Brasil cohort. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 8:e013248. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.119.013248
- Meyer, M. L., Palta, P., Tanaka, H., Deal, J. A., Wright, J., Knopman, D. S., et al. (2017). Association of central arterial stiffness and pressure pulsatility with mild cognitive impairment and dementia: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study-Neurocognitive Study (ARIC-NCS). J. Alzheimer's Dis. 57, 195–204. doi: 10.3233/JAD-161041
- Mitchell, G. F., Van Buchem, M. A., Sigurdsson, S., Gotal, J. D., Jonsdottir, M. K., Kjartansson, O., et al. (2011). Arterial stiffness, pressure and flow pulsatility and brain structure and function: the Age, Gene/Environment Susceptibility-Reykjavik Study. *Brain* 134, 3398–3407. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr253
- Muela, H. C. S., Costa-Hong, V. A., Yassuda, M. S., Moraes, N. C., Memória, C. M., Machado, M. F., et al. (2018). Higher arterial stiffness is associated with lower cognitive performance in patients with hypertension. *J. Clin. Hypertens.* 20, 22–30. doi: 10.1111/jch.13129
- Nilsson, E. D., Elmståhl, S., Minthon, L., Nilsson, P. M., Pihlsgård, M., Tufvesson, E., et al. (2014). Nonlinear association between pulse wave velocity and cognitive function: a population-based study. *J. Hypertens.* 32, 2152–2157. doi: 10.1097/HJH.00000000000329
- Nilsson, E. D., Elmståhl, S., Minthon, L., Pihlsgård, M., Nilsson, P. M., Hansson, O., et al. (2017). No independent association between pulse wave velocity and dementia: a population-based, prospective study. *J. Hypertens.* 35, 2462–2467. doi: 10.1097/HJH.00000000001480
- Palta, P., Sharrett, A. R., Wei, J., Meyer, M. L., Kucharska-Newton, A., Power, M. C., et al. (2019). Central arterial stiffness is associated with structural brain damage and poorer cognitive performance: the ARIC study. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 8:e011045. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.118.011045
- Pase, M. P., Beiser, A., Himali, J. J., Tsao, C., Satizabal, C. L., Vasan, R. S., et al. (2016a). Aortic stiffness and the risk of incident mild cognitive impairment and dementia. *Stroke* 47, 2256–2261. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.116.013508
- Pase, M. P., Herbert, A., Grima, N. A., Pipingas, A., and O'Rourke, M. F. (2012). Arterial stiffness as a cause of cognitive decline and dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Intern. Med. J.* 42, 808–815. doi: 10.1111/j.1445-5994.2011.02645.x
- Pase, M. P., Himali, J. J., Mitchell, G. F., Beiser, A., Maillard, P., Tsao, C., et al. (2016b). Association of aortic stiffness with cognition and brain aging in young and middle-aged adults: the framingham third generation cohort study. *Hypertension* 67, 513–519. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.06610
- Poels, M. M. F., Van Oijen, M., Mattace-Raso, F. U. S., Hofman, A., Koudstaal, P. J., Witteman, J. C. M., et al. (2007). Arterial stiffness, cognitive decline, and risk of dementia: the Rotterdam study. *Stroke* 38, 888–892. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000257998.33768.87
- Riba-Llena, I., Nafría, C., Filomena, J., Tovar, J. L., Vinyoles, E., Mundet, X., et al. (2016). High daytime and nighttime ambulatory pulse pressure predict poor

cognitive function and mild cognitive impairment in hypertensive individuals. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 36, 253–263. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2015.90

- Rouch, L., Cestac, P., Sallerin, B., Andrieu, S., Bailly, H., Beunardeau, M., et al. (2018). Pulse wave velocity is associated with greater risk of dementia in mild cognitive impairment patients. *Hypertension* 72, 1109–1116. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.11443
- Scuteri, A., Brancati, A. M., Gianni, W., Assisi, A., and Volpe, M. (2005). Arterial stiffness is an independent risk factor for cognitive impairment in the elderly: a pilot study. *J. Hypertens.* 23, 1211–1216. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000170384.38708.b7
- Scuteri, A., Tesauro, M., Appolloni, S., Preziosi, F., Brancati, A. M., and Volpe, M. (2007). Arterial stiffness as an independent predictor of longitudinal changes in cognitive function in the older individual. *J. Hypertens.* 25, 1035–1040. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e3280895b55
- Scuteri, A., Tesauro, M., Guglini, L., Lauro, D., Fini, M., and Di Daniele, N. (2013). Aortic stiffness and hypotension episodes are associated with impaired cognitive function in older subjects with subjective complaints of memory loss. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 169, 371–377. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2013.09.009
- Singer, J., Trollor, J. N., Crawford, J., O'Rourke, M. F., Baune, B. T., Brodaty, H., et al. (2013). The association between pulse wave velocity and cognitive function: the Sydney memory and ageing study. *PLoS ONE* 8:e61855. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061855
- Stroup, D. F., Berlin, J. A., Morton, S. C., Olkin, I., Williamson, G. D., Rennie, D., et al. (2000). Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 283, 2008–2012. doi: 10.1001/jama.283.15.2008
- Suleman, R., Padwal, R., Hamilton, P., Senthilselvan, A., and Alagiakrishnan, K. (2017). Association between central blood pressure, arterial stiffness, and mild cognitive impairment. *Clin. Hypertens.* 23, 1–6. doi: 10.1186/s40885-016-0058-5
- Tarumi, T., de Jong, D. L., Zhu, D. C., Tseng, B. Y., Liu, J., Hill, C., et al. (2015). Central artery stiffness, baroreflex sensitivity, and brain white matter neuronal fiber integrity in older adults. *Neuroimage* 110, 162–170. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.01.041
- Tarumi, T., Shah, F., Tanaka, H., and Haley, A. P. (2011). Association between central elastic artery stiffness and cerebral perfusion in deep subcortical gray and white matter. Am. J. Hypertens. 24, 1108–1113. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2011.101
- Tasmoc, A., Donciu, M. D., Veisa, G., Nistor, I., and Covic, A. (2016). Increased arterial stiffness predicts cognitive impairment in hemodialysis patients. *Hemodial. Int.* 20, 463–472. doi: 10.1111/hdi.12406
- Thorin-Trescases, N., and Thorin, E. (2016). Lifelong cyclic mechanical strain promotes large elastic artery stiffening: increased pulse pressure and old age-related organ failure. *Can. J. Cardiol.* 32, 624–633. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2015.12.022
- Triantafyllidi, H., Tzortzis, S., Lekakis, J., Ikonomidis, I., Arvaniti, C., Trivilou, P., et al. (2010). Association of target organ damage with three arterial stiffness indexes according to blood pressure dipping status in untreated hypertensive patients. Am. J. Hypertens. 23, 1265–1272. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2010.156
- Tsao, C. W., Himali, J. J., Beiser, A. S., Larson, M. G., Decarli, C., Vasan, R. S., et al. (2016). Association of arterial stiffness with progression of subclinical brain and cognitive disease. *Neurology* 86, 619–626. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000002368
- van Sloten, T. T., Mitchell, G. F., Sigurdsson, S., van Buchem, M. A., Jonsson, P. V., Garcia, M. E., et al. (2016). Associations between arterial stiffness, depressive symptoms and cerebral small vessel disease: cross-sectional findings from the AGES-Reykjavik study. *J. Psychiatry Neurosci.* 41, 162–168. doi: 10.1503/jpn.140334
- van Sloten, T. T., Protogerou, A. D., Henry, R. M. A., Schram, M. T., Launer, L. J., and Stehouwer, C. D. A. (2015). Association between arterial stiffness, cerebral small vessel disease and cognitive impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 53, 121–130. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.03.011
- Vlachopoulos, C., Aznaouridis, K., and Stefanadis, C. (2010). Prediction of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality with arterial stiffness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 55, 1318–1327. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.10.061
- Wåhlin, A., Ambarki, K., Birgander, R., Malm, J., and Eklund, A. (2014). Intracranial pulsatility is associated with regional brain

volume in elderly individuals. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 365–372. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.08.026

- Waldstein, S. R., Rice, S. C., Thayer, J. F., Najjar, S. S., Scuteri, A., and Zonderman, A. B. (2008). Pulse pressure and pulse wave velocity are related to cognitive decline in the Baltimore longitudinal study of aging. *Hypertension* 51, 99–104. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.093674
- Watfa, G., Benetos, A., Kearney-Schwartz, A., Labat, C., Gautier, S., Hanon, O., et al. (2015). Do arterial hemodynamic parameters predict cognitive decline over a period of 2 years in individuals older than 80 years living in nursing homes? The PARTAGE study. J. Am. Med. Direct. Assoc. 16, 598–602. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2015.01.098
- Watson, N. L., Sutton-Tyrrell, K., Rosano, C., Boudreau, R. M., Hardy, S. E., Simonsick, E. M., et al. (2011). Arterial stiffness and cognitive decline in wellfunctioning older adults. *J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 66, 1336–1342. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glr119
- Webb, A. J. S., Simoni, M., Mazzucco, S., Kuker, W., Schulz, U., and Rothwell, P. M. (2012). Increased cerebral arterial pulsatility in patients with leukoaraiosis: arterial stiffness enhances transmission of aortic pulsatility. *Stroke* 43, 2631–2636. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.112. 655837
- Wells, G. A., Shea, B., O'Connell, D., Peterson, J., Welch, V., Losos, M., et al. (2014). The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for Assessing the Quality if Nonrandomized Studies in Meta-Analyses. Available online at: http://www.ohri.ca/programs/ clinical\_epidemiology/oxford.htm
- Yukutake, T., Yamada, M., Fukutani, N., Nishiguchi, S., Kayama, H., Tanigawa, T., et al. (2015). Arterial stiffness predicts cognitive decline in Japanese

community-dwelling elderly subjects: a one-year follow-up study. J. Atheroscler. Thromb. 22, 637–644. doi: 10.5551/jat.27391

- Zeki Al Hazzouri, A., Newman, A. B., Simonsick, E., Sink, K. M., Sutton Tyrrell, K., Watson, N., et al. (2013). Pulse wave velocity and cognitive decline in elders: the Health, Aging, and Body Composition study. *Stroke* 44, 388–393. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.673533
- Zhong, W., Cruickshanks, K. J., Schubert, C. R., Carlsson, C. M., Chappell, R. J., Klein, B. E., et al. (2014). Pulse wave velocity and cognitive function in older adults. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 28, 44–49. doi: 10.1097/WAD.0b013e3182949f06
- Zijlstra, L. E., Trompet, S., Jukema, J. W., Kroft, L. J. M., de Bresser, J., van Osch, M. J. P., et al. (2020). Association of cardiovascular structure and function with cerebrovascular changes and cognitive function in older patients with end-stage renal disease. *Aging* 12, 1496–1511. doi: 10.18632/aging.102696

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Liu, Fang, Cui, Dong, Gao, Bao, Li, Ma, Chen and He. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Inflammatory Biomarkers Aid in Diagnosis of Dementia

Erik B. Erhardt<sup>1</sup>, John C. Adair<sup>2,3</sup>, Janice E. Knoefel<sup>2,3</sup>, Arvind Caprihan<sup>4</sup>, Jillian Prestopnik<sup>3</sup>, Jeffrey Thompson<sup>3</sup>, Sasha Hobson<sup>3</sup>, David Siegel<sup>5</sup> and Gary A. Rosenberg<sup>2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Neurology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>3</sup> Center for Memory and Aging, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>4</sup> The Mind Research Network, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque

Dual pathology of Alzheimer's disease (AD) and vascular cognitive impairment and dementia (VCID) commonly are found together at autopsy, but mixed dementia (MX) is difficult to diagnose during life. Biological criteria to diagnose AD have been defined, but are not available for vascular disease. We used the biological criteria for AD and white matter injury based on MRI to diagnose MX. Then we measured multiple biomarkers in CSF and blood with multiplex biomarker kits for proteases, angiogenic factors, and cytokines to explore pathophysiology in each group. Finally, we used machine learning with the Random forest algorithm to select the biomarkers of maximal importance; that analysis identified three proteases, matrix metalloproteinase-10 (MMP-10), MMP-3 and MMP-1; three angiogenic factors, VEGF-C, Tie-2 and PLGF, and three cytokines interleukin-2 (IL-2), IL-6, IL-13. To confirm the clinical importance of the variables, we showed that they correlated with results of neuropsychological testing.

OPEN ACCESS

## Edited by:

Axel Montagne, University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom

#### Reviewed by:

Berislav Zlokovic, University of Southern California, United States Donna M. Wilcock, University of Kentucky, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Gary A. Rosenberg grosenberg@salud.unm.edu

Received: 30 May 2021 Accepted: 22 July 2021 Published: 17 August 2021

#### Citation:

Erhardt EB, Adair JC, Knoefel JE, Caprihan A, Prestopnik J, Thompson J, Hobson S, Siegel D and Rosenberg GA (2021) Inflammatory Biomarkers Aid in Diagnosis of Dementia. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:717344. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.717344 Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, vascular cognitive impairment and dementia, inflammation, diffusion tensor imaging, cerebrospinal fluid, white matter disease, machine learning

## HIGHLIGHTS

- Multimodal biomarkers facilitate biological classification of mixed dementia in cognitively impaired patients with Alzheimer's disease and vascular disease.
- Machine learning model aids in classification of this diverse group of patients by narrowing down a large number of biomarkers to those that are most important.
- Relevance of this approach is shown by correlation of those important biomarkers with neuropsychological test results.
- Proteases, angiogenic factors and cytokines in various patient groups suggest pathophysiology.

## INTRODUCTION

The need to identify patients with dementia and to determine the cause of cognitive decline during life has greatly increased as a consequence of the increase in dementia due to the aging of the world's populations. Alzheimer's disease (AD) and vascular cognitive impairment and dementia (VCID) are the major causes of dementia (Snyder et al., 2015). While the need for earlier diagnosis to facilitate treatment is generally recognized, the overlapping of symptoms, beginning in midlife, has confounded attempts at early diagnosis, promoting a search for biomarkers to aid this process

(Jorgensen et al., 2020). While AD and VCID are the most common single forms of dementia, autopsy series show that mixed dementia (MX) due to dual pathologies is most common, making it important to be able to diagnose MX during life (Schneider et al., 2007; Toledo et al., 2013; Karanth et al., 2020).

Biomarkers facilitate the detection of multiple pathological processes that accumulate with aging; they provide a window on the earliest events at a time when separation of patients from effects of aging using clinical criteria alone is challenging (Sonnen et al., 2011). Biological criteria for diagnosing AD have been published in the National Institute of Aging-Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA) research framework, which is based on the use of pathological proteins, amyloid- $\beta$  (A $\beta$ ) and phosphorylated tau (pTau) in either the CSF or brain as shown by positron emission tomography (PET) along with evidence of neurodegeneration; the authors predicted that other pathological processes, such as vascular disease, could be added to the formula at a later time as new biomarkers are discovered (Jack et al., 2018). We adopted this approach to diagnose patients with MX involving dual pathology by combining white matter injury on MRI with the biological diagnosis of AD obtained from CSF. Then, to better understand the underlying pathophysiology in the expanded groups of AD, VCID, and MX, we used multiplex assays of biomarkers in CSF and blood (Craig-Schapiro et al., 2011; Pillai et al., 2019; Whelan et al., 2019; Elahi et al., 2020; Winder et al., 2020). Because of the large amount of information obtained from the multiplex assays, we used a machine-learning algorithm, Random Forests, to identify the variables of maximal importance for classifying patients into the three dementia groups. Finally, we demonstrated that the important variables had clinical relevance by correlating them with neuropsychological test results.

## **METHODS**

#### **Patients and Biomarkers**

The study was approved by the University of New Mexico Human Research Review Committee. All patients gave informed consent to study procedures including a lumbar puncture. Patients were recruited from neurology clinics at the University of New Mexico Hospital and the Albuquerque Veterans Administration Hospital. Patients underwent neurological examinations, neuropsychological tests, a lumbar puncture to collect CSF, a venipuncture to collect blood plasma, and a MRI. All subjects were at least 50 years old. Controls for the imaging studies were recruited from community-based volunteers. Control CSF came from patients undergoing spinal anesthesia for orthopedic surgery. ApoE genotyping was not performed.

## **Cognitive Testing**

Cognitive tests were administered by a trained research psychologist (JP) or trained research coordinators and scored according to standard procedures. Standardized (T) scores were calculated for each test. Averaged composite T-scores were calculated for separate cognitive domains: memory (Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-Delay, Rey Complex Figure Test-Long Delay), executive function [Digit Span Backwards, Trail Making Test B, Stroop, Controlled Oral Word Association (FAS)], attention (Digit Span Forward and Trial Making Test A), language [Boston Naming 60 item test, Controlled Oral Word Association (Animal)], and processing speed (Digit Symbol and Symbol Search, both based on WAIS-III). An overall cognitive composite score was derived as the mean of individual domain T-scores. Control participants for the MRI studies underwent the same neuropsychological test battery.

#### **Blood and CSF Studies** Phosphorylated Tau and Aβ

A number of biomarkers were measured in CSF and blood plasma. CSF biomarkers were obtained by lumbar puncture performed in the morning after fasting by one of the authors (JCA). Blood draws were performed during the same patient visit. Samples were centrifuged, aliquoted, and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C for later analysis.

Levels of CSF Tau protein phosphorylated at threonine position 181 (pTau) were measured using the Innotest Phospho-Tau (181P) ELISA (Fujirebio US; Malvern PA). Prior to analysis, all CSF underwent one freeze-thaw cycle. Assays were performed according to manufacturer protocols and were read with a Bio-Tek multimodal plate reader with absorbance at 450 nm. The output data were used to quantify the concentrations based on the supplied in-assay standard curve. We measured βamyloid<sub>1</sub>-42 (Aβ<sub>1</sub>-42) and β-amyloid<sub>1</sub>-40 (Aβ<sub>1</sub>-40) to calculate the Aβ<sub>1</sub>-42/Aβ<sub>1</sub>-40 ratio (V-PLEX Aβ Peptide Panel 1–6E10; MesoScale Discovery MSD, Rockville, Maryland). The output data were used to quantify the concentrations based on the 2-fold sample dilation and the supplied in-assay standard curve. All data were expressed as pg/mL, though the ratio is unitless.

## Matrix Metalloproteinase, Angiogenesis, and Proinflammatory Assays

The biomarkers we selected were based on the MesoScale Discovery (MSD) multiplex assay kits. These have been adapted for use by the MarkVCID consortium. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-9, MMP-10) were measured with two ELISA kits (MSD; MMP 2-Plex and MMP 3-Plex). Angiogenic growth factors were measured by ELISA (MSD; Angiogenesis Panel 1). Similarly, multiple proinflammatory factors were measured with the Proinflammatory Panel 1 (MSD). For these assays, all CSF samples were run undiluted while all plasma samples were diluted 2-fold except for the MMP 3-Plex, in which case the plasma samples were diluted 10-fold. All data were expressed as pg/mL.

#### Fluid Sample Analyses

Assays were performed using established protocols on an MSD Quickplex SQ 120 plate reader, followed by analysis performed in the MSD Discovery Workbench 4.0 software that was used to quantify analyte concentrations and all data were expressed as pg/mL. Protein markers measured with MSD assays were subjected to intra-plate variability tests which calculated the coefficient of variation (CV), as determined by duplicate runs for each sample. Samples with a  $CV \ge 15\%$  were removed from further analysis. Another assessment involved two CSF

and two plasma pooled control samples run in duplicate on the same plate in all assays. These control samples were held to the same intra-plate CV ( $\geq$ 15%) and were also assessed for plate-to-plate variability.

#### **MRI Studies**

To obtain information on the integrity of the white matter, we used MRI scans that were performed on a Siemens 3T scanner. Initial scans were performed on a 12-channel radio frequency (RF) coil and later scans were acquired with a 32-channel RF coil. The imaging parameters with the two RF coils were closely matched. The 3D MPRAGE sequence had TR = 2530 ms, four echoes, and TI = 1200 ms with an acquisition time of 6.5 min. The 3D FLAIR sequence had a TR = 6000 ms, TE = 427 ms, and TI = 2000 ms. The diffusion data were collected with a FOV = 224, 2 mm isotropic resolution, and 72 slices for both RF coils. On the 12-channel coil, the diffusion protocol had a single-shell of b-value =  $800 \text{ s/mm}^2$  with 30 volumes collected with different gradient directions and five volumes with b = 0. The acquisition time was 6.5 min. The experiments done on the 32-channel coil used a CMRR multi-band sequence, which enabled us to collect more gradient directions. On the 32-channel coil, we collected three shells with a maximum b-value =  $3000 \text{ s/mm}^2$ , 155 volumes with different gradient directions, and eight volumes with b = 0. The acquisition time was 12.5 min.

White matter hyperintensity (WMH) volume was calculated from FLAIR images based on JIM software (www.xinapse.com). The diffusion images were corrected for motion, distortion, and mean diffusivity (MD), and fractional anisotropy (FA) was calculated (www.fmrib.ox.ac.uk).

## **Statistical Methods**

Patient data underwent transformation, outlier detection, selection, and missing value imputation. Fluid variables measuring concentration were transformed to the log<sub>2</sub> scale to mitigate right skewness; the resulting roughly symmetric distributions satisfy statistical assumptions and afford straightforward visual comparisons. Univariate outliers were identified by visual inspection and replaced with a missing value code (to be imputed later) if it was likely due to measurement error by outlying from the majority of points by roughly greater than twice the range of the majority of points on the variable's original scale. This resulted in removing roughly one or two values from about half of the features, a total of 54 values over 55 features. Observations were filtered to include patients who did not have missing values for more than 30% of the features, retaining 86 observations for our three primary diagnosis groups and controls. Missing values were imputed using the method "Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations" via the mice R package (van Buuren and Groothuis-Oudshoorn, 2011).

Patient classification based on fluid features used Random forests (RF), a supervised ensemble machine learning algorithm that is based on classification trees (Breiman, 2001) in which many classification trees (a "forest") are fit on bootstrapped samples of the original observations and randomly selected subsets of features. Each tree partitions the data based on a random subset of predictor variables in such a way as to obtain optimal separation between the diagnosis groups. RF provides a measure of variable importance (VIMP) for prediction accuracy, which is interpreted as the increase in prediction accuracy for decision trees within the forest with a given feature (variable) compared to decision trees without that feature; VIMP can be negative. RF also provides the marginal probability of group identity for values of each variable, and the bootstrap aggregating (bagging) technique keeps RF from overfitting. Furthermore, RF can perform multiclass prediction, automatically employs external cross-validation by predicting a patient diagnosis based on trees estimated without that patient, has minimal distributional model assumptions and is easy to implement. Variable selection improves classification and the reduced models based on classification accuracy are presented. RF was performed in R software using the package "randomForestSRC" function "rfsrc" with 10,000 trees (Ishwaran and Malley, 2014).

## RESULTS

The three neurologists arrived at a consensus clinical diagnosis based on clinical history, neuropsychological tests and MRI FLAIR results. Initially, the results of the diffusion tensor MRI and some results of the CSF and blood studies were not available: AD CSF biomarkers were done initially, and the subsequent biomarkers in CSF and plasma were from the proteases, angiogenic factors and cytokines. Since VCID includes a number of forms of vascular disease, we focused on the small vessel form, subcortical ischemic vascular disease (SIVD), which can be detected by MRI and has a progressive course, making it more amenable to clinical trials (Pantoni, 2010). The diagnoses used were: (1) SIVD, indicating normal CSF AD proteins and abnormal white matter on FLAIR; (2) AD patients had abnormal CSF AD proteins and normal white matter; (3) MX patients had both AD proteins and white matter injury. We excluded large vessel infarcts and single strategic strokes without white matter injury. We also excluded several patients with abnormal FLAIR MRI without a cognitive deficit; they were considered white matter changes of aging.

## **Demographic and Cognitive Features**

Eighty-six (86) subjects had complete data permitting a full analysis; the numbers in each category are shown in **Table 1**. Forty-five percent of the patients were female. The median patient age was 72 years; MX patients were 7 years older than either the SIVD or AD groups (p = 0.010) (**Table 1**). Controls performed significantly better across cognitive domains than all patient groups. Memory function in the AD group was lower than in SIVD and MX (30.0 vs. 44.0 and 36.0, p < 0.001). There were no significant between-group differences for other cognitive domains (T-executive, T-attention, T-language, and T-processing) and composite cognitive score (T-overall).

For the biomarkers, we performed several analyses. First, we compared the controls against the three patient groups combined using each of the CSF and plasma features; this showed that there were significant differences in the CSF  $A\beta_{1-42}/A\beta_{1-40}$  ratio and pTau. In addition, CSF values for MMP-1, MMP-9, and MMP-10, VEGF-D, Flt-1, PIGF, IL-8, IL-10, and IL-13 were significantly

TABLE 1   Features that are significant betwee	n diagnosis groups with Control reference values.
--	---

Features	SIVD	Mixed	AD		Control
Demographics	(N = 17)	(N = 15)	(N = 19)	р	(N = 35)
Age at baseline	68.0 [60.0;74.0]	76.0 [73.0;79.5]	70.0 [66.0;74.0]	0.010	65.0 [62.0;68.5]
Sex				0.039	
Female	11 (64.7%)	3 (20.0%)	9 (47.4%)		24 (68.6%)
Male	6 (35.3%)	12 (80.0%)	10 (52.6%)		11 (31.4%)
Neuropsychological					
T-memory	44.0 [38.0;60.5]	36.0 [25.0;41.0]	30.0 [21.0;35.5]	0.000	**56.0 [46.5;61.5]
Alz disease proteins					
A Beta 42/40 ratio*	7.30 [3.45;9.30]	3.30 [2.85;4.10]	4.70 [4.00;6.15]	0.010	8.70 [6.80;10.40]
P-Tau	52.0 [44.0;56.0]	97.0 [64.0;121.0]	71.0 [53.0;100.5]	0.001	54.0 [42.0;64.0]
Protease					
MSD CSF MMP-10	52.8 [43.1;69.2]	98.9 [91.1;119.6]	81.6 [75.6;101.9]	0.001	46.5 [34.1;67.8]
MSD Plasma MMP-3*	14.4 [11.7;20.7]	23.7 [17.0;34.2]	20.8 [12.0;26.7]	0.054	15.1 [11.4;21.2]
Angiogenesis					
CSF VEGF-C	25.3 [14.2;40.6]	25.1 [18.6;34.8]	12.7 [5.0;15.2]	0.008	19.8 [13.4;28.3]
CSF Flt-1	67.9 [60.6;87.8]	110.8 [81.9;125.4]	82.4 [67.5;93.4]	0.051	68.9 [52.2;87.7]
CSF PIGF	28.5 [16.7;41.3]	33.4 [23.9;59.7]	21.4 [18.5;23.3]	0.018	16.0 [12.1;22.0]
Cytokine					
CSF IL-2*	7.94 [6.30;9.75]	4.81 [4.50;9.63]	4.50 [4.11;7.23]	0.075	4.50 [4.50;5.95]
Plasma IL-13	0.914 [0.395;1.995]	2.529 [1.391;7.923]	1.636 [0.606;4.795]	0.043	2.552 [1.070;4.842]

Numeric summaries are median and IQR bounds [Q1, Q3] (25th and 75th percentiles), or categorical frequencies and percentages. Three values were scaled for presentation in the table [\*, A Beta 42/40 ratio (value\*100), MSD Plasma MMP-3 (value/1000), CSF IL-2 (value\*100)]. Note that the Controls with neuropsychological measurements (\*\*, N = 199) were distinct from those with fluid measurements analyzed in the manuscript and are included as an external reference. P-values reported from the Kruskal-Wallis test for continuous data and from the chi-square test with continuity correction for categorical data to compare between the three diagnosis groups.

different from controls (**Figure 1**). In plasma, MMP-1, VEGF-A, VEGF-C, PlGF, bFGF, IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$  were significantly different from controls (**Figure 1**). Comparing controls with each patient group revealed many differences in both CSF and plasma (**Figure 1**). Comparing between the three groups revealed a number of significant differences between the groups in both the CSF and plasma, which tended to be much more prominent in CSF (**Figure 1**).

#### **Alzheimer's Biomarker Features**

The  $A\beta_{1-42}/A\beta_{1-40}$  ratio was lower in MX than in SIVD or AD (p = 0.010), while pTau was higher in the MX than in SIVD or AD (p = 0.001) (**Table 1**; **Supplementary Figure 2**). The  $A\beta_{1-42}/A\beta_{1-40}$  ratio was negatively correlated with age but not with any of the cognitive features, while pTau was positively correlated with age, attention, executive function, and processing speed (**Figure 2**).

#### **Protease Features**

CSF MMP-10 was highest in MX and AD relative to SIVD (p = 0.001) (**Table 1**; **Supplementary Figure 3**). No other median differences between patient groups were observed, including CSF MMP-1,-2,-3, and-9, and Plasma MMP-1,-2,-9, and-10. CSF MMP-10 positively correlated with age and negatively with memory scores. There were no significant between-group differences in plasma MMPs except plasma MMP-3, which showed a trend toward significance (p < 0.054). Plasma MMP-2 negatively correlated with most of the cognitive measures

(attention, executive function, language, and overall), and plasma MMP-3 positively correlated with age (**Figure 2**). CSF MMP-3 and MMP-10 correlated with plasma values for both proteases (**Figure 2**).

#### **Angiogenesis Features**

CSF Placental growth factor (PIGF) was elevated in MX relative to AD (p = 0.018) and CSF VEGF-C was lower in AD relative to SIVD and MX (p = 0.008) (**Table 1; Supplementary Figure 4**). No other median differences between patient groups were observed in CSF for the angiogenic features VEGF-A, VEGF-D, Tie-2, Flt-1, and bFGF. In addition, there were no significant between-group differences in plasma angiogenesis features (VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, Tie-2, Flt-1, PIGF, and bFGF). CSF PIGF was the only angiogenesis factor correlated (positively) with age. CSF VEGF-A was positively correlated with language, and CSF VEGF-C is positively correlated with memory (**Figure 2**). Plasma Tie-2 is positively correlated with language and memory and Plasma Flt-1 is negatively correlated with the overall cognitive features. CSF VEGF-D and PIGF correlated with plasma values (**Figure 2**).

#### **Cytokine Features**

None of the CSF cytokine features showed median differences (IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-13, and TNF- $\alpha$ ). Plasma IL-13 was lower in SIVD relative to MX (p = 0.043) (**Table 1; Supplementary Figure 5**). No other median differences between patient groups were observed for plasma.



CSF IL-1 $\beta$  was positively correlated with executive function, language, and overall cognition, CSF IL-2 was positively correlated with memory, TNF- $\alpha$  was positively correlated with language, memory, and overall cognition, and CSF IL-13 was negatively correlated with attention, executive function, and processing speed (**Figure 2**). Plasma IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-2, IL-4, and IL-10 were positively correlated with language, plasma IL-4 alone was positively correlated with overall cognition, while plasma IL-6 was negatively correlated with memory. Plasma TNF- $\alpha$  was positively correlated with age.

# Biomarker Stratification of Patients Into SIVD, MX, and AD

We performed supervised classification using Random Forests with subsets of features from CSF and plasma to classify diagnosis groups in three ways (SIVD vs. AD, SIVD vs. AD and MX, and SIVD vs. MX vs. AD). We considered three broad scenarios. First, we considered "All Factors" of CSF and plasma together, as well as CSF and plasma features separately. Second, we considered the separate "CSF Factors" of AD Proteins, Proteases, Angiogenesis, and Cytokines. Third, we considered the separate "Plasma Factors" of Proteases, Angiogenesis, and Cytokines. To improve classification accuracy, each model is first fit using the complete set of features and then we perform manual stepwise backward selection based on variable importance (VIMP) until all remaining variables have reliably positive VIMP values. The classification accuracy results for all scenarios are summarized in **Figure 3** with associated ROC curves for two-group models in **Figure 4**, then the variable importance values for the "All Factors" scenario are in **Table 2**.

In the "All Factors" scenario the All features (CSF and Plasma) and CSF alone features have similar accuracies of roughly 77%, 88%, and 67% for the three diagnosis groups, while Plasma alone features had much lower accuracies (56%, 73%, and 47%). Therefore, the Plasma features do not add additional classification benefits to the CSF features (**Figure 3**, left; **Table 2**, top row). Additionally, a sensitivity analysis was performed by excluding the CSF  $A\beta_{1-42}/A\beta_{1-40}$  ratio and pTau from the modeling; accuracies were similar for both All features (75%, 84%, and 70%) and CSF features (75%, 84%, 67%). The ROC Curves indicate the optimal threshold (**Figure 4**, circle) and the



FIGURE 2 (A) Spearman correlation of CSF and Plasma reatures with Age and Cognitive features for SIVD, Mixed, and AD patients. Selected scatterplots illustrate relationships at the  $p \le 0.01$  significance level: (B) same fluid features CSF vs. plasma, (C) fluid features with Age, and (D) fluid features with cognitive features.

area under the curve (AUC) as an indication of the quality of the classifier, with values closer to 1 being better. For the two twogroup models, the All Factor and CSF Factor models have AUC values between 0.83 and 0.88, but the Plasma Factor model has AUC values between 0.70 and 0.74 (**Figure 4**). Additionally, the sensitivity analysis excluding the CSF  $A\beta_{1-42}/A\beta_{1-40}$  ratio and pTau from the modeling were similar, between 0.84 and 0.86.

Variable importance (VIMP) values for the "All Factors" scenario for the three diagnosis group definitions are

given in **Table 2**. The features contributing the most to accurate classification are similar for the All features and CSF alone features, with the most important being CSF MMP-10, pTau, and VEGF-C. Less important CSF features also include CSF PIGF, Tie-2, VEGF-D, IL-2, IL-13, and IL-1 $\beta$ . When CSF variables are in the model, demographic features of Age and Sex actually worsen classification accuracy (negative VIMP values). The most important Plasma-only features are Plasma Tie-2, MMP-1, and MMP-10. Less



important Plasma features include Age, MMP-3, IL-13, and IL-6.

In the "CSF Factors" scenario, separate models were considered for each set of features. The classification accuracy indicates that AD biomarkers and Angiogenesis factors are more predictive of diagnosis category than Proteases, with the Cytokines being the least predictive (**Figures 3**, **4**). In the "Plasma Factors" scenario, Proteases added some predictive ability, with Angiogenesis and Cytokines providing almost no predictive ability (**Figures 3**, **4**).

Features that did not improve classification (**Table 2**) because they contributed a classification of <0.3% for any diagnostic groups included Sex; Protease CSF MMP-1,-2, and-3, and Plasma MMP-9; Angiogenesis CSF VEGF-D, Flt-1, bFGF, and Plasma VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, Flt-1, and PlGF; and Cytokine CSF IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, and IL-10, and Plasma IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-2, IL-4, IL-8, IL-12p70, and TNF- $\alpha$ .

## DISCUSSION

Using the biological diagnosis to diagnose AD and MRI white matter injury to indicate vascular disease, we identified during life a group of cognitively impaired patients with dual pathology. Having separated patients into AD, VCID, and MX, we then used a large number of biomarkers determined in CSF and plasma with multiplex assay kits to determine the biomarkers of maximal importance. Finally, we used neuropsychological testing to validate the biomarkers identified. An important part of the study was the use of a statistical machine learning method to determine the relative importance of the biomarkers. In this manner, our study was a step in the realization of precision medicine for dementia studies.

We studied the variable importance of biomarkers in a diverse group of cognitively impaired patients classified into AD, SIVD, and MX. We included the MX group by expanding the AD biological research criteria to include a vascular factor to identify dual pathology patients (Jack et al., 2018). Commercially available multiplex assays identified proteases, angiogenic growth factors, and cytokines in CSF and plasma. A machine learning method, Random Forests, showed that the CSF variables of maximal importance, were MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP-10, VEGF-C, PIGF, IL-2, IL-6, and IL-13. By initially classifying patients into diagnostic groups, we were able to determine the levels of the biomarkers in each group, and showed that the highest values tended to be in the dual pathology patients. Our results show that the availability of multiplex assays to measure biomarkers in CSF and plasma during life provides data to compare with neuropathological studies, confirming the importance of multiple neuropathological processes in cognitively impaired patients (Toledo et al., 2013; Karanth et al., 2020).

The classes of biomarkers that we studied had inflammation and repair in common. We found that those with dual pathology had the highest values for the biomarkers, which is consistent with studies that show an acceleration of cognitive decline suspected to be due to the cumulative effects of the different pathological processes



(Snowdon et al., 1997; Karanth et al., 2020). To obtain this data, we expanded the biological formula for AD to include a vascular factor, permitting the identification of patients with relatively pure AD and VCID as well as a group with dual pathology (Jack et al., 2018). Our results concur with other pathological and CSF studies that have identified proteolytic, angiogenic and inflammatory biomarkers as central features of the pathobiology of both AD and VCID (Tarkowski et al., 2002; Desai et al., 2009; Biron et al., 2011). Our results suggest that the MMPs and the angiogenic factors act together. The three MMPs that were most prominent, MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-10, are inducible enzymes with transcription factors, AP-1 and NF-kB, that would be important in inflammation; MMP-2, which was identified in plasma, but not CSF, is a constitutive enzyme that may have other roles (Candelario-Jalil et al., 2009).

Angiogenic factors have been identified in a number of studies in AD, but it is unclear whether they participate in injury or repair. It is possible to conceptualize a pathological scenario in which the growth of blood vessels begins with the proteolytic disruption of the extracellular matrix by one or more of the MMPs, which is analogous to vessel growth in tumors where the proteases remove pericytes and breakdown extracellular matrix proteins to prepare the vessels for sprouting under the control of angiogenic factors (Rundhaug, 2005). The angiogenic factors, VEGF, PIGF, and their receptors, Flt-1 and Tie-2, were identified: Flt-1 (elevated in CSF for MX compared to the other three groups) (**Supplementary Figure 4**), and Tie-2 (important in classification in plasma) (**Table 2**); they initiate vessel growth controlled by hypoxia-inducible factor- $\alpha$  under hypoxic conditions, which are present in both AD and VCID due to reduced cerebral blood flow as found in both conditions, but for different underlying mechanisms (Tomimoto, 2011; Iadecola, 2013).

Correlating biomarkers with neuropsychological testing was important in that it showed their clinical relevance. The relationship between fluid biomarkers and cognition is complex and, given modest correlations and small sample size, our data should be considered as hypothesis-generating rather than instructive. Positive correlations between cognitive performance and CSF levels of inflammatory cytokines pose a paradox if inflammation precedes injury to brain structure. Scatterplots in **Figure 2** suggest that elevated CSF cytokines (e.g., CSF IL-2) and VEGF-C may differentially affect cognition by patient group. For example, higher cognitive scores in SIVD with elevated inflammatory factors might indicate they play a reparative role in this group.

Our results reveal the role of the angiogenic factors. It is interesting that Flt-1 besides being the receptor for VEGF, is a signaling factor for microglia (Ryu et al., 2009). Similarly, the proteases probably have multiple roles; high levels of MMP-10 TABLE 2 | Variable Importance (VIMP) for important features used to classify each definition of diagnostic groups for the all factors classification scenario; cells are shaded darker for larger VIMP.

		All			CSF			Plasma	
Accuracy:	77.8%	88.2%	68.6%	75.0%	88.2%	66.7%	55.6%	72.5%	47.1%
Feature	SIVD vs. AD	SIVD vs. AD and Mixed	SIVD vs. Mixed vs. AD	SIVD vs. AD	SIVD vs. AD and Mixed	SIVD vs. Mixed vs. AD	SIVD vs. AD	SIVD vs. AD and Mixed	SIVD vs. Mixed vs. AD
Age at baseline			0.3%			-0.1%	2.8%	0.5%	2.6%
CSF A Beta 42/40 ratio		1.0%	1.2%		1.4%	1.4%			
CSF P-Tau	3.3%	2.9%	2.3%	4.0%	4.0%	2.8%			
CSF MSD MMP-9				0.4%					
CSF MSD MMP-10	3.4%	5.3%	4.6%	4.9%	6.8%	5.6%			
Plasma MSD MMP-1	1.4%	1.3%	0.8%				4.3%	3.0%	1.8%
Plasma MSD MMP-2	1.0%		0.5%					-0.4%	
Plasma MSD MMP-3		0.2%	0.1%					0.5%	0.7%
Plasma MSD MMP-10		0.2%					2.3%	1.2%	0.5%
CSF VEGF-A			0.3%			0.5%			
CSF VEGF-C	4.3%	0.7%	3.1%	3.4%	1.1%	3.8%			
CSF Tie-2	1.1%	0.4%	0.5%		0.6%	0.8%			
CSF PIGF	0.0%		1.8%	0.4%		1.8%			
Plasma Tie-2							5.2%	-0.3%	1.6%
Plasma bFGF									0.4%
CSF IL-1B	0.1%	0.0%	-0.1%	0.2%	0.6%	-0.1%			
CSF IL-2		0.7%	0.5%	1.6%	1.2%	0.7%			
CSF IL-12p70						0.4%			
CSF IL-13	1.6%		0.4%	0.7%		0.4%			
CSF TNF-a		0.1%			0.4%	-0.1%			
Plasma IFN-g			0.7%						
Plasma IL-6	0.6%	-0.1%	0.3%					0.0%	0.9%
Plasma IL-10									0.3%
Plasma IL-13		0.4%	0.3%					0.7%	1.5%

were found in CSF and plasma, and it correlated with pTau, suggesting importance in AD by a mechanism that remains to be determined. Others have reported MMP-10 elevations in patients with AD (Stomrud et al., 2010; Craig-Schapiro et al., 2011; Whelan et al., 2019). Several of the biomarkers showed a correlation between values in the CSF and plasma, suggesting that plasma may be able to be used instead of CSF, particularly with the ultra-sensitive assay platforms (Janelidze et al., 2016).

Random Forests, a machine learning method, selected several of the cytokines as variables of importance for distinguishing patient groups, including IL-2, IL-6, and IL-13. These may influence the inflammatory response: IL-2 amplifies  $T_{reg}$  cells that are linked to chemokines, CCL1 and CCL20, which suppress astrocytosis, contributing to repair (Ito et al., 2019); in animals with traumatic brain injury, IL-13 impacts microglia by converting M1/M2 microglia into anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype (Miao et al., 2020); IL-13 is found in resilient AD patients that have reduced glial activation, increased neuronal survival, and preserved cognition (Barroeta-Espar et al., 2019).

There are several caveats with our data. First, patients were from a single center and only a subset had complete CSF/plasma and MRI datasets, reducing the numbers available

for statistical analysis. Second, biomarkers selected were those available from MesoScale Discovery and had been used by the MarkVCID consortium, which included our group; other biomarkers and platforms with different biomarkers could have been used. Furthermore, the study was cross-sectional rather than longitudinal, precluding inferences about the temporal dynamics of analyte levels. A major caveat is the small sample size, which was further hindered by forming an additional MX group. However, despite the small numbers, the results were statistically significant. A follow-up study on a larger population is necessary to further validate the results of this present study.

In conclusion, we expanded the biological definition of AD by adding vascular factors, allowing the identification of patients with dual pathology prior to autopsy. Using Random Forests, a machine learning method, we have determined the major proteases, angiogenic factors, and cytokines of importance in classification in a diverse group of dementia patients. Following an initial classification into diagnostic groups, we identified the proteases, MMP-1, MMP-3 and MMP-10, the angiogenic factors, VEGF-C, PIGF, Flt-1, Tie-2, and the cytokines, IL-2, IL-6, and IL-13. Our results suggest that the combined action of proteases and angiogenic growth factors may be important in dementia with

cytokines fueling the inflammatory processes. Further studies in larger numbers of patients will be needed to confirm these results.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of New Mexico Human Research Review Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EE performed the statistical analysis and wrote a draft. JA and JK recruited the patients. AC performed the MRIs and

#### REFERENCES

- Barroeta-Espar, I., Weinstock, L. D., Perez-Nievas, B. G., Meltzer, A. C., Siao Tick Chong, M., Amaral, A. C., et al. (2019). Distinct cytokine profiles in human brains resilient to Alzheimer's pathology. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 121, 327–337. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2018.10.009
- Biron, K. E., Dickstein, D. L., Gopaul, R., and Jefferies, W. A. (2011). Amyloid triggers extensive cerebral angiogenesis causing blood brain barrier permeability and hypervascularity in Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS ONE* 6:e23789. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023789
- Breiman, L. (2001). Statistical modeling: the two cultures. *Stat. Sci.* 16, 199–231. doi: 10.1214/ss/1009213726
- Candelario-Jalil, E., Yang, Y., and Rosenberg, G. A. (2009). Diverse roles of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in neuroinflammation and cerebral ischemia. *Neuroscience* 158, 983–994. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.06.025
- Craig-Schapiro, R., Kuhn, M., Xiong, C., Pickering, E. H., Liu, J., Misko, T. P., et al. (2011). Multiplexed immunoassay panel identifies novel CSF biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease diagnosis and prognosis. *PLoS ONE* 6:e18850. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018850
- Desai, B. S., Schneider, J. A., Li, J. L., Carvey, P. M., and Hendey, B. (2009). Evidence of angiogenic vessels in Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm. 116, 587–597. doi: 10.1007/s00702-009-0226-9
- Elahi, F. M., Casaletto, K. B., La Joie, R., Walters, S. M., Harvey, D., Wolf, A., et al. (2020). Plasma biomarkers of astrocytic and neuronal dysfunction in early- and late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement.* 16, 681–695. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2019.09.004
- Iadecola, C. (2013). The pathobiology of vascular dementia. Neuron 80, 844–866. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.008
- Ishwaran, H., and Malley, J. D. (2014). Synthetic learning machines. *BioData Min.* 7:28. doi: 10.1186/s13040-014-0028-y
- Ito, M., Komai, K., Mise-Omata, S., Iizuka-Koga, M., Noguchi, Y., Kondo, T., et al. (2019). Brain regulatory T cells suppress astrogliosis and potentiate neurological recovery. *Nature* 565, 246–250. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0824-5
- Jack, C. R. Jr., Bennett, D. A., Blennow, K., Carrillo, M. C., Dunn, B., Haeberlein, S. B., et al. (2018). NIA-AA Research Framework: Toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*. 14, 535–562. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018.02.018
- Janelidze, S., Zetterberg, H., Mattsson, N., Palmqvist, S., Vanderstichele, H., Lindberg, O., et al. (2016). CSF Abeta42/Abeta40 and Abeta42/Abeta38 ratios: better diagnostic markers of Alzheimer disease. Ann. Clin. Transl. Neurol. 3, 154–165. doi: 10.1002/acn3.274

analyzed the MRI data. JT and SH analyzed the CSF and blood. JP performed the neuropsychological testing. DS obtained the control CSF during surgery. GR obtained the funding, recruited patients, and contributed to the writing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

The studies were funded by NIH grants (RO1 NS052305 and UH3NS100598-MarkVCID to GR) as well as supported by DHHS/NIH/NCRR #8UL1TR000041 to UNM HSC CTSC.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2021.717344/full#supplementary-material

- Jorgensen, I. F., Aguayo-Orozco, A., Lademann, M., and Brunak, S. (2020). Agestratified longitudinal study of Alzheimer's and vascular dementia patients. *Alzheimers Dement.* 16, 908–917. doi: 10.1002/alz.12091
- Karanth, S., Nelson, P. T., Katsumata, Y., Kryscio, R. J., Schmitt, F. A., Fardo, D. W., et al. (2020). Prevalence and clinical phenotype of quadruple misfolded proteins in older adults. *JAMA Neurol.* 77, 1299–1307. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.1741
- Miao, W., Zhao, Y., Huang, Y., Chen, D., Luo, C., Su, W., et al. (2020). IL-13 ameliorates neuroinflammation and promotes functional recovery after traumatic brain injury. *J. Immunol.* 204, 1486–1498. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1900909
- Pantoni, L. (2010). Cerebral small vessel disease: from pathogenesis and clinical characteristics to therapeutic challenges. *Lancet Neurol.* 9, 689–701. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70104-6
- Pillai, J. A., Maxwell, S., Bena, J., Bekris, L. M., Rao, S. M., Chance, M., et al. (2019). Key inflammatory pathway activations in the MCI stage of Alzheimer's disease. *Ann. Clin. Transl. Neurol.* 6, 1248–1262. doi: 10.1002/acn3.50827
- Rundhaug, J. E. (2005). Matrix metalloproteinases and angiogenesis. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 9, 267–285. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2005.tb00355.x
- Ryu, J. K., Cho, T., Choi, H. B., Wang, Y. T., and McLarnon, J. G. (2009). Microglial VEGF receptor response is an integral chemotactic component in Alzheimer's disease pathology. J. Neurosci. 29, 3–13. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2888-08.2009
- Schneider, J. A., Arvanitakis, Z., Bang, W., and Bennett, D. A. (2007). Mixed brain pathologies account for most dementia cases in community-dwelling older persons. *Neurology* 69, 2197–2204. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000271090.281 48.24
- Snowdon, D. A., Greiner, L. H., Mortimer, J. A., Riley, K. P., Greiner, P. A., and Markesbery, W. R. (1997). Brain infarction and the clinical expression of Alzheimer disease. The Nun Study [see comments]. *JAMA* 277, 813–817. doi: 10.1001/jama.1997.03550020046024
- Snyder, H. M., Corriveau, R. A., Craft, S., Faber, J. E., Greenberg, S. M., Knopman, D., et al. (2015). Vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia including Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement* 11, 710–717. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.10.008
- Sonnen, J. A., Santa Cruz, K., Hemmy, L. S., Woltjer, R., Leverenz, J. B., Montine, K. S., et al. (2011). Ecology of the aging human brain. *Arch. Neurol.* 68, 1049–1056. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2011.157
- Stomrud, E., Bjorkqvist, M., Janciauskiene, S., Minthon, L., and Hansson, O. (2010). Alterations of matrix metalloproteinases in the healthy elderly with increased risk of prodromal Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Res. Ther.* 2:20. doi: 10.1186/alzrt44

- Tarkowski, E., Issa, R., Sjogren, M., Wallin, A., Blennow, K., Tarkowski, A., et al. (2002). Increased intrathecal levels of the angiogenic factors VEGF and TGF-beta in Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. *Neurobiol. Aging* 23, 237–243. doi: 10.1016/S0197-4580(01)00285-8
- Toledo, J. B., Arnold, S. E., Raible, K., Brettschneider, J., Xie, S. X., Grossman, M., et al. (2013). Contribution of cerebrovascular disease in autopsy confirmed neurodegenerative disease cases in the National Alzheimer's Coordinating Centre. *Brain* 136(Pt 9), 2697–2706. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awt188
- Tomimoto, H. (2011). Subcortical vascular dementia. Neurosci. Res. 71, 193–199. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2011.07.1820
- van Buuren, S., and Groothuis-Oudshoorn, k. (2011). mice: multivariate imputation by chained equations in R. *J. Stat. Softw.* 45, 1–67. doi: 10.18637/jss.v045.i03
- Whelan, C. D., Mattsson, N., Nagle, M. W., Vijayaraghavan, S., Hyde, C., Janelidze, S., et al. (2019). Multiplex proteomics identifies novel CSF and plasma biomarkers of early Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* 7:169. doi: 10.1186/s40478-019-0795-2
- Winder, Z., Sudduth, T. L., Fardo, D., Cheng, Q., Goldstein, L. B., Nelson, P. T., et al. (2020). Hierarchical clustering analyses of plasma proteins in subjects with cardiovascular risk factors identify informative subsets based on differential

levels of angiogenic and inflammatory biomarkers. Front. Neurosci. 14:84. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2020.00084

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Erhardt, Adair, Knoefel, Caprihan, Prestopnik, Thompson, Hobson, Siegel and Rosenberg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Microglial TREM2 Mitigates Inflammatory Responses and Neuronal Apoptosis in Angiotensin II-Induced Hypertension in Middle-Aged Mice

Xiaotian Xu<sup>1,2</sup>, Lin Du<sup>3</sup>, Jianxiong Jiang<sup>4</sup>, Ming Yang<sup>1</sup>, Zhaoxia Wang<sup>1</sup>, Yingge Wang<sup>1</sup>, Tieyu Tang<sup>1</sup>, Xuetao Fu<sup>1</sup> and Jiukuan Hao<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurology, The Affiliated Hospital, Yangzhou University, Yangzhou, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pharmacological & Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, University of Houston, Houston, TX, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Cardiology, The Affiliated Hospital, Yangzhou University, Yangzhou, China, <sup>4</sup> Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States

Growing evidence suggests that hypertension and aging are prominent risk factors for the development of late-onset Alzheimer's disease (LOAD) by inducement of neuroinflammation. Recent study showed that neuroinflammation *via* activated microglia induces reactive astrocytes, termed A1 astrocytes, that highly upregulate numerous classical complement cascade genes that are destructive to neurons in neurodegeneration diseases. Moreover, triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) is considered as one of the strongest single-allele genetic risk factors and plays important roles in neuroinflammation for LOAD. However, the mechanisms of microglia in the regulation of A1 astrocytic activation are still not clear. We introduced angiotensin II-induced hypertension in middle-aged mice and found that hypertension-upregulated TREM2 expression and A1 astrocytic activation were involved in neuroinflammation in the animal models used in this study. The *in vitro* results revealed that overexpression of microglial TREM2 not only mitigated microglial inflammatory response but also had salutary effects on reverse A1 astrocytic activation and neuronal toxicity.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Donghui Zhu, Stony Brook University, United States

Reviewed by: Firoz Akhter, Stony Brook University, United States Ana Maria Marques Orellana, University of São Paulo, Brazil

> \***Correspondence:** Jiukuan Hao jhao6@central.uh.edu

Received: 29 May 2021 Accepted: 16 July 2021 Published: 20 August 2021

#### Citation:

Xu X, Du L, Jiang J, Yang M, Wang Z, Wang Y, Tang T, Fu X and Hao J (2021) Microglial TREM2 Mitigates Inflammatory Responses and Neuronal Apoptosis in Angiotensin II-Induced Hypertension in Middle-Aged Mice. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:716917. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.716917 Keywords: LOAD, hypertension, aging, TREM2, microglia, astrocyte, neuroinflammation

## INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease is the most common cause of all types of dementia (Lane et al., 2018; Scheltens et al., 2021), and sporadic Alzheimer's disease (AD) usually occurs after the of 65, and is also named late-onset AD (LOAD) (Rabinovici, 2019). Growing evidence suggests that hypertension plays an important role in LOAD (Kruyer et al., 2015; Lüders and Schrader, 2015) by causing A $\beta$  plaque deposits and cerebral amyloid angiopathy (CAA) (Tsukuda et al., 2009; Carnevale et al., 2012; Elias et al., 2012). Furthermore, clinical research investigators have confirmed that midlife hypertension is strongly correlated with late-life dementia in humans (Iadecola, 2014), and that effective treatment for hypertension in midlife can attenuate the risk of developing cognitive impairment in older age (Elias et al., 2012; Tzourio et al., 2014; Baranowski et al., 2018).
Although the mechanisms of hypertension causing dementia are still not fully understood, it has been found that neuroinflammation plays a pivotal role in the incidence and progression of AD (Iadecola, 2014; McMaster et al., 2015; Bolos et al., 2017). As inflammatory response cells in the brain, microglia play important roles in immune responses in the central nervous system and is involved in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative and neuroinflammatory diseases. In response to inflammatory M1 phenotype or anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype. The M1 activation of microglia occurs in response to A $\beta$  and other inflammatory stimuli, which have detrimental impacts on neurons, through the release of pro-inflammatory factors and various toxic substances (Sarlus and Heneka, 2017; Hansen et al., 2018).

A recent study has shown that M1 microglia activated astrocytes into A1 astrocytes, which highly upregulate numerous classical complement cascade genes that are destructive to neurons and oligodendrocytes in neurodegenerative diseases (Liddelow et al., 2017). Blocking M1 microglial-induced A1 astrocytic activation is considered to be an effective therapeutic strategy for AD (Baldwin and Eroglu, 2017; Clarke et al., 2018). Notably, TREM2 plays important roles on microglial functions such as phagocytosis, biosynthetic metabolism, and inflammatory response (Condello et al., 2018), and TREM2 deficiency exacerbates activated M1 microglial inflammatory cytokines release and neuronal apoptosis, but TREM2 overexpression markedly attenuated inflammation and neuronal death in AD model studies (Jiang et al., 2014; Jay et al., 2015, 2017). Furthermore, genetic studies unveil that rare coding variants in TREM2 in microglia increase the risk of developing LOAD by 3-4 folds (Jin et al., 2014; Song et al., 2017; Zhong et al., 2019). Although TERM2 is considered as one of the strongest single-allele genetic risk factors for LOAD (Jiang et al., 2016), its potential roles in the onset and progression of the disease still remain to be explored.

In this study, we introduced hypertension in middle-aged mice to investigate the mechanisms in the progression of LOAD. We found that hypertension upregulated TREM2 expression and A1 astrocytes in middle-aged mice for the first time. Based on the anti-neuroinflammatory role of TREM2 that has been proven in AD, in this study, we hypothesized whether TREM2 upregulation in microglia could be a potential strategy to impede M1 microglial-induced A1 astrocytes and neuronal toxicity. We then performed *in vitro* experiments and revealed that the overexpression of microglial TREM2 not only mitigated microglial inflammatory response, but also had salutary effects on reverse A1 astrocytic activation and neuronal toxicity.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Materials

#### Chemicals

Lipopolysaccharides (LPS; L2880) and the anti-glial fibrillary acidic protein (anti-GFAP; G9269) antibody were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, United States). The complement C3 polyclonal antibody (sc-58926) was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX, United States). Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM), fetal bovine serum (FBS), phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and penicillin-streptomycin, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) were purchased from Life Technologies (Carlsbad, CA, United States). Anti-tubulin antibodies (2148S) were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (Beverly, MA, United States). Goat anti-rabbit IgG H&L (Alexa Fluor 488), rabbit anti-rat IgG H&L (Alexa Fluor 555), TNF- $\alpha$  enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits, and IL-1a ELISA kits were purchased from Abcam (San Francisco, CA, United States). C1q ELISA Kit (mouse; HK211) was purchased from Hycult Biotech (Plymouth Meeting, PA, United States). The anti-aquaporin 4 (AQP4) (249-323) antibody (AQP-004) was purchased from Alomone Labs (Jerusalem, Israel). The TREM2 polyclonal antibody (PA5-87933) and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA, United States). Cell Counting Kit-8 was purchased from Dojindo Molecular Technologies (Rockville, MD, United States).

#### Microglia BV2 Cell Line Culture, Treatment, and Transfection, and Conditioned Medium Preparation

In this study, BV2 cells were cultured in DMEM with 10% FBS and penicillin-streptomycin at 37°C with 5% CO2. Then, the BV2 cells were pretreated with serum-free DMEM containing LPS (0.1 ug/ml). After incubation for 24 h, the conditioned medium was collected and denoted as MCM. Meanwhile, the BV2 cell complete culture medium was denoted as MCM-control. The BV2 cells (4  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> cells per well) were seeded onto six-well plates overnight to reach 70% confluence for transfection. TREM2 (Myc-DDK-tagged) overexpression plasmid (MR202717) or pCMV6-Entry Mammalian Expression Vector (PS100001), which was purchased from OriGene Technologies, Inc. (Rockville, MD, United States), was transfected into cells for 4.5 h using Lipofectamine 3000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States) and then replaced with a complete medium to culture for another 48 h at 37°C, which was then collected for use in subsequent experiments. The C-Myc mouse monoclonal antibody (TA500002, OriGene Technologies, Inc., Rockville, MD, United States) was applied to confirm transduction efficiency. For combination treatments, LPS (0.1 ug/ml) was added to the BV2 cells after TREM2 (vector or overexpression) transfection for 24 h, and culturing was continued for another 24 h at 37°C. The above conditioned mediums containing LPS (0.1 ug/ml) and TREM2 (vector or overexpression) in BV2 cells were collected and were denoted as MCM + TREM2 (vector or overexpression).

#### Primary Astrocyte Cultures, Treatment, and Staining

Primary cortical astrocyte cultures were prepared using 1- to 3-day-old neonatal c57mouse brains as previously described (Schildge et al., 2013), which were obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Wilmington, MA, United States). Briefly, the mice were decapitated, the cerebral cortices were removed, and the meninges were carefully stripped off. Tissues were maintained in DMEM and nutrient mixture F12 (DMEM/F12) and dissociated into single cells in the DMEM/F12 medium supplemented with

10% FBS. The cultures were incubated at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO2, 95% air atmosphere. The cell culture medium was changed 24 h after plating and, subsequently, every 3 days, until confluence was reached, which usually occurs after 7-10 days. The flasks were shaken at 180 rpm for 30 min in an orbital shaker to remove microglia, and the supernatant containing microglia was discarded. Afterward, a 20-ml fresh astrocyte culture medium was added to the flakes, and the experiment was continued by shaking the flask at 240 rpm for 6 h to remove oligodendrocyte precursor cells. After that, cells were subjected to a passage to generate purified astrocyte cultures (secondary cultures), which constituted more than 95% of GFAP-positive cells. For the treatments, first, the astrocytes were treated with MCM to induce A1 astrocytic activation. After incubation for 24 h, the conditioned medium was collected and denoted as ACM. Second, the astrocytes were treated with MCM + TREM2 (vector or overexpression) for 24 h, and the above conditioned mediums containing MCM + TREM2 (vector or overexpression) in astrocytes were collected and denoted as ACM + TREM2 (vector or overexpression). For immunocytochemistry, the astrocytes were seeded at  $0.8 \times 106$ on 1.5-mm<sup>2</sup> coverslips for 24 h. After treatment, the cells were fixed with 4% ice-cold paraformaldehyde for 20 min at 4°C and air dried. Then, blocking and permeabilization were performed with 1% BSA in PBS with.1% Triton for 30 min. After that, the astrocyte (A1) was stained with the C3 antibody (1:1,000) and GFAP antibodies (1:2,000) or the AQP4 antibody (1:500) for 24 h in a humidified chamber at 4°C. After three washes with.1% Triton in PBS, goat anti-rat IgG H&L (Alexa Fluor 555, 1:200) and goat anti-rabbit IgG H&L (Alexa Fluor 488, 1:200) was used for 1 hr. After DAPI staining for 10 min, the coverslips were transferred onto glass slides. Images were obtained using a digital microscope camera system (Nikon DS-Ri2, Nikon, Tokyo, Japan).

#### **Cell Viability Assay**

Murine neuronal-like (Neuro2a) cell line is widely used the neuronal cell line for investigation of neuronal survival, neuronal differentiation, and neuroprotection *in vitro* (Eom et al., 2015; Nicolas et al., 2015; Steiner et al., 2016). In this study, the viability of Neuro2A cells following incubation with MCM, ACM, TREM2 overexpression + MCM, and TREM2 overexpression + ACM was evaluated by lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release and Cell Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8) assays. The amount of LDH released was expressed as a percentage of the value obtained in comparative wells where cells were 100% lysed by 1% Triton X-100. For the CCK-8 assays, data are presented as a percentage of the value obtained from cells incubated in a fresh medium only.

#### Animals

This study was approved by the Animal Research Committee of Sun Yat-sen University (Guangzhou, China; Committee Reference Number: SYSU-IACUC-2018-000093). All efforts were made to minimize the number and suffering of animals used in this study. Fourteen male C57BL/6J mice (30–35 g) obtained from Beijing Vital River Laboratory Animal Technology Co., Ltd. (Stock Number: SCXK2016-0006) were used. All the animals were used at 10 months of age (considered middle age in mouse), housed under a 12:12 h light-dark cycle (light from 07:00 to 19:00) with controlled temperature and humidity, and given food and water *ad libitum*.

# Hypertension in Mouse Model Induced by Chronic Angiotensin Infusion

The hypertension mouse model was established as described previously (Gentile et al., 2009). Briefly, angiotensin II (AGT II,0.5 ng/kg/day in.9% NaCl, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States) was infused into a group of seven mice for 30 days with an osmotic mini pump (Durect, Cupertino, CA, United States) implanted subcutaneously. An additional group of seven mice was infused with saline vehicle alone as a control. Blood pressure was measured with the tail-cuff method on days 0, 7, 14, 21, and 30 during the 30-day infusion period.

#### Histology

The mice were perfused with 50 ml of ice-cold.9% saline followed by 50 ml of 4% (w/v) paraformaldehyde in phosphatebuffered saline (PBS; pH 7.4). Their brains were removed and incubated overnight in 4% paraformaldehyde and then dehydrated in 20-30% sucrose in PBS. Coronal brain slices (14mm thick) from the right parietal cortex were sectioned with a frozen microtome (Leica Biosystems, Wetzlar, Germany) to produce consecutive frozen sections. For immunofluorescence staining, the sections were boiled in a citric acid buffer (pH 6) for 5 min in a microwave oven. After the sections were cooled, they were treated with.3% Triton X-100 and 10% goat serum for 1 h at room temperature. The sections were then incubated overnight at 4°C with a primary antibody (1:100 antiionized calcium binding adapter molecule 1, IBA1) antibody, catalog number 019-19741, Wako; 1:100 anti-glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) antibody, catalog number AMAb91033, Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, United States); 1:50 antiamyloid antibody, β1-40, catalog number AB5074P, Millipore (Burlington, MA, United States); 1:50 anti-amyloid antibody, β1-42, catalog number AB5078P, Millipore (Burlington, MA, United States); 1:100 anti-c3 antibody, catalog number sc-58926, Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX, United States); or 1:200 anti-CD68 antibody, catalog number ab125212, Abcam (San Francisco, CA, United States), and then incubated for 1 h at room temperature with a secondary antibody (1:500 goat antirabbit IgG H&L, Alexa Fluor® 488), catalog number ab150077, Abcam (San Francisco, CA, United States); 1:500 goat antimouse IgG H&L (Alexa Fluor® 555), catalog number ab150118, Abcam (San Francisco, CA, United States); or 1:500 rabbit antigoat IgG H&L (Alexa Fluor® 555), catalog number ab150146, Abcam (San Francisco, CA, United States) in PBS containing 10% blocking solution. The sections were mounted onto slides, stained with DAPI solution with antifade (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States), and covered with a coverslip. To evaluate the A $\beta$  expression levels, the percentage of the A $\beta$ 40 or the A $\beta$ 42 plaque area was measured within the cortex and hippocampus. The percentage of GFAP-positive astrocytes with C3 localization among total GFAP-positive astrocytes was determined from the images. A similar method was applied to analyze other positive markers of target cells.

#### **TUNEL Assay**

The terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling staining method is used to detect fragments of DNA in apoptotic cells in tissue samples (Kyrylkova et al., 2012). In this study, TUNEL staining was performed to detect DNA fragments during neuronal apoptosis. A TUNEL assay was performed according to the directions of the manufacturer using In Situ Cell Death Detection Kit (CAT: 11684817910, Roche, Indianapolis, IN, United States). In brief, the sections were washed three times for 10 min each. Then, the sections were incubated in.3% Triton-X and 0.1% sodium citrate and rinsed three times with PBS for 10 min each. The sections were incubated in.3% H2O2 in PBS for 30 min and then rinsed with PBS. The sections were then incubated with a 50-ml TUNEL reaction mixture in a humidified atmosphere for 60 min at 37°C in the dark. Then, the sections were rinsed three times with PBS. The sections were then observed under a digital microscope camera system (Nikon DS-Ri2, Nikon, Tokyo, Japan). A negative control was carried out by incubating the sections in 50 ml of a label solution without terminal transferase instead of the TUNEL reaction mixture. 4,6-Diamino-2-phenyl indole (DAPI, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States) was used for nuclear staining, and a primary antibody (anti-NeuN antibody [EPR12763], ab177487) was used for neuronal staining. To quantify the degree of apoptotic neuron death in the cortex and hippocampus, the percentage of cells labeled with both TUNEL-positive fluorescein and NeuN localized in the DAPI-stained nucleus out of the total number of NeuN-positive cells was determined from the images.

#### ELISA

The levels of C1q, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-1 $\alpha$  were determined in the cell-culture medium obtained from the experiments. The culture medium was analyzed with a commercially ELISA kit according to the protocol of the manufacturer. Analysis of optical density or fluorescence was performed in a plate reader.

#### Western Blot Analysis

Cells were scraped and lysed in a RIPA lysis buffer on ice after treatment of 1 h at 4°C. Protein was extracted and quantified using a BCA assay kit (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States) according to the instructions of the manufacturer. The cell lysates were solubilized in a sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) sample buffer (40 µg/lane) and separated by 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (110 V for 75 min). After electrophoresis, the protein was transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes. Then, the membranes were blocked with 3% bovine serum albumin (BSA) and incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C, followed by a horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody for 1 h at room temperature, and detected with the enhanced chemiluminescence plus detection system (Millipore, Billerica, MA, United States). The density of each band was quantified using the Quantity One image analysis software (Bio-Rad, Life Science, Hercules, CA, United States).

#### Data and Statistical Analyses

The ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States) was used to analyze the immunofluorescence results. To evaluate the immunofluorescence results, the number of target cells was counted using the ImageJ software. The significance of differences in data sets was analyzed by two-tailed Student's *t*-test or one-way analysis of variance tests. The data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SD and analyzed using the GraphPad Prism 6 software (GraphPad, La Jolla, CA, United States). A *p* value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

## Hypertension Exacerbates β-Amyloid Deposition and Causes Neuronal Apoptosis in Middle-Aged Mice

We first established hypertension, induced by angiotensin II, in the middle-aged mouse models. Systolic blood pressure (SBP) was measured on  $0(98 \pm 3.16 \text{ vs. } 100 \pm 5.51, p = 0.47)$ ,  $7(99.5 \pm 3.81 \text{ vs.} 148.14 \pm 8.45, p < 0.01), 14 (103.57 \pm 3.69)$ vs.  $149.42 \pm 4.49$ , p < 0.01),  $21(104.57 \pm 5.01$  vs.  $147.42 \pm 2.77$ , p < 0.01), and 30(103.28 ± 4.19 vs. 147.71 ± 5.96, p < 0.01) days during angiotensin II or saline (vector) osmotic mini pump administration. As shown in Figure 1, chronic infusion of angiotensin II with an osmotic mini pump evokes a significant increase in SBP, which reaches its peak at the seventh day of administration compared with the mice infused with saline. The hypertension effect was stable and continuous throughout the rest of the 30-day infusion period. Once hypertension was established, we assessed the effect of angiotensin II on  $A\beta$ deposition in the brain of the mice. As shown in Figure 2, the depositions of A $\beta$ 40 (3  $\pm$  0.01% vs. 56%  $\pm$  0.04%, p < 0.01, cortex; 7  $\pm$  0.02% vs. 39%  $\pm$  0.04, p < 0.01, hippocampus) and A $\beta$ 42 (6  $\pm$  0.02% vs. 47  $\pm$  0.04%, p < 0.01, cortex;  $9 \pm 0.03\%$  vs. 52  $\pm 0.03\%$ , p < 0.01, hippocampus) are significantly higher in the cortex and hippocampus of the mice in the hypertension group compared with the control group. Furthermore, neuronal apoptosis in the cortex and hippocampus was evaluated by TUNEL assay (Figure 3). The results revealed that hypertension markedly increased neuronal apoptosis in the cortex (13.71  $\pm$  2.49% vs. 44.42  $\pm$  3.86%, p < 0.01) and hippocampus (6.42  $\pm$  2.50% vs. 27.57  $\pm$  4.35%, p < 0.01, DG;  $10.57 \pm 1.9\%$  vs.  $24.28 \pm 2.81\%$ , p < 0.01, CA1;  $6.57 \pm 2.63\%$  vs. 27.57  $\pm$  2.63%, *p* < 0.01, CA3) of the mice in the angiotensin II infusion group compared with the mice in vehicle control.

#### Neuroinflammatory Network Under Hypertension in Middle-Aged Mice M1 Microglia Activation

In this study, we used Iba1, a cytoplasmic protein marker of resting microglia (Bennett et al., 2016), and CD68, a lysosomal marker of microglial activation (Bennett et al., 2016), to characterize M1 microglia found in the cortex and hippocampus



of mice in each group (**Figure 4A**). The microglia in the middleaged mice with hypertension exhibited a more robust expression of CD68 (46.85 ± 8.23 vs. 266.28 ± 20.76, p < 0.01, cortex; 145.142 ± 15.61 vs. 389.71 ± 21.02, p < 0.01, CA1; 157.71 ± 11.51 vs. 324.57 ± 12.52, p < 0.01, DG; 160 ± 8.64 vs. 302.85 ± 27, p < 0.01, CA3), and Iba-1 (89.71 ± 9.75 vs. 301.71 ± 12.82, p < 0.01, cortex; 213.71 ± 19.43 vs. 452 ± 30.02, p < 0.01, CA1; 167.42 ± 13.15 vs. 370.28 ± 22.96, p < 0.01, DG; 171.42 ± 16.56 vs. 335.42 ± 12.09, p < 0.01, CA3) than control mice with vehicle, and the microglia in the mice with hypertension displayed a highly activated ameboid morphology with large bodies and few thick cellular processes, which indicates microglial activation.

#### Neurotoxic A1 Astrocytic Activation

According to previous research, A1 astrocytes highly upregulate numerous classic complement cascade genes that are destructive to neurons and oligodendrocytes. In particular, complement component 3 (C3) is one of the characteristic genes of A1 astrocytes (Liddelow et al., 2017). To investigate whether A1 astrocytes and C3 participated in neuro-inflammation in the animal models, we measured A1 astrocytes in hippocampal areas (DG, CA1, and CA3) by assessing the anti-GFAP and anti-C3 antibody staining through immunofluorescence. As shown in Figure 5, the reactive astrocytes overexpressing GFAP were found in hippocampal areas (DG, CA1, and CA3) of mice in each group. Furthermore, the A1 astrocytic marker C3 was obviously upregulated in the hippocampal areas of the middle-aged mice with hypertension compared with the very weak expression of C3 in the control group  $(31.14 \pm 4.01\% \text{ vs. } 81.42 \pm 3.33\%, p < 0.01,$ DG; 17.71  $\pm$  2.42% vs. 92  $\pm$  4.84%, p < 0.01, CA1; 21  $\pm$  2.3% vs.  $56.71 \pm 2.81\%$ , p < 0.01, CA3).

# Spatial Co-localization Between M1 Microglia and A1 Astrocytes

Because M1 microglial activation provokes neurotoxic astrocyte reactivity (Liddelow et al., 2017), we wondered whether there was a specific spatial co-localization promoting a microglia-astroglia interaction. As shown in **Figure 6**, although there are more activated microglia and reactive astrocytes in the hippocampal areas (DG, CA1, and CA3) of the mice in the hypertension

group, their distance and the closeness of the connection between microglial cell branches and astrocytic end feet seem to be similar to those of the control group.

## Microglial TREM2 Upregulation in Middle-Aged Mice With Hypertension

Furthermore, as revealed in **Figure 7**, the expression of TREM2 in microglia in the group of mice with hypertension is significantly higher compared with the control group ( $16 \pm 5.65$  vs. 280.57  $\pm 16.56$ , p < 0.01, cortex;  $13.42 \pm 4.57$  vs.  $348.57 \pm 22.2$ , p < 0.01, hippocampus).

## Microglial TREM2 Overexpression Reversed A1 Astrocytic Activation and Neuronal Toxicity *in vitro*

Based on the above histopathological findings, we proposed that the overexpression of microglial triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) might reverse M1 microglialinduced A1 astrocytic activation and neuronal toxicity. We first incubated the BV2 cells, a microglial cell line, in a serum-free medium containing LPS (0.1 ug/ml) for 24 h to imitate a neuroinflammation in vitro environment (Catorce and Gevorkian, 2016; Lopes, 2016). Because the LPS-activated M1 microglia conditioned medium can induce A1 astrocytic activation via the secretion of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\alpha$ , and C1Q in vitro (Liddelow et al., 2017), we then performed ELISA to detect the concentrations of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\alpha$ , and C1Q in the MCM. As shown in Figures 8A-C, the concentrations of TNF- $\alpha$  $(6.701 \pm 1.323 \text{ vs.} 353.6 \pm 11.84, p < 0.05), \text{IL-1}\alpha (2.747 \pm 0.3313)$ vs. 45.84  $\pm$  0.7023, p < 0.05), and C1Q (2.175  $\pm$  0.3398 vs.  $4.206 \pm 0.4517$ , p < 0.05) were significantly elevated in the MCM than the concentrations of above cytokines in the normal cell culture media controls. Further, we found that LPS inhibited the TREM2 expression of the BV2 cells in a time-dependent manner (Supplementary Figure 1). To test the hypothesis, we overexpressed TREM2 in the BV2 cells (Figure 9, F = 11.32, p = 0.0092), which were used for subsequent combination treatments. The results showed that the increase in the above cytokines are alleviated by the overexpression of TREM2 in the BV2 cells [Figures 8A–C (F = 673.7, p < 0.001), TNF- $\alpha$ ;  $(F = 812.8, p < 0.001), \text{IL-1}\alpha; (F = 7.818, p = 0.0002), C1Q],$ but there are no effects on TREM2 in the vector control group. These findings confirmed that TREM2-overexpressing microglia following LPS stimulation did decrease the key chemokines for A1 astrocytic activation.

As indicated in **Figure 10**, we confirmed that the A1 astrocytic marker C3 expression was significantly increased in MCM than that in control (1 vs. 2.363  $\pm$  0.1056, p < 0.05). Afterward, a combination treatment with BV2 microglial TREM2 overexpression and MCM significantly reduced the A1 astrocytic marker C3 expression (2.363  $\pm$  0.1056 vs. 1.107  $\pm$  0.1854, p < 0.05), but no significant change in the C3 expression was noted after the TREM2 vector was combined with MCM treatment (**Figure 10**). Meanwhile, there was no significant change in C3 expression in astrocytes after treatment of LPS or TREM2 (vector or overexpression) transfection



conditioned medium, which was served as the negative control (**Supplementary Figure 2**). Furthermore, immunofluorescence was used to further confirm the results of this study. As shown in **Figure 11A**, MCM significantly increased the A1 marker C3 expression, which was reversed by BV2 microglial TREM2 overexpression treated with MCM. Meanwhile, we also introduced water channel aquaporin 4 (AQP4), the most prevalent aquaporin channel specifically located at the astrocyte foot processes in the brain parenchyma (Saadoun and

Papadopoulos, 2010), to investigate the A1 astrocytes. **Figure 11B** shows that the foot processes and AQP4 expression were reduced in the A1 astrocytes but rescued by the overexpression of BV2 microglial TREM2 treated with MCM.

Furthermore, we measured the viability of Neuro2A cells to confirm the findings. As shown in **Figures 12A,B**, the overexpression of TREM2 in the BV2 cells significantly protect the Neuro2A cells from the toxic effects of MCM and ACM, which are shown as increased cell viability (**Figure 12A**, F = 65.14,



TUNEL staining assay provided in Supplementary Figure 3).







p < 0.001) and reduced LDH release (Figure 12B, F = 129.2, p < 0.001).

# DISCUSSION

Alzheimer's disease consists of two categories, early-onset AD (EOAD, age < 65) and late-onset AD (LOAD, age  $\geq$  65). EOAD only comprises approximately 5% of AD cases (Mendez, 2017),

shows a stronger tendency toward familial inheritance with more aggressive clinical course, and fewer overall comorbidities than LOAD (Smits et al., 2015; Gerritsen et al., 2016). In contrast, LOAD comprises approximately 95% of AD cases with not only genetic risk factors but also medical comorbidities, lifestyle, and other environmental factors contribute to its occurrence (Baumgart et al., 2015). Among the comorbidities, hypertension, a critical vascular risk factor, has been confirmed to cause age-related cognitive impairment and accelerate the development



**FIGURE 6** Determination of spatial colocalization of microglia and astrocytes after 30 days of angiotensin II treatment in middle-aged mice. Representative images of immunofluorescence double-staining with anti-GFAP (green) and anti-IBA1 antibodies (red) in the hippocampus (CA1, DG, and CA3) of the mice in the control and hypertension groups (immunofluorescence, ×20, scale bar = 100 µm).

of LOAD by inducing cerebrovascular dysfunction in the early stage (Zlokovic, 2011; Baumgart et al., 2015; Csiszar et al., 2017). A variety of studies elucidated that hypertension causes cerebral microcirculation disorder (capillary rarefaction, blood-brain barrier disruption), neurovascular uncoupling (Csiszar et al., 2017; Hammer et al., 2017), cognitive impairment, A $\beta$  deposition, and CAA (Gentile et al., 2009; Carnevale et al., 2012; Wenzel and Munzel, 2015; Cifuentes et al., 2017). However, the mechanisms of hypertension that cause LOAD are still not fully understood.

In this study, chronic infusion with angiotensin II *via* an osmotic mini pump was able to induce hypertension in middleaged mice with the mechanism by which the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) regulates blood pressure in the human body (Yang and Xu, 2017), and the results were consistent with those of previous publications (Gentile et al., 2009; Chan et al., 2012; Lu et al., 2015). Hypertension significantly increased amyloid deposition and neuronal apoptosis in middle-aged mice compare with the control middle-aged mice. In addition, we observed that most  $A\beta40$  was deposited in the brain parenchyma (**Figure 2A**), which is different from previous reports on CAA indicating that the location of  $A\beta40$  deposition is outward of blood vessels (Watts et al., 2014). The difference in the location of A $\beta$ 40 deposition between CAA and hypertension may be due to different pathological changes. Although there are damages in vasculature in both cases, hypertension may cause more para-vascular damages and subsequently leads to more A $\beta$ 40 depositions in para-vascular tissue. Nevertheless, the accumulation of A $\beta$ 40 in the brain can lead to dementia at the end in both cases (Qiang et al., 2017).

In addition to  $A\beta$  deposition, we observed that hypertension also induces neuronal death by neuro-inflammation, which is in line with previous evidence that proved ANG II-dependent microglial activation induces neuroinflammation acts *via* crosstalk between central renin-angiotensin system type 1 receptors (AT1R) and toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) (Biancardi et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2016).We further investigated the roles of neuroinflammation in the mouse models of this study. Consistent with previous studies (Heneka et al., 2010; Carnevale et al., 2012; Cai et al., 2014), activated M1 microglia were markedly upregulated in the cortex and hippocampus of the mice in the hypertension group (**Figure 4**). Importantly, in addition to more neuronal deaths, we found that the reactive astrocytic phenotype



A1 astrocytes significantly increased in the hypertension group (**Figure 5**). Based on the above observation, we hypothesized that M1 microglia and A1 astrocytes may work collaboratively to induce neuronal death. However, further immunofluorescence did not demonstrate that the spatial associations and connections between M1 microglia and A1 astrocytes were closer or that their end feet engaged in more interactions. Then, we proposed that their communication may be through cytokine secretion.

In this study, we confirmed for the first time that microglial TREM2 was upregulated in the hypertension group. A similar regulatory pattern has been reported in an mouse model with AD, which is deemed to be an anti-neuroinflammatory response to M1 microglia (Wang et al., 2016; Yuan et al., 2016; Yeh et al., 2017). We then hypothesized that the overexpression of microglial TREM2 could not only mitigate microglial

inflammatory response, but also had salutary effects on reverse A1 astrocytic activation and neuronal toxicity. To test the hypothesis, we incubated an immortalized mouse microglialike BV2 cell line in an LPS-containing cell culture medium to mimic a neuroinflammatory environment (Lund et al., 2006). We found that the BV2 microglial cells mimicked primary microglia responses with high fidelity (Elkahloun et al., 2019) and were more tolerable for manipulating TREM2 overexpression. Because angiotensin II induces microglial activation through AT1R interacts with TLR4, and BV2 cells are devoid of AT1 receptor gene expression (Xu et al., 2015), BV2 cells are especially suitable for the present study to elucidate the mechanism focusing on TREM2-mediated microglial anti-inflammatory responses via LPS-ignited TLR4 pathway (Srinivasan et al., 2016; Zheng et al., 2016). In this study, we successfully induced A1



**FIGURE 8** | Concentrations of IL-1 $\alpha$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and C1q were tested in MCM, Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) (vector or overexpression) transfection-conditioned mediums, and TREM2 (vector or overexpression) + MCM. The concentration levels were measured using ELISA kits. (A) Concentration of TNF- $\alpha$ . (B) Concentration of IL-1 $\alpha$ . (C) Concentration of C1q. Differences between the means were determined by *t* test. \*p < 0.05 versus control at the match time point, \*\*p < 0.05 versus LPS (0.1 ug/m) at the match time point. The data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SEM from three independent experiments. C1q: complement component 1q; IL-1 $\alpha$ : interleukin 1 $\alpha$ ; TNF- $\alpha$ : tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ .



**FIGURE 9** | Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) protein level was quantitatively measured after TREM2 (vector or overexpression) plasmid transfection in BV2 cells. (A) Western blot analysis of TREM2 (Myc-tagged) protein expression. (B) Quantitative analysis of TREM2 (Myc-tagged) protein expression.  $*\rho < 0.05$  vs. control of each protein. The data are expressed as means  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) from three independent experiments.



astrocytic activation by LPS-induced M1 microglia (Figure 10), which was consistent with a previous study (Liddelow et al., 2017). Subsequently, the activation of both M1 microglia and A1 astrocytes was obviously alleviated by the overexpression of microglial TREM2 (Figures 9, 10). Normally, astrocytes show a typical "star" cell shape and play an essential role in

trophic support for neurons, metabolic regulation, and synaptic transmission (Liddelow and Barres, 2017; Morita et al., 2019). In this study, the A1 astrocytic marker C3 was highly expressed, and the "star" cell shape sharply diminished in A1 astrocytes (**Figure 11A**). In addition, AQP4, which is expressed in the end-feet of the astrocytes, plays a crucial in maintenance of the blood



FIGURE 11 | After incubation with MCM or TREM2 overexpression + MCM for 24 h, the astrocytes were subjected to immunofluorescent staining with anti-GFAP (green), A1 anti-C3 (red; **A**), anti-AQP4 (red; **B**), and DAPI (blue) (immunofluorescence, ×40, scale bar = 10 μm).



p < 0.05 versus control,  $\Delta p < 0.05$  versus MCM.  $\frac{p}{p} < 0.05$  versus ACM.

brain barrier (BBB) (Garwood et al., 2017), and the results show that the foot processes and AQP4 expression were reduced in A1 astrocytes (**Figure 11B**). However, these phenomena of the AQP4 expression were rescued by the overexpression of microglial TREM2 treated with MCM (**Figure 11B**). To finally verify the findings, Neuro2A cell viability assays confirmed that the overexpression of TREM2 in BV2 cells could protect Neuro2A cells from the toxic effects of MCM and ACM (**Figures 12A,B**).

# CONCLUSION

This present study showed that angiotensin II-induced hypertension significantly exacerbated M1 microglial activation, amyloid deposition, and neuronal apoptosis in middle-aged mice.

Compared with previous studies that introduced hypertension in 4- to 12-week-old mice, which is considered young age in mouse, we believed that this middle-age hypertension mouse model shared the same principle of midlife hypertension for late life dementia in humans and is more suitable for investigating the relevant mechanisms in the progression of LOAD. Moreover, previous studies generally only have focused on activated microglial neuroinflammation-induced neuronal lesions, but new evidence has confirmed that activated microglia alone were insufficient to cause neuron death, and a more complicated network, such as A1 astrocytes, through complement components was involved in neuronal lesions and contributed to cognitive decline (Liddelow et al., 2017). Most intriguingly, we confirmed that neurotoxic A1 astrocytes were significantly upregulated in the middle-aged mice with hypertension. The findings propose the concept that just as middle age creates "infertile soil, namely, a vulnerable brain microenvironment, hypertension acts as a "bad seed," a catalyst that quickly promotes amyloid deposition, neuroinflammation, and microcirculation disorder in the brain. Moreover, AB, the core pathogen of AD, acts on and stimulates M1 microglial activation, inducing a more serious neuroinflammation (Bagyinszky et al., 2017; VanItallie, 2017). This feedback creates a "vicious circle" between neuroinflammation and neuronal apoptosis, which eventually leads to late-life dementia. More importantly, microglial TREM2 upregulation was identified in middle-aged mice with hypertension. Contrastingly, it is worthy to point out that LPS inhibited microglial TREM2 expression in a time-dependent manner in vitro (Supplementary Figure 1), which was also consistent with previous studies (Gawish et al., 2015; Srinivasan et al., 2016). Then, we further overexpressed microglial TREM2 in vitro to confirm the hypothesis, and expanded the dimensions of evidence that TREM2 restrained the neuroinflammatory network via "cross-talk" between M1 microglia and A1 astrocytes to protect neurons. The abovementioned findings implied that microglial TREM2 upregulation might be an anti-neuroinflammation response in middle-aged mice with hypertension. With progress in the "vicious circle," the anti-neuroinflammatory role of TREM2 will fade away in the late-life phase. Further study will be needed to validate the findings in more details of the current mouse model and address the following questions: what is the relationship between TREM2 and angiotensin II? Does TREM2 participate in the regulation of hypertension-induced cerebral microcirculation dysfunctions, or blood pressure? Is TREM2 an approach to regulate a neurovascular unit or a BBB function through restraining the neuroinflammatory network via "cross-talk" between M1 microglia and A1 astrocytes?

#### REFERENCES

- Bagyinszky, E., Giau, V. V., Shim, K., Suk, K., An, S. S. A., and Kim, S. (2017). Role of inflammatory molecules in the Alzheimer's disease progression and diagnosis. J. Neurol. Sci. 376, 242–254.
- Baldwin, K. T., and Eroglu, C. (2017). Molecular mechanisms of astrocyte-induced synaptogenesis. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 45, 113–120. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2017. 05.006
- Baranowski, J., Klęczar, K., Sołtysiak, M., and Widecka, K. (2018). The association between cognitive decline and short-term blood pressure variability in middleaged patients with primary hypertension — a pilot study. *Arterial Hypertension* 22, 135–142. doi: 10.5603/ah.a2018.0013
- Baumgart, M., Snyder, H. M., Carrillo, M. C., Fazio, S., Kim, H., and Johns, H. (2015). Summary of the evidence on modifiable risk factors for cognitive decline and dementia: a population-based perspective. *Alzheimers Dement.* 11, 718–726. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2015.05.016
- Bennett, M. L., Bennett, F. C., Liddelow, S. A., Ajami, B., Zamanian, J. L., Fernhoff, N. B., et al. (2016). New tools for studying microglia in the mouse and human CNS. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 113, E1738–E1746.
- Biancardi, V. C., Stranahan, A. M., Krause, E. G., de Kloet, A. D., and Stern, J. E. (2016). Cross talk between AT1 receptors and Toll-like receptor 4 in microglia contributes to angiotensin II-derived ROS production in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 310, H404–H415.
- Bolos, M., Perea, J. R., and Avila, J. (2017). Alzheimer's disease as an inflammatory disease. *Biomol. Concepts* 8, 37–43.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

This study was approved by the Animal Research Committee of Sun Yat-sen University (Guangzhou, China; Committee Reference Number: SYSU-IACUC-2018-000093).

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

XX performed the experiments. All authors contributed to writing the manuscript and have approved the final version of the manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Institutes of Health (NIH)/National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS) (Grant R01NS105787) (JH), and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 81901084).

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2021.716917/full#supplementary-material

- Cai, Z., Hussain, M. D., and Yan, L. J. (2014). Microglia, neuroinflammation, and beta-amyloid protein in Alzheimer's disease. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 124, 307–321. doi: 10.3109/00207454.2013.833510
- Carnevale, D., Mascio, G., Ajmone-Cat, M. A., D'Andrea, I., Cifelli, G., Madonna, M., et al. (2012). Role of neuroinflammation in hypertension-induced brain amyloid pathology. *Neurobiol. Aging* 205, e219–e229.
- Catorce, M. N., and Gevorkian, G. (2016). LPS-induced murine neuroinflammation model: main features and suitability for pre-clinical assessment of nutraceuticals. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 14, 155–164. doi: 10.2174/1570159x14666151204122017
- Chan, C. T., Moore, J. P., Budzyn, K., Guida, E., Diep, H., Vinh, A., et al. (2012). Reversal of vascular macrophage accumulation and hypertension by a CCR2 antagonist in deoxycorticosterone/salt-treated mice. *Hypertension* 60, 1207–1212. doi: 10.1161/hypertensionaha.112.20 1251
- Cifuentes, D., Poittevin, M., Bonnin, P., Ngkelo, A., Kubis, N., Merkulova-Rainon, T., et al. (2017). Inactivation of nitric oxide synthesis exacerbates the development of alzheimer disease pathology in APPPS1 mice (Amyloid Precursor Protein/Presenilin-1). *Hypertension* 70, 613–623. doi: 10.1161/ hypertensionaha.117.09742
- Clarke, L. E., Liddelow, S. A., Chakraborty, C., Münch, A. E., Heiman, M., and Barres, B. A. (2018). Normal aging induces A1-like astrocyte reactivity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, E1896–E1905.
- Condello, C., Yuan, P., and Grutzendler, J. (2018). Microglia-mediated neuroprotection, TREM2, and Alzheimer's disease: evidence from optical imaging. *Biol. Psychiatry* 83, 377–387. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.10.007

- Csiszar, A., Tarantini, S., Fulop, G. A., Kiss, T., Valcarcel-Ares, M. N., Galvan, V., et al. (2017). Hypertension impairs neurovascular coupling and promotes microvascular injury: role in exacerbation of Alzheimer's disease. *Geroscience* 39, 359–372. doi: 10.1007/s11357-017-9991-9
- Elias, M. F., Goodell, A. L., and Dore, G. A. (2012). Hypertension and cognitive functioning: a perspective in historical context. *Hypertension* 60, 260–268. doi: 10.1161/hypertensionaha.111.186429
- Elkahloun, A. G., Rodriguez, Y., Alaiyed, S., Wenzel, E., and Saavedra, J. M. (2019). Telmisartan protects a microglia cell line from LPS injury Beyond AT1 receptor blockade or PPARgamma activation. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 56, 3193–3210. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1300-9
- Eom, H. S., Park, H. R., Jo, S. K., Kim, Y. S., Moon, C., and Jung, U. (2015). Ionizing radiation induces neuronal differentiation of Neuro-2a cells via PI3kinase and p53-dependent pathways. *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* 91, 585–595. doi: 10.3109/09553002.2015.1029595
- Garwood, C. J., Ratcliffe, L. E., Simpson, J. E., Heath, P. R., Ince, P. G., and Wharton, S. B. (2017). Review: astrocytes in Alzheimer's disease and other ageassociated dementias: a supporting player with a central role. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 43, 281–298. doi: 10.1111/nan.12338
- Gawish, R., Martins, R., Böhm, B., Wimberger, T., Sharif, O., Lakovits, K., et al. (2015). Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-2 fine-tunes inflammatory responses in murine gram-negative sepsis. *FASEB J.* 29, 1247– 1257. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-260067
- Gentile, M. T., Poulet, R., Di Pardo, A., Cifelli, G., Maffei, A., Vecchione, C., et al. (2009). Beta-amyloid deposition in brain is enhanced in mouse models of arterial hypertension. *Neurobiol. Aging* 30, 222–228. doi: 10.1016/ j.neurobiolaging.2007.06.005
- Gerritsen, A. A., Bakker, C., Verhey, F. R., de Vugt, M. E., Melis, R. J., and Koopmans, R. T. (2016). Prevalence of comorbidity in patients with youngonset alzheimer disease compared with late-onset: a comparative cohort study. *J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc.* 17, 318–323. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2015.11.011
- Hammer, A., Stegbauer, J., and Linker, R. A. (2017). Macrophages in neuroinflammation: role of the renin-angiotensin-system. *Pflugers Arch.* 469, 431–444. doi: 10.1007/s00424-017-1942-x
- Hansen, D. V., Hanson, J. E., and Sheng, M. (2018). Microglia in Alzheimer's disease. J. Cell Biol. 217, 459–472.
- Heneka, M. T., O'Banion, M. K., Terwel, D., and Kummer, M. P. (2010). Neuroinflammatory processes in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neural Transm. 117, 919–947.
- Iadecola, C. (2014). Hypertension and dementia. *Hypertension* 64, 3–5. doi: 10. 1161/hypertensionaha.114.03040
- Jay, T. R., Hirsch, A. M., Broihier, M. L., Miller, C. M., Neilson, L. E., Ransohoff, R. M., et al. (2017). Disease progression-dependent effects of TREM2 deficiency in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neurosci.* 37, 637–647. doi: 10.1523/ jneurosci.2110-16.2017
- Jay, T. R., Miller, C. M., Cheng, P. J., Graham, L. C., Bemiller, S., Broihier, M. L., et al. (2015). TREM2 deficiency eliminates TREM2+ inflammatory macrophages and ameliorates pathology in Alzheimer's disease mouse models. *J. Exp. Med.* 212, 287–295. doi: 10.1084/jem.20142322
- Jiang, T., Tan, L., Chen, Q., Tan, M. S., Zhou, J. S., Zhu, X. C., et al. (2016). A rare coding variant in TREM2 increases risk for Alzheimer's disease in Han Chinese. *Neurobiol. Aging* 42:217.e211-3.
- Jiang, T., Tan, L., Zhu, X. C., Zhang, Q. Q., Cao, L., Tan, M. S., et al. (2014). Upregulation of TREM2 ameliorates neuropathology and rescues spatial cognitive impairment in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 39, 2949–2962. doi: 10.1038/npp.2014.164
- Jin, S. C., Benitez, B. A., Karch, C. M., Cooper, B., Skorupa, T., Carrell, D., et al. (2014). Coding variants in TREM2 increase risk for Alzheimer's disease. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 5838–5846. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu277
- Kruyer, A., Soplop, N., Strickland, S., and Norris, E. H. (2015). Chronic hypertension leads to neurodegeneration in the TgSwDI mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Hypertension* 66, 175–182. doi: 10.1161/hypertensionaha. 115.05524
- Kyrylkova, K., Kyryachenko, S., Leid, M., and Kioussi, C. (2012). Detection of apoptosis by TUNEL assay. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 887, 41–47. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-860-3\_5
- Lane, C. A., Hardy, J., and Schott, J. M. (2018). Alzheimer's disease. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 25, 59–70.

- Liddelow, S. A., and Barres, B. A. (2017). Reactive astrocytes: production, function, and therapeutic potential. *Immunity* 46, 957–967. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017. 06.006
- Liddelow, S. A., Guttenplan, K. A., Clarke, L. E., Bennett, F. C., Bohlen, C. J., Schirmer, L., et al. (2017). Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes are induced by activated microglia. *Nature* 541, 481–487.
- Liu, M., Shi, P., and Sumners, C. (2016). Direct anti-inflammatory effects of angiotensin-(1-7) on microglia. J. Neurochem. 136, 163–171. doi: 10.1111/jnc. 13386
- Lopes, P. C. (2016). LPS and neuroinflammation: a matter of timing. Inflammopharmacology 24, 291–293. doi: 10.1007/s10787-016-0283-2
- Lu, H., Howatt, D. A., Balakrishnan, A., Moorleghen, J. J., Rateri, D. L., Cassis, L. A., et al. (2015). Subcutaneous angiotensin II infusion using osmotic pumps induces aortic aneurysms in mice. J. Vis. Exp. 103:53191.
- Lüders, S., and Schrader, J. (2015). [Dementia and hypertension]. Dtsch. Med. Wochenschr. 140, 1599–1603.
- Lund, S., Christensen, K. V., Hedtjärn, M., Mortensen, A. L., Hagberg, H., Falsig, J., et al. (2006). The dynamics of the LPS triggered inflammatory response of murine microglia under different culture and in vivo conditions. J. Neuroimmunol. 180, 71–87. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006. 07.007
- McMaster, W. G., Kirabo, A., Madhur, M. S., and Harrison, D. G. (2015). Inflammation, immunity, and hypertensive end-organ damage. *Circ. Res.* 116, 1022–1033. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.116.303697
- Mendez, M. F. (2017). Early-onset Alzheimer disease. Neurol. Clin. 35, 263–281. doi: 10.1016/j.ncl.2017.01.005
- Morita, M., Ikeshima-Kataoka, H., Kreft, M., Vardjan, N., Zorec, R., and Noda, M. (2019). Metabolic plasticity of astrocytes and aging of the brain. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:941. doi: 10.3390/ijms20040941
- Nicolas, J., Bovee, T. F., Kamelia, L., Rietjens, I. M., and Hendriksen, P. J. (2015). Exploration of new functional endpoints in neuro-2a cells for the detection of the marine biotoxins saxitoxin, palytoxin and tetrodotoxin. *Toxicol. In Vitro* 30, 341–347. doi: 10.1016/j.tiv.2015.10.001
- Qiang, W., Yau, W. M., Lu, J. X., Collinge, J., and Tycko, R. (2017). Structural variation in amyloid-β fibrils from Alzheimer's disease clinical subtypes. *Nature* 541, 217–221. doi: 10.1038/nature20814
- Rabinovici, G. D. (2019). Late-onset Alzheimer disease. *Continuum* 25, 14–33.
- Saadoun, S., and Papadopoulos, M. C. (2010). Aquaporin-4 in brain and spinal cord oedema. Neuroscience 168, 1036–1046. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.08.019
- Sarlus, H., and Heneka, M. T. (2017). Microglia in Alzheimer's disease. J. Clin. Invest, 127, 3240-3249.
- Scheltens, P., De Strooper, B., Kivipelto, M., Holstege, H., Chételat, G., Teunissen, C. E., et al. (2021). Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet* 397, 1577–1590.
- Schildge, S., Bohrer, C., Beck, K., and Schachtrup, C. (2013). Isolation and culture of mouse cortical astrocytes. J. Vis. Exp. 71:50079.
- Smits, L. L., Pijnenburg, Y. A., van der Vlies, A. E., Koedam, E. L., Bouwman, F. H., Reuling, I. E., et al. (2015). Early onset APOE E4-negative Alzheimer's disease patients show faster cognitive decline on non-memory domains. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 25, 1010–1017. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015. 03.014
- Song, W., Hooli, B., Mullin, K., Jin, S. C., Cella, M., Ulland, T. K., et al. (2017). Alzheimer's disease-associated TREM2 variants exhibit either decreased or increased ligand-dependent activation. *Alzheimers Dement.* 13, 381–387. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2016.07.004
- Srinivasan, K., Friedman, B. A., Larson, J. L., Lauffer, B. E., Goldstein, L. D., Appling, L. L., et al. (2016). Untangling the brain's neuroinflammatory and neurodegenerative transcriptional responses. *Nat. Commun.* 7:11295.
- Steiner, N., Balez, R., Karunaweera, N., Lind, J. M., Münch, G., and Ooi, L. (2016). Neuroprotection of Neuro2a cells and the cytokine suppressive and anti-inflammatory mode of action of resveratrol in activated RAW264.7 macrophages and C8-B4 microglia. *Neurochem. Int.* 95, 46–54. doi: 10.1016/j. neuint.2015.10.013
- Tsukuda, K., Mogi, M., Iwanami, J., Min, L. J., Sakata, A., Jing, F., et al. (2009). Cognitive deficit in amyloid-beta-injected mice was improved by pretreatment with a low dose of telmisartan partly because of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-gamma activation. *Hypertension* 54, 782–787. doi: 10.1161/ hypertensionaha.109.136879

- Tzourio, C., Laurent, S., and Debette, S. (2014). Is hypertension associated with an accelerated aging of the brain? *Hypertension* 63, 894–903. doi: 10.1161/ hypertensionaha.113.00147
- VanItallie, T. B. (2017). Alzheimer's disease: innate immunity gone awry? *Metabolism* 69s, S41–S49.
- Wang, Y., Ulland, T. K., Ulrich, J. D., Song, W., Tzaferis, J. A., Hole, J. T., et al. (2016). TREM2-mediated early microglial response limits diffusion and toxicity of amyloid plaques. J. Exp. Med. 213, 667–675. doi: 10.1084/jem.20151948
- Watts, J. C., Condello, C., Stöhr, J., Oehler, A., Lee, J., DeArmond, S. J., et al. (2014). Serial propagation of distinct strains of Aβ prions from Alzheimer's disease patients. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 10323–10328. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1408900111
- Wenzel, P., and Munzel, T. (2015). Angiotensin II to macrophage: will you polarize? and when? Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 309, H737-H738.
- Xu, Y., Xu, Y., Wang, Y., Wang, Y., He, L., Jiang, Z., et al. (2015). Telmisartan prevention of LPS-induced microglia activation involves M2 microglia polarization via CaMKKβ-dependent AMPK activation. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 50, 298–313. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.07.015
- Yang, T., and Xu, C. (2017). Physiology and pathophysiology of the intrarenal renin-angiotensin system: an update. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 28, 1040–1049. doi: 10.1681/asn.2016070734
- Yeh, F. L., Hansen, D. V., and Sheng, M. (2017). TREM2, microglia, and neurodegenerative diseases. *Trends Mol. Med.* 23, 512–533. doi: 10.1016/j. molmed.2017.03.008
- Yuan, P., Condello, C., Keene, C. D., Wang, Y., Bird, T. D., Paul, S. M., et al. (2016). TREM2 haplodeficiency in mice and humans impairs the microglia barrier function leading to decreased amyloid compaction and severe axonal dystrophy. *Neuron* 92, 252–264. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2016.09.016

- Zheng, H., Liu, C.-C., Atagi, Y., Chen, X.-F., Jia, L., Yang, L., et al. (2016). Opposing roles of the triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 and triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-like transcript 2 in microglia activation. *Neurobiol. Aging* 42, 132–141. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016. 03.004
- Zhong, L., Xu, Y., Zhuo, R., Wang, T., Wang, K., Huang, R., et al. (2019). Soluble TREM2 ameliorates pathological phenotypes by modulating microglial functions in an Alzheimer's disease model. *Nat. Commun.* 10:1365.
- Zlokovic, B. V. (2011). Neurovascular pathways to neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and other disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12, 723–738. doi: 10.1038/nrn3114

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Xu, Du, Jiang, Yang, Wang, Wang, Tang, Fu and Hao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Glibenclamide Attenuates Neuroinflammation and Promotes Neurological Recovery After Intracerebral Hemorrhage in Aged Rats

Bing Jiang<sup>1†</sup>, Ying Zhang<sup>1†</sup>, Yan Wang<sup>1</sup>, Zheng Li<sup>1</sup>, Qianwei Chen<sup>2</sup>, Jun Tang<sup>2</sup> and Gang Zhu<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurology, Chengdu Fifth People's Hospital, Chengdu, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Neurosurgery, Southwest Hospital, Army Medical University, Chongqing, China

Intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH) is a common disease in the elderly population. Inflammation following ICH plays a detrimental role in secondary brain injury, which is associated with a poor prognosis of patients with ICH, and no efficient pharmacological preventions are available. Here, we investigated the effects of glibenclamide (GLC) on neuroinflammation in an autoblood-induced aged rat (18 months old) model of ICH. Rats were randomized into the sham, vehicle, and GLC groups. First, we investigated the expression level of sulfonylurea receptor 1 (Sur1) surrounding the hematoma after ICH. Then, neurological scores were calculated, and water maze tests, brain water content analysis, western blotting, and immunofluorescence assays were implemented to detect the neuroprotective effect of GLC. The expression of the Sur1-Trpm4 channel was significantly increased in the perihematomal tissue following ICH in aged rats. The GLC administration effectively reduced brain edema and improved neurofunction deficits following ICH. In addition, GLC increased the expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factors and decreased the expression of proinflammatory factors [tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-a,interleukin (IL)-1, and IL-6]. Moreover, GLC markedly reduced Ikappa-B (IκB) kinase (IKK) expression in microglia and nuclear factor (NF)-κB-P65 levels in perihematomal tissue. GLC ameliorated ICH-induced neuroinflammation and improved neurological outcomes in aged rats. In part, GLC may exert these effects by regulating the NF-κB signaling pathway through the Sur1-Trpm4 channel.

Keywords: intracerebral hemorrhage, glibenclamide, SUR1, neuroinflammation, aged rats

# INTRODUCTION

Intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH) is a subtype of stroke that leads to high rates of disability and death in humans (Xi et al., 2006). ICH is a common disease among the elderly population, and age is an essential factor that affects the prognosis of humans and animals after a stroke (Davis et al., 1995; Gong et al., 2004). Inflammatory responses play an important role in the pathogenesis after ICH (Aronowski and Hall, 2005; Hussain et al., 2009). Previous research has shown that nuclear factor

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Donghui Zhu, Stony Brook University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Yihao Tao, Chongqing Medical University, China Gang Chen, First Affiliated Hospital of Soochow University, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Gang Zhu gangzhu6666@sina.com <sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

> Received: 23 June 2021 Accepted: 21 July 2021 Published: 26 August 2021

#### Citation:

Jiang B, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Li Z, Chen Q, Tang J and Zhu G (2021) Glibenclamide Attenuates Neuroinflammation and Promotes Neurological Recovery After Intracerebral Hemorrhage in Aged Rats. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:729652. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.729652 (NF)- $\kappa B$  plays a crucial role in secondary brain injury after ICH (Pozniak et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2019). Therefore, it is necessary to research new therapies that target inflammatory responses to improve the prognosis of patients with clinical ICH.

Glibenclamide (GLC) is an oral hypoglycemic medicine that works by inhibiting sulfonylurea receptor 1 (Sur1) (Kurland et al., 2013). Sur1 forms two distinct ion channels: the Sur1-Trpm4 channel and Sur1-Kir6.2 channel (Chen et al., 2003). Many reports have shown that GLC protects against central nervous system (CNS) diseases, such as cerebral metastases, subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH), traumatic brain injury, ischemic stroke, and status epilepticus (Simard et al., 2009; Thompson et al., 2013; Lin et al., 2017; Jha et al., 2020; Woo et al., 2020). For the first time, our previous research showed that the expression increased in the Sur1-Trpm4 channel in the perihematomal tissue following ICH in adult rats. GLC treatment improved neurological outcomes and protected the blood-brain barrier integrity following ICH, and these effects involved the expression of MMPs (Jiang et al., 2016). Previous research demonstrated that GLC treatment reduced tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , interleukin (IL)-6, and NF-κB following experimental cardiac arrest (Nakayama et al., 2018). However, no literature reported whether CLC participates in neuroinflammation following ICH in aged rats.

Thus, we hypothesize that GLC treatment alleviates secondary brain injury and improves neurofunction deficits after ICH in aged rats by suppressing neuroinflammation by inhibiting the Sur1-Trpm4 channel. An ICH model of an aged rat was used to verify this hypothesis.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Ethics Statement**

All the procedures in this study complied with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. All the experiments were designed to minimize pain and animal numbers, and the study protocol was approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at Army Medical University. The animals were housed under a 12-h light and 12-h dark cycle and were given free access to food and water.

#### **Animals and Surgical Procedures**

A total of 150 male Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats, weighing 450–550 g, were provided by the Army Medical University (Chongqing, China). Rats were randomly divided into three groups: the sham-operated group, ICH + vehicle group, and ICH + GLC group. To mimic the clinical condition of ICH, a model was established *via* injection of autogenous blood, as previously reported (Jiang et al., 2016). Briefly, the animals were anesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of pentobarbital (40 mg/kg). The body temperature of the animals was maintained at 37°C. The animals were positioned in a stereotaxic frame, a cranial burr hole (1 mm diameter) was drilled, and 100 µl autogenous arterial blood (obtained from the right femoral artery) was microinfused using a pump at a constant rate of 10 µl/min into the right caudate nucleus (coordinates: 3.5 mm lateral, 5.5 mm ventral, and 0.2 mm anterior to the bregma)

through a 29-G needle. The sham-operated rats were only subjected to needle insertion. All rats survived the ICH induction and no mortality happened.

## **Glibenclamide Treatment**

Glibenclamide (Tocris Bioscience, Ellisville, MO, United States) was administered as previously reported (Jiang et al., 2016). Briefly, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (50 mg/ml) was used to prepare stock solutions of GLC. The injection solution (200 ng/µl or 1 µg/ml) was made by dilution in 0.9% NaCl, and clarifying the solution using a few microliters of 0.1 N NaOH (final pH ~ 8.5). At the end of the surgery, GLC was administered in a single loading dose (10 µg/kg intraperitoneal injection) plus continuous subcutaneous infusion (200 ng/h) *via* a miniosmotic subcutaneous pump (Alzet, 2001, 1.0 µl/h; Alzet Corp., Cupertino, CA, United States). The vehicle group was treated with vehicle control solutions in the same manner.

## **Measurement of Brain Water Content**

The brain water content was examined 72 h following ICH, as previously reported (Li et al., 2015). Briefly, the rats (n = 10/group) were euthanized and decapitated, the brains were quickly removed, and a 4-mm thick section of the coronal brain tissue surrounding the needle entry site was harvested. The brain tissue was divided into four parts: the contralateral cortex, contralateral basal ganglia, ipsilateral cortex, and ipsilateral basal ganglia. The cerebellum served as the internal control. The brain tissue weights were determined immediately after removal and after drying for more than 24 h at 100°C on an electronic analytical balance. The brain water content (%) was calculated using the following formula: (wet weight–dry weight)/wet weight × 100%.

## **Tissue Fixation and Immunofluorescence**

Immunofluorescent labeling was conducted 24 or 72 h following ICH as previously described (Tang et al., 2015). About 18- $\mu$ m thick brain tissue sections were prepared and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C. The specimens were incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C, and then with the appropriate secondary antibodies for 2 h at 37°C. Co-localization was examined by fluorescence microscopy (LSM780; Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany).

## Western Blot Analysis

Western blot analysis was conducted 24 h following ICH as previously described (Qi et al., 2019). The perihematomal brain tissues (4-mm-thick) were sampled. The relative densities of the bands were analyzed using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States).

#### **Real-Time PCR**

PCR was performed to analyze Sur1 gene expression as previously reported (Jiang et al., 2016). Rats (n = 6/group) were sacrificed by decapitation 6, 12, and 24 h following ICH. The brain tissues were dissected (2 mm posterior and 2 mm anterior to the needle entry site) and immediately flash-frozen with liquid nitrogen. The primers for SUR1 were as

Gene	GenBank accession no.	Primer sequences
SUR1	NM_013039.2	F: CACAAGAAGCCCATCGACCT
		R: ATCGAAGGCCAAGCAGAGTC
GAPDH	NM_017008.4	F: TGAGGAGTCCCCATCCCAAC
		R: GATGGTATTCGAGAGAAGGGAGG
β-actin	NM_031144.3	F: GCAGGAGTACGATGAGTCCG
		R: ACGCAGCTCAGTAACAGTCC

#### **TABLE 1** | Primers used for real-time RT-PCR.

F, forward primer; R, reverse primer.

follows: forward, 5'-CACAAGAAGCCCATCGACCT-3'; reverse, 5'-ATCGAAGGCCAAGCAGAGTC-3' (**Table 1**). A positive standard curve was obtained using a serially diluted complementary DNA sample mixture. Gene expression was normalized by glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) expression and quantified with standard samples. The data are expressed as a normalized messenger RNA expression (fold mRNA increase).

# Corner Turn Test and Forelimb Placing Test

We used the corner turn test and forelimb placement test to assess the neurological function of the experimental rats 7 days following ICH as previously described (Hua et al., 2002; Krafft et al., 2014; Tan et al., 2017). The corner turn test was conducted by two blinded observers. The experimental rats were allowed to proceed to a corner with an angle of  $30^{\circ}$ . We recorded the direction in which rats turned, and the process was repeated 10 times (60 s between trials); the percentage of right turns was calculated.

The forelimb placement test was conducted by two blinded observers. The rats were held by the torso, and all four limbs were allowed to hang freely in space. A trial was scored if a rat placed its forelimb on the edge of the countertop in response to vibrissae stimulation. Each forelimb was tested 10 times, and the percentage of successful scores was determined.

## **Morris Water Maze Test**

The Morris water maze test was performed to measure the learning and spatial memory of rats as previously described (Dai et al., 2017). Twenty-three days following ICH, rats (n = 10, per group) were placed in a pool (200 cm in diameter, 50 cm in depth) in which they searched to find a platform (5 cm in diameter, top surface 1.5 cm below the surface of the water) within 120 s. The rats that failed the mission would be picked up and placed on the platform for 15 s to familiar with the situation. The rats were subjected to five consecutive days of trials. The latency time was performed on the sixth day by removing the platform, and each rat was allowed to swim freely (120 s). The number of times the target area (previous location of the platform) was



quantification of the mean density of the Sur1 (180 kDa) and Kir6.2 (45 kDa) bands surrounding the hematoma 24 h after ICH (six rats/group). The results of the mean band densities are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SD,  $\frac{\&\&\&p}{2} < 0.0001$ . (B) Relative normalized expression levels of Sur1 mRNA surrounding the hematoma at 6, 12, and 24 h after ICH, Sur1 mRNA expression increased and peaked at 12 h (six rats/group). The results are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SD,  $\frac{\&p}{2} < 0.005$ .

crossed, the percent distance and percent time in the target quadrant were analyzed.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The results of this study are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SD. Statistical analysis of the data was conducted using one-way analysis ANOVA, followed by Student–Newman–Keuls (SNK). Statistical significance was set as a *p*-value < 0.05.

## RESULTS

# Sur1 Is Upregulated After ICH in Aged Rats

The protein expression of Sur1 was significantly upregulated surrounding the hematoma after ICH in aged rats (p < 0.0001, **Figures 1A,D**), but no significant difference was observed between the rats in the GLC treatment group and the vehicle group (p > 0.05, **Figures 1A,D**). No difference was observed in KIR6.2 expression among the sham group, GLC treatment group, and vehicle group (p > 0.05, **Figure 1C**). The Sur1 mRNA expression was examined at 6, 12, and 24 h after ICH. Compared

with the sham-treated rats, aged rats with ICH exhibited a remarkable increase in Sur1 mRNA (p < 0.05, p < 0.01, **Figure 1B**).

# Glibenclamide Administration Improved Neurological Deficits

The corner turn score and forelimb placing score were used to measure the neurological function of the rats on day 7 after ICH. In these tests, the GLC-treated group had a lower corner turn score (p < 0.05, **Figure 2A**) and higher forelimb placing score (p < 0.05, **Figure 2B**) than the vehicle group.

# Treatment With GLC Decreased Brain Water Content

The brain water content of the rats in the vehicle group was significantly increased 72 h after ICH, especially in the ipsilateral basal ganglia (Ipsi-BG: sham vs. vehicle, p < 0.001, **Figure 2C**). The GLC treatment remarkably decreased the brain water content in the ipsilateral basal ganglia (Ipsi-BG: vehicle vs. GLC, p < 0.05, **Figure 2C**).





# Glibenclamide Treatment Ameliorated the Performance of the Experimental Rats in the Morris Water Maze Test

The rats exhibited disadvantageous spatial learning and memory deficits following ICH. The latency of the rats in the GLC group was significantly shorter than that of the rats in the vehicle group beginning on the fourth of five consecutive days of acquisition training (p < 0.05, **Figure 3A**). The GLC-treated rats spent more time (p < 0.05, **Figure 3D**) and traveled a greater distance (p < 0.05, **Figure 3C**) in the target quadrat compared with the vehicle-treated rats. In addition, the rats in the vehicle group crossed the platform fewer times (p < 0.001 and p < 0.05, respectively, vs. sham and GLC, **Figure 3B**). The results demonstrated that GLC improved spatial learning and memory deficits following ICH.

## Treatment With GLC Increased Brain-Derived Neurotropic Factor 72 h After ICH

Immunofluorescence staining suggested a significant increase in brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) co-localized with neurons in the GLC group compared with that in the vehicle group (**Figure 4A**). Studied regions were marked with "squares" (**Figure 4B**). Western blotting examination revealed that the GLC treatment significantly increased the protein expression of BDNF 72 h following ICH (p < 0.01, **Figures 4C,D**).

# Treatment With GLC Decreased the Expression of NF-κB

We used western blotting and immunofluorescence staining to measure the expression of components of the NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathway. Immunofluorescence staining demonstrated a remarkable decrease in Ikappa-B kinase (IKK $\beta$ ) in the GLC group compared with the vehicle group (**Figure 5A**). The protein expression of NF- $\kappa$ B-p65 was significantly increased 24 h after ICH (sham vs. vehicle, p < 0.001, **Figures 5B,C**). The GLC treatment significantly decreased the protein expression of NF- $\kappa$ B p65 24 h after ICH (vehicle vs. GLC, p < 0.01, **Figures 5B,C**).

# Glibenclamide Reduces ICH-Induced Neuroinflammation

The expression of inflammatory factors was examined using western blotting analysis. The results revealed that TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, and IL-6 expression was significantly increased 24 h after ICH (**Figure 6**). GLC significantly decreased the expression of TNF- $\alpha$  (p < 0.01, **Figure 6A,B**). GLC significantly reduced the expression of IL-1 (p < 0.05, **Figure 6A,C**). GLC decreased the





expression of IL-6, but no significant difference was observed (p > 0.05, Figures 6A,D).

# DISCUSSION

Intracerebral hemorrhage is currently one of the most common diseases, particularly in the elderly population. With an aged rat model, we mimicked the pathophysiological processes observed in spontaneous ICH in elderly patients in the clinic. We detected an upregulation of Sur1 expression in an ICH model of an aged rat. Moreover, we suggested that the inhibition of Sur1 by GLC ameliorated neuroinflammation and improved neurological deficits.

Sulfonylurea receptor 1 forms two distinct ion channels: the Sur1-Trpm4 channel and Sur1-Kir6.2 channel (Tosun et al., 2013). Under normal conditions, Sur1 is constitutively expressed in some neurons of the CNS and exclusively forms Sur1-Kir6.2 channels (Simard et al., 2014). Previous study demonstrated, the expression increased in the Sur1-Trpm4 channel following



ICH, which was not observed in uninjured brain tissues (Woo et al., 2013). We showed that the level of Sur1 was significantly increased 6 h following ICH in aged rats, and the increase continued until 12 h but decreased at 24 h. Interestingly, we found that the increased level and peak timepoint are somewhat inconsistent with the results of our previous study showing that Sur1 mRNA significantly increased 12 h after ICH in adult rats, and the increase was maintained until 24 h but decreased at 48 h. Several factors may explain this difference. One possible reason is related to the different measures of thrombin. Ibbotson et al. (1992) proved that coagulation rates in plasma are accelerated with age, suggesting that hematoma can produce much more thrombin in aged rats. Thrombin can induce the expression of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9, and MMPs are involved in the expression of Sur1 (Caffes et al., 2015). The second possible explanation for our findings is related to Sur1 expression in

the different microglial responses in adult and aged animals (Camacho et al., 2015). Microglia play an important role in inflammation after CNS injury, and inflammation may be a factor in the upregulation of Sur1 (Simard et al., 2009). Wasserman et al. (2008) reported a difference in microglial activation and macrophage distribution between young and aged rats following ICH. Therefore, it is possible that the timing of Sur1 upregulation after ICH might be different between young rats and aged rats. In this report, we demonstrate that the expression of Sur1 is upregulated in aged rats after ICH.

The present study shows that the Sur1-Trpm4 channel is implicated in ICH-induced inflammation. GLC administration significantly reduces the expression of the NF- $\kappa$ B, IL-1, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6. Similarly, many studies have shown that GLC inhibits inflammation in animal models of SAH (Simard et al., 2009), experimental cardiac arrest (Nakayama et al., 2018), and cerebral



ischemic injury (Caffes et al., 2015). Our previous study determined that inhibition of Sur1 alleviated ICH-induced metalloproteinase (MMPs) expression. Many previous studies showed that MMPs play an important role in neuroinflammation (Vandooren et al., 2014; Hannocks et al., 2017; Mi et al., 2021). The increased activity of MMPs can affect the secretion of many types of inflammatory cytokines and the activation of inflammatory cells (Florczak-Rzepka et al., 2012).

This study found that treatment with GLC induced the expression of BDNF. Previous studies determined that BDNF stimulates neural progenitor cells to differentiate into mature neurons, and it exerts a neurotrophic effect at sites of injury (Shimotake et al., 2010; Deng et al., 2019). Previous studies have shown that neuroinflammation reduces the expression of BDNF and negatively affects many stages of neurogenesis (Hashimoto, 2015; Zhang et al., 2018; Zhong et al., 2020). Bi et al. (2016) proved that neuroinflammation attenuates the expression of BDNF by activating the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway. Therefore, a significant increase in BDNF may be involved in the activation of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway.

Many factors are related to neurological deficits following ICH, including primary brain injury, edema, inflammation, and age (Keep et al., 2012; Guo et al., 2021). In this study, GLC improved neurological deficits, consistent with previous

studies (Liew et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2015). Simard et al. (2006) proved that continuous subcutaneous infusion of GLC (75 ng/h) reached the peri-infarct regions of rats with cerebral ischemia, resulting in potential neuroprotection. Several recent clinical trials have shown that GLC is associated with improvements in midline shift, level of alertness, neurofunction deficits, and survival after large hemispheric infarction (Kimberly et al., 2018; Sheth et al., 2018; Vorasayan et al., 2019). Robert et al. (2020) concluded that inhibiting the ion channel Sur1-Trpm4 could be a valuable adjuvant to prevent and even reverse fluid accumulation in the brain parenchyma. Several clinical trials about the safety and efficacy of GLC in CNS diseases are ongoing, such as SE-GRACE and GASH. Within a few years, all these research findings make it possible to use GLC in clinical stroke treatment.

## CONCLUSION

In summary, in the current study, we found that the expression of the Sur1-Trpm4 channel was significantly increased in perihematomal tissue following ICH in aged rats. We demonstrated that GLC ameliorated ICH-induced neuroinflammation and improved neurological outcomes,

and GLC may exert these effects in part by regulating the NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathway through the Sur1-Trpm4 channel. Our findings may contribute to the further elucidation of the mechanism of action of CLC and assist in developing a novel therapeutic strategy for treating clinical stroke.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at Army Medical University.

## REFERENCES

- Aronowski, J., and Hall, C. E. (2005). New horizons for primary intracerebral hemorrhage treatment: experience from preclinical studies. *Neurol. Res.* 27, 268–279. doi: 10.1179/016164105x25225
- Bi, Q. R., Hou, J. J., Qi, P., Ma, C. H., Shen, Y., Feng, R. H., et al. (2016). Venenum Bufonis induces rat neuroinflammation by activiting NF-kappaB pathway and attenuation of BDNF. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 186, 103–110. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2016. 03.049
- Caffes, N., Kurland, D. B., Gerzanich, V., and Simard, J. M. (2015). Glibenclamide for the treatment of ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 16, 4973–4984. doi: 10.3390/ijms16034973
- Camacho, E., LoPresti, M. A., Bruce, S., Lin, D., Abraham, M., Appelboom, G., et al. (2015). The role of age in intracerebral hemorrhages. J. Clin. Neurosci. 22, 1867–1870.
- Chen, M., Dong, Y., and Simard, J. M. (2003). Functional coupling between sulfonylurea receptor type 1 and a nonselective cation channel in reactive astrocytes from adult rat brain. J. Neurosci. 23, 8568–8577. doi: 10.1523/ jneurosci.23-24-08568.2003
- Dai, Y., Li, W., Zhong, M., Chen, J., Cheng, Q., Liu, Y., et al. (2017). The paracrine effect of cobalt chloride on BMSCs during cognitive function rescue in the HIBD rat. *Behav. Brain Res.* V332N, 99–109. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2017.05.055
- Davis, M., Mendelow, A. D., Perry, R. H., Chambers, I. R., and James, O. F. (1995). Experimental stroke and neuroprotection in the aging rat brain. *Stroke* 26, 1072–1078. doi: 10.1161/01.str.26.6.1072
- Deng, L., Gao, X., Fan, G., and Yang, C. (2019). Effects of GDNF-transfected marrow stromal cells on rats with intracerebral hemorrhage. *J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis.* 28, 2555–2562. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2019. 06.002
- Florczak-Rzepka, M., Grond-Ginsbach, C., Montaner, J., and Steiner, T. (2012). Matrix metalloproteinases in human spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage: an update. *Cerebrovasc. Dis.* 34, 249–262. doi: 10.1159/000341686
- Gong, Y., Hua, Y., Keep, R. F., Hoff, J. T., and Xi, G. (2004). Intracerebral hemorrhage: effects of aging on brain edema and neurological deficits. *Stroke* 35, 2571–2575. doi: 10.1161/01.str.0000145485.67827.d0
- Guo, Y., Zhou, J., Li, X., Xiao, Y., Zhang, J., Yang, Y., et al. (2021). The association of suppressed hypoxia-inducible factor-1 transactivation of angiogenesis with defective recovery from cerebral ischemic injury in aged rats. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 13:648115. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.648115
- Hannocks, M. J., Zhang, X., Gerwien, H., Chashchina, A., Burmeister, M., Korpos, E., et al. (2017). The gelatinases, MMP-2 and MMP-9, as fine tuners of neuroinflammatory processes. *Matrix Biol.* 75–76, 102–113. doi: 10.1016/j. matbio.2017.11.007
- Hashimoto, K. (2015). Inflammatory biomarkers as differential predictors of antidepressant response. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 16, 7796–7801. doi: 10.3390/ ijms16047796

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

BJ and YZ wrote the manuscript, analyzed the data, and designed and performed the experiments. YW, ZL, JT, and QC assisted with the experiments, prepared the figures, and performed the behavioral tests. GZ contributed to the conception of the review and gave final approval of the version to be published. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Numbers: 81571130, 81571116, and 81601356), Special Subject for Hypertension of Sichuan Province (2018SHD5-7) and Clinical Trial of Symptomatic Hypoperfusion in Sichuan Province (Q18002).

- Hua, Y., Schallert, T., Keep, R. F., Wu, J., Hoff, J. T., and Xi, G. (2002). Behavioral tests after intracerebral hemorrhage in the rat. *Stroke* 33, 2478–2484. doi: 10.1161/01.str.0000032302.91894.0f
- Hussain, S., Romio, L., Saleem, M., Mathieson, P., Serrano, M., Moscat, J., et al. (2009). Nephrin deficiency activates NF-kappaB and promotes glomerular injury. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 20, 1733–1743. doi: 10.1681/asn.200811 1219
- Ibbotson, S. H., Tate, G. M., and Davies, J. A. (1992). Thrombin activity by intrinsic activation of plasma in-vitro accelerates with increasing age of the donor. *Thromb. Haemost.* 68, 377–380. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1648450
- Jha, R. M., Bell, J., Citerio, G., Hemphill, J. C., Kimberly, W. T., Narayan, R. K., et al. (2020). Role of sulfonylurea receptor 1 and glibenclamide in traumatic brain injury: a review of the evidence. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:409. doi: 10.3390/ ijms21020409
- Jiang, B., Li, L., Chen, Q., Tao, Y., Yang, L., Zhang, B., et al. (2016). Role of glibenclamide in brain injury after intracerebral hemorrhage. *Transl. Stroke Res.* 8, 183–193. doi: 10.1007/s12975-016-0506-2
- Keep, R. F., Hua, Y., and Xi, G. (2012). Intracerebral haemorrhage: mechanisms of injury and therapeutic targets. *Lancet Neurol.* 11, 720–731. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(12)70104-7
- Kimberly, W. T., Bevers, M. B., von Kummer, R., Demchuk, A. M., Romero, J. M., Elm, J. J., et al. (2018). Effect of IV glyburide on adjudicated edema endpoints in the GAMES-RP trial. *Neurology* 91, e2163–e2169.
- Krafft, P. R., McBride, D. W., Lekic, T., Rolland, W. B., Mansell, C. E., Ma, Q., et al. (2014). Correlation between subacute sensorimotor deficits and brain edema in two mouse models of intracerebral hemorrhage. *Behav. Brain Res.* 264, 151–160. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2014.01.052
- Kurland, D. B., Tosun, C., Pampori, A., Karimy, J. K., Caffes, N. M., Gerzanich, V., et al. (2013). Glibenclamide for the treatment of acute CNS injury. *Pharmaceuticals* 6, 1287–1303. doi: 10.3390/ph6101287
- Li, L., Tao, Y., Tang, J., Chen, Q., Yang, Y., Feng, Z., et al. (2015). A cannabinoid receptor 2 agonist prevents thrombin-induced blood-brain barrier damage via the inhibition of microglial activation and matrix metalloproteinase expression in rats. *Transl. Stroke Res.* 6, 467–477. doi: 10.1007/s12975-015-0425-7
- Liew, H. K., Pang, C. Y., Hsu, C. W., Wang, M. J., Li, T. Y., Peng, H. F., et al. (2012). Systemic administration of urocortin after intracerebral hemorrhage reduces neurological deficits and neuroinflammation in rats. *J. Neuroinflammation* 9:13.
- Lin, Z., Huang, H., Gu, Y., Huang, K., Hu, Y., Ji, Z., et al. (2017). Glibenclamide ameliorates cerebral edema and improves outcomes in a rat model of status epilepticus. *Neuropharmacology* 121, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.04. 016
- Mi, X., Cao, Y., Li, Y., Li, Y., Hong, J., He, J., et al. (2021). The Non-peptide angiotensin-(1–7) mimic AVE 0991 attenuates delayed neurocognitive recovery after laparotomy by reducing neuroinflammation and restoring blood-brain

barrier integrity in aged rats. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:624387. doi: 10.3389/ fnagi.2021.624387

- Nakayama, S., Taguchi, N., Isaka, Y., Nakamura, T., and Tanaka, M. (2018). Glibenclamide and therapeutic hypothermia have comparable effect on attenuating global cerebral edema following experimental cardiac arrest. *Neurocrit. Care* 29, 119–127. doi: 10.1007/s12028-017-0479-3
- Pozniak, P. D., White, M. K., and Khalili, K. (2014). TNF-alpha/NF-kappaB signaling in the CNS: possible connection to EPHB2. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 9, 133–141. doi: 10.1007/s11481-013-9517-x
- Qi, L., Jiang-Hua, M., Ge-Liang, H., Qing, C., and Ya-Ming, L. (2019). MiR-34a inhibits spinal cord injury and blocks spinal cord neuron apoptosis by activating phatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT pathway through targeting CD47. *Curr. Neurovasc. Res.* 16, 373–381. doi: 10.2174/1567202616666190906102343
- Robert, S. M., Reeves, B. C., Alper, S. L., Zhang, J., and Kahle, K. T. (2020). New drugs on the horizon for cerebral edema: what's in the clinical development pipeline? *Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs* 29, 1099–1105. doi: 10.1080/13543784. 2020.1813715
- Sheth, K. N., Petersen, N. H., Cheung, K., Elm, J. J., Hinson, H. E., Molyneaux, B. J., et al. (2018). Long-term outcomes in patients aged/=70 years with intravenous glyburide from the phase II GAMES-RP study of large hemispheric infarction: an exploratory analysis. *Stroke* 49, 1457–1463. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.117. 020365
- Shimotake, J., Derugin, N., Wendland, M., Vexler, Z. S., and Ferriero, D. M. (2010). Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 inhibition promotes cell death and limits endothelial cell proliferation in a neonatal rodent model of stroke. *Stroke* 41, 343–349. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.109.564229
- Simard, J. M., Chen, M., Tarasov, K. V., Bhatta, S., Ivanova, S., Melnitchenko, L., et al. (2006). Newly expressed SUR1-regulated NC(Ca-ATP) channel mediates cerebral edema after ischemic stroke. *Nat. Med.* 12, 433–440. doi: 10.1038/ nm1390
- Simard, J. M., Geng, Z., Woo, S. K., Ivanova, S., Tosun, C., Melnichenko, L., et al. (2009). Glibenclamide reduces inflammation, vasogenic edema, and caspase-3 activation after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 29, 317–330. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2008.120
- Simard, J. M., Sheth, K. N., Kimberly, W. T., Stern, B. J., del Zoppo, G. J., Jacobson, S., et al. (2014). Glibenclamide in cerebral ischemia and stroke. *Neurocrit. Care* 20, 319–333. doi: 10.1007/s12028-013-9923-1
- Tan, Q., Chen, Q., Niu, Y., Feng, Z., Li, L., Tao, Y., et al. (2017). Urokinase, a promising candidate for fibrinolytic therapy for intracerebral hemorrhage. *J. Neurosurg.* 126, 548–557. doi: 10.3171/2016.1.jns152287
- Tang, J., Tao, Y., Tan, L., Yang, L., Niu, Y., Chen, Q., et al. (2015). Cannabinoid receptor 2 attenuates microglial accumulation and brain injury following germinal matrix hemorrhage via ERK dephosphorylation in vivo and in vitro. *Neuropharmacology* 95, 424–433. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.04.028
- Thompson, E. M., Pishko, G. L., Muldoon, L. L., and Neuwelt, E. A. (2013). Inhibition of SUR1 decreases the vascular permeability of cerebral metastases. *Neoplasia* 15, 535–543. doi: 10.1593/neo.13164
- Tosun, C., Kurland, D. B., Mehta, R., Castellani, R. J., deJong, J. L., Kwon, M. S., et al. (2013). Inhibition of the Sur1-Trpm4 channel reduces neuroinflammation and cognitive impairment in subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* 44, 3522–3528. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.113.002904
- Vandooren, J., Van Damme, J., and Opdenakker, G. (2014). On the structure and functions of gelatinase B/matrix metalloproteinase-9 in neuroinflammation.

*Prog. Brain Res.* 214, 193–206. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-444-63486-3. 00009-8

- Vorasayan, P., Bevers, M. B., Beslow, L. A., Sze, G., Molyneaux, B. J., Hinson, H. E., et al. (2019). Intravenous glibenclamide reduces lesional water uptake in large hemispheric infarction. *Stroke* 50, 3021–3027. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha. 119.026036
- Wasserman, J. K., Yang, H., and Schlichter, L. C. (2008). Glial responses, neuron death and lesion resolution after intracerebral hemorrhage in young vs. aged rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 28, 1316–1328. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06442.x
- Woo, S., Kwon, M., Ivanov, A., and Simard, J. (2013). The sulfonylurea receptor 1 (Sur1)-transient receptor potential melastatin 4 (Trpm4) channel. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 3655–3667. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m112.428219
- Woo, S. K., Tsymbalyuk, N., Tsymbalyuk, O., Ivanova, S., Gerzanich, V., and Simard, J. M. (2020). SUR1-TRPM4 channels, not KATP, mediate brain swelling following cerebral ischemia. *Neurosci. Lett.* 718:134729. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet. 2019.134729
- Xi, G., Keep, R. F., and Hoff, J. T. (2006). Mechanisms of brain injury after intracerebral haemorrhage. *Lancet Neurol.* 5, 53–63. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(05)70283-0
- Xu, S., Wu, Q., Guo, G., and Ding, X. (2015). The protective effects of urocortin1 against intracerebral hemorrhage by activating JNK1/2 and p38 phosphorylation and further increasing VEGF via corticotropin-releasing factor receptor 2. *Neurosci. Lett.* 589, 31–36. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015.01.015
- Zhang, C. Y., Zeng, M. J., Zhou, L. P., Li, Y. Q., Zhao, F., Shang, Z. Y., et al. (2018). Baicalin exerts neuroprotective effects via inhibiting activation of GSK3beta/NF-kappaB/NLRP3 signal pathway in a rat model of depression. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 64, 175–182. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.09.001
- Zhang, Z. L., Song, Y., Li, F., and Huang, Q. B. (2019). Bimodal distribution of nuclear factor-kappaB activation and expression of subunits in experimental models of intracerebral hemorrhage in vivo. J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis. 28, 821–829. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2018.11.028
- Zhong, J., Li, J., Ni, C., and Zuo, Z. (2020). Amantadine alleviates postoperative cognitive dysfunction possibly by preserving neurotrophic factor expression and dendritic arborization in the hippocampus of old rodents. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 12:605330. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.605330

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Jiang, Zhang, Wang, Li, Chen, Tang and Zhu. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Vascular Dementia and Underlying Sex Differences

Firoz Akhter<sup>1</sup>, Alicia Persaud<sup>1</sup>, Younis Zaokari<sup>1</sup>, Zhen Zhao<sup>2</sup> and Donghui Zhu<sup>1,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biomedical Engineering, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Physiology and Neuroscience, Zilkha Neurogenetic Institute, Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Neuroscience Graduate Program, Renaissance School of Medicine, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, United States

Vascular dementia (VaD) is the second most common form of dementia after Alzheimer's disease (AD); where Alzheimer's accounts for 60-70% of cases of dementia and VaD accounts for 20% of all dementia cases. VaD is defined as a reduced or lack of blood flow to the brain that causes dementia. VaD is also known occasionally as vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia (VCID) or multi-infarct dementia (MID). VCID is the condition arising from stroke and other vascular brain injuries that cause significant changes to memory, thinking, and behavior, and VaD is the most severe stage while MID is produced by the synergistic effects caused by multiple mini strokes in the brain irrespective of specific location or volume. There are also subtle differences in the presentation of VaD in males and females, but they are often overlooked. Since 1672 when the first case of VaD was reported until now, sex and gender differences have had little to no research done when it comes to the umbrella term of dementia in general. This review summarizes the fundamentals of VaD followed by a focus on the differences between sex and gender when an individual is diagnosed. In addition, we provide critical evidence concerning sex and gender differences with a few of the main risk factors of VaD including pre-existing health conditions and family history, gene variants, aging, hormone fluctuations, and environmental risk factors. Additionally, the pharmaceutical treatments and possible mitigation of risk factors is explored.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Ying Xu, University at Buffalo, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Tong Li, Johns Hopkins University, United States Istvan Jozsef Merchenthaler, University of Maryland, Baltimore, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Donghui Zhu Donghui.Zhu@stonybrook.edu

Received: 04 June 2021 Accepted: 13 August 2021 Published: 08 September 2021

#### Citation:

Akhter F, Persaud A, Zaokari Y, Zhao Z and Zhu D (2021) Vascular Dementia and Underlying Sex Differences. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:720715. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.720715 Keywords: vascular dementia, Alzheimer's disease, sex, gender, multi-infarct dementia

# INTRODUCTION

Vascular dementia (VaD), a heterogeneous group of brain disorders is the next most common form of dementia following Alzheimer's disease (AD) and accounts for at least 20% of dementia cases (Román, 2003; Korczyn et al., 2012). VaD is caused by a blocked or reduced blood flow to the brain which will deprive neurons of critical nutrients (Vijayan and Reddy, 2016). This deprivation eventually causes the neurons to die, and the brain tissue starts to shrink. Some common contributors to this kind of dementia include stroke, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, hyperlipidemia, and hypertension (Song et al., 2014).

Vascular cognitive impairment (VCI) is a term that encompasses a continuum of cognitive disorders with cerebrovascular pathology contribution, ranging from mild cognitive impairment to VaD (Nguyen et al., 2021). As a result, VCI and VaD constitute an intriguing junction of

cardiovascular disease (CVD), and neurodegenerative disorders, like AD, are a growing topic of research in recent years. Even though VCI and VaD research has identified a variety of causes and explanations for disease development, many aspects remain unknown, particularly sex differences in VCI (e.g., epidemiology), which are lacking in comparison to those available for CVD and AD.

#### History of Vascular Dementia (VaD)

The root meaning of the word dementia came from the Latin word demons which means "Without mind." The first case of VaD was reported in 1672 by Thomas Willis in his book De Anima Brutorum (Román, 2003). After the recognizing of the differences between hemorrhage and ischemic stroke, Bayle discovered that apoplexy was the obstruction of the arteries with effusion of blood in such small amounts because of the failure of the blood influx to the brain (Engelhardt, 2017). Apoplexy is unconsciousness and/or incapacitation resulting from a cerebral hemorrhage or stroke. Later, apoplexy was considered the cause of brain congestion or cerebral hyperemia in most of the 18th and early 19th centuries. The year 1894 is considered to be the beginning of the modern history of VaD due to Otto Binswanger and Alois Alzheimer, who were the first to separate the forms of dementia from neurosyphilis and recognize a heterogeneous VaD (Yang et al., 2016). In 1910 Emile Kraepelin closely observed the concept of Otto Binswanger and Alois Alzheimer with a different description for VaD as arteriosclerotic dementia or cerebral arteriosclerosis (Román, 2003). For 70 years after Kraepelin's description, the synonym for his description of VaD was called senile dementia. Hachinski et al. (1974) emphasized that vascular disease was responsible for dementia, via the occurrence of small or large cerebral infarcts; the term Multi Infract dementia (MID) was to be used synonymously with VaD. In 1995 a proposal was made to the National Institutes of Health that the broader term VaD could be changed to the new name Vascular Cognitive Impairment.

# Symptoms, Risk Factors, Characteristic Features, and Subtypes of VaD

The symptoms of VaD differ depending on which part of the brain the vessels and blood flow are obstructed (Venkat et al., 2015). However, the common indications might appear as disorientation, difficulty thinking, understanding, inability to create new memories, agitation, or behavioral symptoms (Kalaria, 2016). Moreover, VaD symptoms may be most obvious when they happen soon after a major stroke, and they can gradually develop (Dichgans and Leys, 2017). **Figure 1** shows some of the risk factors, characteristic features, and subtypes associated with VaD.

The risk factors help perpetuate the occurrence of the VaD. Strokes that block a brain artery usually cause a range of symptoms like cognitive decline, neurological deficits, and further severe cardiovascular incidents that may include vascular dementia (Shabir et al., 2018). When VaD begins, it can be classified into various subtypes that are typically related to the root cause of the VaD (Rockwood et al., 1999). Stroke, multi-infarct, and subcortical dementia refer to the vascular events



leading to dementia (Kalaria and Erkinjuntti, 2006). CADASIL refers to a subtype of VaD, in which a specific gene variant must be present (Benisty et al., 2008). This variant whilst mixed with dementia causes a rare disease subtype that refers to the presence of multiple forms of dementia including the presence of vascular events (Benisty et al., 2008). In CADASIL, migraine with aura is more frequent in women and, stroke is more frequent in men before menopause (Gunda et al., 2012). After this age limit, the difference appears to vanish, however, men in the late stages of the disease may experience more cognitive impairment and cerebral atrophy.

Dementia is a consequence and a risk factor for stroke and VaD. Stroke is one of the primary causes of disability, and having a stroke doubles your risk of developing VaD (Vijayan and Reddy, 2016). Lower education, older age, diabetes mellitus, myocardial infarction, atrial fibrillation, epileptic seizures, sepsis, cardiac arrhythmias, congestive heart failure, global cerebral atrophy, and medial temporal lobe atrophy, and white matter changes have all been linked to an increased risk of dementia after a stroke (Pinkston et al., 2009). Post-stroke depression is another risk factor for VaD, which is more common in women than in men (Pendlebury and Rothwell, 2009). Female sex, medial temporal lobe atrophy, and a family history of dementia are all better predictors of pre-stroke dementia than post-stroke dementia (Podcasy and Epperson, 2016). Pre-stroke dementia could be a symptom or cause of a fundamental degenerative condition that makes vascular events more likely (Glader et al., 2003).

Multi-infarct dementia is a type of VaD, occurs when a series of minor strokes triggers a loss of brain function (Al-Qazzaz et al., 2014). A stroke, or brain infarct, occurs when the blood flow to any part of the brain is disrupted or blocked. Blood supplies oxygen to the brain, and brain tissue dies quickly without it. Memory and cognitive function loss can occur because of MID, as well as psychosocial issues. MID generally occurs in people aged 55 to 75 years and is more common in men than women (McKay and Counts, 2017). Medical conditions and lifestyle that increase the risk of MID include atrial fibrillation, rapid heartbeat, previous strokes, heart failure, cognitive decline before a stroke, high blood pressure, diabetes, atherosclerosis, or hardening of the arteries, smoking, alcohol, a low level of education, a poor diet, little to no physical activity (Lechner and Bertha, 1991).

Subcortical VaD is the subtype that has attracted the most interest among all the potential VaD subtypes (Wallin et al., 2003). Lacunar infarcts and ischemic white-matter lesions with demyelination and axon loss are the most common brain lesions in this kind of VaD. The primary cause is an injury to the penetrating arteries vessel walls (Kalaria, 2016). Multiple vascular problems, such as arterial hypertension, diabetes, and ischemic heart disease, are common in patients with subcortical VaD. Impairment goal formulation, starting, planning, and organizing are among the clinical signs (O'Brien and Thomas, 2015). Cerebrovascular white matter lesions are associated with stroke, cognitive decline, dementia, and death in a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies (Debette and Markus, 2010). These lesions correlate with advancing age, female gender, and vascular risk factors, including hypertension, diabetes mellitus, smoking, and lower income (Tomimoto, 2011). Another study was unable to find significant differences in the role of sex in subcortical VaD cases (Choi et al., 2020).

Cognitive impairment caused by numerous central nervous system (CNS) disorders are referred to as mixed dementia. A combination of AD pathologies such as amyloid deposits and tau tangles-and vascular impairment, such as numerous microbleeds or infarcts, is the most common cause of this disease (Jellinger, 2004). Rendering to vascular theory, chronic diseases (hypertension, diabetes mellitus, cardiac disease, dyslipidemia, and obesity) and the sedentary lifestyle produce numerous vascular changes, which generate vascular atrophy of the vascular terminations, as well as a reduction in the number of terminal blood vessels (Zekry et al., 2002). These alterations affect the cerebral microvasculature and diminish the cerebral blood flow, which is mainly observed in untreated hypertensive patients and those treated sporadically or inadequately (Hanyu, 2012). It is generally accepted that vascular dementia and mixed dementias occur more frequently in males, with rates of 31 vs. 25% in females (Podcasy and Epperson, 2016).

#### **Diagnosis, and Current Treatment**

The diagnostic tools for VaD vary on the diagnosis of the patients. A person suspected of having VaD will generally have a brain scan to look for any changes that have taken place in the brain. A scan such as Computerized tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is also common to visualize brain function and may rule out a blockage or build-up of fluid inside the brain (van Straaten et al., 2004). Carotid ultrasound is used to determine whether the carotid artery shows any signs of narrowing because of plaque deposits or structural issues causing reduced blood flow to the brain (Malojcic et al., 2017). Neurological exams for reflexes, muscle tone and strength, are used as well as qualitative exams on comparing strength on one side of the body with the other side, assessing ability to get up from a chair and walk across the room, the intensity of touch, sight, coordination, and balance. Neuropsychological tests are also used to examine the ability to speak, write and understand language, work with numbers, learn and remember information, develop a plan of attack/solve a problem, and respond effectively to hypothetical situations (Pimentel, 2009).

In terms of treatments, the medical field lacks actual drugs that are fully approved by the FDA. However, there are clinical trials for drugs that treat AD symptoms which can also be offered to patients with VaD as well (Huang et al., 2020). With regards to anti-dementia therapeutics, there are no specific drugs approved for VaD treatment. The cholinesterase inhibitors, and the NMDA (the N-methyl-Daspartate receptor) antagonist, are the only medications currently licensed for AD treatment, have been found to show some cognitive improvements in mild to moderately advanced VaD (Kandiah et al., 2017; Yaowaluk et al., 2019; Jian et al., 2020). Memantine belongs to the aminoadamantane chemical class and is structurally like amantadine, an anti-Parkinson and antiviral drug. Memantine has been tested in a study that included 815 subjects with mild to moderately advanced VaD (Baskys and Hou, 2007). Treatment with 20 mg/day dose or placebo lasted 28 weeks. Data analysis showed a significant improvement in cognitive function, measured as ADAS-cog (Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale-cognitive subscale), from baseline, over placebo. In a recent study (Arrigo et al., 1990), 56 patients with dementia and cerebrovascular illness were randomized to receive either acetyl-L-carnitine (ALC) 1.5 g/day or placebo for 28 weeks in a multicenter, double-blind, placebocontrolled clinical trial. The individuals' scores on the Montreal Cognitive Assessment improved dramatically after taking ALC, particularly in the attention and language subitems. However, it's difficult to believe that the study was solely focused on VaD because the patients were already on donepezil, implying that a significant proportion of them may have been affected by AD or mixed dementia (Pennisi et al., 2020). A small but statistically significant improvement was found on the NOSGER (Nurses Observational Scale for Geriatric Patients) disturbing behavior scale. Additionally, there have been attempts to use similar medicines that treat underlying causes of VaD. For example, in a small study hypertension medicines had a positive correlation with VaD risk reduction compared to subjects with similar risk factors but were without the antihypertensive (Iulita and Girouard, 2017). These include tablets to reduce blood pressure, prevent blood clots and lower cholesterol. Sometimes if treated early blood vessels can repair and slow the rate at which VaD progresses and might prevent further development of symptoms (Lee, 2011). A 5-year follow-up study on a community sample of 1617 African Americans demonstrated that the use of medications that mediate vascular risk factors (antihypertensive drugs, anti-hyperlipidemic, and antidiabetic drugs) reduced the risk of incident dementia by 40% (Kennelly et al., 2009). Lastly, some research also suggests that after a big vascular event like a stroke, preventative measures are vital for mitigating the risk of developing VaD (Vijayan and Reddy, 2016; Hachinski et al., 2019).

## **CLINICAL PRESENTATION OF VaD**

Since 2011, published studies are, not only in VaD but in some dementias and other cognitive disorders as well. However,

Sex Differences in Vascular Dementia

a critical review of the more recent trials and the effects of sex/gender on VaD is still lacking. The purpose of this clinical presentation is to provide an update on the existing studies dealing with sex and gender in VaD to obtain a clear and comprehensive overview of all clinical benefits, potential effects of sex/gender, limitations, and main outcomes in the management of these patients.

#### **Data Source and Selection**

A Medline (PubMed)-based literature review was performed by using the following search terms, in different combinations: "Vascular dementia," "Vascular cognitive impairment," "Vascular cognitive impairment and dementia," "Arteriosclerotic dementia," "multi-infarct dementia," "vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia," "sex," and "gender." The studies had to include individuals with a clinical diagnosis of any type of Vascular dementia in relation to sex or gender and severity according to the internationally accepted guidelines or diagnostic criteria. Duplicated entries, studies on physiological brain aging or diseases different from VaD, VCI, or VCID, works on animals or cell cultures, studies not reporting the statistical analysis, non-English written papers, publications that are not research studies (i.e., abstracts, letters, commentaries, editorials, reviews, etc.), conference, meeting proceedings, or any other paper not published in international peer-reviewed journals, study protocols, personal communications, or unpublished data, as well as any other study that did not fit with the scope of this review were excluded. Articles listed in the references were also reviewed in search of more data.

#### Results

A total of 113 results were originally retrieved and screened. Of these, six publications were selected according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The examination of the references detected other five studies, whose analysis identified one additional paper fitting the purpose of this review. Therefore, a total of seven papers were eventually included in the qualitative synthesis (**Figure 2**), and the main findings are summarized in **Table 1** (Vinciguerra et al., 2020).

## **GENERAL CAUSES AND RISKS FOR VaD**

Generally, the common causes of VaD are environmental and pathophysiological that affecting the brain vessels, leading to a reduction of supplies like nutrition and oxygen to the brain (Kalaria, 2016; Killin et al., 2016; Caruso et al., 2019). Therefore, some of the risk factors for VaD coexist with the increased risk of stroke, heart disease, aging, atherosclerosis, high cholesterol, high blood pressure, diabetes, genetics, smoking, obesity, and atrial fibrillation. VaD progresses over time and targets cognitive abilities in the brain (Kalaria et al., 2016). This actively illustrates some of the neurological and behavioral changes that patients with VaD may experience such as memory impairment, loss of executive function (like decreased ability to plan), reasoning and organized thoughts and behaviors. Several regulatory mechanisms and cellular



signaling are thought to play a role in VCI and VaD, including oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, endothelial dysfunction, hypoperfusion, blood-brain barrier (BBB) disruption, cortical hyperexcitability, and neurotransmitter imbalance (Vinciguerra et al., 2020). In addition, serological markers that can help in the diagnosis of VaD have been discovered in several investigations. Pro-inflammatory metabolites (such NO-related compounds), cytokines (including IL-1, TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, IL-5, IL-8, G-CSF, and MIP-1b), and endothelial dysfunction indicators (like homocysteine) have all been reported to be elevated in VaD patients (Schmitz et al., 2015).

Moreover, common causes and risk factors of VaD change from one sex to another. For example, males have appeared to be slightly at a higher risk of getting VaD than females at a younger age, but women over the age of 85–90 have been shown to have a higher occurrence (Lucca et al., 2020). Therefore, females have high-risk factors that may be associated with preeclampsia, menopause and poorly timed hormone replacement therapy. Additionally, females have a higher risk of VaD with the presence of diabetes, obesity, and hypertension more than males (Gannon et al., 2019). On the other hand, males have a higher risk with the presence of hyperlipidemia, myocardial infarction, and heart disease like stroke, and heart attack (Skoog, 1994).

## SEX-SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES IN VaD

Increasing evidence suggests that sex factors may play an important role in the pathogenesis of diseases, including cardiovascular disease and dementia. Sex differences in prevalence also depend on dementia subtypes, such as AD, VaD, Lewy body dementia (LBD), and Parkinson's dementia

#### TABLE 1 | Studies on vascular dementia (VaD) in relation with sex or gender.

Sex	Age in years (Average age)	Diagnostic criteria	Education and marital status	Medical risk factors	Subjects	Key findings	Adjusted variables	References
Male	≥55.0 (80.3)	MMSE, GMS-B, AGECAT, HAS, Katz's bADL's, IADL's, EURODEM, Risk Factors Questionnaire.	Primary school, High school or higher. Single, married or living as a couple, divorced, or separated, or widowed	Vascular disease (angina, myocardial infarct, and/or stroke), diabetes, hypertension, health status, depression, cognitive status, vascular risk factors (smoking, statin use, body mass index, and alcohol intake)	1,828	In men, but not in women, risk of VaD was higher among individuals with anxiety	No description	Santabárbara et al. 2020
	≥55.0 (79.8)				2,229			
Male	≥65.0 (no average age description about male)	MMSE, GMS, CAMCOG, DSM-III-R	_	Hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, or smoking, apolipoprotein E4 allele	12,270	There was no difference by sex in the cumulative risk of vascular dementia. The risk for a 65-year-old woman to develop vascular dementia at the age of 95 years was 0.040 compared with 0.041 for a man.	Age, the square term of age, dummy variables for study, smoking, education, self-reported myocardial infarction, and stroke.	Andersen et al., 1999
-emale	≥65.0 (no average age description about female)				16,497			
Male	≥60.0 (70.1)	NINDS- AIREN, CASI, IQCODE	Less education (<7 Years), Higher education (≥7 Years)	Age, sex, obesity, hypertension, diabetes, stroke, drinking, smoking, education	845	Sex and a sex-age interaction showed significant effects with respect to probable VaD, but not to probable or possible AD or possible VaD.	No description	Yamada et al., 2008
Female	≥60.0 (72.2)				2,105			
Male	≥65.0 (no average age description about male)	NINDS, Association Internationale pour la Recherche et l'Enseignement en Neuroscience's criteria, CDR scale, DSM-III-R	Education (number of years of schooling)	Age, sex, education in years, apolipoprotein E4 allele, hypertension, high cholesterol, diabetes, Prevalence of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular factors, obesity, stroke, CABG, myocardial infarction	1,322	Vascular factors increase risks for AD and VaD differentially by sex.	Adjusted for all covariates listed in the medical risk factors list	Steinberg et al., 2014
Female	≥65.0 (74.0)				1,801			
Male	≥65.0 (no average age description about male)	MMSE, MRI-based evidence of lacunar state or ischemic WMLs, ADL, IADL, HDRS, Stroop T	Education (years)	Sex, hypertension, diabetes, hypercholesterolemia, coronary artery disease, tobacco smoking, atrial fibrillation, neurologic signs, family history, history of depression.	156	Moderate mocha coffee consumption was associated with higher cognition and mood status in non-demented elderly subjects with VCI. No description regarding relation of sex.	No description	Fisicaro et al., 202

(Continued)

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Sex	Age in years (Average age)	Diagnostic criteria	Education and marital status	Medical risk factors	Subjects	Key findings	Adjusted variables	References
Female	≥65.0 (no average age description about female)				144			
Male	16–102 (no average age description about male and/or female)	The Cross-Cultural Cognitive Examination and National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association Alzheimer's criteria	_	Sex, type 2 diabetes, lifestyle, cigarette smoking, and obesity	2,310,330 individuals, and 102,174 dementia case patients (no separate male and female number description)	Women with diabetes had a 19% greater risk for the development of vascular dementia than men.		Chatterjee et al., 2016
Female								
Male		STROBE, ARIC, CARDIA, CHS, FOS, NOMAS.	Education (≤8th grade, grades 9–11, completed high school, some college but no degree, ≥College graduate)	Age, race, education, alcoholic, cigarette smoking, any physical activity, BMI, waist circumference, history of arial fibrillation, LDL cholesterol, antihypertensive medication,	11 775	The results of this cohort study suggest that women may have greater cognitive reserve but faster cognitive decline than men, which could contribute to sex differences in late-life dementia.	No description	Levine et al., 2021
Female					14 313			

MMSE, Mini-Mental Status Examination; GMS-B, Geriatric Mental State B; AGECAT, Automated Geriatric Examination for Computer Assisted Taxonomy; HAS, History and Aetiology Schedule; bADL's, Katz's Index for basic activities of daily living; IADL's, the Lawton and Brody scale for instrumental activities of Daily Living Scale; EURODEM, European Studies of Dementia; GMS, Geriatric Mental State Examination; CAMCOG, Cambridge Examination of Mental Disorders Cognitive Test; CASI, Cognitive Abilities Screening Instrument; IQCODE, Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly; CABG, Coronary Artery Bypass Graft surgery; NINDS, National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke; CDR, Clinical Dementia Rating; WMLs, White Matter Lesions; ADL, Activities of Daily Living; IADL, Instrumental Activities of Daily Living; HDRS, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; STROBE, Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology; ARIC, Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study; CARDIA, Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults Study, CHS, Cardiovascular Health Study; FOS, Framingham Offspring Study; NOMAS, Northerm Manhattan Study.

(PD) (Kim et al., 2018). Therefore, studies are needed to investigate sex-specific differences, which can help understand the pathophysiology of dementia and identify potential therapeutic targets for both sexes. In response to variables that promote either positive or negative neuroplasticity, an individual's overall cognitive state might change over time. The physiological ability of the brain to establish and strengthen dendritic connections, cause good morphological changes, and boost cognitive reserve is referred to as positive neuroplasticity. Negative neuroplasticity refers to the same physiological ability of the brain to atrophy and weaken dendritic connections, produce detrimental morphological changes, and decrease cognitive reserve. Many factors promote positive or negative neuroplasticity including sex. Though women showing a greater risk of AD at later ages (Lin and Doraiswamy, 2014), it has been suggested that diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment (MCI)

may be delayed in females, which may be responsible for the possible increased risk for MCI seen in males. Specifically, despite identical levels of neurodegeneration, females perform better in verbal memory than males (Sundermann et al., 2016a,b). This study shows that women have a cognitive reserve in this area, delaying the onset of abnormalities until higher levels of disease are present. Although the correlations are varied and multifaceted, there are sex differences in dementia. A study done in rats provides another example, showing that sex variations in neuroplasticity are the response of hippocampal neurogenesis to prolonged estradiol therapy (Barker and Galea, 2008).

With the prevalence of cardiovascular disease in recent years, the risk of VaD is also on the rise. Besides just simply having any form of cardiovascular disease, other factors can help contribute to developing VaD in some indirect ways. Sex can influence the occurrence of VaD, and there are trends that VaD follows between the sexes. Some studies have shown a difference in how the prevalence of VaD is altered by a person's biological sex (Andersen et al., 1999; Podcasy and Epperson, 2016). The occurrence of dementia and the reasons for differences between the different sexes are complex. Like all dementia diagnoses, the symptoms can vary and are often caused by complex factors. There may not be a particular reason but a culmination of multiple factors at a personal level. For example, a woman experiencing menopause could also be experiencing symptoms of other health conditions that accumulate and lead to a higher risk of VaD (Robusto-Leitao and Ferreira, 2006; Yamada et al., 2008). Her risk is possibly higher than a male of similar age who only has hypertension. Additionally, another factor to consider besides age category risks is that females live 6+ years longer than males on average, so their occurrence of VaD is higher based on longevity (Robusto-Leitao and Ferreira, 2006). These factors only consider physical factors, there may be many more, including educational level and socioeconomic status, etc. These additional factors can be attributed to a more social environment aspect of VaD. For example, the opportunities available for women vary in the sense of a generational gap. Females were placed into a social role of caretaking the household and had less physically demanding work roles than men (Hörder et al., 2018). Therefore, the risk of VaD could increase for women. Also, the occurrence of smoking has changed with time, it was less socially acceptable for women to smoke tobacco and other products but in recent years the number of female smokers has increased. These factors lead to a higher vascular risk and could be directly related to higher dementia cases in women in the long run (Zhong et al., 2015). Lastly, the sex differences noted in dementia are not really prominent until after the age of 80, and that is only consistent in studies done in the United States (Podcasy and Epperson, 2016; Levine et al., 2021). Other studies in Europe show a sex difference in VaD early on, indicating that the occurrence of VaD can be influenced by external factors (Hasselgren et al., 2020). It is highly likely that each VaD diagnosis is unique and is a combination of both social and physical factors that affect an individual's neurobiology (Table 2).

## Pre-existing Health Conditions/Family History Risk Factors for VaD

Perhaps one of the most common risk factors with any disease or condition is family history. A person's family history can indicate common trends and probabilities about a person's health, indicating what kind of lifestyle is best suited to everyone's needs. Indirectly a family history of cardiovascular disease can put a person, regardless of their sex, at a disadvantage for developing VaD because CVD is a hereditary risk factor that becomes a more significant risk factor for VaD (Treiber et al., 2008; Vijayan and Reddy, 2016). In terms of family history there are not many direct links of inherited conditions that can contribute directly to VaD. The only direct familial link to VaD occurs with gene variants and specific gene mutations (Lin et al., 2019). Additionally, the pre-existing health conditions that can contribute to VaD are smoking, obesity, hyperlipidemia, and old age (Tariq and Barber, 2018). Moreover, the factors mentioned are not specific to one sex but have been sorted by the sex in which the factor is more dominant (Podcasy and Epperson, 2016).

#### **Risk Factors for Males and Females**

The cardiovascular risk for VaD in women is less than that of men, but the prevalence varies (Steinberg et al., 2014). In the United States, men have a greater risk of having a heart attack and are twice more likely to have a heart attack than a women, yet the risk for CVD/heart disease is similar (Maas and Appelman, 2010). For smoking, worldwide, the trend has been consistent with men in developed countries smoking less than men in developing countries (Pampel, 2006). The use of tobacco products restricted to just the United States indicates that men smoke slightly more than women.

Researchers discovered a significant difference in age and education among the four groups of subjects based on their daily mocha coffee consumption. However, the General Regression Model revealed that the associations between coffee consumption and cognition and mood were independent of socio-demographic variables (Fisicaro et al., 2021). In terms of the sex-related effect, an earlier prospective study (Shinoda et al., 2015) of 455 participants (314 men) found that male drinkers had a lower incidence of small vessel disease than male nondrinkers and occasional drinkers, while female drinkers had a lower incidence of white matter lesions (WMLs) than female non-drinkers or occasional drinkers.

Obesity as a risk factor is prevalent in women, and overall globally, women tend to be more obese than men, but not in highly developed countries. The risk for smoking is also directly inverted for women. Women in developed countries, smoking more than currently developing countries. However, the gap within the United States of men and women smoking varies only by about 3% (Mackay and Amos, 2003). Lastly, in terms of hyperlipidemia (Davidson et al., 2002) and anxiety (Santabárbara et al., 2020) condition, even though men have a higher risk for VaD, and it is thought of as a man's disease, women are still at risk for high cholesterol, and the risk increases in women after menopause or early menopause. It is believed that younger women (or just generally those who have not reached menopause yet) are protected from more cardiovascular events than men due to the presence of high estrogen (El Khoudary et al., 2020).

#### **Overlapping Risk Factors**

As previously mentioned, there is no specific family history indicative of a high probability of developing VaD, besides CVD. However, there is not a significant difference between males and females in this area. The percentage of lifestyle-influenced risk factors that contribute to VaD in the United States is mentioned in **Table 3** (Whitmer et al., 2007; Gannon et al., 2019; Lewis et al., 2021). With these factors, other factors interrelated to family histories like gene variants and gene mutations can help contribute to VaD.

## Gene Variants as a Risk Factor for VaD

Much work has been done on gene variants in AD, and the effects of these genes in VaD have been rendered. The leading players in VaD include a mutation in the Notch Receptor 3

#### TABLE 2 | General risk factors of VaD.

Vascular dementia common risk factors				
Genetics	Genetics can cause VaD depending on the presence of certain gene variants. This includes ApoE alleles and TDP43.			
Obesity	Obesity leads to VaD due to higher blood pressure. Over time this can cause ventricular enlargement and atherosclerosis.			
Hyperlipidemia	Hyperlipidemia blocks blood flow to the brain which overtime increases the chances of developing VaD.			
Diabetes	Type II diabetes is highly associated with VaD because of abnormal blood flow to the brain. Type I is associated but not as highly as Type II.			
Hypertension	Hypertension increases the risk of stroke which is a huge risk factor for VaD.			
Stroke	Stroke impedes blood flow to areas of the brain. The oxygen deprivation destroys the brain tissue.			
Atherosclerosis	Atherosclerosis prevents blood from reaching the brain fully. This deprives the tissue of the oxygen and nutrients.			
Atrial Fibrillation	Atrial fibrillation carries and increased risk of stroke which is directly linked to vascular dementia.			
Aging	Aging can increase the chance of VaD because there is a higher risk of atherosclerosis, heart attack and strokes.			
Smoking	Smoking increases the risk of stroke but additionally toxins in cigarette smoke cause oxidative stress and inflammation, both associated with VaD.			

All these factors can overlap and when combined the risk of developing VaD increases.

(NOTCH3) gene, which is directly responsible for one form of VaD, and Apolipoprotein E (APOE) variants (Skoog et al., 1998; Thomas et al., 2000; Cho et al., 2021). NOTCH3 is directly linked to cerebral autosomal dominant arteriopathy with subcortical infarcts and leukoencephalopathy also known as CADASIL (Papakonstantinou et al., 2019). CADASIL is considered a very rare disease and has been recorded across all ethnic groups thus far (Kalaria et al., 2004). It is most often caused by a missense mutation but can alternatively be caused by null mutations or homozygous mutations. The symptoms of CADASIL include smaller cerebral vessels which in turn cause strokes, mood disturbances, and of course VaD (Dichgans, 2002). The other gene attributed as a risk factor for VaD is APOE and its variants (Skillbäck et al., 2018; Montagne et al., 2020). APOE has different variants denoted by e2 (APOE2), e3 (APOE3), and e4 (APOE4).

Astrocytes predominantly express APOE variants (APOE4) in the brain, cell types that are now recognized to play critical roles in largely lipid distribution, cerebrovascular function amyloid deposition, Tau phosphorylation, mitochondrial dysfunction (Fernandez et al., 2019), as depicted in Figure 3. Most of the research surrounding APOE has been centered around AD, however, the same relationships established between APOE and AD apply to VaD but in a lesser magnitude (Alam et al., 2014). For example, APOE4 has been the most prominent contributor to AD, and when two copies of the APOE4 allele are present the risk for AD increases 15-fold. This increase is directly analogous to VaD because the same APOE e4 variant is the same variant that influences the risk for VaD. However, the effect is weaker and does not increase the risk as dramatically as 15-fold (Rohn, 2014).

#### **Risk Factors for Males and Females**

Males have a decreased risk of VaD in carrying an APOE4 variant even if the male is homozygous, the link between APOE

TABLE 3   Percentage of lifestyle influenced risk factors that contribute to VaD.			
	Males	Females	
Obesity	35%	40.4%	
Hyperlipidemia	28.5%	8.9%	
Smoking	16.7%	13.6%	

and AD/VaD is well established with females and not males (Rasmussen et al., 2018). This is such an important factor that even most studies involving tracing APOE to dementia are done with female mice (Adeosun et al., 2019). Most literature also supports that APOE2 and APOE3 are neutral factors in males developing VaD (Folin et al., 2004; Bell et al., 2012). In terms of the mutation for CADASIL, men have equal risk, but the symptoms of CADASIL affect men differently (Ruitenberg et al., 2001; Singhal et al., 2004). Men have more strokes on average than women at a younger age and retain cognitive ability better than women after a certain age (typically when comparing the sexes before menopause). APOE4 carries the highest risk for women developing dementia, especially for women who are homozygotes and carry two e4 alleles (Molero et al., 2001; Davidson et al., 2006). It is estimated that the risk increases 10fold for VaD and an earlier onset of dementia if a person is homozygous. APOE2 is the least common allele but provides a protective effect against dementia and cognitive decline in women (Volgman et al., 2019). CADASIL affects women mainly by increasing the occurrence of frequent migraines accompanied by vision impairment (Rufa et al., 2004; Guey et al., 2016). This is most prevalent until the age of menopause and then cognitive impairment becomes more evident. The occurrence of psychiatric symptoms and migraines increase after menopause, but women, however. have a decreased rate of strokes in comparison to men (Bushnell et al., 2014).

#### **Overlapping in Gene Variants**

Overall, both males and females have an equivalent risk of having CADASIL. The symptoms do vary, and that aspect is dictated by the age of the male or female. There also was no inconsistency between sex and the type of mutations that caused CADASIL (Mizuno et al., 2020). When it comes to APOE as a contributor to VaD, however, there is a significant difference between males and females (Molero et al., 2001). Females have a higher risk than males when it comes to having variant APOE4 and females had a decreased risk when they carried APOE2. Males had a generally neutral experience when carrying alleles of APOE2 and APOE3. Lastly, APOE4 was not shown to be as much of an indicator in males for VaD as much as females (Molero et al., 2001; Li et al., 2017).



## Aging as a Risk Factor

Aging is one of the leading and highest risk factors of VaD because of the association of adiponectin (Song et al., 2014). Adiponectin is a protein hormone secreted by adipose tissue (fat cells). In aging, adiponectin plasma levels decrease, leading to an increased risk of CVD and diabetes, considered a risk factor of VaD (Song et al., 2014; Chatterjee et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2019). Additionally, adiponectin plays a massive role in cognitive dysfunction by controlling the insulin signal transduction in the brain (Rizzo et al., 2020). An epidemiology study implies that there is an exponential increase in dementia after the age of 65 by double around every 5 years. However, for participants aged 90 and older, dementia doubles every 5 years for females but not males (Corrada et al., 2010).

Vascular dementia and multi-infarct dementia are most common in males but have a higher gravity of impact in females. The study concluded that stroke prevalence, whether ischemic or hemorrhagic, was 44% greater in males than in females worldwide. Also, males experience their first strokes at a younger age than females (68.6 vs. 72.9 years) (Persky et al., 2010; Girijala et al., 2017). Although males' first stroke experience might be at a younger age than females, females have a higher risk of lifetime stroke because of their longer life expectancy, which also increases the risk of stroke with age (Reeves et al., 2008).

# Hormone Fluctuations as a Risk Factor

Studies have been done to investigate the controversy between correlating estrogen changes to cognitive impairment, which causes VaD (Ali et al., 2018). The reason for this occurrence is the sudden downfall of estrogen in women during menopause; this happens to be one of the significant risk factors and the root prevalence of VaD in postmenopausal females. Furthermore, a few studies concluded that estrogen deficiency in postmenopausal women is indeed one of the risk factors, causing cognitive deficit that can lead to VaD (Robusto-Leitao and Ferreira, 2006). The four-core genotype (FCG) model is used to separate the contributions of sex hormones and sex chromosome complement (Bushnell et al., 2018). The sex determining SRY gene is relocated from the Y chromosome to an autosome in this scenario, allowing XX males (XXM) and XY females (XYF) to be produced. Because the created XXM have a hormonal status like that of XY males (and vice versa for XYF and XX females), a comparison between the two provides for a better understanding of chromosome vs. hormone impacts. In addition, sex chromosomes have received little consideration in connection to the pathogenesis of dementia (Rocca et al., 2014). Women have two copies of chromosome X, one from their mother and one from their father. The androgen receptor and many proteins involved in mitochondrial function, adipose tissue

distribution, apoptosis, and sensitivity to hypoxia are among the approximately 1,600 genes (about 155 million base pairs) on the X-chromosome (Wise et al., 2013). In female cells, most of the genes expressed on one of the two X-chromosomes are inactivated to avoid a genetic overload (Brown et al., 1991). As a result, X-chromosome inactivation patterns may provide a new viewpoint on the concept of laterality of brain activities in women vs. men.

#### Male vs. Female Hormonal Risk/Benefits

Females seem to be more susceptible overall to dementia than males. The association between sex hormones and VaD is still somewhat unknown in the scientific/medical field. While there is extended gratitude to consider sex as one of the factors of VaD, there are various factors that might distinctively impact females, such as pregnancy and reproductive history.

A study was focused on a comparison between serum sex hormone levels among VaD patients (males and females) and normal (controls) individuals to bridging the gap between sex hormones level and cognitive and neuropsychiatric manifestations of VaD (Xing et al., 2013). The results of the study showed that the testosterone and sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) levels were lower in male VaD patients, and the estradiol levels were found to be higher in female VaD patients in comparison to the controls. The study concluded that there were no correlations between hormone levels and neuropsychiatric symptoms in male VaD patients, whereas total estradiol (TE2) and testosterone (TT) levels were positively correlated in female VaD patients. Estrogens influence the function and pathophysiology of cerebral circulation. Estrogen decreases cerebral vascular tone and increases cerebral blood flow by enhancing endothelial-derived nitric oxide and prostacyclin pathways (Krause et al., 2006). In addition, however, blood vessels produce inflammatory factors that could contribute to VaD pathology. One study suggests that estrogens and their receptors may regulate the neuroinflammatory response, and in females, circulating estrogens may play a protective, antiinflammatory role (Villa et al., 2016). Thus, estrogen preserves vascular function and neuroinflammatory response could be directly relevant to VaD.

Another study on animal models suggests that young adult male mice had worse pathological and functional outcomes following cerebral ischemia than females, which is consistent with clinical studies suggesting that high-androgen levels enhance stroke risk in younger populations (Abi-Ghanem et al., 2020). These sex differences could be due to sex hormones or sex chromosomal complement.

#### Hormone Therapy Risks/Benefits for VaD

Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) can be used for a variety of reasons, even to deal with symptoms of the menopause. As previously mentioned, women have protection against forms of dementia due to their high estrogen levels. Once menopause is reached, however, those estrogen levels deplete. In these cases, women can have added protection against VaD despite their initial lower estrogen. A few studies finding a correlation have analyzed the relationship between HRT, AD and VaD specifically. One study achieved that estradiol-based HRT was associated with a reduced risk of death both from VaD and AD, but the risk reduction was larger and appeared sooner in VaD than AD (Mikkola et al., 2017). In a few studies, the use of estrogen postmenopause decreased the user's risk for dementia and improved cognitive decline (Yaffe et al., 1998). Another study suggested that the prior use of estrogen was more effective in combating dementia and cognitive decline as opposed to using HRT during post-menopause (Henderson, 2008). Most types of HRT increase the risk of breast, ovarian and, womb cancer (D'Alonzo et al., 2019). But the risk is higher for those using combined HRT, which uses both estrogen and progestogen. The risk of cancer due to HRT can also vary from person to person. Things such as what age you are when you first start taking HRT, other medicines you may be taking, and your general health can impact the risk. People who begin HRT before or soon after menopause may have a bigger risk than those who start HRT later (Beral et al., 2011). In one such study, HRT was analyzed in postmenopausal women and the results indicated that HRT contributed to vascular risk factors including stroke and could not sufficiently demonstrate benefits for postmenopausal women regarding dementia (Hogervorst et al., 2000). The results are clearly divided for the use of HRT, but the main conclusion most studies come to is that HRT can be beneficial if used within a proper time frame to protect postmenopausal women from dementia forms.

#### **Environmental Factors as a Risk Factor**

The physical risk factors of VaD are only one aspect of the cause. VaD can arise due to many factors but one class of factors that are often overlooked are the environmental factors which often can dictate some of the other more tangible, direct factors (Killin et al., 2016). Some environmental risk factors include air quality elements, toxic heavy metals, trace elements, known occupational hazards, electrical/magnetic fields, and a few others (Killin et al., 2016; Bellou et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2019). These different environmental factors have been shown to have strong effects in propagating dementia (**Table 4**).

The factors listed in the table are the highest environmental factors that have a link to VaD, and they all are produced in different ways, some of which cannot be simply avoided. These factors can trickle down, and most likely do not directly affect the development of VaD but can exacerbate other existing risk factors. For example, the use of herbicides, pesticides, insecticides, and fertilizers are commonly used in farming practices all over the world, many of these are known endocrine disruptors that increased the risk of developing dementia (Kamel and Hoppin, 2004).

Other less obvious environmental factors can include weather patterns that govern a certain area as well as Vitamin D level deficiencies from lack of sunlight exposure (Sommer et al., 2017). The area in which a person lives can also influence the risk of VaD. For example, one study done in China indicated that in areas with less particulate that the people in those areas had a reduced occurrence of cerebrovascular events (Cai et al., 2018). Reduced risk of cerebrovascular events decreases the risk of VaD because if harmful vascular events do not occur, there is no disruption

Environmental factor	Factor	How it is produced/or used		
Air Quality	Nitrous Oxides	Combustion, especially in areas of high motor vehicle use		
	Ozone	UV Radiation reactions with oxygen and sometimes nitrogen oxides		
Toxic Metals	Arsenic	Industrial use in mining and ore smelting		
	Aluminum	Industrial mining and smelting		
Trace Elements	Silicon/Silica	Industrial silicon and silica working introduces fine particles into the air		
	Selenium	mining/oil refining		
Work Hazards	Pesticides/Herbicides/ insecticides/fertilizers	General farming and crop production, can be endocrine disrupting		
	Solvents/degreasing agents	Industrial grade chemical for various work trades		

to brain tissue. Another study showed that with extremely low vitamin D levels patients were more likely to develop VaD and more likely to develop vascular events that perpetuated the occurrence of VaD (Chai et al., 2019). Another study indicated that warmer and wetter weather conditions provided for a better foundation for stroke patients to recover fully (Chen et al., 2013). This is important because stroke is one of the major contributors to VaD (Vijayan and Reddy, 2016). By making a full recovery from a stroke the risk of VaD is mitigated. Lastly, in one study air pollution and noise were linked to a progression of dementia in London, England (Carey et al., 2018). These results were more consistent with an AD diagnosis but there was a fair amount of VaD cases present as well.

## ACCESSIBLE TREATMENTS FOR VaD

#### **Pharmaceutical Treatments**

Many drug categories have been used as a treatment for VaD patients. Some of these drug categories are vasodilators, calcium channel blockers, antiplatelet, etc. (Romàn, 2000; Chabriat and Bousser, 2006; Nimmrich and Eckert, 2013; Table 5). One of the most effective and standard treatment are cholinesterase inhibitors (Bullock, 2004). Cholinesterase inhibitors work by inhibiting acetylcholinesterase, which is accountable for clearing acetylcholine, a neurotransmitter responsible for muscle contractions, blood vessel dilation, and regulating heart rate. With the cholinesterase inhibited, the acetylcholine concentrations rise and lead to better communication between the nerve cells in the brain. An artificial increase in acetylcholine levels by physostigmine, an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor that increases the extracellular acetylcholine levels, impairs memory consolidation and rescue in rodent and human subjects (Haam and Yakel, 2017). Vasodilation drugs work mainly in preventing constriction of the blood vessels anywhere in the body and allowing greater blood flow. However, calcium channel blockers prevent calcium from entering the cells

in the heart, vascular smooth muscle, and pancreas by lowering the blood pressure. Aspirin is a popular antiplatelet drug that works by blocking the movement of the cyclooxygenase chemical (COX) via the prostaglandin synthesis pathway (PGH2) (Warner et al., 2011; Ornelas et al., 2017).

The drugs that are mentioned in the table above are only the pharmaceutical treatments for VaD (Olivares et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2015). There have been a few studies indicating alternative treatments that have had success. The alternative and homeopathic treatments mostly treat the symptoms of the VaD but occasionally can treat the vascular underlying conditions (McCarney et al., 2003). A study done in 2018 concluded that acupuncture could in fact help to treat VaD and it generally worked by boosting the metabolism of glucose and oxygen, contributing to anti-oxidative stress reactions, and acted as an anti-apoptotic agent (Zhu et al., 2018). In another study, aromatherapy essential oils (rotated lemon, rosemary, lavender, and orange oils) were given to dementia patients topically throughout the day for a period of 28 days (Jimbo et al., 2009). After 28 days the aromatherapy was shown to have improved the patient's personal orientation and cognition. This improvement in the patients could be applied specifically to VaD and the treatment proved to be an efficacious non-pharmacological treatment. Music therapy was analyzed for its effect on dementia patients indicated that having at least 5 music therapy sessions a day reduced depression and generally improved the quality of life of dementia patients (van der Steen et al., 2018). The effects of music therapy on actual cognitive function were unknown, however. Lastly, art therapy was another means of homeopathic therapy, functioned similarly to music therapy in that it improved the patient's quality of life (Deshmukh et al., 2018). The actual cognitive function could not be measured but the therapy improved neuropsychiatric symptoms of dementia patients. While homeopathic remedies are a reasonable alternative, they tend to focus on the symptoms rather than the triggers. The causes of risk factors might be discussed in order to completely eliminate the risk of VaD. Thus far, there is no drug available related to sex/gender and therefore, the development of pharmaceutical treatment for VaD has become an essential but unmet need.

## **Elimination of Risk Factors**

Eliminating a risk factor should zero in on a reduction of the major causes of VaD such as stroke, and CVD, with consideration regarding controlling of the other risk factors. One of the biggest risk factors for VaD is arterial hypertension (Paglieri et al., 2004). Arterial hypertension is the main cause of 50% of strokes regardless of the pathogenic mechanism involved. Also, lower blood pressure decreases the risk of VaD by 55% (Sierra, 2020). Indeed, the primary prevention focus is to decrease the prevalence of VaD by early and optimum treatment for stroke and CVD by targeting high-risk groups such as the elderly, hypertensive patients, diabetes patients, smokers, past transient ischemic attack or stroke survivors, hypercholesterolemia patients, and atrial fibrillation patients (Vijayan and Reddy, 2016).
Drug classes	Drugs	Effects
Cholinesterase inhibitors	Donepezil, Galantamine, Rivastigmine	Safe and effective in reducing the progression of VaD in addressing the behavioral problems.
Vasodilators	Niacin (nicotinic acid), Cyclandelate, Papaverine, Isoxsuprine, Cinnarizine, Buflomedil, Naftidrofuryl, Ergoloid mesylates, Acetazolamide	Have shown to be less effective in treating VaD compared to cortical dementias like Alzheimer's.
Calcium channel blockers	Nimodipine	Moderately effective for short term in treating cerebrovascular disease and other types of dementia.
N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) antagonists	Nicardipine	Improvement of cognitive deterioration
NMDA antagonists	Memantine	Improve cognition consistently across different cognitive scales, with at least no deterioration in global functioning and behavior.
Nootropic agents	Piracetam, Nicergoline, Oxiracetam Citicoline, Pentoxifylline	have beneficial effects for patients with dementia in prolonging their survival.
Antiplatelet agents	Aspirin, Triflusal, Ginkgo biloba	Reduce/prevent the occurrence of stroke.

The primary prevention aims to minimize dementia in the population by advising lifestyle changes such as the control of diabetes and hypertension (Eggink et al., 2019). The secondary prevention methods aim to mark stroke management and the prevention of recurrent stroke (Lip and Kalra, 2010). This has shown a 50% decrease in the risk of dementia in those with previous stroke experiences and a 16% decrease in those without stroke experiences in patients without cognitive impairment (Lo Coco et al., 2016).

The specific ways that dementia patients or dementia patient caregivers are prescribed to help reduce symptoms include lifestyle changes. These lifestyle changes are aimed at improving the vascular health of the body to reduce any kind of negative events like stroke or heart attack. The methods include diet changes, incorporating exercise either vigorous or more passive, cognitive therapy, and management of vascular issues like hypertension through medication. A research study published in 2016 demonstrated the effectiveness of integrating exercise into a stroke rehabilitation environment (Winstein et al., 2016). Stroke patients who included moderate aerobic activity and environmental enrichment in their treatment plans had higher recovery rates and, in some cases, spontaneous recovery. Another research published in 2018 found that incorporating passive exercise into a dementia patient's everyday routine resulted in substantial improvements in quality of life and activities of daily living (Zucchella et al., 2018). Most of the patients in this study improved their cognitive and physical functioning. A study done in Finland called the FINGER trial was aimed at improving the outcomes in VaD patients through a total reset of the patient's lifestyle (Kivipelto et al., 2020). With regular medical advice, intervention (diet, exercise, vascular risk management, lifestyle guidance, intellectual training, social activities, cognitive training, prevent head injury, stop smoking, reduce air pollution), and multi-domain intervention, cognitive function was partially restored. Another method to reduce symptoms of VaD includes cognitive therapy was done in 2019 aimed to test individuals with mild to moderate VaD and to view if there were any cognitive changes (Peng, 2019). There was no net improvement

in the cognition of the dementia patients, but of those that had caregivers, the moods of the caregivers were improved and in turn led to a better mood and outlook for the dementia patients. As for medication, several drugs have been prescribed to treat VaD after the risk factors have been addressed. Since zinc deficiencies play a critical role in neurodegenerative diseases, a study published in 2018 found that carnosine and zinc, which are commonly used as a supplement to treat gastric ulcers, may be used as a future remedy for VaD (Kawahara et al., 2018). Lastly, in a study done in 2016, amlodipine, a common hypertension treatment was given to VaD patients (Fares et al., 2016). There was a slight improvement in the symptoms of VaD patients. Even though there is little research on non-traditional therapies, there is still a lot of importance in looking into the options with VaD since there is no standardized care. VaD is very challenging to treat, and this is partially due to a lack of understanding of the full pathophysiology.

### CONCLUSION

With the rise of VaD cases across the globe, it is easy to see why researchers have taken an interest in its risk factors. An overlooked factor is often sex and gender. In this review, we explored the impact of sex/gender differences on VaD, including how they affect these risk factors: preexisting health conditions and family history, gene variants, aging, hormone fluctuations, and environmental risk factors. Improvements in the following areas may help to reduce the prevalence of VaD: (1) stroke prevention in hypertensive patients, (2) appropriate treatment to prevent or slow atherosclerosis progression, (3) a better understanding of the relationship between menopause and hypertension control, and (4) efforts to reduce neurological complications associated with cardiac procedures, (5) avoiding poorly timed hormone replacement therapy (6) evading potentially dangerous drugs that impair memory and cognition, and (6) developing therapy targets based on a better understanding of the molecular function of the apolipoprotein E4 genotype in dementia. These all play a significant role in developing VaD and additionally should be monitored to reduce the risk. When it comes to sex and gender there is not a fine line between how VaD presents itself. VaD is a multidimensional illness with many different moving pieces, and every case of VaD has its risk factors that can be attributed to a plethora of lifestyle factors and chance. Future research should be focused on treating VaD by assessing the occurrence of risk factors in sex and a variety of other lifestyle indications to create a more tailored treatment plan. If enough research is done, a strong connection between sex and VaD could be discovered, which may aid in improving current therapies and developing unique sex-based treatment plans. Additionally, more research should also be conducted on how socioeconomic factors impact a patient's physiology and how that impacts their ability to develop VaD. This could be important due to how social constructs can dictate health based on sex. For example, females up until recently had a more social role of refraining from smoking to maintain a feminine image. In addition, more research should be planned on possible gene therapies and how the occurrence of VaD affects

### REFERENCES

- Abi-Ghanem, C., Robison, L. S., and Zuloaga, K. L. (2020). Androgens' effects on cerebrovascular function in health and disease. *Biol. Sex Differ*. 11:35.
- Adeosun, S. O., Hou, X., Shi, L., Stockmeier, C. A., Zheng, B., Raffai, R. L., et al. (2019). Female mice with apolipoprotein E4 domain interaction demonstrated impairments in spatial learning and memory performance and disruption of hippocampal cyto-architecture. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 161, 106–114. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2019.03.012
- Alam, R., Tripathi, M., Mansoori, N., Parveen, S., Luthra, K., Lakshmy, R., et al. (2014). Synergistic epistasis of paraoxonase 1 (rs662 and rs85460) and apolipoprotein E4 genes in pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. Am. J. Alzheimers Dis. Other Demen. 29, 769–776. doi: 10.1177/ 1533317514539541
- Ali, S. A., Begum, T., and Reza, F. (2018). Hormonal influences on cognitive function. *Malays. J. Med. Sci.* 25, 31–41.
- Al-Qazzaz, N. K., Ali, S. H., Ahmad, S. A., Islam, S., and Mohamad, K. (2014). Cognitive impairment and memory dysfunction after a stroke diagnosis: a poststroke memory assessment. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 10, 1677–1691. doi: 10.2147/ndt.s67184
- Andersen, K., Launer, L. J., Dewey, M. E., Letenneur, L., Ott, A., Copeland, J. R., et al. (1999). Gender differences in the incidence of AD and vascular dementia: the EURODEM Studies. EURODEM incidence research group. *Neurology* 53, 1992–1997. doi: 10.1212/wnl.53.9.1992
- Arrigo, A., Casale, R., Buonocore, M., and Ciano, C. (1990). Effects of acetyl-Lcarnitine on reaction times in patients with cerebrovascular insufficiency. *Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Res.* 10, 133–137.
- Barker, J. M., and Galea, L. A. (2008). Repeated estradiol administration alters different aspects of neurogenesis and cell death in the hippocampus of female, but not male, rats. *Neuroscience* 152, 888–902. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2007.10.071
- Baskys, A., and Hou, A. C. (2007). Vascular dementia: pharmacological treatment approaches and perspectives. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 2, 327–335.
- Bell, R. D., Winkler, E. A., Singh, I., Sagare, A. P., Deane, R., Wu, Z., et al. (2012). Apolipoprotein E controls cerebrovascular integrity via cyclophilin A. *Nature* 485, 512–516. doi: 10.1038/nature11087
- Bellou, V., Belbasis, L., Tzoulaki, I., Middleton, L. T., Ioannidis, J. P. A., and Evangelou, E. (2017). Systematic evaluation of the associations between environmental risk factors and dementia: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Alzheimers Dement*. 13, 406–418. doi: 10.1016/j. jalz.2016.07.152

the LGBTQ+ community and changes their physiology. This would be particularly salient in studying the occurrence of all types of dementia and VaD in the transgender population and for individuals that use hormone replacement therapies. Lastly, future trials must examine sex-specific differences to improve our understanding of how CVD affects cognitive impairment in women and men.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

FA, AP, and YZ drafted the manuscript and figures. ZZ and DZ proofread and revised the manuscript. DZ gave the final proof for this submission. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health (Grant No. R01AG064798).

- Benisty, S., Hernandez, K., Viswanathan, A., Reyes, S., Kurtz, A., O'Sullivan, M., et al. (2008). Diagnostic criteria of vascular dementia in CADASIL. *Stroke* 39, 838–844. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.107.490672
- Beral, V., Reeves, G., Bull, D., and Green, J. (2011). Breast cancer risk in relation to the interval between menopause and starting hormone therapy. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 103, 296–305. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djq527
- Brown, C. J., Ballabio, A., Rupert, J. L., Lafreniere, R. G., Grompe, M., Tonlorenzi, R., et al. (1991). A gene from the region of the human X inactivation centre is expressed exclusively from the inactive X chromosome. *Nature* 349, 38–44. doi: 10.1038/349038a0
- Bullock, R. (2004). Cholinesterase inhibitors and vascular dementia: another string to their bow? CNS drugs 18, 79–92. doi: 10.2165/00023210-200418020-00002
- Bushnell, C. D., Chaturvedi, S., Gage, K. R., Herson, P. S., Hurn, P. D., Jiménez, M. C., et al. (2018). Sex differences in stroke: challenges and opportunities. . *Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 38, 2179–2191.
- Bushnell, C., McCullough, L. D., Awad, I. A., Chireau, M. V., Fedder, W. N., Furie, K. L., et al. (2014). Guidelines for the prevention of stroke in women: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke* 45, 1545–1588.
- Cai, J., Yu, S., Pei, Y., Peng, C., Liao, Y., Liu, N., et al. (2018). Association between airborne fine particulate matter and Residents' cardiovascular diseases, ischemic heart disease and cerebral vascular disease mortality in areas with lighter air pollution in China. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 15:1918. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph15091918
- Carey, I. M., Anderson, H. R., Atkinson, R. W., Beevers, S. D., Cook, D. G., Strachan, D. P., et al. (2018). Are noise and air pollution related to the incidence of dementia? A cohort study in London, England. *BMJ open* 8, e022404. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-022404
- Caruso, P., Signori, R., and Moretti, R. (2019). Small vessel disease to subcortical dementia: a dynamic model, which interfaces aging, cholinergic dysregulation and the neurovascular unit. *Vasc. Health Risk Manag.* 15, 259–281. doi: 10.2147/vhrm.s190470
- Chabriat, H., and Bousser, M. G. (2006). Vascular dementia: potential of antiplatelet agents in prevention. *Eur. Neurol.* 55, 61–69. doi: 10.1159/000091981
- Chai, B., Gao, F., Wu, R., Dong, T., Gu, C., Lin, Q., et al. (2019). Vitamin D deficiency as a risk factor for dementia and Alzheimer's disease: an updated meta-analysis. *BMC Neurol*. 19:284. doi: 10.1186/s12883-019-1500-6
- Chatterjee, S., Peters, S. A., Woodward, M., Mejia Arango, S., Batty, G. D., Beckett, N., et al. (2016). Type 2 diabetes as a risk factor for dementia in women compared with men: a pooled analysis of 2.3 million people comprising more than 100,000 cases of dementia. *Diabetes Care* 39, 300–307.

- Chen, R., Shu, Y., and Zeng, Y. (2019). Links between adiponectin and dementia: from risk factors to pathophysiology. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 11:356. doi: 10. 3389/fnagi.2019.00356
- Chen, R., Wang, C., Meng, X., Chen, H., Thach, T. Q., Wong, C. M., et al. (2013). Both low and high temperature may increase the risk of stroke mortality. *Neurology* 81, 1064–1070. doi: 10.1212/wnl.0b013e3182a4a43c
- Cho, B. P. H., Nannoni, S., Harshfield, E. L., Tozer, D., Gräf, S., Bell, S., et al. (2021). NOTCH3 variants are more common than expected in the general population and associated with stroke and vascular dementia: an analysis of 200 000 participants. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 92, 694–701. doi: 10.1136/ jnnp-2020-325838
- Choi, H. I., Ryu, C. W., Kim, S., Rhee, H. Y., and Jahng, G. H. (2020). Changes in microvascular morphology in subcortical vascular dementia: a study of vessel size magnetic resonance imaging. *Front. Neurol.* 11:545450. doi: 10.3389/fneur. 2020.545450
- Corrada, M. M., Brookmeyer, R., Paganini-Hill, A., Berlau, D., and Kawas, C. H. (2010). Dementia incidence continues to increase with age in the oldest old: the 90+ study. Ann. Neurol. 67, 114–121. doi: 10.1002/ana.21915
- D'Alonzo, M., Bounous, V. E., Villa, M., and Biglia, N. (2019). Current evidence of the oncological benefit-risk profile of hormone replacement therapy. *Medicina* (*Kaunas, Lithuania*) 55, 573. doi: 10.3390/medicina55090573
- Davidson, M. H., Maki, K. C., Karp, S. K., and Ingram, K. A. (2002). Management of hypercholesterolaemia in postmenopausal women. *Drugs Aging* 19, 169–178. doi: 10.2165/00002512-200219030-00002
- Davidson, Y., Gibbons, L., Purandare, N., Byrne, J., Hardicre, J., Wren, J., et al. (2006). Apolipoprotein E epsilon4 allele frequency in vascular dementia. *Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Dis.* 22, 15–19.
- Debette, S., and Markus, H. S. (2010). The clinical importance of white matter hyperintensities on brain magnetic resonance imaging: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ (Clin. Res. ed.)* 341:c3666. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c3666
- Deshmukh, S. R., Holmes, J., and Cardno, A. (2018). Art therapy for people with dementia. *Cochrane database Syst. Rev.* 9:Cd011073.
- Dichgans, M. (2002). CADASIL: a monogenic condition causing stroke and subcortical vascular dementia. *Cerebrovasc. Dis. (Basel, Switzerland)* 13(Suppl. 2), 37–41. doi: 10.1159/000049148
- Dichgans, M., and Leys, D. (2017). Vascular cognitive impairment. Circ. Res. 120, 573–591.
- Eggink, E., Moll van Charante, E. P., van Gool, W. A., and Richard, E. (2019). A population perspective on prevention of dementia. *J. Clin. Med.* 8, 834. doi: 10.3390/jcm8060834
- El Khoudary, S. R., Aggarwal, B., Beckie, T. M., Hodis, H. N., Johnson, A. E., Langer, R. D., et al. (2020). Menopause transition and cardiovascular disease risk: implications for timing of early prevention: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 142, e506–e532.
- Engelhardt, E. (2017). Apoplexy, cerebrovascular disease, and stroke: historical evolution of terms and definitions. *Dement. Neuropsychol.* 11, 449–453. doi: 10.1590/1980-57642016dn11-040016
- Fares, H., DiNicolantonio, J. J., O'Keefe, J. H., and Lavie, C. J. (2016). Amlodipine in hypertension: a first-line agent with efficacy for improving blood pressure and patient outcomes. *Open Heart* 3:e000473. doi: 10.1136/openhrt-2016-000473
- Fernandez, C. G., Hamby, M. E., McReynolds, M. L., and Ray, W. J. (2019). The role of APOE4 in disrupting the homeostatic functions of astrocytes and microglia in aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 11:14. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019.00014
- Fisicaro, F., Lanza, G., Pennisi, M., Vagli, C., Cantone, M., Pennisi, G., et al. (2021). Moderate mocha coffee consumption is associated with higher cognitive and mood status in a non-demented elderly population with subcortical ischemic vascular disease. *Nutrients* 13:536. doi: 10.3390/nu13020536
- Folin, M., Baiguera, S., Conconi, M. T., Di Liddo, R., De Carlo, E., Parnigotto, P. P., et al. (2004). Apolipoprotein E as vascular risk factor in neurodegenerative dementia. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 14, 609–613.
- Gannon, O. J., Robison, L. S., Custozzo, A. J., and Zuloaga, K. L. (2019). Sex differences in risk factors for vascular contributions to cognitive impairment & dementia. *Neurochemistry international* 127, 38–55. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2018. 11.014
- Girijala, R. L., Sohrabji, F., and Bush, R. L. (2017). Sex differences in stroke: review of current knowledge and evidence. *Vasc. Med. (Lond. Engl.)* 22, 135–145. doi: 10.1177/1358863x16668263

- Glader, E. L., Stegmayr, B., Norrving, B., Terént, A., Hulter-Asberg, K., Wester, P. O., et al. (2003). Sex differences in management and outcome after stroke: a Swedish national perspective. *Stroke* 34, 1970–1975. doi: 10.1161/01.str. 0000083534.81284.c5
- Guey, S., Mawet, J., Hervé, D., Duering, M., Godin, O., Jouvent, E., et al. (2016). Prevalence and characteristics of migraine in CADASIL. *Cephalalgia* 36, 1038– 1047. doi: 10.1177/0333102415620909
- Gunda, B., Hervé, D., Godin, O., Bruno, M., Reyes, S., Alili, N., et al. (2012). Effects of gender on the phenotype of CADASIL. Stroke 43, 137–141. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.111.631028
- Haam, J., and Yakel, J. L. (2017). Cholinergic modulation of the hippocampal region and memory function. J. neurochem. 142 Suppl 2(Suppl 2), 111–121. doi: 10.1111/jnc.14052
- Hachinski, V. C., Lassen, N. A., and Marshall, J. (1974). Multi-infarct dementia. A cause of mental deterioration in the elderly. *Lancet (Lond. Engl.)* 2, 207–210. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(74)91496-2
- Hachinski, V., Einhäupl, K., Ganten, D., Alladi, S., Brayne, C., Stephan, B. C. M., et al. (2019). Preventing dementia by preventing stroke: the Berlin Manifesto. *Alzheimers Dement.* 15, 961–984. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2019.06.001
- Hanyu, H. (2012). [Diagnosis and treatment of mixed dementia]. *Brain Nerve* 64, 1047–1055.
- Hasselgren, C., Ekbrand, H., Halleröd, B., Mellqvist Fässberg, M., Zettergren, A., Johansson, L., et al. (2020). Sex differences in dementia: on the potentially mediating effects of educational attainment and experiences of psychological distress. *BMC Psychiatry* 20:434. doi: 10.1186/s12888-020-02 820-9
- Henderson, V. W. (2008). Cognitive changes after menopause: influence of estrogen. *Clin. Obstet. Gynecol.* 51, 618–626. doi: 10.1097/grf. 0b013e318180ba10
- Hogervorst, E., Williams, J., Budge, M., Riedel, W., and Jolles, J. (2000). The nature of the effect of female gonadal hormone replacement therapy on cognitive function in post-menopausal women: a meta-analysis. *Neuroscience* 101, 485– 512. doi: 10.1016/s0306-4522(00)00410-3
- Hörder, H., Johansson, L., Guo, X., Grimby, G., Kern, S., Östling, S., et al. (2018). Midlife cardiovascular fitness and dementia: a 44-year longitudinal population study in women. *Neurology* 90, e1298–e1305.
- Huang, L. K., Chao, S. P., and Hu, C. J. (2020). Clinical trials of new drugs for Alzheimer disease. J. Biomed. Sci. 27:18.
- Iulita, M. F., and Girouard, H. (2017). Treating hypertension to prevent cognitive decline and dementia: re-opening the debate. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 956, 447–473. doi: 10.1007/5584\_2016\_98
- Jellinger, K. A. (2004). Pathology and pathophysiology of vascular cognitive impairment. A critical update. *Panminerva Med.* 46, 217–226.
- Jian, W. X., Zhang, Z., Zhan, J. H., Chu, S. F., Peng, Y., Zhao, M., et al. (2020). Donepezil attenuates vascular dementia in rats through increasing BDNF induced by reducing HDAC6 nuclear translocation. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* 41, 588–598. doi: 10.1038/s41401-019-0334-5
- Jimbo, D., Kimura, Y., Taniguchi, M., Inoue, M., and Urakami, K. (2009). Effect of aromatherapy on patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Psychogeriatrics* 9, 173–179.
- Kalaria, R. N. (2016). Neuropathological diagnosis of vascular cognitive impairment and vascular dementia with implications for Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* 131, 659–685. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1571-z
- Kalaria, R. N., Akinyemi, R., and Ihara, M. (2016). Stroke injury, cognitive impairment and vascular dementia. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1862, 915–925.
- Kalaria, R. N., and Erkinjuntti, T. (2006). Small vessel disease and subcortical vascular dementia. J. clin. neurol. (Seoul, Korea) 2, 1–11. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2006. 2.1.1
- Kalaria, R. N., Viitanen, M., Kalimo, H., Dichgans, M., and Tabira, T. (2004). The pathogenesis of CADASIL: an update. J. Neurol. Sci. 226, 35–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2004.09.008
- Kamel, F., and Hoppin, J. A. (2004). Association of pesticide exposure with neurologic dysfunction and disease. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 112, 950–958. doi: 10.1289/ehp.7135
- Kandiah, N., Pai, M. C., Senanarong, V., Looi, I., Ampil, E., Park, K. W., et al. (2017). Rivastigmine: the advantages of dual inhibition of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase and its role in subcortical vascular dementia and Parkinson's disease dementia. *Clin. Interven. Aging* 12, 697–707. doi: 10.2147/ cia.s129145

- Kawahara, M., Tanaka, K. I., and Kato-Negishi, M. (2018). Zinc, carnosine, and neurodegenerative diseases. *Nutrients* 10:147. doi: 10.3390/nu10020147
- Kennelly, S. P., Lawlor, B. A., and Kenny, R. A. (2009). Blood pressure and dementia – a comprehensive review. *Ther. Adv. Neurol. Dis.* 2, 241–260. doi: 10.1177/1756285609103483
- Killin, L. O., Starr, J. M., Shiue, I. J., and Russ, T. C. (2016). Environmental risk factors for dementia: a systematic review. *BMC Geriatr.* 16:175. doi: 10.1186/ s12877-016-0342-y
- Kim, M. Y., Kim, K., Hong, C. H., Lee, S. Y., and Jung, Y. S. (2018). Sex differences in cardiovascular risk factors for dementia. *Biomol. Ther.* 26, 521–532. doi: 10.4062/biomolther.2018.159
- Kivipelto, M., Mangialasche, F., Snyder, H. M., Allegri, R., Andrieu, S., Arai, H., et al. (2020). World-Wide FINGERS network: a global approach to risk reduction and prevention of dementia. *Alzheimers Dement.* 16, 1078–1094.
- Korczyn, A. D., Vakhapova, V., and Grinberg, L. T. (2012). Vascular dementia. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 322, 2–10.
- Krause, D. N., Duckles, S. P., and Pelligrino, D. A. (2006). Influence of sex steroid hormones on cerebrovascular function. J. Appl. Physiol. (Bethesda, Md 101, 1252–1261. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01095.2005
- Lechner, H., and Bertha, G. (1991). Multi-infarct dementia. J. Neural Transm. Suppl. 33, 49-52.
- Lee, A. Y. (2011). Vascular dementia. Chonnam Med. J. 47, 66-71.
- Levine, D. A., Gross, A. L., Briceño, E. M., Tilton, N., Giordani, B. J., Sussman, J. B., et al. (2021). Sex differences in cognitive decline among US adults. *JAMA Netw. Open* 4:e210169.
- Lewis, C. R., Talboom, J. S., De Both, M. D., Schmidt, A. M., Naymik, M. A., Håberg, A. K., et al. (2021). Smoking is associated with impaired verbal learning and memory performance in women more than men. *Sci. Rep.* 11:10248.
- Li, G., Shofer, J. B., Petrie, E. C., Yu, C. E., Wilkinson, C. W., Figlewicz, D. P., et al. (2017). Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers for Alzheimer's and vascular disease vary by age, gender, and APOE genotype in cognitively normal adults. *Alzheimers Res. Ther.* 9:48.
- Lin, K. A., and Doraiswamy, P. M. (2014). When mars versus venus is not a cliché: gender differences in the neurobiology of Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Neurol.* 5:288. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2014.00288
- Lin, Y. F., Smith, A. V., Aspelund, T., Betensky, R. A., Smoller, J. W., Gudnason, V., et al. (2019). Genetic overlap between vascular pathologies and Alzheimer's dementia and potential causal mechanisms. *Alzheimers Dement.* 15, 65–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018.08.002
- Lip, G. Y. H., and Kalra, L. (2010). Stroke: secondary prevention. BMJ Clin. Evid. 2010:0207.
- Lo Coco, D., Lopez, G., and Corrao, S. (2016). Cognitive impairment and stroke in elderly patients. *Vasc. Health Risk Manag.* 12, 105–116. doi: 10.2147/vhrm. s75306
- Lucca, U., Tettamanti, M., Tiraboschi, P., Logroscino, G., Landi, C., Sacco, L., et al. (2020). Incidence of dementia in the oldest-old and its relationship with age: The Monzino 80-plus population-based study. *Alzheimers Dement*. 16, 472–481. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2019.09.083
- Maas, A. H., and Appelman, Y. E. (2010). Gender differences in coronary heart disease. Neth. Heart J. 18, 598–602.
- Mackay, J., and Amos, A. (2003). Women and tobacco. Respirology (Carlton, Vic.) 8, 123–130.
- Malojcic, B., Giannakopoulos, P., Sorond, F. A., Azevedo, E., Diomedi, M., Oblak, J. P., et al. (2017). Ultrasound and dynamic functional imaging in vascular cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *BMC Med.* 15:27. doi: 10.1186/ s12916-017-0799-3
- McCarney, R., Warner, J., Fisher, P., and Van Haselen, R. (2003). Homeopathy for dementia. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* Cd003803.
- McKay, E., and Counts, S. E. (2017). Multi-infarct dementia: a historical perspective. Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Dis. Extra 7, 160–171. doi: 10.1159/ 000470836
- Mikkola, T. S., Savolainen-Peltonen, H., Tuomikoski, P., Hoti, F., Vattulainen, P., Gissler, M., et al. (2017). Lower death risk for vascular dementia than for Alzheimer's disease with postmenopausal hormone therapy users. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 102, 870–877.
- Mizuno, T., Mizuta, I., Watanabe-Hosomi, A., Mukai, M., and Koizumi, T. (2020). Clinical and genetic aspects of CADASIL. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 12:91. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.00091

- Molero, A. E., Pino-Ramírez, G., and Maestre, G. E. (2001). Modulation by age and gender of risk for Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia associated with the apolipoprotein E-epsilon4 allele in Latin Americans: findings from the maracaibo aging study. *Neurosci. Lett.* 307, 5–8. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3940(01) 01911-5
- Montagne, A., Nation, D. A., Sagare, A. P., Barisano, G., Sweeney, M. D., Chakhoyan, A., et al. (2020). APOE4 leads to blood-brain barrier dysfunction predicting cognitive decline. *Nature* 581, 71–76. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2247-3
- Nguyen, D. H., Cunningham, J. T., and Sumien, N. (2021). Estrogen receptor involvement in vascular cognitive impairment and vascular dementia pathogenesis and treatment. *GeroScience* 43, 159–166. doi: 10.1007/s11357-020-00263-4
- Nimmrich, V., and Eckert, A. (2013). Calcium channel blockers and dementia. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 169, 1203–1210.
- O'Brien, J. T., and Thomas, A. (2015). Vascular dementia. Lancet (London, England) 386, 1698–1706.
- Olivares, D., Deshpande, V. K., Shi, Y., Lahiri, D. K., Greig, N. H., Rogers, J. T., et al. (2012). N-methyl D-aspartate (n.d.) receptor antagonists and memantine treatment for Alzheimer's disease, vascular dementia and Parkinson's disease. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 9, 746–758. doi: 10.2174/156720512801322564
- Ornelas, A., Zacharias-Millward, N., Menter, D. G., Davis, J. S., Lichtenberger, L., Hawke, D., et al. (2017). Beyond COX-1: the effects of aspirin on platelet biology and potential mechanisms of chemoprevention. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 36, 289–303. doi: 10.1007/s10555-017-9675-z
- Paglieri, C., Bisbocci, D., Di Tullio, M. A., Tomassoni, D., Amenta, F., and Veglio, F. (2004). Arterial hypertension: a cause of cognitive impairment and of vascular dementia. *Clin. Exp. hypertens. (New York, N.Y. 1993)* 26, 277–285. doi: 10. 1081/ceh-120034134
- Pampel, F. C. (2006). Global patterns and determinants of sex differences in smoking. Int. J. Comp. Sociol. 47, 466–487. doi: 10.1177/0020715206070267
- Papakonstantinou, E., Bacopoulou, F., Brouzas, D., Megalooikonomou, V., D'Elia, D., Bongcam-Rudloff, E., et al. (2019). NOTCH3 and CADASIL syndrome: a genetic and structural overview. *EMBnet.J.* 24:e921. doi: 10.14806/ej.24.0.921
- Pendlebury, S. T., and Rothwell, P. M. (2009). Prevalence, incidence, and factors associated with pre-stroke and post-stroke dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Neurol.* 8, 1006–1018. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(09) 70236-4
- Peng, D. (2019). Clinical practice guideline for cognitive impairment of cerebral small vessel disease. *Aging Med. (Milton (N.S.W))* 2, 64–73. doi: 10.1002/agm2. 12073
- Pennisi, M., Lanza, G., Cantone, M., D'Amico, E., Fisicaro, F., Puglisi, V., et al. (2020). Acetyl-L-carnitine in dementia and other cognitive disorders: a critical update. *Nutrients* 12:1389. doi: 10.3390/nu12051389
- Persky, R. W., Turtzo, L. C., and McCullough, L. D. (2010). Stroke in women: disparities and outcomes. *Curr. Cardiol. Rep.* 12, 6–13. doi: 10.1007/s11886-009-0080-2
- Pimentel, M. L. É (2009). Role of neuropsychological assessment in the differential diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. *Dement. Neuropsychol.* 3, 214–221. doi: 10.1590/s1980-57642009dn30300007
- Pinkston, J. B., Alekseeva, N., and González Toledo, E. (2009). Stroke and dementia. Neurol. Res. 31, 824–831.
- Podcasy, J. L., and Epperson, C. N. (2016). Considering sex and gender in Alzheimer disease and other dementias. *Dialogues Clin. Neurosci.* 18, 437–446. doi: 10.31887/dcns.2016.18.4/cepperson
- Rasmussen, K. L., Tybjærg-Hansen, A., Nordestgaard, B. G., and Frikke-Schmidt, R. (2018). Absolute 10-year risk of dementia by age, sex and APOE genotype: a population-based cohort study. *Can. Med. Assoc. J.* 190, E1033–E1041.
- Reeves, M. J., Bushnell, C. D., Howard, G., Gargano, J. W., Duncan, P. W., Lynch, G., et al. (2008). Sex differences in stroke: epidemiology, clinical presentation, medical care, and outcomes. *Lancet Neurol.* 7, 915–926. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(08)70193-5
- Rizzo, M. R., Fasano, R., and Paolisso, G. (2020). Adiponectin and cognitive decline. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21:2010. doi: 10.3390/ijms21062010
- Robusto-Leitao, O., and Ferreira, H. (2006). Hormones and dementia a comparative study of hormonal impairment in post-menopausal women, with and without dementia. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 2, 199–206. doi: 10.2147/ nedt.2006.2.2.199

- Rocca, W. A., Mielke, M. M., Vemuri, P., and Miller, V. M. (2014). Sex and gender differences in the causes of dementia: a narrative review. *Maturitas* 79, 196–201. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2014.05.008
- Rockwood, K., Bowler, J., Erkinjuntti, T., Hachinski, V., and Wallin, A. (1999). Subtypes of vascular dementia. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord* 13 (Suppl 3), S59–S65.
- Rohn, T. T. (2014). Is apolipoprotein E4 an important risk factor for vascular dementia? *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol.* 7, 3504–3511.
- Romàn, G. (2000). Perspectives in the treatment of vascular dementia. *Drugs Today* (*Barcelona, Spain* 36, 641–653. doi: 10.1358/dot.2000.36.9.593781
- Román, G. (2003). Vascular dementia: a historical background. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 15(Suppl. 1), 11–13. doi: 10.1017/s1041610203008901
- Rufa, A., De Stefano, N., Dotti, M. T., Bianchi, S., Sicurelli, F., Stromillo, M. L., et al. (2004). Acute unilateral visual loss as the first symptom of cerebral autosomal dominant arteriopathy with subcortical infarcts and leukoencephalopathy. *Arch. Neurol.* 61, 577–580. doi: 10.1001/archneur.61.4.577
- Ruitenberg, A., Ott, A., van Swieten, J. C., Hofman, A., and Breteler, M. M. (2001). Incidence of dementia: does gender make a difference? *Neurobiol. Aging* 22, 575–580. doi: 10.1016/s0197-4580(01)00231-7
- Santabárbara, J., Villagrasa, B., Lopez-Anton, R., De la Cámara, C., Gracia-García, P., and Lobo, A. (2020). Anxiety and risk of vascular dementia in an elderly community sample: the role of sex. *Brain Sci.* 10:265. doi: 10.3390/brainsci10050265
- Schmitz, M., Hermann, P., Oikonomou, P., Stoeck, K., Ebert, E., Poliakova, T., et al. (2015). Cytokine profiles and the role of cellular prion protein in patients with vascular dementia and vascular encephalopathy. *Neurobiol. Aging* 36, 2597–2606. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015.05.013
- Shabir, O., Berwick, J., and Francis, S. E. (2018). Neurovascular dysfunction in vascular dementia. Alzheimers and atherosclerosis. *BMC Neurosci.* 19:62.
- Shinoda, M., Fujii, M., Takahashi, O., Kawatsu, A., Uemura, A., and Niimi, Y. (2015). Inverse relationship between coffee consumption and cerebral microbleeds in men, but not women. *J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis.* 24, 2196–2199. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2015.04.032
- Sierra, C. (2020). Hypertension and the risk of dementia. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 7:5. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2020.00005
- Singhal, S., Bevan, S., Barrick, T., Rich, P., and Markus, H. S. (2004). The influence of genetic and cardiovascular risk factors on the CADASIL phenotype. *Brain* 127, 2031–2038. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh223
- Skillbäck, T., Lautner, R., Mattsson, N., Schott, J. M., Skoog, I., Nägga, K., et al. (2018). Apolipoprotein E genotypes and longevity across dementia disorders. *Alzheimers Dement.* 14, 895–901. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018.02.003
- Skoog, I. (1994). Risk factors for vascular dementia: a review. Dementia (Basel, Switzerland) 5, 137–144.
- Skoog, I., Hesse, C., Aevarsson, O., Landahl, S., Wahlström, J., Fredman, P., et al. (1998). A population study of apoE genotype at the age of 85: relation to dementia, cerebrovascular disease, and mortality. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 64, 37–43. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.64.1.37
- Sommer, I., Griebler, U., Kien, C., Auer, S., Klerings, I., Hammer, R., et al. (2017). Vitamin D deficiency as a risk factor for dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Geriatr.* 17:16. doi: 10.1186/s12877-016-0 405-0
- Song, J., Lee, W. T., Park, K. A., and Lee, J. E. (2014). Association between risk factors for vascular dementia and adiponectin. *BioMed. Res. Int.* 2014, 261672.
- Steinberg, M., Hess, K., Corcoran, C., Mielke, M. M., Norton, M., Breitner, J., et al. (2014). Vascular risk factors and neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: the Cache County Study. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 29, 153–159. doi: 10.1002/gps.3980
- Sundermann, E. E., Biegon, A., Rubin, L. H., Lipton, R. B., Mowrey, W., Landau, S., et al. (2016a). Better verbal memory in women than men in MCI despite similar levels of hippocampal atrophy. *Neurology* 86, 1368–1376. doi: 10.1212/ wnl.00000000002570
- Sundermann, E. E., Maki, P. M., Rubin, L. H., Lipton, R. B., Landau, S., and Biegon, A. (2016b). Female advantage in verbal memory: evidence of sex-specific cognitive reserve. *Neurology* 87, 1916–1924. doi: 10.1212/wnl. 00000000003288
- Tariq, S., and Barber, P. A. (2018). Dementia risk and prevention by targeting modifiable vascular risk factors. J. Neurochem. 144, 565–581. doi: 10.1111/jnc. 14132

- Thomas, N. J., Morris, C. M., Scaravilli, F., Johansson, J., Rossor, M., De Lange, R., et al. (2000). Hereditary vascular dementia linked to notch 3 mutations. CADASIL in British families. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 903, 293–298. doi: 10.1111/ j.1749-6632.2000.tb06379.x
- Tomimoto, H. (2011). Subcortical vascular dementia. Neurosci. Res. 71, 193-199.
- Treiber, K. A., Lyketsos, C. G., Corcoran, C., Steinberg, M., Norton, M., Green, R. C., et al. (2008). Vascular factors and risk for neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: the Cache County Study. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 20, 538–553.
- van der Steen, J. T., Smaling, H. J., van der Wouden, J. C., Bruinsma, M. S., Scholten, R. J., and Vink, A. C. (2018). Music-based therapeutic interventions for people with dementia. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 7:Cd003477.
- van Straaten, E. C., Scheltens, P., and Barkhof, F. (2004). MRI and CT in the diagnosis of vascular dementia. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 226, 9–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2004. 09.003
- Venkat, P., Chopp, M., and Chen, J. (2015). Models and mechanisms of vascular dementia. *Exp. Neurol.* 272, 97–108. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2015.05.006
- Vijayan, M., and Reddy, P. H. (2016). Stroke, vascular dementia, and alzheimer's disease: molecular links. J. Alzheimers Dis. JAD 54, 427–443. doi: 10.3233/jad-160527
- Villa, A., Vegeto, E., Poletti, A., and Maggi, A. (2016). Estrogens, neuroinflammation, and neurodegeneration. *Endocrine Rev.* 37, 372–402. doi: 10.1210/er.2016-1007
- Vinciguerra, L., Lanza, G., Puglisi, V., Fisicaro, F., Pennisi, M., Bella, R., et al. (2020). Update on the neurobiology of vascular cognitive impairment: from lab to clinic. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:2977. doi: 10.3390/ijms21082977
- Volgman, A. S., Bairey Merz, C. N., Aggarwal, N. T., Bittner, V., Bunch, T. J., Gorelick, P. B., et al. (2019). Sex differences in cardiovascular disease and cognitive impairment: another health disparity for women? *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 8:e013154.
- Wallin, A., Milos, V., Sjögren, M., Pantoni, L., and Erkinjuntti, T. (2003). Classification and subtypes of vascular dementia. *Int. psychogeriatr.* 15 Suppl 1, 27–37. doi: 10.1017/s1041610203008937
- Wang, X. J., Xu, W., Li, J. Q., Cao, X. P., Tan, L., and Yu, J. T. (2019). Early-life risk factors for dementia and cognitive impairment in later life: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Alzheimers Dis. JAD 67, 221–229. doi: 10.3233/jad-180856
- Warner, T. D., Nylander, S., and Whatling, C. (2011). Anti-platelet therapy: cyclooxygenase inhibition and the use of aspirin with particular regard to dual anti-platelet therapy. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 72, 619–633. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2011.03943.x
- Whitmer, R. A., Gunderson, E. P., Quesenberry, C. P. Jr., Zhou, J., and Yaffe, K. (2007). Body mass index in midlife and risk of Alzheimer disease and vascular dementia. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 4, 103–109. doi: 10.2174/156720507780362047
- Winstein, C. J., Stein, J., Arena, R., Bates, B., Cherney, L. R., Cramer, S. C., et al. (2016). Guidelines for adult stroke rehabilitation and recovery: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the american heart association/american stroke association. *Stroke* 47, e98–e169.
- Wise, A. L., Gyi, L., and Manolio, T. A. (2013). eXclusion: toward integrating the X chromosome in genome-wide association analyses. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 92, 643–647. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.03.017
- Wu, C. Y., Hu, H. Y., Chow, L. H., Chou, Y. J., Huang, N., Wang, P. N., et al. (2015). The effects of anti-dementia and nootropic treatments on the mortality of patients with dementia: a population-based cohort study in Taiwan. *PLoS One* 10:e0130993. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130993
- Xing, Y., Qin, W., Li, F., Jia, X. F., and Jia, J. (2013). Associations between sex hormones and cognitive and neuropsychiatric manifestations in vascular dementia (VaD). Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 56, 85–90. doi: 10.1016/j.archger. 2012.10.003
- Yaffe, K., Sawaya, G., Lieberburg, I., and Grady, D. (1998). Estrogen therapy in postmenopausal women: effects on cognitive function and dementia. *JAMA* 279, 688–695. doi: 10.1001/jama.279.9.688
- Yamada, M., Mimori, Y., Kasagi, F., Miyachi, T., Ohshita, T., Sudoh, S., et al. (2008). Incidence of dementia, Alzheimer disease, and vascular dementia in a Japanese population: radiation effects research foundation adult health study. *Neuroepidemiology* 30, 152–160. doi: 10.1159/000122332
- Yang, H. D., Kim, D. H., Lee, S. B., and Young, L. D. (2016). History of Alzheimer's Disease. Dement. Neurocogn. Disorders 15, 115–121.
- Yaowaluk, T., Senanarong, V., Limwongse, C., Boonprasert, R., and Kijsanayotin, P. (2019). Influence of CYP2D6, CYP3A5, ABCB1, APOE polymorphisms and

nongenetic factors on donepezil treatment in patients with Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. *Pharmacogenomics Pers. Med.* 12, 209–224. doi: 10. 2147/pgpm.s211259

- Zekry, D., Hauw, J. J., and Gold, G. (2002). Mixed dementia: epidemiology, diagnosis, and treatment. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 50, 1431–1438. doi: 10.1046/j. 1532-5415.2002.50367.x
- Zhong, G., Wang, Y., Zhang, Y., Guo, J. J., and Zhao, Y. (2015). Smoking is associated with an increased risk of dementia: a metaanalysis of prospective cohort studies with investigation of potential effect modifiers. *PLoS One* 10:e0118333. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.011 8333
- Zhu, W., Wang, X. R., Du, S. Q., Yan, C. Q., Yang, N. N., Lin, L. L., et al. (2018). Anti-oxidative and anti-apoptotic effects of acupuncture: role of thioredoxin-1 in the hippocampus of vascular dementia rats. *Neuroscience* 379, 281–291. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.03.029
- Zucchella, C., Sinforiani, E., Tamburin, S., Federico, A., Mantovani, E., Bernini, S., et al. (2018). The multidisciplinary approach to Alzheimer's disease and dementia. a narrative review of non-pharmacological treatment. *Front. Neurol.* 9:1058. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01058

Author Disclaimer: The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Akhter, Persaud, Zaokari, Zhao and Zhu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## The Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio Is Associated With the Risk of Subsequent Dementia in the Framingham Heart Study

Jaime Ramos-Cejudo<sup>1,2\*†</sup>, Andrew D. Johnson<sup>3,4</sup>, Alexa Beiser<sup>4,5,6</sup>, Sudha Seshadri<sup>4,6,7</sup>, Joel Salinas<sup>4,8</sup>, Jeffrey S. Berger<sup>9,10,11</sup>, Nathanael R. Fillmore<sup>2,12</sup>, Nhan Do<sup>2,13</sup>, Chunlei Zheng<sup>2</sup>, Zanetta Kovbasyuk<sup>1</sup>, Babak A. Ardekani<sup>1,14</sup>, Omonigho M. Bubu<sup>1</sup>, Ankit Parekh<sup>15</sup>, Antonio Convit<sup>1,14</sup>, Rebecca A. Betensky<sup>16</sup>, Thomas M. Wisniewski<sup>1,8,17</sup> and Ricardo S. Osorio<sup>1,14\*†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, New York University Grossman School of Medicine, New York, NY, United States, <sup>2</sup> VA Boston Cooperative Studies Program, MAVERIC, VA Boston Healthcare System, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Population Sciences Branch, Division of Intramural Research, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, Framingham, MA, United States, <sup>4</sup> The Framingham Heart Study, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Biostatistics, Boston University School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>6</sup> Department of Neurology, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>7</sup> Glenn Biggs Institute for Alzheimer's and Neurodegenerative Diseases, University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States, <sup>8</sup> Department of Neurology, Center for Cognitive Neurology, NYU Grossman School of Medicine, New York, NY, United States, <sup>9</sup> Division of Vascular Surgery, Department of Surgery, NYU Grossman School of Medicine, New York, NY, United States, <sup>10</sup> Division of Cardiology and Hematology, Department of Medicine, NYU Grossman School of Medicine, New York, NY, United States, <sup>11</sup> Center for the Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease, NYU Grossman School of Medicine, New York, NY, United States, <sup>12</sup> Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>13</sup> Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>14</sup> Nathan Kline Institute, Orangeburg, NY, United States, <sup>15</sup> Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States, <sup>16</sup> Department of Biostatistics, New York University School of Global Public Health, New York, NY, United States, <sup>17</sup> Department of Pathology, NYU Grossman School of Medicine, NY, United States, NY, United States, <sup>17</sup> Department of Pathology, NYU Grossman School of Medicine, New York, NY, United States

**Objective:** Active neutrophils are important contributors to Alzheimer's disease (AD) pathology through the formation of capillary stalls that compromise cerebral blood flow (CBF) and through aberrant neutrophil signaling that advances disease progression. The neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR) is a proxy of neutrophil-mediated inflammation, and higher NLR is found in persons diagnosed with clinical AD. The objective of this study was to investigate whether increased NLR in older adults is independently associated with the risk of subsequent dementia.

**Methods:** We examined associations of baseline NLR with incident dementia risk in the community-based Framingham Heart Study (FHS) longitudinal cohorts. The association between NLR and risk of dementia was evaluated using the cumulative incidence function (CIF) and inverse probability-weighted Cox proportional cause-specific hazards regression models, with adjustment for age, sex, body mass index (BMI), systolic and diastolic blood pressure, diabetes, current smoking status, low-density lipoprotein

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Axel Montagne, University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom

#### Reviewed by:

Giuseppe Barisano, University of Southern California, United States Elena Zenaro, University of Verona, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Jaime Ramos-Cejudo Jaime.ramoscejudo@nyulangone.org Ricardo S. Osorio Ricardo.Osorio@nyulangone.org <sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

> Received: 10 September 2021 Accepted: 19 October 2021 Published: 30 November 2021

#### Citation:

Ramos-Cejudo J, Johnson AD, Beiser A, Seshadri S, Salinas J, Berger JS, Fillmore NR, Do N, Zheng C, Kovbasyuk Z, Ardekani BA, Bubu OM, Parekh A, Convit A, Betensky RA, Wisniewski TM and Osorio RS (2021) The Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio Is Associated With the Risk of Subsequent Dementia in the Framingham Heart Study. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:773984. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.773984

78

(LDH), high-density lipoprotein (LDL), total cholesterol, triglycerides, and history of cardiovascular disease (CVD). Random forest survival models were used to evaluate the relative predictive value of the model covariates on dementia risk.

**Results:** The final study sample included 1,648 participants with FHS (average age, 69 years; 56% women). During follow-up (median, 5.9 years), we observed 51 cases of incident dementia, of which 41 were AD cases. Results from weighted models suggested that the NLR was independently associated with incident dementia, and it was preceded in predictive value only by age, history of CVD, and blood pressure at baseline.

**Conclusion:** Our study shows that individuals with higher NLR are at a greater risk of subsequent dementia during a 5.9-year follow-up period. Further evaluating the role of neutrophil-mediated inflammation in AD progression may be warranted.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, dementia, Framingham, FHS, neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, NLR, complete blood count (CBC), risk prediction

### INTRODUCTION

The variability of amyloid-beta ( $A\beta$ ) and tau pathology associated with clinical symptoms reflects that additional factors influence the progression of cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease (AD). Vascular dysfunction and inflammation have been implicated in the pathogenesis of AD in the earliest stages of the disease prior to significant  $A\beta$  and tau accumulation (Iturria-Medina et al., 2016; Love and Miners, 2016; Nortley et al., 2019). In addition, clinical studies have indicated that the inflammatory status influences the rate of disease progression in patients with AD (Holmes et al., 2009; Cunningham and Hennessy, 2015).

Recently, neutrophils have been identified as potential key elements of innate immunity contribution to the disease, and a hyperactive neutrophil state has been found in patients with AD and has been associated with clinical progression (Dong et al., 2018). Neutrophils are the most abundant leukocyte type in the human blood, and although the best characterized function of neutrophils in the defense against infectious pathogens, neutrophils are implicated in the repair of both infectious and sterile injuries (Kruger et al., 2015). Results in animal models of AD have suggested that neutrophils may be implicated in the breakdown of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and recruited in the brain parenchyma through the integrin LFA-1 predominantly in perivascular regions with AB deposition (Baik et al., 2014; Zenaro et al., 2015). A potential role of neutrophils in the hyperphosphorylation of tau has also been suggested (Zenaro et al., 2015; Nemeth et al., 2020).

Neutrophils are known to have a very short life cycle ranging from just a few hours to up to 5–6 days in circulation (Pillay et al., 2010). During normal inflammation, neutrophils are cleared

from the circulation once the initial inflammatory insult is resolved. In aging, however, inaccurate neutrophil chemotaxis may lead to compromised clearance of neutrophils, potentially contributing to a chronic inflammation state with reduced formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NET), phagocytic response, and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Tseng and Liu, 2014). These abnormalities may partially explain the contribution of neutrophil adhesion to brain capillaries in the formation of capillary stalls and reduction in cerebral blood flow (CBF) that is observed in animal models (Cruz Hernandez et al., 2019; El Amki et al., 2020), a mechanism that could occur at the early stages in aging and influence the pathological accumulation of A $\beta$  and tau when sustained over years.

One of the most widely studied and available clinical markers of peripheral inflammation is the neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR), which has been associated with poor prognosis in several cancer outcomes (Walsh et al., 2005; Sarraf et al., 2009), diabetes (Imtiaz et al., 2012), and cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Bhat et al., 2013). Almost a decade ago, a higher NLR was first reported in patients with AD (Kuyumcu et al., 2012) and replicated in a study using longitudinal data and repetitive measures over time (Rembach et al., 2014). The higher NLR levels observed in patients with AD were associated with increased amyloid burden, but this association was no longer present after adjustment for age, sex, and ApoE4 status, thus potentially limiting the potential of NLR as a diagnostic biomarker in more advanced stages of the disease. Because of the hyperactive neutrophil state identified in patients with AD and the higher NLR ratios observed in AD versus controls, it is possible that higher NLR ratios in elderly adults may be independently associated with the risk of incident dementia, although, such an association has yet to be identified.

The aim of this study was to examine whether baseline NLR was independently associated with incident dementia in the Framingham Heart Study (FHS), a longitudinal, community-based cohort with rigorous and continuous surveillance for clinical dementia incidence and a large number of participants with NLR measures.

**Abbreviations:** AD, Alzheimer's disease; NLR, neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; CI, confidence interval; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DSM-IV, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition; FHS, Framingham Heart Study; HR, hazard ratio; MMSE, Mini-Mental State Examination; CBC, complete blood count.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Standard Protocol Approvals, Registrations, and Patient Consents

All participants provided written informed consent. Study protocols and consent forms were approved by the institutional review board at the Boston University Medical Center.

## The Framingham Heart Study

The FHS is one of the few historical active longitudinal cohort studies in the United States, initiated in 1948 and with over 70 years of follow-up evaluations. Following recruitment, the original cohort of 5,209 residents from Framingham, MA, underwent up to 32 examinations every 2 years, where various clinical and laboratory data were collected (Dawber et al., 1963). In 1971, a total of 5,124 children of the original cohort and their spouses were enrolled in the Offspring cohort who completed a total of nine examinations, with the latest examination performed in 2011–2014 (Kannel et al., 1979). *Offspring* cohort participants who attended the ninth examination cycle (2011–2014), during which a complete blood count (CBC) was obtained, were eligible for the present investigation.

# Blood Collection and Complete Blood Count

Participants were asked to fast after 8:00 p.m., the evening before their clinic exam, and considered to be fasting after a minimum of a 10-h fast. Blood was drawn from participants in a supine position, using standard venipuncture technique, typically between 7:00 a.m. and 9:00 a.m. Hematology testing was performed using whole blood [Tyco Monoject, 15% ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid, EDTA, (K3)]. A CBC with differential was performed on EDTA whole blood using a Beckman Coulter HmX Hematology Analyzer as described previously (Sloan et al., 2015). Blood collection was performed following the exact same procedures in every subject. Hematology testing included estimation of intra-assay CV in  $\sim 10\%$  samples run in duplicate. The NLR was defined as the absolute neutrophil count by the absolute lymphocyte count from the CBC panel. Assessment of cognitive decline and dementia was performed by a panel blinded to the CBC/NLR results.

### Dementia Characterization in the Framingham Heart Study

The main outcome of the present study was an incident clinical diagnosis of dementia using continuous surveillance until the conclusion of the follow-up period up to 2018. The diagnosis of dementia was based on criteria from the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, fourth edition (DSM-IV). The diagnosis of AD was based on criteria for possible, probable, or definite AD from the National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke and the AD and Related Disorders Association (NINCDS–ADRDA). Additional methods for continuous surveillance of dementia and AD in the FHS have been previously described (Seshadri et al., 1997, 2011; Au et al., 2012; Satizabal et al., 2016). In brief, the cognitive function

of all participants was assessed using the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (Folstein et al., 1975) at every examination. The MMSE was used to flag participants for a dementia panel review based on their performance if any of the following occurred: (a) an absolute score <23 for all persons, (b) score <24 for persons with only high school completed, (c) score <26 for participants with a college education, (d) >3-point decline between successive examinations, or (e) > 5-point decline from the highest obtained MMSE scores of the participants. Participants were also flagged for additional evaluation based on concerns from participants themselves, relatives, or other professionals. In additional visits, flagged participants had a full neuropsychological and neurological examination, which was also reviewed to refer for dementia evaluation by the dementia review panel. The panel, which includes neurologists (JS and SS) and neuropsychologists, used data from multiple sources to assess possible cognitive decline and dementia to determine whether a participant had dementia, the dementia subtype, and the date of diagnosis. After a participant died, a medical panel manually reviewed medical records up to the date of death to assess for the potential cognitive decline since the last examination of the participants. This medical panel referred any participants who may have presented with a cognitive decline for postmortem review by the dementia review panel [refer to Satizabal et al. (2016) - Supplementary Material, for a detailed description of dementia surveillance in the FHS]. The main outcome of the present study was incident dementia using continuous surveillance with clinician diagnosis at the conclusion of the follow-up period up to 2018.

## **Demographic and Clinical Covariates**

Clinic examination corresponding to the CBC (examination cycle 9) was defined as the baseline. Smoking was defined based on smoking status prior to the year of baseline. We defined diabetes mellitus by fasting glucose levels above 126 mg/dl (7.0 mmol/L) and/or use of antidiabetic treatments. Levels of all cardiovascular risk variables, including body mass index (BMI), total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, and triglycerides, were determined from examination cycle 9. History of CVD events at the time of clinical examination included: reported history of coronary heart disease (CHD), congestive heart failure (CHF), myocardial infarct (MI), intermittent claudication (IC), ischemic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhage, or transient ischemic attack (TIA).

## **Statistical Analysis**

R 3.6 and Python 3.7 were used for statistical analysis and visualization. The analysis involved the following variables: (a) the NLR; (b) outcome: clinical dementia diagnosis; and, (c) basic demographic and clinical parameters (continuous or categorical), which included age, sex, BMI, smoking, HDL, low-density lipoprotein (LDL), total cholesterol, triglycerides, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, diabetes, and history of CVD. Univariate analysis of demographic and clinical differences between study groups included *t*-tests for continuous variables and  $\chi^2$  tests for nominal variables. Kruskal–Wallis tests were applied to nonnormal distributions. Spearman correlations were used to test the

association between continuous variables. Generally, we defined statistical significance by p < 0.05, and tendencies by  $p \le 0.1$ .

Follow-up duration was calculated from the date of the CBC until the most recently available clinical diagnosis prior to the end of follow-up in 2018. To detect potentially independent associations between the NLR and incident dementia, we fit Cox proportional hazard models with inverse probability weighting (IPW). The IPW method weighted each subject by the inverse of the probability of their observed NLR using the median as a cutoff, adjusting for non-random selection of participants into high versus low NLR groups. A logistic regression model for high versus low NLR, adjusted for age, sex, BMI, diabetes, current smoking status, LDH, LDL, total cholesterol, triglycerides, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, and history of CVD was used to estimate these probabilities. The Cox models were then weighted by the inverse of the probabilities of the NLR, adjusted for the above covariates. The proportional hazards assumption was validated using the Schoenfeld residual test included in the cox.zph function of the coxph package (Grambsch, 1995; In and Lee, 2019). Next, using the propensity score model for low versus high NLR (split at the median) for all participants and the causalCmprsk package (Vakulenko-Lagun et al., 2020), we estimated the cumulative incidence function (CIF) for dementia for the two groups. Due to the competing risk of death, the models can be interpreted as cause-specific hazard models (i.e., for the risk of dementia among those still alive). Finally, in an exploratory approach, we applied the survival data implementation of Breiman's random forest models in the randomForestSRC (O'Brien et al., 2021) to estimate the relative importance of each of the covariates in dementia risk. Briefly, the variable importance of each predictor is estimated by using variable selection methods of random forest survival models. The variable selection method uses a prediction error approach by "noising-up" each variable in turn. The variable importance of a variable X<sub>i</sub> is the difference in prediction error when X<sub>i</sub> is randomly permuted, compared to the prediction error under the true values. The package ggRandomForests was used for visualization. Code is available upon reasonable request and for collaboration and reproducibility purposes. The data are available in the BioLINCC repositories.

## RESULTS

### **Study Sample**

The final study sample consisted of 1,648 FHS participants and included the combination of NLR and clinical and demographic covariates (**Figure 1**) described previously. **Table 1** summarizes baseline characteristics for all participants at the time of the CBC. The average age of participants in the study at baseline was 69 years [the interquartile range (IQR): 64, 76]; 55.8% were female (920).

### **Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio**

Intra-assay CVs were < 2.5% for both the total neutrophil and lymphocyte counts. The absolute neutrophil and lymphocyte count and the NLR followed a unimodal distribution.

Although the participants with a diagnosis of dementia at baseline were excluded from the analysis, a brief comparison of the clinical labs at baseline indicated higher neutrophil counts and NLR in dementia cases (**Supplementary Figure 1**). In the final cohort (non-dementia) participants that showed a higher NLR (above median) were older and predominantly male; they had lower LDL, HDL, and total cholesterol and higher BMI, triglycerides, systolic blood pressure, and rates of CVD history at baseline (p < 0.05; **Table 1**).

## Association of the Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio and Incident Dementia

Of the 1,648 participants, 51 cases of incident dementia (41 confirmed AD cases) and 85 deaths without incident dementia were observed during a median follow-up of 5.9 years (IQR: 2.6, 6.9). Logistic models used to estimate IPW weights indicated strong associations between the NLR and age, male sex, BMI, and smoking status (Supplementary Table 1). Although the CIs are overlapping, and there is insufficient power to conclude that the incidence curves are different, CIF curves suggested that groups with a higher baseline NLR demonstrated a greater incidence of dementia (Figure 2). For example, the probability of dementia prior to death occurring within 5.9 years for those with low NLR at baseline is 2.73% [95% CI: 1.56, 4.43], while for those with high NLR it was 4.11% [95% CI: 3.05, 5.38]. Ranked feature importance of random forest competing for risk models assigned highest priority to age, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, and history of CVD, immediately followed by the NLR (Figure 3). Variables with lower importance than the NLR included total cholesterol, diabetes, BMI, LDL cholesterol, smoking status, sex, and triglycerides. Adjusted hazard ratios (HRs) for the IPW multivariate Cox proportional hazard models for incident dementia are summarized in Supplementary Tables 2, 3. Higher NLR at baseline was independently associated with incident dementia when included as a continuous variable (HR: 1.22; 95% CI: 1.05, 1.43; p = 0.01). Results indicated a 22% increase in dementia risk per unit increase in the NLR. Elevated HRs are



	Overall (n = 1,648)	NLR below median (n = 826)	NLR above median ( <i>n</i> = 822)	P-value
Age, median [Q1, Q3]	69.0 [64.0, 76.0]	68.0 [63.0, 74.0]	71.0 [65.0, 77.0]	< 0.001
Female sex, n (%)	920 (55.8)	515 (62.3)	405 (49.3)	< 0.001
BMI, median [Q1, Q3]	27.7 [24.7, 30.9]	27.5 [24.3, 30.5]	28.0 [25.1, 31.4]	0.006
LDL cholesterol, median [Q1, Q3]	96.0 [78.0, 118.0]	101.5 [81.0, 122.0]	93.0 [75.0, 112.0]	< 0.001
HDL cholesterol, median [Q1, Q3]	60.0 [49.0, 74.0]	61.0 [50.0, 76.0]	58.0 [47.0, 71.0]	< 0.001
Total cholesterol, median [Q1, Q3]	183.0 [158.8, 207.0]	188.0 [163.2, 211.0]	177.0 [153.0, 202.0]	< 0.001
Triglycerides, median [Q1, Q3]	99.0 [74.0, 133.0]	96.0 [72.0, 132.0]	100.5 [76.0, 134.0]	0.041
Smoker, n (%)	78 (4.7)	32 (3.9)	46 (5.6)	0.126
Diabetes, n (%)	159 (9.6)	76 (9.2)	83 (10.1)	0.594
Systolic BP, median [Q1, Q3]	125.0 [115.0, 137.0]	125.0 [113.0, 136.0]	126.0 [116.0, 137.0]	0.011
Diastolic BP, median [Q1, Q3]	72.0 [65.0, 78.0]	72.0 [66.0, 78.0]	71.0 [65.0, 78.0]	0.176
CVD History, n (%)	295 (17.9)	122 (14.8)	173 (21.0)	0.001
NLR, median [Q1, Q3]	2.3 [1.8, 3.0]	1.8 [1.4, 2.0]	3.0 [2.6, 3.8]	< 0.001
Number of dementia cases, n (%)	51 (3.1)	16 (1.9)	35 (4.3)	0.01
Number of deaths, n (%)	92 (5.6)	33 (4.0)	59 (7.2)	0.007

BMI, body mass index; BP, blood pressure; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; Chol, cholesterol; CVD history, history of cardiovascular events. Definitions described in section "Materials and Methods."

also apparent with respect to categorical coding of NLR: above versus below the median (HR: 1.80; 95% CI: 0.96, 3.37; p = 0.07) in adjusted models. A sensibility analysis inspecting confirmed AD cases as an outcome similarly suggested elevated NLR was associated with higher rates of incident AD (**Supplementary Tables 4, 5** and **Supplementary Figure 2**).

increased NLR with aging in humans may be indicative of such a process and whether abnormal neutrophil phenotypes are associated with the increased NLR should be studied in the future. Recent studies show that neutrophils may be involved in capillary stall formation and contribute to CBF reductions that when sustained over time may lead to oxidative stress, endothelial damage and influence the pathological accumulation of  $A\beta$  and

### DISCUSSION

Recently, neutrophils have been identified as potential innate immunity players contributing to AD pathology, and a hyperactive neutrophil state has been found in patients with AD and associated with AD progression. The NLR serves as a composite inflammatory biomarker, which incorporates information from two leukocyte subtypes. Exploration of the NLR as a proxy for neutrophil-mediated inflammation is of interest since the NLR can be obtained as part of the standard CBC panel, which is widely available in most hospitals. Our study in the community-based longitudinal FHS Offspring cohort demonstrated that individuals with elevated NLR are at a greater risk of dementia during a 5.9-year follow-up period. These findings persist after adjustment for a number of covariates that could play a confounding role in the association of NLR with dementia risk. Importantly, results from the sensitivity analysis suggested an association of the NLR and AD risk specifically.

The role of neutrophils in AD pathology and clinical progression has been previously suggested (Shad et al., 2013; Pietronigro et al., 2017; Dong et al., 2018; Stock et al., 2018; Bawa et al., 2020; Rossi et al., 2021). Although variations in the NLR have been associated with several clinical outcomes other than AD (Walsh et al., 2005; Sarraf et al., 2009; Imtiaz et al., 2012; Bhat et al., 2013), the interpretation of a change in the NLR remains controversial. Studies in animal models suggest that clearance of neutrophils may be reduced with aging, potentially compromising inflammation resolution following injury. The



**FIGURE 2** | The neutrophil to lymphocyte is associated with higher rates of incident dementia in the FHS. Adjusted cumulative incidence functions and 95% Cls for dementia for the NLR groups (defined as above/below median). Higher NLR at baseline was associated with a greater incidence of dementia. Models were adjusted for age, sex, BMI, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, diabetes, current smoking status, HDL, LDL, total cholesterol, triglycerides, and history of CVD (n = 1,647; events = 51; median follow-up = 5.9 years). BMI, body mass index; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; CVD, cardiovascular disease; FHS, Framingham Heart Study.



tau at the early stages of the disease (Cruz Hernandez et al., 2019; El Amki et al., 2020). Additionally, the vascular dysfunction state that is associated with AD may increase endothelial signaling facilitating neutrophil recruitment to the capillary vessel walls in a feed-forward loop. Studies need to evaluate whether the stall formations are associated with increased NLR.

Although our primary goal was to evaluate the association of the NLR with incident dementia, we also observed higher NLR in the dementia cases at baseline that was excluded from analysis when compared to dementia-free participants. The results are in agreement with previous research that identified higher NLR in patients with AD when compared to age-matched controls (Kuyumcu et al., 2012; Rembach et al., 2014). The NLR ratio has also been associated with conditions related to AD risk and influencing progressions, such as CVD (Angkananard et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2018; Haybar et al., 2019), obstructive sleep apnea (Altintas et al., 2015; Sunbul et al., 2015; Oyama et al., 2016; Rha et al., 2020), depression (Aydin Sunbul et al., 2016; Demircan et al., 2016; Arabska et al., 2018; Liang et al., 2019), and obesity (Rodriguez-Rodriguez et al., 2020). Our findings are therefore consistent with previous research that identified an association of the NLR with AD and related risk factors.

In observational studies like the FHS where there is no random assignment to treatment groups (or variable of interest like the NLR in this case), the unadjusted comparison between treatment groups may be misleading due to confounding. To adjust for measured confounders in our study, we used inverse probability of treatment weighting which is a robust approach for correcting for potential confounding (Neumann and Billionnet, 2016; Vakulenko-Lagun et al., 2020). In our study using weighted Cox models in elderly adults and a 5.9-year median followup suggested that the NLR was independently associated with incident dementia. Additionally, the variable importance results of random forest survival models suggested that the NLR had a considerable high predictive value when compared to other variables known to be relevant in dementia risks, such as age, sex, BMI, blood pressure, diabetes, smoking status, lipids, and history of CVD, suggesting that the NLR may add predictive value when incorporated in machine-learning models for dementia and this needs to be examined in future studies.

Our study has several limitations. First, although we adjusted for a relatively large number of covariates, we did not exclude/adjust for psychiatric and autoimmune disorders known to increase dementia risk that also to may influence the NLR ratios (e.g., depression) and future analysis should control for these conditions and look at each of the risk groups separately. Additionally, the number of dementia cases available for risk stratification in our study was relatively small and future studies should replicate our analysis if a larger number of incipient dementia cases are available. Second, in our primary analysis, we did not control for the number of years of education, the use of hypertensive drugs, and drugs potentially modulating the CBC results due to a considerable number of missing observations that limited the number of incipient dementia cases available for analysis. A sensitivity analysis also including the aforementioned variables showed associations with the same directionality of NLR associated with increased risk of incipient dementia. Additionally, our study did not account for the ApoE4 status, which is the main genetic risk factor for AD (Tsai et al., 1994; Kim et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2013) and previous research found that the ApoE4 status influences the NLR (Rembach et al., 2014). Cholesterol homeostasis has a pivotal function in regulating immune cells, and the role of ApoE in neutrophilmediated inflammation has been suggested in experimental models (Terkeltaub et al., 1991; Barger and Harmon, 1997; Zhou et al., 2019; Doring et al., 2020).

### CONCLUSION

Our study in 1,648 participants of a well-characterized community-based cohort shows an independent association of the NLR with future dementia, reinforcing the role of neutrophil-mediated inflammation in AD pathology and progression.

## **FUTURE PERSPECTIVES**

Future studies need to determine whether the increased NLR observed in certain participants at higher risk of dementia is independent or mediated by the ApoE4 status and the role of other AD-risk factors in the association. Additionally, dementia is more frequent in women and some race and ethnic groups, and we were not powered to perform disaggregated analyses. Finally, whether the NLR is associated with other markers of vulnerability to cognitive decline (global cognition, MRI, PET, and AD-biofluid markers) in middle age needs to be further investigated.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: https://biolincc.nhlbi.nih.gov/home/.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Boston University Medical Center. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JR-C designed and conceptualized the study, analyzed the data, performed the statistical analysis, and drafted the manuscript. AJ, AB, SS, and JS interpreted the data, major role in the acquisition of data, and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. JB, NF, ND, CZ, ZK, OB, AP, AC, RB, and TW revised the manuscript

## REFERENCES

- Altintas, N., Cetinoglu, E., Yuceege, M., Acet, A. N., Ursavas, A., Firat, H., et al. (2015). Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in obstructive sleep apnea; a multi center, retrospective study. *Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci.* 19, 3234–3240.
- Angkananard, T., Anothaisintawee, T., McEvoy, M., Attia, J., and Thakkinstian, A. (2018). Neutrophil lymphocyte ratio and cardiovascular disease risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2018:2703518. doi: 10. 1155/2018/2703518
- Arabska, J., Lucka, A., Magierski, R., Sobow, T., and Wysokinski, A. (2018). Neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio is increased in elderly patients with first episode depression, but not in recurrent depression. *Psychiatry Res.* 263, 35–40. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.02.043
- Au, R., Seshadri, S., Knox, K., Beiser, A., Himali, J. J., Cabral, H. J., et al. (2012). The Framingham brain donation program: neuropathology along the cognitive continuum. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 9, 673–686. doi: 10.2174/ 156720512801322609
- Aydin Sunbul, E., Sunbul, M., Yanartas, O., Cengiz, F., Bozbay, M., Sari, I., et al. (2016). Increased neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio in patients with depression is correlated with the severity of depression and cardiovascular risk factors. *Psychiatry Investig.* 13, 121–126. doi: 10.4306/pi.2016.13.1.121
- Baik, S. H., Cha, M. Y., Hyun, Y. M., Cho, H., Hamza, B., Kim, D. K., et al. (2014). Migration of neutrophils targeting amyloid plaques in Alzheimer's disease mouse model. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 1286–1292. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging. 2014.01.003

for intellectual content. TW and RO designed and conceptualized study, interpreted the results, and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work presented here was supported by the NIH funding from RO (R01AG056531 and R01AG056031) and JB (NCT02106429 and NCT01897103). JR-C was supported by an Intergovernmental Personnel Act with the VA Boston Healthcare System (Cooperative Studies Program). AJ was supported by NHLBI Intramural funds. TW, RB, and RO were supported by P30 AG066512. JS was supported by K23AG057760. AP was funded by NIH K25HL151912. OB was supported by the National Institute on Aging (K23AG068534 and L30-AG064670) and American Academy of Sleep Medicine Foundation (BS-231-20). AC was supported by R01 AG055624. The Framingham Heart Study was funded by contract 75N92019D00031 and Dementia grant AG054076.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the participants of the Framingham Heart Study.

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2021.773984/full#supplementary-material

- Barger, S. W., and Harmon, A. D. (1997). Microglial activation by Alzheimer amyloid precursor protein and modulation by apolipoprotein E. *Nature* 388, 878–881. doi: 10.1038/42257
- Bawa, K. K., Krance, S. H., Herrmann, N., Cogo-Moreira, H., Ouk, M., Yu, D., et al. (2020). A peripheral neutrophil-related inflammatory factor predicts a decline in executive function in mild Alzheimer's disease. J. Neuroinflammation 17:84. doi: 10.1186/s12974-020-01750-3
- Bhat, T., Teli, S., Rijal, J., Bhat, H., Raza, M., Khoueiry, G., et al. (2013). Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and cardiovascular diseases: a review. *Expert. Rev. Cardiovasc. Ther.* 11, 55–59. doi: 10.1586/erc.12.159
- Cruz Hernandez, J. C., Bracko, O., Kersbergen, C. J., Muse, V., Haft-Javaherian, M., Berg, M., et al. (2019). Neutrophil adhesion in brain capillaries reduces cortical blood flow and impairs memory function in Alzheimer's disease mouse models. *Nat. Neurosci.* 22, 413–420. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-03 29-4
- Cunningham, C., and Hennessy, E. (2015). Co-morbidity and systemic inflammation as drivers of cognitive decline: new experimental models adopting a broader paradigm in dementia research. *Alzheimers Res. Ther.* 7:33. doi: 10.1186/s13195-015-0117-2
- Dawber, T. R., Kannel, W. B., and Lyell, L. P. (1963). An approach to longitudinal studies in a community: the Framingham study. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 107, 539–556. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1963.tb13299.x
- Demircan, F., Gozel, N., Kilinc, F., Ulu, R., and Atmaca, M. (2016). The impact of red blood cell distribution width and neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio on the diagnosis of major depressive disorder. *Neurol. Ther.* 5, 27–33. doi: 10.1007/ s40120-015-0039-8

- Dong, Y., Lagarde, J., Xicota, L., Corne, H., Chantran, Y., Chaigneau, T., et al. (2018). Neutrophil hyperactivation correlates with Alzheimer's disease progression. Ann. Neurol. 83, 387–405. doi: 10.1002/ana.25159
- Doring, Y., Libby, P., and Soehnlein, O. (2020). Neutrophil extracellular traps participate in cardiovascular diseases: recent experimental and clinical insights. *Circ. Res.* 126, 1228–1241. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.31 5931
- El Amki, M., Gluck, C., Binder, N., Middleham, W., Wyss, M. T., Weiss, T., et al. (2020). Neutrophils obstructing brain capillaries are a major cause of no-reflow in ischemic stroke. *Cell Rep.* 33:108260. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108260
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., and McHugh, P. R. (1975). "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J. Psychiatr. Res. 12, 189–198. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- Grambsch, P. M. (1995). Goodness-of-fit and diagnostics for proportional hazards regression models. *Cancer Treat. Res.* 75, 95–112. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4615-2009-2\_5
- Haybar, H., Pezeshki, S. M. S., and Saki, N. (2019). Evaluation of complete blood count parameters in cardiovascular diseases: an early indicator of prognosis? *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 110:104267. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2019.10 4267
- Holmes, C., Cunningham, C., Zotova, E., Woolford, J., Dean, C., Kerr, S., et al. (2009). Systemic inflammation and disease progression in Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 73, 768–774. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181b6bb95
- Imtiaz, F., Shafique, K., Mirza, S. S., Ayoob, Z., Vart, P., and Rao, S. (2012). Neutrophil lymphocyte ratio as a measure of systemic inflammation in prevalent chronic diseases in Asian population. *Int. Arch. Med.* 5:2. doi: 10. 1186/1755-7682-5-2
- In, J., and Lee, D. K. (2019). Survival analysis: part II applied clinical data analysis. *Korean J. Anesthesiol.* 72, 441–457. doi: 10.4097/kja.19183
- Iturria-Medina, Y., Sotero, R. C., Toussaint, P. J., Mateos-Perez, J. M., Evans, A. C., Weiner, M. W., et al. (2016). Early role of vascular dysregulation on late-onset Alzheimer's disease based on multifactorial data-driven analysis. *Nat. Commun.* 7:11934. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11934
- Kannel, W. B., Feinleib, M., McNamara, P. M., Garrison, R. J., and Castelli, W. P. (1979). An investigation of coronary heart disease in families. The Framingham offspring study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 110, 281–290. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals. aje.a112813
- Kim, J., Basak, J. M., and Holtzman, D. M. (2009). The role of apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron* 63, 287–303. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.06.026
- Kim, S., Eliot, M., Koestler, D. C., Wu, W. C., and Kelsey, K. T. (2018). Association of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio with mortality and cardiovascular disease in the Jackson Heart Study and modification by the Duffy Antigen variant. *JAMA Cardiol.* 3, 455–462. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2018.1042
- Kruger, P., Saffarzadeh, M., Weber, A. N., Rieber, N., Radsak, M., von Bernuth, H., et al. (2015). Neutrophils: between host defence, immune modulation, and tissue injury. *PLoS Pathog.* 11:e1004651. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.100 4651
- Kuyumcu, M. E., Yesil, Y., Ozturk, Z. A., Kizilarslanoglu, C., Etgul, S., Halil, M., et al. (2012). The evaluation of neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio in Alzheimer's disease. *Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord.* 34, 69–74. doi: 10.1159/00034 1583
- Liang, M., Du, B., Zhang, H., Lu, X., Chen, C., Fan, C., et al. (2019). NLR is associated with geriatric depression in chinese women: a community-based cross-sectional study in Eastern China. *Front. Psychol.* 10:2941. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2019.02941
- Liu, C. C., Liu, C. C., Kanekiyo, T., Xu, H., and Bu, G. (2013). Apolipoprotein E and Alzheimer disease: risk, mechanisms and therapy. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 9, 106–118. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2012.263
- Love, S., and Miners, J. S. (2016). Cerebrovascular disease in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 131, 645–658. doi: 10.1007/s00401-015-1522-0
- Nemeth, T., Sperandio, M., and Mocsai, A. (2020). Neutrophils as emerging therapeutic targets. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 19, 253–275. doi: 10.1038/s41573-019-0054-z
- Neumann, A., and Billionnet, C. (2016). Covariate adjustment of cumulative incidence functions for competing risks data using inverse probability of treatment weighting. *Comput. Methods Programs Biomed.* 129, 63–70. doi: 10. 1016/j.cmpb.2016.03.008

- Nortley, R., Korte, N., Izquierdo, P., Hirunpattarasilp, C., Mishra, A., Jaunmuktane, Z., et al. (2019). Amyloid beta oligomers constrict human capillaries in Alzheimer's disease via signaling to pericytes. *Science* 365:eaav9518. doi: 10. 1126/science.aav9518
- O'Brien, R. C., Ishwaran, H., Szczotka-Flynn, L. B., Lass, J. H., and Cornea Preservation Time Study (2021). Random survival forests analysis of intraoperative complications as predictors of descemet stripping automated endothelial Keratoplasty graft failure in the cornea preservation time study. JAMA Ophthalmol. 139, 191–197. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2020.5743
- Oyama, J., Nagatomo, D., Yoshioka, G., Yamasaki, A., Kodama, K., Sato, M., et al. (2016). The relationship between neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, endothelial function, and severity in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. J. Cardiol. 67, 295–302. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2015.06.005
- Pietronigro, E. C., Della Bianca, V., Zenaro, E., and Constantin, G. (2017). NETosis in Alzheimer's Disease. *Front. Immunol.* 8:211. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017. 00211
- Pillay, J., den Braber, I., Vrisekoop, N., Kwast, L. M., de Boer, R. J., Borghans, J. A., et al. (2010). In vivo labeling with 2H2O reveals a human neutrophil lifespan of 5.4 days. *Blood* 116, 625–627. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-259028
- Rembach, A., Watt, A. D., Wilson, W. J., Rainey-Smith, S., Ellis, K. A., Rowe, C. C., et al. (2014). An increased neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio in Alzheimer's disease is a function of age and is weakly correlated with neocortical amyloid accumulation. J. Neuroimmunol. 273, 65–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014.05. 005
- Rha, M. S., Kim, C. H., Yoon, J. H., and Cho, H. J. (2020). Association between the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and obstructive sleep apnea: a meta-analysis. *Sci. Rep.* 10:10862. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-67708-w
- Rodriguez-Rodriguez, E., Lopez-Sobaler, A. M., Ortega, R. M., Delgado-Losada, M. L., Lopez-Parra, A. M., and Aparicio, A. (2020). Association between neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio with abdominal obesity and healthy eating index in a representative older Spanish Population. *Nutrients* 12:855. doi: 10. 3390/nu12030855
- Rossi, B., Santos-Lima, B., Terrabuio, E., Zenaro, E., and Constantin, G. (2021). Common peripheral immunity mechanisms in multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Immunol.* 12:639369. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021. 639369
- Sarraf, K. M., Belcher, E., Raevsky, E., Nicholson, A. G., Goldstraw, P., and Lim, E. (2009). Neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio and its association with survival after complete resection in non-small cell lung cancer. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 137, 425–428. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2008.05.046
- Satizabal, C. L., Beiser, A. S., Chouraki, V., Chene, G., Dufouil, C., and Seshadri, S. (2016). Incidence of dementia over three decades in the Framingham heart study. N. Engl. J. Med. 374, 523–532. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1504327
- Seshadri, S., Beiser, A., Au, R., Wolf, P. A., Evans, D. A., Wilson, R. S., et al. (2011). Operationalizing diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer's disease and other age-related cognitive impairment-Part 2. *Alzheimers Dement.* 7, 35–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2010.12.002
- Seshadri, S., Wolf, P. A., Beiser, A., Au, R., McNulty, K., White, R., et al. (1997). Lifetime risk of dementia and Alzheimer's disease. The impact of mortality on risk estimates in the Framingham Study. *Neurology* 49, 1498–1504. doi: 10.1212/wnl.49.6.1498
- Shad, K. F., Aghazadeh, Y., Ahmad, S., and Kress, B. (2013). Peripheral markers of Alzheimer's disease: surveillance of white blood cells. *Synapse* 67, 541–543. doi: 10.1002/syn.21651
- Sloan, A., Gona, P., and Johnson, A. D. (2015). Cardiovascular correlates of platelet count and volume in the Framingham heart study. *Ann. Epidemiol.* 25, 492–498. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2015.01.010
- Stock, A. J., Kasus-Jacobi, A., and Pereira, H. A. (2018). The role of neutrophil granule proteins in neuroinflammation and Alzheimer's disease. J. Neuroinflammation 15:240. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1284-4
- Sunbul, M., Sunbul, E. A., Kanar, B., Yanartas, O., Aydin, S., Bacak, A., et al. (2015). The association of neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio with presence and severity of obstructive sleep apnea. *Bratisl. Lek. Listy* 116, 654–658. doi: 10.4149/bll\_2015\_ 125
- Terkeltaub, R. A., Dyer, C. A., Martin, J., and Curtiss, L. K. (1991). Apolipoprotein (apo) E inhibits the capacity of monosodium urate crystals to stimulate neutrophils. Characterization of intraarticular apo E and demonstration of apo

E binding to urate crystals in vivo. J. Clin. Invest. 87, 20-26. doi: 10.1172/ JCI114971

- Tsai, M. S., Tangalos, E. G., Petersen, R. C., Smith, G. E., Schaid, D. J., Kokmen, E., et al. (1994). Apolipoprotein E: risk factor for Alzheimer disease. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 54, 643–649.
- Tseng, C. W., and Liu, G. Y. (2014). Expanding roles of neutrophils in aging hosts. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 29, 43–48. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2014.03. 009
- Vakulenko-Lagun, B., Mandel, M., and Betensky, R. A. (2020). Inverse probability weighting methods for Cox regression with right-truncated data. *Biometrics* 76, 484–495. doi: 10.1111/biom.13162
- Walsh, S. R., Cook, E. J., Goulder, F., Justin, T. A., and Keeling, N. J. (2005). Neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio as a prognostic factor in colorectal cancer. J. Surg. Oncol. 91, 181–184. doi: 10.1002/jso.20329
- Zenaro, E., Pietronigro, E., Della Bianca, V., Piacentino, G., Marongiu, L., Budui, S., et al. (2015). Neutrophils promote Alzheimer's disease-like pathology and cognitive decline via LFA-1 integrin. *Nat. Med.* 21, 880–886. doi: 10.1038/nm. 3913
- Zhou, Z., Zhang, S., Ding, S., Abudupataer, M., Zhang, Z., Zhu, X., et al. (2019). Excessive neutrophil extracellular trap formation aggravates acute myocardial infarction injury in Apolipoprotein E deficiency mice via the ROS-dependent pathway. Oxid. Med. Cell Longev. 2019:1209307. doi: 10.1155/2019/120 9307

Author Disclaimer: The views expressed in this manuscript are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health, or United States Department of Health and Human Services.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Ramos-Cejudo, Johnson, Beiser, Seshadri, Salinas, Berger, Fillmore, Do, Zheng, Kovbasyuk, Ardekani, Bubu, Parekh, Convit, Betensky, Wisniewski and Osorio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## The Interplay Between Brain Vascular Calcification and Microglia

Upasana Maheshwari<sup>1</sup>, Sheng-Fu Huang<sup>1</sup>, Sucheta Sridhar<sup>1,2</sup> and Annika Keller<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurosurgery, Clinical Neuroscience Center, Zürich University Hospital, University of Zürich, Zurich, Switzerland, <sup>2</sup> Neuroscience Center Zürich, University of Zürich and ETH Zürich, Zurich, Switzerland

Vascular calcifications are characterized by the ectopic deposition of calcium and phosphate in the vascular lumen or wall. They are a common finding in computed tomography scans or during autopsy and are often directly related to a pathological condition. While the pathogenesis and functional consequences of vascular calcifications have been intensively studied in some peripheral organs, vascular calcification, and its pathogenesis in the central nervous system is poorly characterized and understood. Here, we review the occurrence of vessel calcifications in the brain in the context of aging and various brain diseases. We discuss the pathomechanism of brain vascular calcification in primary familial brain calcification as an example of brain vessel calcification. A particular focus is the response of microglia to the vessel calcification in the brain and their role in the clearance of calcifications.

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Axel Montagne, University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom

### Reviewed by:

Marie-Ève Tremblay, University of Victoria, Canada David A. D. Munro, University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom

> \*Correspondence: Annika Keller annika.keller@usz.ch

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of Brain-aging, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

> Received: 04 January 2022 Accepted: 11 February 2022 Published: 02 March 2022

#### Citation:

Maheshwari U, Huang SF, Sridhar S and Keller A (2022) The Interplay Between Brain Vascular Calcification and Microglia. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:848495. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.848495 Keywords: astrocyte, cerebrovascular calcification, ectopic calcification, microglia, mouse model, pericyte, primary familial brain calcification, vascular aging

## INTRODUCTION

Vascular calcification associated with vascular aging is prevalent in the elderly population. The presence of calcifications in blood vessels leads to vascular stiffness, loss of elasticity and decreased compliance causing impaired cardiovascular function and potential end-organ damage (Pescatore et al., 2019). Cerebral vascular calcification is considered a predictor of cardiovascular events such as heart attack as well as stroke (Rennenberg et al., 2009; Hermann et al., 2013). In addition, vascular calcification of diseases such as chronic kidney disease and diabetes and is associated with significant morbidity and mortality (Lanzer et al., 2021). Calcification of vessels also occurs in several genetic disorders or due to the systemic imbalance of phosphate metabolism (Takashi and Fukumoto, 2020; Rutsch et al., 2021).

Vasculature is divided into distinct zones based on their cellular and acellular composition, and function. Arteries are composed of lumen forming endothelial cells (*tunica intima*) separated from vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC) (*tunica media*) by a basement membrane. Veins have incomplete VSMC coverage. Capillaries, the predominant vessel type in the brain, are positioned between arteries and veins. Capillaries are composed of endothelial cells and pericytes. In addition, the perivascular space along arteries and veins between the VSMC layer and astrocyte end-feet, which cover the entire vascular tree, contains several cell types, including perivascular macrophages and fibroblasts (**Figure 1A**).

Vascular calcifications can be distributed from the intimal layer (e.g., atherosclerosis) (**Figure 1B**) to the medial layer (**Figure 1C**) of the arterial wall, affecting different large and small arterial beds or capillaries (**Figure 1D**).



FIGURE 1 | Schematic representation of vascular calcifications along the central nervous system (CNS) vascular network. Cellular and structural diversity of the vascular network along the arterio-venous axis (A). In arteries, lumen forming endothelial cells (EC) are separated from circumferentially wrapped vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC) by a basement membrane (BM). Capillary endothelial cells are covered by pericytes (PC) with a prominent cell body and slender processes with which they share the basement membrane and are in direct contact. Capillaries transition into veins which have an incomplete mural cell coverage. The entire vasculature is covered by astrocyte end-feet and occasionally innervated by nerve fibers. Between VSMC layer and astrocyte end-feet reside perivascular fibroblasts (PVF) and perivascular macrophages (PVM). Arterial calcifications can be intimal (B), resulting from atherosclerotic plaque in the lumen, as well as medial (C), due to phenotypic alterations of VSMCs leading to mineralization of extracellular matrix. It is not known to what extent PVM and PVF become modified and contribute to the pathophysiology. Capillary calcifications (D) are characterized by the appearance of mineralized "beads" on the capillary wall, which protrude into brain parenchyma. While it is known that capillary calcifications elicit strong glial reactions, changes in pericytes and endothelial cells in calcified capillaries are poorly understood. Calcifications are depicted as yellow spheres or polygons. BM, basement membrane; CAA, calcification-associated astrocyte; CAM, calcification-associated microglia; EC, endothelium; PVF, perivascular fibroblast; PVM, perivascular macrophage; VSMC, vascular smooth muscle cell.

Unlike peripheral vascular calcification, intracranial calcifications (vascular or parenchymal) are less frequently reported and relatively poorly characterized. Intracranial calcifications are a common incidental finding in computed tomography (CT) imaging in the general population (Deng et al., 2015) and at autopsy. In addition to aging, brain calcifications occur due to metabolic alterations (e.g., chronic kidney disease, thyroid hormone imbalance), infections (e.g., viral encephalitis, neurocysticercosis, neurocryptococcosis), toxic injury (e.g., carbon monoxide poisoning, radio- and chemotherapy), genetic disorders (e.g., neurofibromatosis,

tuberous sclerosis, primary familial brain calcification), brain tumors (e.g., oligodendrogliomas, meningiomas) as well as defective vascular morphogenesis during development (e.g., cavernomas, Sturge-Weber syndrome) (Nash et al., 2004; De La Torre et al., 2018; Donzuso et al., 2019; Saade et al., 2019). Parenchymal calcifications in the pineal gland, also referred to as "brain sand," are even used as an anatomical landmark in radiographic studies (Vígh et al., 1998). The pathogenic mechanisms involved in brain calcifications in these diverse conditions are not well-understood, except in the case of systemic calcium and phosphate imbalances accompanying diseases such as kidney failure, hypo- or hyperparathyroidism. Often, while reported, intracranial calcifications are not clearly distinguished as parenchymal, vascular or both. Nevertheless, intracranial vessel-associated calcifications have been reported to accompany sporadic and familial neurodegenerative [e.g., Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease (AD)] and neuroinflammatory diseases (e.g., type I interferonopathies) (Fujita et al., 2003; Livingston et al., 2013; Ukai and Kosaka, 2016; Donzuso et al., 2019; Saade et al., 2019).

In children, the presence of intracranial calcifications is almost always associated with underlying pathology (Goncalves et al., 2020a,b), whereas in adults, these are viewed as part of the normal aging process. However, recent studies have shown that intracranial calcifications are strong predictors of adverse clinical outcomes (Bartstra et al., 2020). We, therefore, believe that a detailed description of intracranial vascular calcification and related pathomechanism can potentially assist in early prognosis and further our understanding for better therapeutic targeting of brain diseases.

In this review, we describe brain vascular calcifications with a focus on possible underlying pathomechanism and the role of microglia as modifiers of brain vascular calcification. We primarily focus on the pathophysiology of vascular calcification occurring in a neuropsychiatric disease – primary familial brain calcification (PFBC).

# BONE IN THE BRAIN—AN OVERVIEW OF CEREBROVASCULAR CALCIFICATIONS

Calcification of large arteries such as the internal carotid artery, intracranial vertebrobasilar artery, middle cerebral artery, circle of Willis, as well as calcifications in the hippocampus and basal ganglia, are easily observed on CT images (Deng et al., 2015; Bartstra et al., 2020). It is estimated that 30% of aged individuals have brain calcifications (Nicolas et al., 2013a). However, due to relatively low resolution of CT imaging, additional histopathological analyses are required to identify calcification of microvasculature. Few case studies in aged human subjects have shown that both the calcification of the hippocampus and basal ganglia are vascular (Peters et al., 2018; de Brouwer et al., 2021). In the aged hippocampus, arteries, pre-capillaries and capillaries were calcified (Peters et al., 2018). Similar calcification of hippocampal vessels has been reported in AD patients (Wegiel et al., 2002; Schober et al., 2021). A recent study showed that the tunica media of arterioles in the globus pallidus is calcified

in aged individuals, confirmed both histologically and on CT. Calcification of the vascular tree showed a distribution pattern, starting in the ventral striatopallidum spreading posterolaterally into the external half of the globus pallidus (de Brouwer et al., 2021). There is differential involvement of the vascular tree (artery, capillary), which might be dependent on the anatomical region and underlying disease. For example, previous histopathological studies detected arterial calcification in aged subjects and AD patients compared to capillary bed calcification in the globus pallidus in Down syndrome patients (Wegiel et al., 2002; Schober et al., 2021).

# PATHOGENESIS OF VASCULAR CALCIFICATION

In bone, hydroxyapatite or carbonated hydroxyapatite crystals are deposited in the extracellular matrix consisting mainly of collagen I fibers (Arnold et al., 2021). Mineral formation also depends on the presence of metabolic ions (citrate, lactate, carbonate) and proteins as well as glycans that can modify the mineralization process by stabilizing crystals or preventing crystal growth (Young, 2003; Davies et al., 2014). Bone consists of three cell types-(i) osteoblasts- tissue mineralizing cells, (ii) osteoclasts- mineralized tissue resorbing cells, and (iii) osteocytes- long-lived cells located deep inside the bone matrix (Salhotra et al., 2020). Ectopic calcification of the vessel wall is thought to be an active process that resembles the formation of bone with hardening of the tissue initiated by nucleation of calcium phosphate in a permissive matrix. Hydroxyapatite and carbonated hydroxyapatite are the most abundant calcium phosphate phases in both physiological and pathological calcification. Although the primary cause of vascular calcification initiation might be different, it leads to an osteogenic environment. After initiation, osteoblast- and osteoclast-like cells, and bone matrix proteins can be detected in these mineralized structures. Transcriptional programs and signaling pathways involved in normal bone formation are also identified along the calcifying vessel (Chen Y. et al., 2021). In intimal calcification, calcium phosphate deposition occurs in so-called atherosclerotic plaques residing inside the blood vessel lumen. The extent of plaque calcification correlates with plaque stability (Motoyama et al., 2007). Calcification of the middle layer of the blood vessel wall (medial calcification) is associated with aging, diabetes, kidney disease, and hereditary vascular calcification diseases. Although the deposition of hydroxyapatite is a common feature between intimal and medial calcification, initiation and propagation mechanisms differ (Lanzer et al., 2014). The processes that trigger atherosclerotic plaque formation, calcification and the role of innate immunity in these processes are not discussed in this review.

The prevalent view is that medial calcification is accompanied by a phenotypic change of resident vascular smooth muscle cells into cells that promote mineralization. Vascular calcification can be initiated by several triggers such as cellular senescence, inflammation, loss of anti-calcifying proteins and imbalance in extracellular phosphate (Pi) and pyrophosphate (PPi) levels (Pescatore et al., 2019). Cellular senescence and inflammation have been shown to induce trans-differentiation of human primary VSMC into osteoblast-like cells capable of mineralizing the matrix (Nakano-Kurimoto et al., 2009; Sorokin et al., 2020). In addition to VSMC, circulating progenitor cells, mesenchymal stem cells, endothelial cells, and fibroblasts have been shown to share the potential to trans-differentiate into osteoblast-like cells in mouse models of atherosclerosis (Jiang et al., 2021). How can extracellular matrix calcification be controlled by osteoblast and osteoblast-like cells? Poly(ADP)ribose (PAR) generated in response to cell damage signaling (either physiological by osteoclasts or pathological as in VSMC) is involved in matrix calcification (Pescatore et al., 2019). A recent study in mice reported the VSMC and osteoblasts deposit PAR-calcium, which is localized in bone collagen fibrils at the site of formation of calcium phosphate crystals during bone formation (Chow et al., 2014), into the extracellular matrix in response to vascular calcification. This process likely provides calcium for the initiation of calcium-phosphate crystals (Muller et al., 2019). Currently, it is not clear how PARcalcium is delivered to the extracellular matrix, but it might be concentrated in extracellular vesicles involved in matrix mineralization (Muller et al., 2019).

The calcification of blood vessels is also initiated by the loss of calcification inhibitors [e.g., matrix-Gla protein (MGP), osteoprotegerin] (Luo et al., 1997; Bucay et al., 1998) or an imbalance in Pi/PPi/purine metabolism leading to a favorable environment for calcium phosphate deposition (Rutsch et al., 2021). Analysis of mineral phases on calcified aortas of MGPdeficient mice  $(Mgp^{-/-})$  using various spectroscopic and microscopic techniques suggest that calcification of elastin in the absence of MGP is reminiscent of multistep bone mineralization via amorphous calcium phosphate precursors to crystalline structures (hydroxyapatite) (Gourgas et al., 2018). Analysis of Abcc6 and Nt5e knockout mice and mice lacking functional ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase 1 (ENPP1) has led to the hypothesis that reduced plasma PPi, an inhibitor of calcium phosphate crystal growth, leads to a pro-mineralizing environment (Shimada et al., 2021). ABCC6 (ATP-binding cassette subfamily C member 6) facilitates cellular ATP efflux and the cascade of extracellular ATP degradation to adenosine involves hydrolyzes ATP to AMP and PPi by ENPP1. AMP is further hydrolyzed by CD73, a membrane-bound ecto-5'nucleotidase encoded by NT5E, to generate adenosine and Pi. PPi is further hydrolyzed by tissue non-specific alkaline phosphatase (TNAP encoded by ALPL) to extracellular Pi. Adenosine is an indirect inhibitor of calcification by inhibiting TNAP (St Hilaire et al., 2011).

# Pathogenesis of Vascular Calcification in the Brain

Calcification of brain vessels is not specific to *Homo sapiens*, with calcification of cerebral arterioles, venules, and/or capillaries reported in laboratory mice, rats, domesticated animals (cats, dogs, cows, horses), and monkeys (Youssef et al., 2016). Only few studies have specifically characterized the pathomechanisms

underlying brain vascular calcification and its associated changes (Table 1). It is likely that causes described for peripheral vessels are similarly involved in the calcification of cerebral vessels. However, vasculature is organotypic and recent advances in single cell RNA sequencing technology have generated insights into molecular differences and similarities between various vascular beds in the body (Augustin and Koh, 2017). Blood vessels in the body show different susceptibility to calcification, even in genetic diseases. For example, patients with mutations in gene NT5E, encoding for CD73, show preferential calcification of arteries in the extremities (St Hilaire et al., 2011; Zhang Z. et al., 2015). The cellular composition and characteristics of cerebral vessels differ from systemic vasculature. Cerebral endothelial cells possess the blood-brain barrier (BBB), a multicomponent feature that tightly controls parenchymal protein, metabolite, and ionic composition (Keller, 2013). In addition, other vascular cells (e.g., pericytes) have been shown to present organ-specific characteristics, at least at the level of the transcriptome (Vanlandewijck et al., 2018). Furthermore, blood vessels in the brain possess another characteristic not found in peripheral vessels: they are ensheathed with astrocyte end-feet, slender astrocyte processes, enriched with water and potassium channels (Schaffenrath and Keller, 2021). Microglial processes and the cell body contact the vessel basement membrane directly along the vascular tree (Mathiisen et al., 2010; Joost et al., 2019), thereby regulating blood flow in a purinergic receptor P2Y12-dependent manner (Bisht et al., 2021). Furthermore, the composition of the extracellular matrix is different along the vascular tree. In the case of medial calcification, the prevalent ECM component is elastin and elastin haploinsufficiency impedes the progression of arterial calcification (Khavandgar et al., 2014). Thus, given differences in cellular and acellular composition, the

**TABLE 1** Alterations accompanying brain vascular calcifications

pathophysiology of vascular mineralization likely differs between arteries and capillaries.

Vascular calcification increases with age but histopathological studies describing vascular calcifications in the aged human brain are rare (Fujita et al., 2003; Peters et al., 2018; de Brouwer et al., 2021). In general, arterial and capillary calcifications in aged brains have similar histological characteristics as described in various brain pathologies. In aged mice, thalamic blood vessels show the tendency to calcify (Fraser, 1968; Morgan et al., 1982; Yanai et al., 1984, 1987). A recent study showed that vessel-associated calcifications in the thalamus in old wildtype mice show an affinity for bone labeling dyes (Alizarin red and Osteosense). Additionally, aged endothelial cells showed increased TNAP (generates Pi) expression and collagen I deposition in the vascular basement membrane (Yang et al., 2020). The question of whether these matrix mineralizationassociated proteins triggered thalamic vessel calcification was not investigated. Although no inflammatory reaction toward agingrelated vessel calcifications was described using transmission electron microscopy (TEM) (Morgan et al., 1982), additional studies using other methods (e.g., immunohistochemistry) are needed to investigate whether age-related calcifications evoke a glial response. TEM studies on vascular calcifications in monkey and mouse brains have described early changes in the basement membrane with crystalline hydroxyapatite deposits coinciding with cellular debris or basement membrane degeneration (Morgan et al., 1982; Yanai et al., 1984, 1987, 1994). Alterations in the composition of the basement membrane (accumulation of osteopontin and the appearance of fibrotic collagen I) have also been reported to precede matrix mineralization in the case of hereditary cerebral hemorrhage with Dutch type amyloidosis (Grand Moursel et al., 2019). Age is an independent

Alteration/observation	Condition	Comment	References
Osteogenic environment	PFBC, AD, PD, aging	Accumulation of anti- and pro-calcification proteins in mineralized deposits on blood vessels	Fujita et al., 2003; Nahar et al., 2019; Zarb et al., 2019b
	PFBC	Cells expressing osteoblast markers around vascular calcifications.	Zarb et al., 2019b
	PFBC	Cells expressing osteoclast markers surrounding vascular calcifications. Osteoclast-like cells expressing cathepsin K are derived from microglia in a mouse model of PFBC.	Zarb et al., 2019b, 2021
	Zika virus infection	Differentiation of Zika virus infected pericytes into osteoblast-like cells in vitro in response to BMP2.	Chen W. et al., 2021
Changes in the basement membrane	Aging	Electron microscopy studies reveal degeneration of vascular basement membrane and the presence of hydroxyapatite crystals in aged mice.	Morgan et al., 1982; Yanai et al., 1984
	Aging	Increased deposition of collagen I in vascular basement membrane in aged mice.	Yang et al., 2020
	HCHWA-D	Vascular mineralization is preceded by accumulation of osteopontin and the appearance of fibrotic collagen I in autopsy samples.	Grand Moursel et al., 2019
Oxidative stress	PFBC	Accumulation of 2-ω-carboxyethylpyrrole CEP adducts in astrocytes surrounding vascular calcifications in a mouse model of PFBC.	Zarb et al., 2019b
Altered levels of inorganic phosphate	PFBC	Higher inorganic phosphate levels in the CSF in $Slc20a2^{-/-}$ mice and $SLC20A2$ mutation carriers	Jensen et al., 2016; Paucar et al., 2017; Wallingford et al., 2017; Hozumi et al., 2018
	Aging	Endothelial cells of old mice are expressing higher levels of TNAP	Yang et al., 2020

AD, Alzheimer's disease; HCHWA-D, hereditary cerebral hemorrhage with amyloidosis-Dutch type; PD, Parkinson's disease; PFBC, primary familial brain calcification.

risk factor for both the development of cardiovascular disease and neurodegenerative disease (Yazdanyar and Newman, 2009; Hou et al., 2019), and thus, more studies are needed to characterize changes in aged blood vessels that lead to vascular calcifications in the brain.

In order to describe the pathophysiology of brain vessel calcification in detail, we will refer to studies investigating vascular calcification in PFBC.

### **Primary Familial Brain Calcification**

As mentioned above, the list of diseases with brain calcification as a secondary manifestation is extensive and it has not been intensively investigated whether these calcifications are vascular and/or parenchymal. In the case of hereditary neuropsychiatric disease, primary familial brain calcification (PFBC), the presence of bilateral basal ganglia vascular calcifications is a diagnostic criterion (Balck et al., 2021). PFBC patients may present clinically with motor (e.g., parkinsonism, ataxia, speech disturbance) and/or non-motor (cognitive deficit, depression, psychosis) phenotypes or may even remain unaffected (Balck et al., 2021). In PFBC, the capillary bed is encrusted with the calcium phosphate deposits like "pearls on the string" in addition to the calcification of the medial layer of arteries and arterioles (Miklossy et al., 2005; Kimura et al., 2016). These small, mineralized deposits are located on the capillary wall adjacent to the parenchyma (Kobayashi et al., 1987) (Figures 1A,D).

Autosomal-dominant (AD)- PFBC is caused by mutations in the platelet-derived growth factor subunit B (PDGFB) (Keller et al., 2013) and its receptor-PDGFRB (Nicolas et al., 2013b), solute carrier family 20 member 2 (SLC20A2) (Wang et al., 2012), and xenotropic and polytropic retrovirus receptor 1 (XPR1) (Legati et al., 2015). SLC20A2 (also known as PiT2) is an inorganic phosphate importer (Kavanaugh et al., 1994) and XPR1 is the only known mammalian inorganic phosphate exporter (Giovannini et al., 2013). PDGFB and PDGFRB are growth factor and receptor, respectively, implicated in organ development (Andrae et al., 2008; Armulik et al., 2011). Autosomal-recessive (AR) form of PFBC is caused by mutations in myogenesis regulating glycosidase (MYORG) (Yao et al., 2018) and junctional-adhesion-molecule-2 (JAM2) (Cen et al., 2020). The cellular function of MYORG, an intracellular transmembrane protein belonging to glycosyl hydrolase family, is currently unknown. The knock-out of Myorg (alternative name in the mouse genome is AI464131) in mice does not lead to gross developmental defects (Yao et al., 2018). JAM2 encodes for the transmembrane protein located to cell-cell adhesions and is implicated in trans-endothelial migration of leukocytes (Aurrand-Lions et al., 2001). The genes that cause both, AD-PFBC and AR-PFBC, are functionally different, and expressed by several cell types in the brain (Zarb et al., 2019a). XPR1 and SLC20A2 are ubiquitously expressed (Zeisel et al., 2018). PDGFRB is expressed by perivascular fibroblasts, vascular smooth muscle cells, pericytes and, astrocytes. PDGFB, the main ligand for PDGFRB, is expressed by endothelial cells and microglia, and by certain excitatory and cholinergic neurons (Armulik et al., 2011; Vanlandewijck et al., 2018; Zeisel et al., 2018). MYORG is expressed only by astrocytes (Yao

et al., 2018) and JAM2 by perivascular fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and astrocytes (Vanlandewijck et al., 2018). Recent investigations using animal models and genetic analyses have led to a better understanding of the pathophysiology of vascular calcification in PFBC. Currently, three mouse models mimic the histopathological features of PFBC: Slc20a2 (Jensen et al., 2013) and Myorg (Yao et al., 2018) knockouts, and PDGFB hypomorph (*Pdgfb<sup>ret/ret</sup>*, retention motif knockout) (Keller et al., 2013). The retention motif knockout renders a biologically active PDGFB protein unable to bind extracellular heparan sulfate proteoglycans and thus, shape PDGFB gradients (Abramsson et al., 2003; Lindblom et al., 2003). In PFBC mutation carriers, calcification of the medial layer of arteries, as well as capillaries, is observed (Kozik and Kulczycki, 1978; Miklossy et al., 2005; Kimura et al., 2016). In addition, calcium precipitates have been reported on neurons and astrocytes (Kobayashi et al., 1987; Miklossy et al., 2005). Vascular calcifications are proteinrich and contain hydroxyapatite and trace elements (Zn, Fe) (Smeyers-Verbeke et al., 1975; Bouras et al., 1996). Vascular calcification is similar in mouse models of PFBC with single rounded or mulberry shaped lamellar structures deposited on the vessel wall of arterioles and capillaries and protruding into the parenchyma (Jensen et al., 2013; Keller et al., 2013) (Figure 1). Calcifications appear as nodules such that the entire capillary is occasionally surrounded by ring-like calcification. These calcifications contain calcium and phosphate as well as collagenous and non-collagenous bone proteins. They bind bisphosphonates, are of bone density and stain for histological dyes used to visualize bone (e.g., Alizarin red, Alcian blue) (Jensen et al., 2013, 2018; Keller et al., 2013; Yao et al., 2018; Zarb et al., 2019b). Mass spectrometry has been used to characterize calcifications in mice and has shown that they contain proteins that promote (e.g., secreted glycoprotein SPARCL1) or halt calcification (fetuin A, MGP, osteopontin) (Nahar et al., 2019). In addition, they contain amyloid precursor protein (APP), amyloid precursor-like protein 2 (APLP2), as well as secretogranin-1 (CHGB) and chromogranin A (CHGA), which are major constituents of large dense core vesicles involved in storing and delivering large neurotransmitters in neurons (Nahar et al., 2019). Accordingly, these calcifications can be visualized in tissue sections using antibodies against APP, APLP2, osteopontin, osteocalcin, collagen I (Nahar et al., 2019; Zarb et al., 2019b, 2021). Although calcifications contain APP, APLP2 and aggregated protein structures, these structures lack the  $\beta$ -pleated sheet conformation and structural regularity recognized by Thioflavin T or Congo red (Zarb et al., 2021). Chromogranins (CHGB, CHGA) are deposited in the amyloid plaques in AD patients and are deregulated in other brain disorders such as multiple sclerosis, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, schizophrenia (Willis et al., 2011). Interestingly, a recent study identified a chromogranin A derived peptide from the adrenal gland, which inhibits the osteogenic trans-differentiation of VSMC in vitro (Orth-Alampour et al., 2021).

The underlying mechanism leading to vascular calcification and constituent cell types is currently unclear. The genes that cause both AD-PFBC and AR-PFBC are functionally different and expressed by several cell types at the neurovascular unit. The pathogenesis of PFBC may be multifactorial with mutations potentially affecting multiple cell types in brain vessels and leading to the formation of vessel-associated calcifications. Cell type specific knockouts of involved genes should clarify the role of individual cell types. However, it has been demonstrated in mice that the endothelial expression of PDGFB is protective against brain calcifications (Keller et al., 2013), indicating that vessel-calcification might be caused by reduced PDGFB/PDGFRB signaling at the vessel wall. In summary, it remains to be discovered why mutations in structurally and functionally different protein families lead to the same disease and calcifications of cerebral arteries and capillaries.

## Does Imbalance in Brain Phosphate Metabolism Cause Vascular Calcification?

One hypothesis is that vascular calcification in PFBC is caused by the locally altered phosphate levels in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and perivascular spaces (Wallingford et al., 2017). There are no abnormalities in phosphate and calcium levels in the serum of PFBC patients (Manyam, 2005) and PFBC animal models (Keller et al., 2013; Jensen et al., 2016). In addition, analysis of serum calcification propensity of Pdgfb<sup>ret/ret</sup> mice did not point to alterations in the humoral anti-calcification defense (Zarb et al., 2019b). Studies on Slc20a2<sup>-/-</sup> mice suggest that loss of this phosphate importer increases local phosphate concentration in the cerebrospinal fluid, leading to calcium-phosphate deposition in the glymphatic space due to imbalanced phosphate metabolism and subsequent calcification of arterioles (Wallingford et al., 2017). Also, SLC20A2 (but not PDGFB) mutation carriers show elevated levels of Pi in CSF (Jensen et al., 2016; Paucar et al., 2017; Wallingford et al., 2017; Hozumi et al., 2018). It was proposed that changes in Pi concentrations in the CSF could be caused by altered Pi absorption by choroid plexus epithelial cells (Wallingford et al., 2017). SLC20A2 belongs to the type III family of inorganic phosphate importers that consists of two proteins-SLC20A1 and SLC20A2 (frequently used protein name is PiT1 and PiT2, respectively). These proteins are known to maintain cellular phosphate homeostasis (Lederer and Miyamoto, 2012). Therefore, it is difficult to envision how SLC20A2 mutations could lead to changes in the extracellular phosphate levels.

Cellular ATP and inorganic phosphate levels are sensed by cells by detecting changes in inositol pyrophosphate concentration (Azevedo and Saiardi, 2017). Previous studies have shown that XPR1 senses the intracellular phosphate level by binding to inositol pyrophosphates via its SPX domain (Wilson et al., 2019; Li et al., 2020). Proteins regulating various aspects of phosphate metabolism accomplish this via the SPX (named after yeast proteins Syg1, Pho81 and the mammalian Xpr1) domain. Yeast and plants have several SPX-domaincontaining proteins but mammals have only one protein -XPR1 (Azevedo and Saiardi, 2017). A recent study identified crosstalk between SLC20A2 and XPR1 for maintaining constant intracellular phosphate and ATP levels, where XPR1 is a key inositol pyrophosphate-dependent regulator of this process (Lopez-Sanchez et al., 2020). An electron microscope study on  $Slc20a2^{-/-}$  mice showed intracellular calcium phosphate crystals in pericytes and astrocytes (Jensen et al., 2018), indicating that the initial crystallization of calcium phosphate could occur intracellularly. Thus, the XPR1 and SLC20A2 mutation carriers could show altered intracellular phosphate metabolism. The consequences on vascular cells and how this leads to vascular calcification remain to be determined.

## Blood-Brain Barrier Dysfunction–A Cause for Vascular Calcification in Primary Familial Brain Calcification?

Histopathological changes such as the extravasation of plasma proteins observed in the PFBC autopsy cases and the presence of vasogenic edema detected by magnetic resonance imaging indicate BBB dysfunction (Gomez et al., 1989; Miklossy et al., 2005). The initial interpretation of data suggested pericyte deficiency and BBB deficiency in PFBC as a potential link between the formation of brain calcifications (Keller et al., 2013). However, later studies on mouse models did not find evidence to support this view. The brain regions associated with vascular calcification (i.e., thalamus, mesencephalon, and dorsal pons) in Pdgfb<sup>ret/ret</sup> mice showed significantly lower BBB permeability (Vanlandewijck et al., 2015). It is likely that BBB permeability changes in PFBC occur independently and are not a direct cause of vascular calcification. No BBB disruption has been detected in  $Slc20a2^{-/-}$  mice (Wallingford et al., 2017; Nahar et al., 2019). Interestingly, gene mutations in endothelial junctional proteins occludin, junctional adhesion molecule 3 (JAM3) and cerebral cavernous malformation (CCM) -1, -2, -3 lead to the BBB deficiency and brain calcification (Saitou et al., 2000; Mochida et al., 2010; O'driscoll et al., 2010; Fischer et al., 2013). In addition, biallelic-mutations in a gene encoding a cell-cell junction protein JAM2 causes PFBC (Cen et al., 2020; Schottlaender et al., 2020). This suggests that specific alterations in cell-cell adhesion at the vascular wall could lead to vascular calcification, which are not necessarily dependent on BBB permeability.

### Phenotypic Change of Vascular Cells to Osteoblast-Like Cells in Primary Familial Brain Calcification?

The PDGFB/PDGFRB pathway is crucial for pericyte development (Armulik et al., 2011), which raises the question as to whether vascular calcification in PDGFB and PDGFRB mutation carriers is caused by the lack of pericytes. As discussed above, follow-up studies have not supported pericyte deficiency as a cause of vascular calcification in PDGFB mouse model (Vanlandewijck et al., 2015). In Pdgfb<sup>ret/ret</sup> mice, the vessels in deep brain regions had a higher pericyte coverage and less BBB leakage compared to cortical vessels, a region that does not calcify (Vanlandewijck et al., 2015). Thus, one might speculate that the presence of pericytes is needed for the development of calcifications. In addition, an alteration in pericyte numbers has not been observed in  $Slc20a2^{-/-}$  mice (Wallingford et al., 2017; Nahar et al., 2019). Characterization of the extracellular environment surrounding vascular calcifications showed a so-called osteogenic environment in Pdgfb<sup>ret/ret</sup> mice and human PFBC cases (Zarb et al., 2019b). Calcifications were associated with cells expressing markers of osteoblasts, and osteocytes (Zarb et al., 2019b), but the cellular origin of these cells is not known. Cultured pericytes, depending on culture conditions, have the capacity to form extracellular calcifications containing hydroxyapatite (Schor et al., 1990). Interestingly, in vitro infection of human fetal pericytes with Asian strain of Zika virus led to dedifferentiation of pericytes into bone forming cells via upregulation of bone morphogenetic protein 2 (BMP2) (Chen W. et al., 2021). Also, endothelial cells have the capacity to give rise to bone-forming cells, as was shown in fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva, a disease characterized by extensive extraskeletal bone formation (Medici et al., 2010; Yao et al., 2013). Curiously, astrocytes have also been linked to the formation of chondrocytes in human gliomas in which a gradual morphologic change of astrocytes to cells indistinguishable from chondrocytes was observed (Kepes et al., 1984). Phenotypic alterations in pericytes in mouse models of PFBC have not been extensively investigated. Isolated brain vessels in PDGFB hypomorphs show upregulation of *Bmp2* and *Bmp4* expression (Armulik et al., 2010). Single cell RNA sequencing of brain endothelial cells showed that both Bmp2 and Bmp4 expression is elevated in Pdgfb<sup>ret/ret</sup> mice (Mae et al., 2021). Bmps are expressed by normal endothelial cells and pericytes. Altered Bmp expression in Pdgfb<sup>ret/ret</sup> mice could reflect alterations caused by disturbed pericyte-endothelial crosstalk due to reduced pericyte numbers (Armulik et al., 2010; Vanlandewijck et al., 2018; Mae et al., 2021). Upregulated BMP signaling induces proinflammatory effects in endothelial cells (Cai et al., 2012). Aortic calcification is known to be associated with inflammation and dependent on BMP2 signaling (Canet-Soulas et al., 2021). It remains to be investigated whether deregulated expression of Bmp2 and Bmp4 contributes to vascular inflammation and calcification in *Pdgfb<sup>ret/ret</sup>* mice (Torok et al., 2021).

## What Is the Role of Astrocytes in Brain Vascular Calcification?

Vessel associated calcifications elicit a conspicuous glial response in mouse models and human PFBC cases (Chakrabarty et al., 2011; Keller et al., 2013; Zarb et al., 2019b) (Figure 1). TEM images reveal that calcifications in mouse models of PFBC are surrounded by glia - either astrocytes or microglia (Nahar et al., 2019). Microglia surrounding calcifications contain inclusions of phagocytosed material, whereas astrocytes surrounding calcifications show signs of degeneration and the accumulation of calcium crystals (Jensen et al., 2018; Nahar et al., 2019). Strongly glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) positive astrocytes surrounding calcifications express podoplanin (Zarb et al., 2019b), a protein strongly expressed by a subset of reactive astrocytes in glioblastoma, and after ischemic and stab wound injuries (Kolar et al., 2015). In addition, astrocytes surrounding calcifications also express proteins like complement 3 and lipocalin 2, which are commonly upregulated during various insults (Bi et al., 2013). Astrocytes around calcifications could potentially lead to neuronal damage and modify the inflammatory response. In addition, GFAP-positive astrocytes around calcifications are positive for 2-ω-carboxyethylpyrrole (CEP) adducts, a peroxidation product of docosahexaenoic acid (Zarb et al., 2019b). It remains to be shown whether the CEP is produced in astrocytes surrounding calcifications or scavenged from the environment. Nevertheless, the accumulation of CEP is characteristic of inflammation-associated oxidative stress in the

human brain (Xiong et al., 2021), which indicates the presence of oxidative stress, a well-characterized stimulator and accelerator of vascular calcification (Pescatore et al., 2019), in PFBC. Thus, accumulating evidence indicates that astrocytes could play a role in PFBC pathology. Interestingly, MYORG, a gene mutated in AR-PFBC, is exclusively expressed by S100 $\beta$  positive astrocytes in the mouse brain (Yao et al., 2018). This observation raises the question of whether cell-autonomous changes in astrocytes lead to vascular calcification. In fact, astrocytes are the only cell type at the neurovascular unit expressing all genes, except the PDGFB, causing PFBC.

## **Microgliopathies and Brain Calcification**

Microglia, resident tissue macrophages in the brain, are essential for the proper central nervous system (CNS) development and recovery from injury (e.g., remyelination) (Li and Barres, 2018). In addition, microglia are responsible for sensing and removing self-injurious proteins such as aggregated A $\beta$ ,  $\alpha$ -synuclein, and prions (Hickman et al., 2018). Many AD risk genes are expressed by microglia and are involved in modifying microglial phagocytosis among other pathways (Hansen et al., 2018). Brain calcifications comprise one of the pathological hallmarks of a wide range of brain diseases affecting microglia or causing autoinflammation. Patients with mutations in genes implicated in microglial development and function [e.g., interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8), colony stimulating factor 1 receptor (CSF1R), triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2), negative regulator of reactive oxygen species (NRROS)] harbor intracerebral calcifications (Rademakers et al., 2011; Konno et al., 2017; Bigley et al., 2018; Dong et al., 2020; Chitu et al., 2021). Patients with Nasu-Hakola disease, a neurodegenerative disease caused by mutations in TYRO protein tyrosine kinase-binding protein (TYROBP, also known as DAP12) or TREM2, present with cerebrovascular changes and bilateral basal ganglia calcifications localized to the walls of blood vessels (Kalimo et al., 1994; Coomans et al., 2018). Of note, brain calcification has not yet been reported in various mouse Csf1r mutants or in mice deficient of Trem2, Dap12, Lrrc33 (NRROS) and Irf8 but it would be of great interest to investigate whether these mice develop calcifications during aging or along with existing pathologies. However, long-term elimination of microglia using the CSF1R inhibitor, PLX5622, in control and PFBC mice resulted in localized axonal damage to fiber tracts of the internal capsule and adjacent thalamic and striatal areas, characterized by bone protein containing axonal spheroids (Zarb et al., 2021). This indicates that the chronic absence of CSF1R signaling could also lead to white matter calcification in mice.

Dysregulation of the type I interferon pathway, an essential component of the brain's innate immune defense, also triggers brain calcification, which is considered a useful radiological imaging marker for these diseases (Mcglasson et al., 2015). Mutations in ubiquitin-specific peptidase 18 (*USP18*), a ubiquitin-specific protease, which negatively regulates type I interferon-signaling, lead to brain calcifications in humans (Meuwissen et al., 2016). Microglia specific deletion of *Usp18* in mice leads to the formation of calcifications

(Goldmann et al., 2015). On the other hand, a baseline type I interferon signaling in microglia is necessary to prevent calcification. Immunodeficiency caused by interferon-stimulated gene 15 (*IGS15*) mutations leads to intracranial calcifications in humans (Zhang X. et al., 2015).

Although brain calcification is a pathological hallmark of the above-mentioned diseases, the pathogenesis and the role of microglial involvement has not received much attention. One of the reasons could be that calcifications in brain tissue are generally considered clinically irrelevant due to their occurrence in aged individuals (Arnold and Kreel, 1991). Nevertheless, the presence of calcifications is an indication of altered homeostasis and diseases caused by a cell-autonomous defect in microglia are associated with brain calcification. Thus, microglial function seems to be critical in controlling brain calcification, either by removing apoptotic cells or controlling proteostasis of the ECM, and thereby nucleation of calcium phosphate, and/or removal of hydroxyapatite. Babies born with congenital Zika virus infection have intracerebral calcifications at birth (Moore et al., 2017), but show progressive clearance of intraparenchymal calcifications (Petribu et al., 2017), suggesting that calcifications can be reabsorbed. This raises the question of how and which cells are responsible for removing calcifications. It would not be farfetched to suggest that microglial activity plays a cardinal role.

## Microglia and Vascular Calcifications in Primary Familial Brain Calcification

Microglia surround brain calcifications in human PFBC cases and PFBC mouse models (Miklossy et al., 2005; Nahar et al., 2019; Zarb et al., 2019b, 2021). A recent study using the PFBC mouse model (Pdgfb<sup>ret/ret</sup> mice) presented evidence that microglia play a protective role by halting the calcification of capillaries (Zarb et al., 2021). Transcriptomic analysis of calcified mouse brain tissue showed deregulation of inflammatory pathways associated with activated microglia. Microglia acquire various insult-dependent activation profiles, however, some of the signature genes are shared by different insults (Candlish and Hefendehl, 2021). While the expression of many proteins [e.g., lipoprotein lipase (LPL), CD68, integrin alpha X (ITGAX), cystatin F (CST7), C-Type Lectin Domain Containing 7A (CLEC7A or dectin-1)] by microglia surrounding calcifications or calcification-associated microglia (CAM) is shared with the previously identified core signature (Keren-Shaul et al., 2017), there are differences in the expression profile (e.g., expression of cathepsin K) (Figure 2A). Lineage tracing experiments have shown that cathepsin K expressing cells are derived from microglia (Zarb et al., 2021). In bone, cathepsin K, the principal collagen I degrading enzyme, is secreted by osteoclasts (Drake et al., 1996; Costa et al., 2011). In addition to cathepsin K, microglia surrounding calcifications express receptor activator of nuclear factor  $\kappa$  B (RANK or TNFRSF11A) (Zarb et al., 2021), a receptor known to regulate osteoclast differentiation (Li et al., 2000). Thus, microglia surrounding calcifications might acquire an osteoclast-like phenotype necessary for removing the calcified extracellular matrix. Interestingly, osteoclasts and brain macrophages share key signaling pathways for their



FIGURE 2 | Microglial phenotype in response to vascular calcifications. Calcification-associated microglia (CAM) show a distinct molecular signature (A). Signature changes partially overlap with disease-associated microglia (DAM), except for RANK and cathepsin K expression, which are unique to CAM. Modifying microglial activity via TREM2 can play a direct role in controlling vessel calcification load (B). The process through which TREM2 activity controls calcification load is still unknown. TREM2 could sustain microglial fitness and support microglial phagocytosis resulting in reduced calcification load. TREM2 activity is upstream of cathepsin K. Proliferating microglia surround vascular calcifications (C). The nature of proliferating microglia in the near vicinity of calcifications and their fate is not well-understood. Depicted are two possibilities (pink and green arrows) for the origin and fate of proliferating microglia surrounding vessel calcifications. These possibilities are: expansion of calcification-associated microglia (green arrows) and/or replacement of parenchymal microglia in the vicinity of calcified vessels (pink arrows). CAM, calcification-associated microglia.

development (e.g., TREM2/DAP12, CSF1) (Lee et al., 2021). During embryogenesis, osteoclasts originate from erythromyeloid progenitors in the embryo and are subsequently maintained in adulthood by hematopoietic stem cells-derived blood leukocytes (Jacome-Galarza et al., 2019). Alternatively, microglia originate from erythro-myeloid precursors in the yolk sac (Ginhoux et al., 2010; Schulz et al., 2012; Goldmann et al., 2016; Utz et al., 2020) and are maintained by selfrenewal in the adult. The brain harbors several macrophage populations: parenchymal macrophages (i.e., microglia) and non-parenchymal macrophages, which reside at CNS border regions including the meninges, choroid plexus and perivascular spaces (Kierdorf et al., 2019). Further studies using Crelines that distinguish microglia from perivascular macrophages, and peripheral myeloid cells are needed to clarify whether cathepsin K expressing cells surrounding vessel calcifications are derived exclusively from microglia. In addition, it remains to be investigated whether brain perivascular macrophages and/or peripheral monocytes modify cerebral vascular calcification. Atherosclerotic lesions contain several macrophage populations, which have different capacities to promote or halt lesion development (Willemsen and De Winther, 2020). Although macrophages in these lesions express osteoclast markers (tartrateresistant acid phosphatase, cathepsin K, carbonic anhydrase 2), they have low mineral resorption potential due to altered nuclear factor of activated T cells type c-1 (NFATC1) signaling, resulting in a lower expression and activity of cathepsin K (Chinetti-Gbaguidi et al., 2017). Calcification-associated microglia specific knockout of cathepsin K should clarify its importance in degrading vascular calcifications in the PFBC (Figure 2B). Of note, there is also heterogeneity within calcification-associated microglia in PFBC. The expression of markers such as Ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1(IBA1) and CLEC7A are detected in all microglia surrounding calcifications, whereas expression of some markers (e.g., cathepsin K, ITGAX) are detected only in a subset of microglia (Zarb et al., 2021).

Long-term removal of microglia using the CSF1R inhibitor PLX5622 resulted in an increase in vessel-associated calcification load in Pdgfb<sup>ret/ret</sup> mice. Similar results were obtained in Pdgfb<sup>ret/ret</sup> mice lacking one or two functional alleles of Trem2 (Zarb et al., 2021). The absence of cathepsin K expression by microglia surrounding calcifications in these mice indicates that TREM2 activity could be necessary to induce osteoclast-like phenotype in microglia (Figure 2B). Interestingly, single cell analysis of atherosclerotic lesions isolated from mouse models of atherosclerosis showed the presence of TREM2<sup>high</sup> macrophages, which were enriched for genes highly expressed by osteoclasts, suggesting a role in lesion calcification (Cochain et al., 2018). This population also expressed markers for so-called diseaseassociated microglia described in aging and mouse models of AD (Keren-Shaul et al., 2017). It remains to be investigated whether the expression of osteoclast genes in TREM2<sup>high</sup> macrophages is TREM2 dependent and whether these cells modify the calcification of atherosclerotic lesions.

Microglia turnover rate in the normal brain is relatively low, but under pathological conditions, the microglial turnover rate is increased (Prinz et al., 2019). Accordingly, conspicuous microglial proliferation can be detected in brain regions that develop vascular calcifications in a mouse model of PFBC (Zarb et al., 2021). There might be a higher microglial turnover rate in these regions since phagocytosis/degradation of calcifications by microglia could lead to exhaustion and death, similar to the microglial dynamics detected in the mouse model of AD (Prinz and Priller, 2017). It needs to be investigated whether there is a clonal expansion of CAM (**Figure 2C**, green arrows) and/or replacement of parenchymal microglia in the vicinity of calcified vessels which give rise to CAM (**Figure 2C**, pink arrows).

Microglia have emerged as disease modifiers in a wide range of neurodegenerative diseases (e.g., AD) (Hickman et al., 2018). Of six genes implicated in PFBC (*JAM2*, *PDGFB*, *PDGFRB*, *SLC20A2*, *XPR1*, *MYORG*), microglia express *JAM2*, *PDGFB*, *SLC20A2*, *XPR1*. Microglia do not express the receptor—PDGFRB, and thus, it is unlikely that *PDGFB* or *PDGFRB* haploinsufficiency in PFBC causes cell-autonomous microglial dysfunction. Nevertheless, cells of monocyte origin derived from PDGFB hypomorphs and PFBC patients carrying PDGFB mutation were reported to show defects in osteoclastdifferentiation *in vitro* (Schiemenz et al., 2020). However, whether this finding also applies to brain macrophages was not investigated. Interestingly, *xpr1b*, an orthologue of *XPR1*, is crucial for the differentiation of tissue-resident macrophages and microglia in zebrafish (Meireles et al., 2014), indicating that PFBC genes could modify the development of tissue resident macrophages.

Currently, it is not known how microglia sense and degrade calcifications. Although microglia surround and phagocytose calcifications, there is currently no understanding of how they sense calcifications on vessels. Future studies should clarify how the calcified extracellular matrix on the vessel wall is sensed by microglia. In general, little is known how extracellular calcium phosphate crystals are recognized by macrophages (Mulay and Anders, 2016). It could involve various patternrecognition receptors (PRRs) implicated in recognition damageor pathogen-associated patterns. Recently, CLEC12A, a PRR belonging to the same class as CLEC7A, induced in CAM, was shown to recognize inflammation causing deposition of uric acid crystals in joints in gout (Neumann et al., 2014). However, this interaction was shown to be necessary to inhibit the immune response, as mice deficient in Clec12a exhibited hyperinflammation in response to uric acid crystals (Neumann et al., 2014). Another possibility is that the recognition/uptake of calcifications is receptor-independent and mediated via membrane lipids, similar to solid structure uptake in dendritic cells (Ng et al., 2008). Stiffness of vascular walls most likely differs between normal and calcified vessels such that microglia could sense and respond to altered tissue stiffness. Microglia have the capacity to respond to tissue stiffness as in the retina, where microglial phenotype and the control of vascular architecture was dependent on tissue stiffness and regulated by integrin signaling (Dudiki et al., 2020). As has been shown in other types of vascular injury, microglia could also respond to vascular calcifications by sensing alterations via purinergic receptor P2Y12 (Lou et al., 2016). Although it is not known whether vascular calcification in the brain involves alterations in purinergic signaling, altered Pi/PPi/purinergic signaling has been shown to cause vascular calcification in pseudoxanthoma elasticum (Rutsch et al., 2021). Additionally, it would be necessary to dissect signaling pathways that could trigger a coordinated degradation of proteins and hydroxyapatite by microglia. As discussed above, TREM2 activity is essential but most likely additional signaling pathways participate in this process. Since macrophages are capable of degrading phagocytosed hydroxyapatite (Hyvonen and Kowolik, 1992), it would be interesting to investigate whether microglia show differential capacity to degrade matrix depending on the Ca-phosphate phases (i.e., amorphous calcium phosphate vs hydroxyapatite).

## OUTLOOK

Brain vessel calcifications that accompany aging are shared by diverse brain pathologies, and in some cases, comprise a diagnostic criterion. The brain possesses an energy reserve limited to only a few minutes, and therefore, brain function is dependent on continuous blood flow delivered by the vasculature (Mergenthaler et al., 2013; Iadecola, 2017). Although vascular calcification is unlikely to be beneficial, insights into the consequences of vessel calcification on neurovascular coupling and brain function are needed. In addition, it is important to understand the vascular and parenchymal alterations preceding mineralization of the vessel wall as well as longitudinal changes in the composition of mineral phases and other components such as proteins and metabolic ions. Accumulating evidence suggests that dysfunction of resident brain macrophages leads to tissue calcification. Thus, removal of calcium phosphate precipitates in the brain parenchyma and vessel wall could be considered as a part of microglia parenchymal surveillance along with other well-described functions. However, the direct function of CAM is currently unclear and requires further study. Also, excellent questions for future research are how

### REFERENCES

- Abramsson, A., Lindblom, P., and Betsholtz, C. (2003). Endothelial and nonendothelial sources of PDGF-B regulate pericyte recruitment and influence vascular pattern formation in tumors. *J. Clin. Invest.* 112, 1142–1151. doi: 10. 1172/JCI18549
- Andrae, J., Gallini, R., and Betsholtz, C. (2008). Role of platelet-derived growth factors in physiology and medicine. *Genes Dev.* 22, 1276–1312. doi: 10.1101/ gad.1653708
- Armulik, A., Genove, G., and Betsholtz, C. (2011). Pericytes: developmental, physiological, and pathological perspectives, problems, and promises. *Dev. cell* 21, 193–215. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2011.07.001
- Armulik, A., Genove, G., Mae, M., Nisancioglu, M. H., Wallgard, E., and Niaudet, C. (2010). Pericytes regulate the blood-brain barrier. *Nature* 468, 557–561.
- Arnold, A., Dennison, E., Kovacs, C. S., Mannstadt, M., Rizzoli, R., and Brandi, L. (2021). Hormonal regulation of biomineralization. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 17, 261–275. doi: 10.1038/s41574-021-00477-2
- Arnold, M. M., and Kreel, L. (1991). Asymptomatic cerebral calcification–a previously unrecognized feature. *Postgrad. Med. J.* 67, 147–153. doi: 10.1136/ pgmj.67.784.147
- Augustin, H. G., and Koh, G. Y. (2017). Organotypic vasculature: from descriptive heterogeneity to functional pathophysiology. *Science* 357:eaal2379. doi: 10. 1126/science.aal2379
- Aurrand-Lions, M., Duncan, L., Ballestrem, C., and Imhof, B. A. (2001). JAM-2, a novel immunoglobulin superfamily molecule, expressed by endothelial and lymphatic cells. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 2733–2741. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M005458200
- Azevedo, C., and Saiardi, A. (2017). Eukaryotic Phosphate Homeostasis: the Inositol Pyrophosphate Perspective. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 42, 219–231. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2016.10.008
- Balck, A., Schaake, S., Kuhnke, N. S., Domingo, A., Madoev, H., Margolesky, J., et al. (2021). Genotype-Phenotype Relations in Primary Familial Brain Calcification: systematic MDSGene Review. *Mov. Disord.* 36, 2468–2480. doi: 10.1002/mds. 28753
- Bartstra, J. W., Van Den Beukel, T. C., Van Hecke, W., Mali, W., Spiering, W., Koek, H. L., et al. (2020). Intracranial Arterial Calcification: prevalence, Risk Factors, and Consequences: JACC Review Topic of the Week. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 76, 1595–1604. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.07.056
- Bi, F., Huang, C., Tong, J., Qiu, G., Huang, B., Wu, Q., et al. (2013). Reactive astrocytes secrete lcn2 to promote neuron death. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 110, 4069–4074. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1218497110
- Bigley, V., Maisuria, S., Cytlak, U., Jardine, L., Care, M. A., and Green, K. (2018). Biallelic interferon regulatory factor 8 mutation: a complex immunodeficiency syndrome with dendritic cell deficiency, monocytopenia, and immune dysregulation. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 141, 2234–2248. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.08.044

microglia recognize and degrade vascular calcifications and how to therapeutically target microglia in order to reduce vascular calcification.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AK wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Swiss National Science Foundation (310030\_188952), the Synapsis Foundation (2019-PI02), and the Swiss Multiple Sclerosis Society.

- Bisht, K., Okojie, K. A., Sharma, K., Lentferink, D. H., Sun, Y. Y., Chen, H. R., et al. (2021). Capillary-associated microglia regulate vascular structure and function through PANX1-P2RY12 coupling in mice. *Nat. Commun.* 12:5289. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-25590-8
- Bouras, C., Giannakopoulos, P., Good, P. F., Hsu, A., Hof, P. R., and Perl, D. P. (1996). A laser microprobe mass analysis of trace elements in brain mineralizations and capillaries in Fahr's disease. *Acta. Neuropathol.* 92, 351– 357. doi: 10.1007/s004010050529
- Bucay, N., Sarosi, I., Dunstan, C. R., Morony, S., Tarpley, J., Capparelli, C., et al. (1998). osteoprotegerin-deficient mice develop early onset osteoporosis and arterial calcification. *Genes Dev.* 12, 1260–1268. doi: 10.1101/gad.12.9.1260
- Cai, J., Pardali, E., Sánchez-Duffhues, G., and Ten Dijke, P. (2012). BMP signaling in vascular diseases. *FEBS Lett.* 586, 1993–2002. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2012.04. 030
- Candlish, M., and Hefendehl, J. K. (2021). Microglia Phenotypes Converge in Aging and Neurodegenerative Disease. *Front. Neurol.* 12:660720. doi: 10.3389/ fneur.2021.660720
- Canet-Soulas, E., Bessueille, L., Mechtouff, L., and Magne, D. (2021). The Elusive Origin of Atherosclerotic Plaque Calcification. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 9:622736. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.622736
- Cen, Z., Chen, Y., Chen, S., Wang, H., Yang, D., and Zhang, H. (2020). Biallelic loss-of-function mutations in JAM2 cause primary familial brain calcification. *Brain* 143, 491–502. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz392
- Chakrabarty, P., Ceballos-Diaz, C., Lin, W. L., Beccard, A., Jansen-West, K., Mcfarland, N. R., et al. (2011). Interferon-gamma induces progressive nigrostriatal degeneration and basal ganglia calcification. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 694–696. doi: 10.1038/nn.2829
- Chen, Y., Zhao, X., and Wu, H. (2021). Transcriptional Programming in Arteriosclerotic Disease: a Multifaceted Function of the Runx2 (Runt-Related Transcription Factor 2). *Arterioscler Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 41, 20–34. doi: 10. 1161/ATVBAHA.120.313791
- Chen, W., Foo, S. S., Hong, E., Wu, C., Lee, W. S., Lee, S. A., et al. (2021). Zika virus NS3 protease induces bone morphogenetic protein-dependent brain calcification in human fetuses. *Nat. Microbiol.* 6, 455–466. doi: 10.1038/s41564-020-00850-3
- Chinetti-Gbaguidi, G., Daoudi, M., Rosa, M., Vinod, M., Louvet, L., Copin, C., et al. (2017). Human Alternative Macrophages Populate Calcified Areas of Atherosclerotic Lesions and Display Impaired RANKL-Induced Osteoclastic Bone Resorption Activity. *Circ. Res.* 121, 19–30. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 116.310262
- Chitu, V., Gokhan, S., and Stanley, E. R. (2021). Modeling CSF-1 receptor deficiency diseases - how close are we? *FEBS J.* [Epub online ahead of print]. doi: 10.1111/febs.16085
- Chow, W. Y., Rajan, R., Muller, K. H., Reid, D. G., Skepper, J. N., Wong, W. C., et al. (2014). NMR spectroscopy of native and in vitro tissues implicates

polyADP ribose in biomineralization. *Science* 344, 742–746. doi: 10.1126/ science.1248167

- Cochain, C., Vafadarnejad, E., Arampatzi, P., Pelisek, J., Winkels, H., Ley, K., et al. (2018). Single-Cell RNA-Seq Reveals the Transcriptional Landscape and Heterogeneity of Aortic Macrophages in Murine Atherosclerosis. *Circ. Res.* 122, 1661–1674. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.312509
- Coomans, C., Sieben, A., Lammens, M., Ceuterick-De Groote, C., Vandenbroecke, C., Goethals, I., et al. (2018). Early-onset dementia, leukoencephalopathy and brain calcifications: a clinical, imaging and pathological comparison of ALSP and PLoSL/Nasu Hakola disease. *Acta. Neurol. Belg.* 118, 607–615. doi: 10.1007/ s13760-018-1023-8
- Costa, A. G., Cusano, N. E., Silva, B. C., Cremers, S., and Bilezikian, J. P. (2011). Cathepsin K: its skeletal actions and role as a therapeutic target in osteoporosis. *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.* 7, 447–456. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2011.77
- Davies, E., Muller, K. H., Wong, W. C., Pickard, C. J., Reid, D. G., Skepper, J. N., et al. (2014). Citrate bridges between mineral platelets in bone. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 111, E1354–E1363. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1315080111
- de Brouwer, E. J. M., De Jong, P. A., De Jonghe, A., Emmelot-Vonk, M. H., Koek, H. L., Dankbaar, J. W., et al. (2021). Histology and computed tomography of incidental calcifications in the human basal ganglia. *Neuroradiology* 63, 1145–1148. doi: 10.1007/s00234-021-02680-4
- De La Torre, A. J., Luat, A. F., Juhasz, C., Ho, M. L., Argersinger, D. P., Cavuoto, K. M., et al. (2018). A Multidisciplinary Consensus for Clinical Care and Research Needs for Sturge-Weber Syndrome. *Pediatr. Neurol.* 84, 11–20. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2018.04.005
- Deng, H., Zheng, W., and Jankovic, J. (2015). Genetics and molecular biology of brain calcification. Ageing Res. Rev. 22, 20–38. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2015.04.004
- Dong, X., Tan, N. B., Howell, K. B., Barresi, S., Freeman, J. L., Vecchio, D., et al. (2020). Bi-allelic LoF NRROS Variants Impairing Active TGF-beta1 Delivery Cause a Severe Infantile-Onset Neurodegenerative Condition with Intracranial Calcification. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 106, 559–569. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2020.02.014
- Donzuso, G., Mostile, G., Nicoletti, A., and Zappia, M. (2019). Basal ganglia calcifications (Fahr's syndrome): related conditions and clinical features. *Neurol. Sci.* 40, 2251–2263. doi: 10.1007/s10072-019-03998-x
- Drake, F. H., Dodds, R. A., James, I. E., Connor, J. R., Debouck, C., Richardson, S., et al. (1996). Cathepsin K, but not cathepsins B, L, or S, is abundantly expressed in human osteoclasts. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 12511–12516. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.21. 12511
- Dudiki, T., Meller, J., Mahajan, G., Liu, H., Zhevlakova, I., Stefl, S., et al. (2020). Microglia control vascular architecture via a TGFbeta1 dependent paracrine mechanism linked to tissue mechanics. *Nat. Commun.* 11:986. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-020-14787-y
- Fischer, A., Zalvide, J., Faurobert, E., Albiges-Rizo, C., and Tournier-Lasserve, E. (2013). Cerebral cavernous malformations: from CCM genes to endothelial cell homeostasis. *Trends Mol. Med.* 19, 302–308. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2013.02. 004
- Fraser, H. (1968). Bilateral thalamic calcification in ageing mice. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 96, 220–222. doi: 10.1002/path.1700960124
- Fujita, D., Terada, S., Ishizu, H., Yokota, O., Nakashima, H., Ishihara, T., et al. (2003). Immunohistochemical examination on intracranial calcification in neurodegenerative diseases. *Acta Neuropathol.* 105, 259–264. doi: 10.1007/ s00401-002-0640-7
- Ginhoux, F., Greter, M., Leboeuf, M., Nandi, S., See, P., Gokhan, S., et al. (2010). Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages. *Science* 330, 841–845. doi: 10.1126/science.1194637
- Giovannini, D., Touhami, J., Charnet, P., Sitbon, M., and Battini, J. L. (2013). Inorganic phosphate export by the retrovirus receptor XPR1 in metazoans. *Cell Rep.* 3, 1866–1873. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.05.035
- Goldmann, T., Wieghofer, P., Jordao, M. J., Prutek, F., Hagemeyer, N., Frenzel, K., et al. (2016). Origin, fate and dynamics of macrophages at central nervous system interfaces. *Nat. Immunol.* 17, 797–805. doi: 10.1038/ni.3423
- Goldmann, T., Zeller, N., Raasch, J., Kierdorf, K., Frenzel, K., Ketscher, L., et al. (2015). USP18 lack in microglia causes destructive interferonopathy of the mouse brain. *EMBO J.* 34, 1612–1629. doi: 10.15252/embj.20149 0791
- Gomez, C., Luque, A., and Horenstein, S. (1989). Microvasculopathy may precede idiopathic cerebral calcifications–case report. *Angiology* 40, 67–72. doi: 10.1177/ 000331978904000113

- Goncalves, F. G., Caschera, L., Teixeira, S. R., Viaene, A. N., Pinelli, L., and Mankad, K. (2020a). Intracranial calcifications in childhood: part 1. *Pediatr. Radiol.* 50, 1424–1447. doi: 10.1007/s00247-020-04721-1
- Goncalves, F. G., Caschera, L., Teixeira, S. R., Viaene, A. N., Pinelli, L., Mankad, K., et al. (2020b). Intracranial calcifications in childhood: part 2. *Pediatr. Radiol.* 50, 1448–1475. doi: 10.1007/s00247-020-04716-y
- Gourgas, O., Marulanda, J., Zhang, P., Murshed, M., and Cerruti, M. (2018). Multidisciplinary Approach to Understand Medial Arterial Calcification. *Arterioscler Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 38, 363–372. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.117. 309808
- Grand Moursel, L., Van Der Graaf, L. M., Bulk, M., Van Roon-Mom, W. M. C., and Van Der Weerd, L. (2019). Osteopontin and phospho-SMAD2/3 are associated with calcification of vessels in D-CAA, an hereditary cerebral amyloid angiopathy. *Brain Pathol.* 29, 793–802. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12721
- Hansen, D. V., Hanson, J. E., and Sheng, M. (2018). Microglia in Alzheimer's disease. J. Cell Biol. 217, 459–472.
- Hermann, D. M., Gronewold, J., Lehmann, N., Moebus, S., Jockel, K. H., Bauer, M., et al. (2013). Coronary artery calcification is an independent stroke predictor in the general population. *Stroke* 44, 1008–1013. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111. 678078
- Hickman, S., Izzy, S., Sen, P., Morsett, L., and El Khoury, J. (2018). Microglia in neurodegeneration. *Nat. Neurosci.* 21, 1359–1369.
- Hou, Y., Dan, X., Babbar, M., Wei, Y., Hasselbalch, S. G., Croteau, D. L., et al. (2019). Ageing as a risk factor for neurodegenerative disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 15, 565–581. doi: 10.1038/s41582-019-0244-7
- Hozumi, I., Kurita, H., Ozawa, K., Furuta, N., Inden, M., Sekine, S. I., et al. (2018). Inorganic phosphorus (Pi) in CSF is a biomarker for SLC20A2-associated idiopathic basal ganglia calcification (IBGC1). *J. Neurol. Sci.* 388, 150–154. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2018.03.014
- Hyvonen, P. M., and Kowolik, M. J. (1992). Influence of dichloromethylene bisphosphonate on the in vitro phagocytosis of hydroxyapatite particles by rat peritoneal exudate cells: an electron microscopic and chemiluminescence study. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 51, 203–209. doi: 10.1136/ard.51.2.203
- Iadecola, C. (2017). The Neurovascular Unit Coming of Age: a Journey through Neurovascular Coupling in Health and Disease. *Neuron* 96, 17–42. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuron.2017.07.030
- Jacome-Galarza, C. E., Percin, G. I., Muller, J. T., Mass, E., Lazarov, T., Eitler, J., et al. (2019). Developmental origin, functional maintenance and genetic rescue of osteoclasts. *Nature* 568, 541–545. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1105-7
- Jensen, N., Autzen, J. K., and Pedersen, L. (2016). Slc20a2 is critical for maintaining a physiologic inorganic phosphate level in cerebrospinal fluid. *Neurogenetics* 17, 125–130. doi: 10.1007/s10048-015-0469-6
- Jensen, N., Schroder, H. D., Hejbol, E. K., Fuchtbauer, E. M., De Oliveira, J. R., and Pedersen, L. (2013). Loss of function of Slc20a2 associated with familial idiopathic Basal Ganglia calcification in humans causes brain calcifications in mice. J. Mol. Neurosci. 51, 994–999. doi: 10.1007/s12031-013-0085-6
- Jensen, N., Schroder, H. D., Hejbol, E. K., Thomsen, J. S., Bruel, A., Larsen, F. T., et al. (2018). Mice knocked out for the primary brain calcification associated gene Slc20a2 show unimpaired pre-natal survival but retarded growth and nodules in the brain that grow and calcify over time. *Am. J. Pathol.* 188, 1865–1881. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2018.04.010
- Jiang, W., Zhang, Z., Li, Y., Chen, C., Yang, H., Lin, Q., et al. (2021). The Cell Origin and Role of Osteoclastogenesis and Osteoblastogenesis in Vascular Calcification. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 8:639740. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.639740
- Joost, E., Jordao, M. J. C., Mages, B., Prinz, M., Bechmann, I., and Krueger, M. (2019). Microglia contribute to the glia limitans around arteries, capillaries and veins under physiological conditions, in a model of neuroinflammation and in human brain tissue. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 224, 1301–1314. doi: 10.1007/s00429-019-01834-8
- Kalimo, H., Sourander, P., Jarvi, O., and Hakola, P. (1994). Vascular changes and blood-brain barrier damage in the pathogenesis of polycystic lipomembranous osteodysplasia with sclerosing leukoencephalopathy (membranous lipodystrophy). Acta. Neurol. Scand. 89, 353–361. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.1994.tb02646.x
- Kavanaugh, M. P., Miller, D. G., Zhang, W., Law, W., Kozak, S. L., Kabat, D., et al. (1994). Cell-surface receptors for gibbon ape leukemia virus and amphotropic murine retrovirus are inducible sodium-dependent phosphate symporters. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 91, 7071–7075. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.15.7071

- Keller, A. (2013). Breaking and building the wall: the biology of the blood-brain barrier in health and disease. Swiss Med. Weekly 143:w13892. doi: 10.4414/smw. 2013.13892
- Keller, A., Westenberger, A., Sobrido, M. J., Garcia-Murias, M., Domingo, A., Sears, R. L., et al. (2013). Mutations in the gene encoding PDGF-B cause brain calcifications in humans and mice. *Nat. Genet.* 45, 1077–1082. doi: 10.1038/ng. 2723
- Kepes, J. J., Rubinstein, L. J., and Chiang, H. (1984). The role of astrocytes in the formation of cartilage in gliomas. An immunohistochemical study of four cases. *Am. J. Pathol.* 117, 471–483.
- Keren-Shaul, H., Spinrad, A., Weiner, A., Matcovitch-Natan, O., Dvir-Szternfeld, R., Ulland, T. K., et al. (2017). A Unique Microglia Type Associated with Restricting Development of Alzheimer's Disease. *Cell* 169, 1276–1290e1217. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.018
- Khavandgar, Z., Roman, H., Li, J., Lee, S., Vali, H., Brinckmann, J., et al. (2014). Elastin haploinsufficiency impedes the progression of arterial calcification in MGP-deficient mice. J. Bone Miner Res. 29, 327–337. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2039
- Kierdorf, K., Masuda, T., Jordao, M. J. C., and Prinz, M. (2019). Macrophages at CNS interfaces: ontogeny and function in health and disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 20, 547–562. doi: 10.1038/s41583-019-0201-x
- Kimura, T., Miura, T., Aoki, K., Saito, S., Hondo, H., Konno, T., et al. (2016). Familial idiopathic basal ganglia calcification: histopathologic features of an autopsied patient with an SLC20A2 mutation. *Neuropathology* 36, 365–371. doi: 10.1111/neup.12280
- Kobayashi, S., Yamadori, I., Miki, H., and Ohmori, M. (1987). Idiopathic nonarteriosclerotic cerebral calcification (Fahr's disease): an electron microscopic study. *Acta Neuropathol.* 73, 62–66. doi: 10.1007/BF00695503
- Kolar, K., Freitas-Andrade, M., Bechberger, J. F., Krishnan, H., Goldberg, G. S., Naus, C. C., et al. (2015). Podoplanin: a marker for reactive gliosis in gliomas and brain injury. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 74, 64–74. doi: 10.1097/NEN. 000000000000150
- Konno, T., Broderick, D. F., Mezaki, N., Isami, A., Kaneda, D., Tashiro, Y., et al. (2017). Diagnostic Value of Brain Calcifications in Adult-Onset Leukoencephalopathy with Axonal Spheroids and Pigmented Glia. Am. J. Neuroradiol. 38, 77–83. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A4938
- Kozik, M., and Kulczycki, J. (1978). Laser-spectrographic analysis of the cation content in Fahr's syndrome. Archiv für Psychiatr. Nervenkrankheiten 225, 135– 142. doi: 10.1007/BF00343397
- Lanzer, P., Boehm, M., Sorribas, V., Thiriet, M., Janzen, J., Zeller, T., et al. (2014). Medial vascular calcification revisited: review and perspectives. *Euro. Heart J.* 35, 1515–1525. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu163
- Lanzer, P., Hannan, F. M., Lanzer, J. D., Janzen, J., Raggi, P., Furniss, D., et al. (2021). Medial Arterial Calcification: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 78, 1145–1165. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.06.049
- Lederer, E., and Miyamoto, K.-I. (2012). Clinical consequences of mutations in sodium phosphate cotransporters. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 7, 1179–1187. doi: 10.2215/CJN.09090911
- Lee, J. W., Lee, I. H., Iimura, T., and Kong, S. W. (2021). Two macrophages, osteoclasts and microglia: from development to pleiotropy. *Bone Res.* 9:11. doi: 10.1038/s41413-020-00134-w
- Legati, A., Giovannini, D., Nicolas, G., Lopez-Sanchez, U., Quintans, B., Oliveira, J. R., et al. (2015). Mutations in XPR1 cause primary familial brain calcification associated with altered phosphate export. *Nat. Genet.* 47, 579–581. doi: 10.1038/ ng.3289
- Li, J., Sarosi, I., Yan, X. Q., Morony, S., Capparelli, C., Tan, H. L., et al. (2000). RANK is the intrinsic hematopoietic cell surface receptor that controls osteoclastogenesis and regulation of bone mass and calcium metabolism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 97, 1566–1571. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.4.1566
- Li, Q., and Barres, B. A. (2018). Microglia and macrophages in brain homeostasis and disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 18, 225–242. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.125
- Li, X., Gu, C., Hostachy, S., Sahu, S., Wittwer, C., Jessen, H. J., et al. (2020). Control of XPR1-dependent cellular phosphate efflux by InsP8 is an exemplar for functionally-exclusive inositol pyrophosphate signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 117, 3568–3574. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1908830117
- Lindblom, P., Gerhardt, H., Liebner, S., Abramsson, A., Enge, M., Hellstrom, M., et al. (2003). Endothelial PDGF-B retention is required for proper investment of pericytes in the microvessel wall. *Genes Dev.* 17, 1835–1840. doi: 10.1101/gad. 266803

- Livingston, J., Stivaros, S., Van Der Knaap, M., and Crow, Y. (2013). Recognizable phenotypes associated with intracranial calcification. *Dev. Med. Child Neurol.* 55, 46–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2012.04437.x
- Lopez-Sanchez, U., Tury, S., Nicolas, G., Wilson, M. S., Jurici, S., Ayrignac, X., et al. (2020). Interplay between primary familial brain calcification-associated SLC20A2 and XPR1 phosphate transporters requires inositol polyphosphates for control of cellular phosphate homeostasis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 295, 9366–9378. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA119.011376
- Lou, N., Takano, T., Pei, Y., Xavier, A. L., Goldman, S. A., and Nedergaard, M. (2016). Purinergic receptor P2RY12-dependent microglial closure of the injured blood-brain barrier. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 113, 1074–1079. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1520398113
- Luo, G., Ducy, P., Mckee, M. D., Pinero, G. J., Loyer, E., Behringer, R. R., et al. (1997). Spontaneous calcification of arteries and cartilage in mice lacking matrix GLA protein. *Nature* 386, 78–81. doi: 10.1038/386078a0
- Mae, M. A., He, L., Nordling, S., Vazquez-Liebanas, E., Nahar, K., Jung, B., et al. (2021). Single-Cell Analysis of Blood-Brain Barrier Response to Pericyte Loss. *Circ. Res.* 128, e46–e62.
- Manyam, B. V. (2005). What is and what is not 'Fahr's disease'. Parkinson. Related Disord. 11, 73–80. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2004.12.001
- Mathiisen, T. M., Lehre, K. P., Danbolt, N. C., and Ottersen, O. P. (2010). The perivascular astroglial sheath provides a complete covering of the brain microvessels: an electron microscopic 3D reconstruction. *Glia* 58, 1094–1103. doi: 10.1002/glia.20990
- Mcglasson, S., Jury, A., Jackson, A., and Hunt, D. (2015). Type I interferon dysregulation and neurological disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 11, 515–523. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2015.143
- Medici, D., Shore, E., Lounev, V., Kaplan, F., Kalluri, R., and Olsen, B. (2010). Conversion of vascular endothelial cells into multipotent stem-like cells. *Nat. Med.* 16, 1400–1406. doi: 10.1038/nm.2252
- Meireles, A. M., Shiau, C. E., Guenther, C. A., Sidik, H., Kingsley, D. M., and Talbot, W. S. (2014). The phosphate exporter xpr1b is required for differentiation of tissue-resident macrophages. *Cell Rep.* 8, 1659–1667. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014. 08.018
- Mergenthaler, P., Lindauer, U., Dienel, G. A., and Meisel, A. (2013). Sugar for the brain: the role of glucose in physiological and pathological brain function. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 587–597. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.07.001
- Meuwissen, M. E., Schot, R., Buta, S., Oudesluijs, G., Tinschert, S., Speer, S. D., et al. (2016). Human USP18 deficiency underlies type 1 interferonopathy leading to severe pseudo-TORCH syndrome. J. Exp. Med. 213, 1163–1174. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20151529
- Miklossy, J., Mackenzie, I. R., Dorovini-Zis, K., Calne, D. B., Wszolek, Z. K., Klegeris, A., et al. (2005). Severe vascular disturbance in a case of familial brain calcinosis. *Acta Neuropathol.* 109, 643–653. doi: 10.1007/s00401-005-1007-7
- Mochida, G., Ganesh, V., Felie, J., Gleason, D., Hill, R., Clapham, K., et al. (2010). A homozygous mutation in the tight-junction protein JAM3 causes hemorrhagic destruction of the brain, subependymal calcification, and congenital cataracts. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 87, 882–889. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2010.10.026
- Moore, C. A., Staples, J. E., Dobyns, W. B., Pessoa, A., Ventura, C. V., Fonseca, E. B., et al. (2017). Characterizing the Pattern of Anomalies in Congenital Zika Syndrome for Pediatric Clinicians. *JAMA Pediatr.* 171, 288–295. doi: 10.1001/ jamapediatrics.2016.3982
- Morgan, K. T., Johnson, B. P., Frith, C. H., and Townsend, J. (1982). An ultrastructural study of spontaneous mineralization in the brains of aging mice. *Acta Neuropathol.* 58, 120–124. doi: 10.1007/BF00691652
- Motoyama, S., Kondo, T., Sarai, M., Sugiura, A., Harigaya, H., Sato, T., et al. (2007). Multislice computed tomographic characteristics of coronary lesions in acute coronary syndromes. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 50, 319–326. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007. 03.044
- Mulay, S. R., and Anders, H. J. (2016). Crystallopathies. N. Engl. J. Med. 374, 2465–2476.
- Muller, K. H., Hayward, R., Rajan, R., Whitehead, M., Cobb, A. M., Ahmad, S., et al. (2019). Poly(ADP-Ribose) Links the DNA Damage Response and Biomineralization. *Cell Rep.* 27:e3113. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.05.038
- Nahar, K., Lebouvier, T., Andaloussi Mae, M., Konzer, A., Bergquist, J., Zarb, Y., et al. (2019). Astrocyte-microglial association and matrix composition are common events in the natural history of primary familial brain calcification. *Brain Pathol.* 30, 446–464. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12787

- Nakano-Kurimoto, R., Ikeda, K., Uraoka, M., Nakagawa, Y., Yutaka, K., Koide, M., et al. (2009). Replicative senescence of vascular smooth muscle cells enhances the calcification through initiating the osteoblastic transition. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 297, H1673–H1684. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00455.2009
- Nash, T. E., Del Brutto, O. H., Butman, J. A., Corona, T., Delgado-Escueta, A., Duron, R. M., et al. (2004). Calcific neurocysticercosis and epileptogenesis. *Neurology* 62, 1934–1938. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000129481.12067.06
- Neumann, K., Castineiras-Vilarino, M., Hockendorf, U., Hannesschlager, N., Lemeer, S., Kupka, D., et al. (2014). Clec12a is an inhibitory receptor for uric acid crystals that regulates inflammation in response to cell death. *Immunity* 40, 389–399. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.12.015
- Ng, G., Sharma, K., Ward, S. M., Desrosiers, M. D., Stephens, L. A., Schoel, W. M., et al. (2008). Receptor-independent, direct membrane binding leads to cellsurface lipid sorting and Syk kinase activation in dendritic cells. *Immunity* 29, 807–818. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.09.013
- Nicolas, G., Pottier, C., Charbonnier, C., Guyant-Marechal, L., Le Ber, I., Pariente, J., et al. (2013a). Phenotypic spectrum of probable and genetically-confirmed idiopathic basal ganglia calcification. *Brain* 136, 3395–3407. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awt255
- Nicolas, G., Pottier, C., Maltete, D., Coutant, S., Rovelet-Lecrux, A., Legallic, S., et al. (2013b). Mutation of the PDGFRB gene as a cause of idiopathic basal ganglia calcification. *Neurology* 80, 181–187. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e 31827ccf34
- O'driscoll, M., Daly, S., Urquhart, J., Black, G., Pilz, D., Brockmann, K., et al. (2010). Recessive mutations in the gene encoding the tight junction protein occludin cause band-like calcification with simplified gyration and polymicrogyria. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 87, 354–364. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2010.07.012
- Orth-Alampour, S., Gayrard, N., Salem, S., Bhargava, S., Jankowski, V., Jover, B., et al. (2021). Prevention of vascular calcification by the endogenous chromogranin A-derived mediator that inhibits osteogenic transdifferentiation. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 116:57. doi: 10.1007/s00395-021-00899-z
- Paucar, M., Almqvist, H., Jelic, V., Hagman, G., Jorneskog, G., Holmin, S., et al. (2017). A SLC20A2 gene mutation carrier displaying ataxia and increased levels of cerebrospinal fluid phosphate. *J Neurol Sci* 375, 245–247. doi: 10.1016/j.jns. 2017.02.007
- Pescatore, L. A., Gamarra, L. F., and Liberman, M. (2019). Multifaceted Mechanisms of Vascular Calcification in Aging. *Arterioscler Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 39, 1307–1316. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.118.311576
- Peters, M. E. M., Kockelkoren, R., De Brouwer, E. J. M., Koek, H. L., Bleys, R., Mali, W., et al. (2018). Histological validation of calcifications in the human hippocampus as seen on computed tomography. *PLoS One* 13:e0197073. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0197073
- Petribu, N. C. L., Aragao, M. F. V., Van Der Linden, V., Parizel, P., Jungmann, P., Araujo, L., et al. (2017). Follow-up brain imaging of 37 children with congenital Zika syndrome: case series study. *BMJ* 359:j4188. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j4188
- Prinz, M., Jung, S., and Priller, J. (2019). Microglia Biology: one Century of Evolving Concepts. *Cell* 179, 292–311. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.08.053
- Prinz, M., and Priller, J. (2017). The role of peripheral immune cells in the CNS in steady state and disease. *Nat. Neurosci.* 20, 136–144. doi: 10.1038/nn.4475
- Rademakers, R., Baker, M., Nicholson, A. M., Rutherford, N. J., Finch, N., Soto-Ortolaza, A., et al. (2011). Mutations in the colony stimulating factor 1 receptor (CSF1R) gene cause hereditary diffuse leukoencephalopathy with spheroids. *Nat. Genet.* 44, 200–205. doi: 10.1038/ng.1027
- Rennenberg, R. J., Kessels, A. G., Schurgers, L. J., Van Engelshoven, J. M., De Leeuw, P. W., and Kroon, A. A. (2009). Vascular calcifications as a marker of increased cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis. *Vasc. Health Risk Manag.* 5, 185–197. doi: 10.2147/vhrm.s4822
- Rutsch, F., Buers, I., and Nitschke, Y. (2021). Hereditary Disorders of Cardiovascular Calcification. Arterioscler Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 41, 35–47. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.120.315577
- Saade, C., Najem, E., Asmar, K., Salman, R., El Achkar, B., and Naffaa, L. (2019). Intracranial calcifications on CT: an updated review. J. Radiol. Case Rep. 13, 1–18. doi: 10.3941/jrcr.v13i8.3633
- Saitou, M., Furuse, M., Sasaki, H., Schulzke, J., Fromm, M., Takano, H., et al. (2000). Complex phenotype of mice lacking occludin, a component of tight junction strands. *Mol. Biol. cell* 11, 4131–4142. doi: 10.1091/mbc.11.12.4131
- Salhotra, A., Shah, H. N., Levi, B., and Longaker, M. T. (2020). Mechanisms of bone development and repair. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 21, 696–711.

- Schaffenrath, J., and Keller, A. (2021). New Insights in the Complexity and Functionality of the Neurovascular Unit. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* [Epub online ahead of pint]. doi: 10.1007/164\_2020\_424
- Schiemenz, C., Westenberger, A., Tanzer, K., Grutz, K., Borsche, M., Mahlke, G., et al. (2020). Osteoclast imbalance in primary familial brain calcification: evidence for its role in brain calcification. *Brain* 143:e1. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awz351
- Schober, R., Hilbrich, I., Jager, C., and Holzer, M. (2021). Senile plaque calcification of the lamina circumvoluta medullaris in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropathology* 41, 366–370. doi: 10.1111/neup.12742
- Schor, A., Allen, T., Canfield, A., Sloan, P., and Schor, S. (1990). Pericytes derived from the retinal microvasculature undergo calcification in vitro. *J. cell Sci.* 97(Pt 3), 449–461. doi: 10.1242/jcs.97.3.449
- Schottlaender, L. V., Abeti, R., Jaunmuktane, Z., Macmillan, C., Chelban, V., O'callaghan, B., et al. (2020). Bi-allelic JAM2 Variants Lead to Early-Onset Recessive Primary Familial Brain Calcification. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 106, 412– 421. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2020.02.007
- Schulz, C., Gomez Perdiguero, E., Chorro, L., Szabo-Rogers, H., Cagnard, N., Kierdorf, K., et al. (2012). A lineage of myeloid cells independent of Myb and hematopoietic stem cells. *Science* 336, 86–90. doi: 10.1126/science.121 9179
- Shimada, B. K., Pomozi, V., Zoll, J., Kuo, S., Martin, L., and Le Saux, O. (2021). ABCC6, Pyrophosphate and Ectopic Calcification: Therapeutic Solutions. *Int. J. Mol. Sci* 22:4555. doi: 10.3390/ijms22094555
- Smeyers-Verbeke, J., Michotte, Y., Pelsmaeckers, J., Lowenthal, A., Massart, D., Dekegel, D., et al. (1975). The chemical composition of idiopathic nonarteriosclerotic cerebral calcifications. *Neurology* 25, 48–57. doi: 10.1212/ wnl.25.1.48
- Sorokin, V., Vickneson, K., Kofidis, T., Woo, C. C., Lin, X. Y., Foo, R., et al. (2020). Role of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Plasticity and Interactions in Vessel Wall Inflammation. *Front. Immunol.* 11:599415. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.59 9415
- St Hilaire, C., Ziegler, S., Markello, T., Brusco, A., Groden, C., Gill, F., et al. (2011). NT5E mutations and arterial calcifications. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 364, 432–442.
- Takashi, Y., and Fukumoto, S. (2020). Phosphate-sensing and regulatory mechanism of FGF23 production. J. Endocrinol. Invest. 43, 877–883. doi: 10. 1007/s40618-020-01205-9
- Torok, O., Schreiner, B., Schaffenrath, J., Tsai, H. C., Maheshwari, U., Stifter, S. A., et al. (2021). Pericytes regulate vascular immune homeostasis in the CNS. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 118, e2016587118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2016587118
- Ukai, K., and Kosaka, K. (2016). Diffuse neurofibrillary tangles with calcification (Kosaka-Shibayama disease) in Japan. *Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 70, 131–140. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12334
- Utz, S. G., See, P., Mildenberger, W., Thion, M. S., Silvin, A., Lutz, M., et al. (2020). Early Fate Defines Microglia and Non-parenchymal Brain Macrophage Development. *Cell* 181:e518. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.021
- Vanlandewijck, M., He, L., Mae, M. A., Andrae, J., Ando, K., Del Gaudio, F., et al. (2018). A molecular atlas of cell types and zonation in the brain vasculature. *Nature* 554, 475–480.
- Vanlandewijck, M., Lebouvier, T., Andaloussi Mae, M., Nahar, K., Hornemann, S., Kenkel, D., et al. (2015). Functional Characterization of Germline Mutations in PDGFB and PDGFRB in Primary Familial Brain Calcification. *PLoS One* 10:e0143407. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0143407
- Vígh, B., Szél, A., Debreceni, K., Fejér, Z., Manzano, E., Silva, M., et al. (1998). Comparative histology of pineal calcification. *Histol. Histopathol.* 13, 851–870. doi: 10.14670/HH-13.851
- Wallingford, M. C., Chia, J. J., Leaf, E. M., Borgeia, S., Chavkin, N. W., Sawangmake, C., et al. (2017). SLC20A2 Deficiency in Mice Leads to Elevated Phosphate Levels in Cerbrospinal Fluid and Glymphatic Pathway-Associated Arteriolar Calcification, and Recapitulates Human Idiopathic Basal Ganglia Calcification. *Brain Pathol.* 27, 64–76. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12362
- Wang, C., Li, Y., Shi, L., Ren, J., Patti, M., Wang, T., et al. (2012). Mutations in SLC20A2 link familial idiopathic basal ganglia calcification with phosphate homeostasis. *Nat. Genet.* 44, 254–256. doi: 10.1038/ng.1077
- Wegiel, J., Kuchna, I., Wisniewski, T., De Leon, M. J., Reisberg, B., Pirttila, T., et al. (2002). Vascular fibrosis and calcification in the hippocampus in aging, Alzheimer disease, and Down syndrome. *Acta Neuropathol.* 103, 333–343. doi: 10.1007/s00401-001-0471-y

- Willemsen, L., and De Winther, M. P. (2020). Macrophage subsets in atherosclerosis as defined by single-cell technologies. J. Pathol. 250, 705–714. doi: 10.1002/path.5392
- Willis, M., Leitner, I., Jellinger, K. A., and Marksteiner, J. (2011). Chromogranin peptides in brain diseases. J. Neural Transm. 118, 727–735. doi: 10.1007/s00702-011-0648-z
- Wilson, M. S., Jessen, H. J., and Saiardi, A. (2019). The inositol hexakisphosphate kinases IP6K1 and -2 regulate human cellular phosphate homeostasis, including XPR1-mediated phosphate export. J. Biol. Chem. 294, 11597–11608. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.RA119.007848
- Xiong, L., Mccoy, M., Komuro, H., West, X. Z., Yakubenko, V., Gao, D., et al. (2021). Inflammation-dependent oxidative stress metabolites as a hallmark of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 178, 125–133. doi: 10.1016/ j.freeradbiomed.2021.11.031
- Yanai, T., Kudo, K., Manabe, J., and Matsunuma, N. (1984). Spontaneous vascular mineralization in the brain of aged B6C3F1 mice. *Nihon Juigaku Zasshi* 46, 761–765. doi: 10.1292/jvms1939.46.761
- Yanai, T., Masegi, T., Ueda, K., Manabe, J., Teranishi, M., Takaoka, M., et al. (1994). Vascular Mineralization in the Monkey Brain. *Vet. Pathol.* 31, 546–552. doi: 10.1177/030098589403100506
- Yanai, T., Yamoto, T., Manabe, J., Takaoka, M., and Matsunuma, N. (1987). X-ray microanalysis of mineralization in the thalamus of aged mice. *Nihon Juigaku Zasshi* 49, 920–922. doi: 10.1292/jyms1939.49.920
- Yang, A. C., Stevens, M. Y., Chen, M. B., Lee, D. P., Stahli, D., Gate, D., et al. (2020). Physiological blood-brain transport is impaired with age by a shift in transcytosis. *Nature* 583, 425–430. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2453-z
- Yao, X. P., Cheng, X., Wang, C., Zhao, M., Guo, X. X., Su, H. Z., et al. (2018). Biallelic Mutations in MYORG Cause Autosomal Recessive Primary Familial Brain Calcification. *Neuron* 98, 1116.e–1123.e. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.05. 037
- Yao, Y., Jumabay, M., Ly, A., Radparvar, M., Cubberly, M., Boström, K., et al. (2013). A role for the endothelium in vascular calcification. *Cir. Res.* 113, 495–504. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.301792
- Yazdanyar, A., and Newman, A. B. (2009). ). The burden of cardiovascular disease in the elderly: morbidity, mortality, and costs. *Clin. Geriat.r Med.* 25, 563– 577,vii. doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2009.07.007
- Young, M. F. (2003). Bone matrix proteins: their function, regulation, and relationship to osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int. 14(Suppl. 3), S35–S42. doi: 10. 1007/s00198-002-1342-7
- Youssef, S. A., Capucchio, M. T., Rofina, J. E., Chambers, J. K., Uchida, K., Nakayama, H., et al. (2016). Pathology of the Aging Brain in Domestic and

Laboratory Animals, and Animal Models of Human Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Vet. Pathol.* 53, 327–348. doi: 10.1177/030098581562 3997

- Zarb, Y., Franzoso, F. D., and Keller, A. (2019a). Pericytes in Primary Familial Brain Calcification. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1147, 247–264. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-16908-4\_11
- Zarb, Y., Weber-Stadlbauer, U., Kirschenbaum, D., Kindler, D. R., Richetto, J., Keller, D., et al. (2019b). Ossified blood vessels in primary familial brain calcification elicit a neurotoxic astrocyte response. *Brain* 142, 885–902. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz032
- Zarb, Y., Sridhar, S., Nassiri, S., Utz, S. G., Schaffenrath, J., Maheshwari, U., et al. (2021). Microglia control small vessel calcification via TREM2. *Sci. Adv.* 7:eabc4898. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.abc4898
- Zeisel, A., Hochgerner, H., Lonnerberg, P., Johnsson, A., Memic, F., Van Der Zwan, J., et al. (2018). Molecular Architecture of the Mouse Nervous System. *Cell* 174:e1022. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.06.021
- Zhang, Z., He, J. W., Fu, W. Z., Zhang, C. Q., and Zhang, Z. L. (2015). Calcification of joints and arteries: second report with novel NT5E mutations and expansion of the phenotype. *J Hum Genet* 60, 561–564. doi: 10.1038/jhg.20 15.85
- Zhang, X., Bogunovic, D., Payelle-Brogard, B., Francois-Newton, V., Speer, S. D., Yuan, C., et al. (2015). Human intracellular ISG15 prevents interferonalpha/beta over-amplification and auto-inflammation. *Nature* 517, 89–93. doi: 10.1038/nature13801

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Maheshwari, Huang, Sridhar and Keller. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Microvascular Changes in Parkinson's Disease- Focus on the Neurovascular Unit

Gesine Paul<sup>1,2,3\*</sup> and Osama F. Elabi<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Translational Neurology Group, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Lund, Sweden, <sup>2</sup> Department of Neurology, Scania University Hospital, Lund, Sweden, <sup>3</sup> Wallenberg Centre for Molecular Medicine, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

Vascular alterations emerge as a common denominator for several neurodegenerative diseases. In Parkinson's disease (PD), a number of observations have been made suggesting that the occurrence of vascular pathology is an important pathophysiological aspect of the disease. Specifically, pathological activation of pericytes, blood-brain barrier (BBB) disruption, pathological angiogenesis and vascular regression have been reported. This review summarizes the current evidence for the different vascular alterations in patients with PD and in animal models of PD. We suggest a possible sequence of vascular pathology in PD ranging from early pericyte activation and BBB leakage to an attempt for compensatory angiogenesis and finally vascular rarefication. We highlight different pathogenetic mechanisms that play a role in these vascular alterations including perivascular inflammation and concomitant metabolic disease. Awareness of the contribution of vascular events to the pathogenesis of PD may allow the identification of targets to modulate those mechanisms. In particular the BBB has for decades only been viewed as an obstacle for drug delivery, however, preservation of its integrity and/or modulation of the signaling at this interface between the blood and the brain may prove to be a new avenue to take in order to develop disease-modifying strategies for neurodegenerative disorders.

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Axel Montagne, University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom

### Reviewed by:

Fumitaka Shimizu, Yamaguchi University School of Medicine, Japan Sarah Al-Bachari, Lancaster University, United Kingdom

#### \*Correspondence:

Gesine Paul gesine.paul-visse@med.lu.se

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Parkinson's Disease and Aging-related Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

Received: 12 January 2022 Accepted: 11 February 2022 Published: 10 March 2022

#### Citation:

Paul G and Elabi OF (2022) Microvascular Changes in Parkinson's Disease- Focus on the Neurovascular Unit. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:853372. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.853372 Keywords: Parkinson's disease, vasculature, pericytes, angiogenesis, blood-brain barrier, microglia

### **BRAIN VASCULATURE**

The brain is a highly oxygen consuming organ and, as a result, has developed a dense network of almost 650 km of microvessels (Pandey et al., 2016). The smallest entity is formed by capillaries that are in close contact with the surrounding parenchyma and allow the gas exchange. This close connection between blood and brain is termed the neurovascular unit (NVU). The NVU consists of endothelial cells, pericytes and the basal lamina forming the microcapillary wall, and cells in the immediate surrounding brain parenchyma including perivascular astrocytes, perivascular microglia and neurons.

### **Blood Vessels as Adaptors of Blood Flow**

Capillaries of the brain are non-fenestrated vessels regulating the influx of nutrients and oxygen according to the changing demands of the brain (Iadecola, 2017).

The adaption to the brains requirements occurs by neurovascular coupling, matching the local blood supply to the neuronal demand by adjustment of the vascular intraluminal diameter (Carmignoto and Gomez-Gonzalo, 2010). Preservation of the highly balanced homeostasis of the brain's microenvironment, however, is guaranteed by the BBB.

# Blood Vessels as Gate Keepers at the Blood-Brain Barrier

The BBB is formed by endothelial cells that require close contact with pericytes in order to form tight junctions, by the basal lamina and by astrocytic endfeet (Zhao et al., 2015). The integrity of the BBB is absolutely vital for normal neuronal function. A leaky BBB enables the uncontrolled entry of pathogens, toxins and inflammatory cells into the brain and leads to inflammatory and immune responses. BBB leakage, whether subtle or severe, ultimately leads to neuronal injury, neurodegeneration and accelerates disease progression (Bell et al., 2010; Sweeney et al., 2018a).

# Blood Vessels as Communicators of Signals

As brain capillaries form the contact surface between the blood and the brain, cells at this interface are also the first sensors of systemic changes such as metabolic imbalances, systemic inflammation, circulating pathogens, changes in oxygen tension etc. In particular brain pericytes have been identified as first responders to systemic inflammation mediating signals from the blood onto the neighboring parenchyma cells (Duan et al., 2018). Vascular pathology and changes in cell signaling at and across the BBB may be the interface linking systemic risk factors (e.g., diabetes or chronic inflammation) to neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration (see section "Metabolic Disorders and Vascular Changes in Parkinson's Disease").

# VASCULAR CHANGES IN PARKINSON'S DISEASE

Blood vessel alterations, BBB disruption and cerebral blood flow abnormalities are a common denominator of several neurodegenerative disorders and have been described in Alzheimer's disease (Sweeney et al., 2018b), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Zhong et al., 2008; Garbuzova-Davis and Sanberg, 2014; Winkler et al., 2014), Huntington's disease (Padel et al., 2018) and Parkinson's disease (PD). There is a growing appreciation that vascular alterations can contribute to disease onset and aggravate the neurodegenerative process as some vascular changes already occur before the onset of neuronal loss or behavioral deficits in animal models of the respective disease (Sagare et al., 2013; Winkler et al., 2014; Padel et al., 2016; Elabi O. et al., 2021).

Here we particularly outline the different histological vascular changes reported in patients with PD and summarize the evidence for vascular alterations from animal models of PD. This minireview does not cover the role of hypoperfusion or white matter lesions in the pathogenesis of PD.

### **Parkinson's Disease**

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disorder and one of the fastest growing neurological diseases. In 2015, PD affected 6.9 Million people worldwide, a number expected to double by 2040 due to the aging population (Dorsey and Bloem, 2018). The progressive degeneration of the nigrostriatal system gives rise to the typical clinical symptoms rigidity, bradykinesia and resting tremor (Fearnley and Lees, 1991). In PD, dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) are degenerating and the histopathological hallmark is the formation of Lewy bodies containing aggregated alpha-synuclein ( $\alpha$ -syn) (Spillantini et al., 1997). Although PD is associated with these distinct histological changes, concomitant pathological alterations might sustain or aggravate the neuronal degeneration. This is particularly relevant as there is currently no therapy available that intervenes with the ongoing disease process. In this context, any contributor to the disease is important to elicit.

# The Microvascular Environment in Parkinson's Disease

Almost 90 years ago, it was described that the capillary network in the SNpc is considerably denser than in the adjacent SN zona reticulata (Finley, 1936). Under normal conditions, a distinct tight pattern of neuron-capillary associations is observed in the SNpc. However, in PD, these close contacts between dopaminergic neurons and microvessels are lost leaving an "empty space" (Issidorides, 1971). Based on these early observations it was postulated that modifications of the vascular microenvironment of dopaminergic neurons may alter the availability of nutrients or lead to accumulation of toxic compounds in the immediate vicinity of these cells. Later, vascular alterations in PD were described more in detail ranging from signs of angiogenesis to BBB leakage and vascular regression (**Figure 1**).

### Evidence for Angiogenesis in Parkinson's Disease

Angiogenesis refers to the formation of new blood vessels in adulthood. In the adult brain it usually occurs in response to hypoxia or inflammation (Tahergorabi and Khazaei, 2012). Angiogenesis can be recognized by an increase in vascular density and branching points, proliferation of vascular cells, expression of angiogenic markers or an increase in angiogenic molecules in the brain or cerebrospinal fluid (CSF).

### Angiogenic Microvessels in Parkinson's Disease

First evidence for pathological angiogenesis in PD comes from studies in the 90's observing a 2.5-fold increase in the number of endothelial cells in PD brains (Faucheux et al., 1999) and an increased number of integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3-positive vessels, an adhesion molecule that is present on angiogenic vessels (Brooks, 1996) in the SNpc, the locus coeruleus and the putamen, all regions which are affected in PD (Desai Bradaric et al., 2012).

Similar findings reporting angiogenesis in several brain regions were made in the 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) PD model in rats (Carvey et al., 2005) and mice (Elabi O. F. et al., 2021), in an experimental model of L-DOPA-induced dyskinesias (Westin et al., 2006) and in the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) monkey model (Barcia et al., 2005).

Even though toxin-induced models are useful to study several aspects of PD, they do not reflect the slowly progressive nature



of PD pathology. Using a human  $\alpha$ -syn overexpression mouse model that recapitulates the progressive aggregation of human  $\alpha$ -syn (Hansen et al., 2013), we confirmed an increase in vessel density indicating angiogenesis at the moderate stage of the animal model. In late-stage animals, however, the vessel density was significantly reduced suggesting dynamic and stagedependent vascular changes in PD (Elabi O. et al., 2021).

### Pathological Pericyte Activation

Interestingly, at the early stage of  $\alpha$ -syn-aggregation, we observed an activation of pericytes that was preceding changes in vessel density and behavioral deficits (Elabi O. et al., 2021). Pericytes line the entire microvasculature of the brain and have an important function in angiogenesis (Stapor et al., 2014). Activation of pericytes leads to changes in morphology and marker expression. Capillary pericytes generally have a flat cell soma with extensive longitudinal and thin processes (Dore-Duffy and Cleary, 2011). However, under pathological conditions, pericytes acquire a more bulging cell soma with shorter processes, typical of activated and migratory pericytes (Dore-Duffy and Cleary, 2011; Ozen et al., 2014). This pattern is predominantly seen following injury and during the early stages of angiogenesis and often associated with expression of markers such as NG2 and/or RGS5 (Ozerdem and Stallcup, 2004; Berger et al., 2005). Angiogenesis requires first pericyte detachment from the vessel wall, allowing endothelial sprouting and then subsequent pericyte recruitment for stabilization and maturation of the vasculature (Kamouchi

et al., 2012). We have previously shown that pericytes are activated in the 6-OHDA PD model (Padel et al., 2016), and that pathological pericyte activation is a feature of also other neurodegenerative disorders (Padel et al., 2018).

Pericytes are one of the first responders to brain hypoxia (Gonul et al., 2002; Duz et al., 2007) and to systemic inflammation (Duan et al., 2018). Importantly, pericytes alter their signaling toward a pro-inflammatory secretome when activated (Rustenhoven et al., 2017; Gaceb and Paul, 2018; Gaceb et al., 2018). Interestingly, a direct observation that  $\alpha$ -syn can activate pericytes comes from an *in vitro* study where exposure to monomeric  $\alpha$ -syn leads to secretion of high amounts of pro-inflammatory molecules in pericytes that in turn mediated hyperpermeability in endothelial cells resulting in BBB leakage (Dohgu et al., 2019).

Thus, it is conceivable that pericyte activation may form the starting point of vascular alterations and a cascade of pathological signaling events in the NVU in PD.

### Angiogenic Molecules

Findings indicating angiogenesis in PD are supported by reports showing an upregulation of the pro-angiogenic molecule Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) in the SNpc of PD patients (Wada et al., 2006; Yasuda et al., 2007; Lan et al., 2021) and non-human primates (Barcia et al., 2005). Increased levels of soluble VEGF receptor-2 and placental growth factor, and lower levels of angiopoietin 2 (an anti-angiogenic molecule) were detected in the CSF of PD patients (Janelidze et al., 2015). In

this study, angiogenesis markers in the CSF were associated with microbleeds and white matter lesions on imaging, suggesting abnormal angiogenesis in PD (Janelidze et al., 2015). Further strengthening these findings, a recent study demonstrated CSF changes in miRNAs regulating pathways of angiogenesis and BBB components in PD patients with moderate disease, implying impairment of these pathways as part of the progression of PD (Fowler et al., 2021).

### Blood-Brain Barrier Dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease Blood-Brain Barrier Dysfunction in Parkinson's

### Disease Animal Models

Angiogenesis is a double-edged sword as newly formed vessels are immature and can lead to BBB leakage, especially when pericyte recruitment is impaired.

Indeed, a dysfunctional BBB has been demonstrated in a number of different PD models showing leakage of albumin and other tracers into the brain parenchyma (Carvey et al., 2005, 2009; Westin et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2008), increased entry of drugs (Carta et al., 2006; Westin et al., 2006) and infiltration of peripheral immune cells otherwise are prevented from crossing the BBB (Benner et al., 2008; Brochard et al., 2009; Reynolds et al., 2010). Few studies have not been able to confirm BBB leakage, likely due to the methods used (Astradsson et al., 2009; Elabi O. F. et al., 2021).

A study using the A53T PD mouse model showed that the expression of tight junction-related proteins at the BBB decreased leading to increased vascular permeability (Lan et al., 2021). When we examined the temporal dynamics of BBB leakage in another progressive  $\alpha$ -syn-PD mouse model (Elabi O. et al., 2021), we detected significant extravascular fibrinogen accumulation already at the early stage preceding behavioral deficits (Elabi O. et al., 2021).

## Blood-Brain Barrier Dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease Post Mortem Tissue

The evidence of an impaired BBB in PD from animal models is validated by compelling post mortem studies in PD using a variety of different methods. Gray and Woulfe (2015) found a sevenfold increase in extravasated erythrocytes, a threefold increase in hemosiderin depositions (often grouped around capillaries), a significant perivascular deposition of hemoglobin (8.6-fold increase) and a 9.4-fold increase in extrasudated fibrinogen in the striatum of PD patients compared to controls. Greater fibrinogen accumulation (Yang et al., 2015), higher IgG leakage and loss of tight junction proteins (Pienaar et al., 2015) were also reported in other autopsy studies.

Similarly, a 10-fold increase of extravascular CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes has been shown particularly in the SNpc in post mortem PD brain tissue (Brochard et al., 2009) demonstrating pathological immune cell infiltration across the BBB.

## Blood-Brain Barrier Dysfunction Examined in the Cerebrospinal Fluid

In line with post mortem findings, CSF studies have shown BBB leakage as indicated by increased levels of CSF albumin in PD correlating with the severity of the disease (Pisani et al., 2012), or with the level of angiogenic factors in the CSF (Janelidze et al., 2015).

## Blood-Brain Barrier Dysfunction Using *in vivo*-Imaging

Blood-brain barrier dysfunction in PD patients *in vivo* is more difficult to study. Using positron-emission tomography (PET), progressive BBB impairment has been shown in the midbrain of PD patients as seen by an increased uptake of the tracer <sup>11</sup>C-verapamil indicating impairment of the BBB efflux pump P-glycoprotein (Kortekaas et al., 2005; Bartels et al., 2008) and analysis of dynamic contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance images revealed higher BBB leakage in PD patients (Al-Bachari et al., 2020), whereas a study using rubidium-82-PET could not detect BBB leakage in PD patients (Fujita et al., 2021).

### Vascular Regression

Angiogenesis and BBB leakage are not the only vascular pathology that has been observed in PD. Signs indicating vascular regression come from reports showing endothelial degeneration, decrease in vessel length and number of branching points and increase in vessel diameter in the SN of PD patients compared to age-matched controls (Guan et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2015). In addition, PD patients had higher numbers, density and total length of "string vessels" when compared to controls (Yang et al., 2015). String vessels are linked to endothelial cell degeneration leaving empty collapsed basal membrane tubes that do not take part in perfusion (Brown, 2010). Using electron microscopy, Farkas et al. (2000) also demonstrated basal membrane thickening in cerebral capillaries in PD.

Vascular regression likely indicates a later stage of vascular pathology in PD. When studying the temporal dynamics of vascular changes, we noted that early pericyte activation and BBB leakage were followed by angiogenesis, whereas vascular rarefication did not occur until the late stage of the PD model (Elabi O. et al., 2021). Thus, the microvasculature in PD might undergo both, an angiogenic and pruning vascular response, whereby occurrence of BBB leakage could be an early event, followed by the attempt for neovascularization at the moderate stage of the disease and vascular degeneration as a sign of late-stage disease. In the  $\alpha$ -syn-PD mouse model we observed colocalization of  $\alpha$ -syn and phosphorylated  $\alpha$ -syn with endothelial cells at all stages, which suggests a direct involvement of  $\alpha$ -syn in the vascular pathological mechanism in addition to a pathological stimulation of pericytes (Elabi O. et al., 2021).

### Inflammation and Vascular Pathology Microglia

In PD, neuroinflammation is a well-known pathology as documented by increased numbers of activated microglia in PD brains (Mcgeer et al., 1988; Croisier et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2005; Whitton, 2007; McGeer and McGeer, 2008) and increased levels of pro-inflammatory molecules in the CSF of PD (Blum-Degen et al., 1995).

Several studies demonstrating an increased activation of microglia also reported BBB disruption in these PD models

(Carvey et al., 2005; Zhao et al., 2007; Elabi O. et al., 2021). The interactions between microglia and blood vessels are complex: Microglia are likely activated by the parenchymal leakage of plasma proteins (Merlini et al., 2019), on the other hand, activated microglia may also induce angiogenesis and vascular leakage *via* the release of inflammatory and pro-angiogenic molecules (Naldini and Carraro, 2005; Ritzel et al., 2015; Haddick et al., 2017; Salter and Stevens, 2017; Chen et al., 2019). The proinflammatory cytokines cause a reduction in the expression of tight junction proteins and increase matrix metalloproteinase-3 and -9, which affect the BBB integrity (Raymond et al., 2016; Bonetti et al., 2019; Edwards et al., 2020).

Recently, we have observed that activated microglia are highly localized particularly in the perivascular space in PD (Elabi O. F. et al., 2021). It has been suggested that perivascular microglia have a dual effect on vessels, maintaining vascular integrity under normal conditions, but phagocytosing the vessel and impairing BBB integrity under prolonged inflammation (Haruwaka et al., 2019). The reason for this increase in activated perivascular microglia in PD is not known, however, we noted the level of perivascular microglia to be strongly associated with the number of pericytes (Elabi O. F. et al., 2021), suggesting a possible interaction of these two cell types at the vascular border.

### Other Inflammatory Cell Types

Within the NVU, also astrocytes can release pro-inflammatory cytokines and angiogenic molecules that can affect vascular function (Lee et al., 2010; Barcia et al., 2011; Kam et al., 2020). Several studies have highlighted the role of astrocytes in the control of vascular function, *via* e.g., cross-talk with microglia (Wang et al., 2014; Ni et al., 2018).

Similarly, pericytes can produce a variety of inflammatory and angiogenic molecules (Gaceb and Paul, 2018; Gaceb et al., 2018). Activation of pericytes specifically *via*  $\alpha$ -syn stimulates release of cytokines and increases expression MMP9 that lead to an increased EC permeability (Dohgu et al., 2019), placing pericytes as mediators between  $\alpha$ -syn and BBB disruption.

### Metabolic Disorders and Vascular Changes in Parkinson's Disease

An increasing number of studies suggest an association between neurodegeneration and metabolic diseases. Epidemiological evidence indicates that diabetes is also a risk factor and a negative prognostic factor for PD (Cereda et al., 2011; Pagano et al., 2018; Heinzel et al., 2019; Sergi et al., 2019; Chohan et al., 2021). The link between metabolic dysfunction and neurodegeneration in PD is further strengthened by studies demonstrating a beneficial effect of anti-diabetic medication in PD and PD models (Foltynie and Athauda, 2020). In particular, Exenatide, a glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonist, has shown neuroprotective effects in preclinical models of PD and entered clinical trials (Athauda et al., 2017).

Even though a number of hypotheses has been put forward to what is leading to this aggravation of PD in the presence of diabetes (Sergi et al., 2019), not much attention has been paid to the fact that diabetes and PD both share pathological microvascular alterations in the brain. Similar to the retinal and renal complications, diabetes is associated with signs of cerebral vascular proliferation and progressive BBB disruption (Starr et al., 2003; Huber et al., 2006; Salameh et al., 2016; Machida et al., 2017; Takechi et al., 2017; Rom et al., 2019; Yamamoto et al., 2019). We have examined the interactions of type 2 diabetes (DMT2) and PD at the microvascular interface and shown that DMT2 in combination with a PD lesion resulted in a significant depletion of pericytes, and reduced interactions between microvessels and perivascular microglia which was associated with a lack of the angiogenic response seen in toxininduced models (Elabi O. F. et al., 2021). It is conceivable that the diabetic state inhibits the attempt of compensatory angiogenesis seen in PD and accelerates the vessel changes toward a later stage of vascular regression.

### **DISCUSSION AND OUTLOOK**

Current evidence points to a dynamic evolution of multiple vascular changes in PD (Figure 1). These changes might start with pathological pericyte activation and subtle BBB leakage, continue with compensatory angiogenesis that then fails and cumulates in vascular regression. What constitutes the initiator of these events still remains unknown, but their occurrence is certainly contributing to a disturbed neuronal microenvironment. Interventions stabilizing the vasculature and preventing the progression of BBB dysfunction are clearly indicated. Treatment with platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF-BB), a growth factor required for pericyte recruitment and vessel maturation (Jain and Booth, 2003), not only induced neurorestoration and behavioral recovery in PD animal models (Zachrisson et al., 2011; Padel et al., 2016), but also normalized the number of activated pericytes (Padel et al., 2016) and changed the inflammatory secretome of pericytes toward a trophic factor pattern in vitro (Gaceb et al., 2018). PDGF-BB has shown safety and tolerability in a phase I/IIa clinical trial in PD patients (Paul et al., 2015; Paul and Sullivan, 2019). It now remains to be seen whether approaches targeting vascular pathology, pericyte activation and vascular signaling at the BBB can modify the progression of the disease.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

GP and OE wrote the manuscript. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This study was supported by the Swedish Parkinson Foundation (1217/19 and 1357/21) and the Åhlens Foundation (213025 and 193044).

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Edward Visse at Artifact Graphics for preparing the figure.

### REFERENCES

- Al-Bachari, S., Naish, J. H., Parker, G. J. M., Emsley, H. C. A., and Parkes, L. M. (2020). Blood-Brain Barrier Leakage Is Increased in Parkinson's Disease. *Front. Physiol.* 11:593026. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.593026
- Astradsson, A., Jenkins, B. G., Choi, J. K., Hallett, P. J., Levesque, M. A., McDowell, J. S., et al. (2009). The blood-brain barrier is intact after levodopa-induced dyskinesias in parkinsonian primates–evidence from *in vivo* neuroimaging studies. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 35, 348–351. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.05.018
- Athauda, D., Maclagan, K., Skene, S. S., Bajwa-Joseph, M., Letchford, D., Chowdhury, K., et al. (2017). Exenatide once weekly versus placebo in Parkinson's disease: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 390, 1664–1675. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31585-4
- Barcia, C., Bautista, V., Sanchez-Bahillo, A., Fernandez-Villalba, E., Faucheux, B., and Poza y Poza, M. (2005). Changes in vascularization in substantia nigra pars compacta of monkeys rendered parkinsonian. J. Neural Transm. 112, 1237–1248. doi: 10.1007/s00702-004-0256-2
- Barcia, C., Ros, C. M., Annese, V., Gomez, A., Ros-Bernal, F., Aguado-Yera, D., et al. (2011). IFN-gamma signaling, with the synergistic contribution of TNFalpha, mediates cell specific microglial and astroglial activation in experimental models of Parkinson's disease. *Cell Death Dis.* 2:e142. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2011.17
- Bartels, A. L., Willemsen, A. T. M., Kortekaas, R., de Jong, B. M., de Vries, R., de Klerk, O., et al. (2008). Decreased blood-brain barrier P-glycoprotein function in the progression of Parkinson's disease, PSP and MSA. *J. Neural Transm.* 115, 1001–1009. doi: 10.1007/s00702-008-0030-y
- Bell, R. D., Winkler, E. A., Sagare, A. P., Singh, I., LaRue, B., Deane, R., et al. (2010). Pericytes control key neurovascular functions and neuronal phenotype in the adult brain and during brain aging. *Neuron* 68, 409–427. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2010.09.043
- Benner, E. J., Banerjee, R., Reynolds, A. D., Sherman, S., Pisarev, V. M., Tsiperson, V., et al. (2008). Nitrated alpha-synuclein immunity accelerates degeneration of nigral dopaminergic neurons. *PLoS One* 3:e1376. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0001376
- Berger, M., Bergers, G., Arnold, B., Hammerling, G. J., and Ganss, R. (2005). Regulator of G-protein signaling-5 induction in pericytes coincides with active vessel remodeling during neovascularization. *Blood* 105, 1094–1101. doi: 10. 1182/blood-2004-06-2315
- Blum-Degen, D., Muller, T., Kuhn, W., Gerlach, M., Przuntek, H., and Riederer, P. (1995). Interleukin-1 beta and interleukin-6 are elevated in the cerebrospinal fluid of Alzheimer's and de novo Parkinson's disease patients. *Neurosci. Lett.* 202, 17–20. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(95)12192-7
- Bonetti, N. R., Diaz-Canestro, C., Liberale, L., Crucet, M., Akhmedov, A., Merlini, M., et al. (2019). Tumour Necrosis Factor-alpha Inhibition Improves Stroke Outcome in a Mouse Model of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Sci. Rep.* 9:2173. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-38670-z
- Brochard, V., Combadiere, B., Prigent, A., Laouar, Y., Perrin, A., Beray-Berthat, V., et al. (2009). Infiltration of CD4+ lymphocytes into the brain contributes to neurodegeneration in a mouse model of Parkinson disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* 119, 182–192. doi: 10.1172/JCI36470
- Brooks, P. C. (1996). Role of integrins in angiogenesis. Eur. J. Cancer 32A, 2423–2429. doi: 10.1016/s0959-8049(96)00381-4
- Brown, W. R. (2010). A review of string vessels or collapsed, empty basement membrane tubes. J. Alzheimers Dis. 21, 725–739. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-100219
- Carmignoto, G., and Gomez-Gonzalo, M. (2010). The contribution of astrocyte signalling to neurovascular coupling. *Brain Res. Rev.* 63, 138–148. doi: 10.1016/ j.brainresrev.2009.11.007
- Carta, M., Lindgren, H. S., Lundblad, M., Stancampiano, R., Fadda, F., and Cenci, M. A. (2006). Role of striatal L-DOPA in the production of dyskinesia in 6hydroxydopamine lesioned rats. *J. Neurochem.* 96, 1718–1727. doi: 10.1111/j. 1471-4159.2006.03696.x
- Carvey, P. M., Hendey, B., and Monahan, A. J. (2009). The blood-brain barrier in neurodegenerative disease: a rhetorical perspective. *J. Neurochem.* 111, 291– 314. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06319.x
- Carvey, P. M., Zhao, C. H., Hendey, B., Lum, H., Trachtenberg, J., Desai, B. S., et al. (2005). 6-Hydroxydopamine-induced alterations in blood-brain barrier permeability. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 22, 1158–1168. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005. 04281.x

- Cereda, E., Barichella, M., Pedrolli, C., Klersy, C., Cassani, E., Caccialanza, R., et al. (2011). Diabetes and risk of Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care* 34, 2614–2623. doi: 10.2337/dc11-1584
- Chen, A. Q., Fang, Z., Chen, X. L., Yang, S., Zhou, Y. F., Mao, L., et al. (2019). Microglia-derived TNF-alpha mediates endothelial necroptosis aggravating blood brain-barrier disruption after ischemic stroke. *Cell Death Dis.* 10:487. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-1716-9
- Chen, X., Lan, X., Roche, I., Liu, R., and Geiger, J. D. (2008). Caffeine protects against MPTP-induced blood-brain barrier dysfunction in mouse striatum. *J. Neurochem.* 107, 1147–1157. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05697.x
- Chohan, H., Senkevich, K., Patel, R. K., Bestwick, J. P., Jacobs, B. M., Bandres Ciga, S., et al. (2021). Type 2 Diabetes as a Determinant of Parkinson's Disease Risk and Progression. *Mov. Disord.* 36, 1420–1429. doi: 10.1002/mds.28551
- Croisier, E., Moran, L. B., Dexter, D. T., Pearce, R. K. B., and Graeber, M. B. (2005). Microglial inflammation in the parkinsonian substantia nigra: relationship to alpha-synuclein deposition. *J. Neuroinflamm.* 2:14. doi: 10.1186/1742-20 94-2-14
- Desai Bradaric, B., Patel, A., Schneider, J. A., Carvey, P. M., and Hendey, B. (2012). Evidence for angiogenesis in Parkinson's disease, incidental Lewy body disease, and progressive supranuclear palsy. *J. Neural Transm.* 119, 59–71. doi: 10.1007/s00702-011-0684-8
- Dohgu, S., Takata, F., Matsumoto, J., Kimura, I., Yamauchi, A., and Kataoka, Y. (2019). Monomeric alpha-synuclein induces blood-brain barrier dysfunction through activated brain pericytes releasing inflammatory mediators *in vitro*. *Microvasc. Res.* 124, 61–66. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2019.03.005
- Dore-Duffy, P., and Cleary, K. (2011). Morphology and properties of pericytes. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 686, 49–68. doi: 10.1007/978-1-60761-938-3\_2
- Dorsey, E. R., and Bloem, B. R. (2018). The Parkinson Pandemic-A Call to Action. *JAMA Neurol.* 75, 9–10. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.3299
- Duan, L., Zhang, X. D., Miao, W. Y., Sun, Y. J., Xiong, G., Wu, Q., et al. (2018). PDGFRbeta Cells Rapidly Relay Inflammatory Signal from the Circulatory System to Neurons via Chemokine CCL2. Neuron 100, 183–200.e8. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2018.08.030
- Duz, B., Oztas, E., Erginay, T., Erdogan, E., and Gonul, E. (2007). The effect of moderate hypothermia in acute ischemic stroke on pericyte migration: an ultrastructural study. *Cryobiology* 55, 279–284. doi: 10.1016/j.cryobiol.2007.08. 009
- Edwards, D. N., Salmeron, K., Lukins, D. E., Trout, A. L., Fraser, J. F., and Bix, G. J. (2020). Integrin alpha5beta1 inhibition by ATN-161 reduces neuroinflammation and is neuroprotective in ischemic stroke. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 40, 1695–1708. doi: 10.1177/0271678X19880161
- Elabi, O., Gaceb, A., Carlsson, R., Padel, T., Soylu-Kucharz, R., Cortijo, I., et al. (2021). Human alpha-synuclein overexpression in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease leads to vascular pathology, blood brain barrier leakage and pericyte activation. *Sci. Rep.* 11:1120. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-80889-8
- Elabi, O. F., Cunha, J., Gaceb, A., Fex, M., and Paul, G. (2021). High-fat diet-induced diabetes leads to vascular alterations, pericyte reduction, and perivascular depletion of microglia in a 6-OHDA toxin model of Parkinson disease. J. Neuroinflammation 18:175. doi: 10.1186/s12974-021-02218-8
- Farkas, E., De Jong, G. I., de Vos, R. A. I., Steur, E. N. H. J., and Luiten, P. G. M. (2000). Pathological features of cerebral cortical capillaries are doubled in Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* 100, 395–402. doi: 10.1007/s004010000195
- Faucheux, B. A., Agid, Y., Hirsch, E. C., and Bonnet, A.-M. (1999). Blood vessels change in the mesencephalon of patients with Parkinson's disease. *Lancet* 353, 981–982. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(99)00641-8
- Fearnley, J. M., and Lees, A. J. (1991). Ageing and Parkinson's disease: substantia nigra regional selectivity. *Brain* 114, 2283–2301. doi: 10.1093/brain/114. 5.2283
- Finley, K. H. (1936). Angio-architecture of the substantia nigra and its pathogenic significance. Arch. Neurol. Psychiatry 36, 118–127. doi: 10.1001/archneurpsyc. 1936.02260070126010
- Foltynie, T., and Athauda, D. (2020). Repurposing anti-diabetic drugs for the treatment of Parkinson's disease: rationale and clinical experience. *Prog. Brain Res.* 252, 493–523. doi: 10.1016/bs.pbr.2019.10.008
- Fowler, A. J., Ahn, J., Hebron, M., Chiu, T., Ayoub, R., Mulki, S., et al. (2021). CSF MicroRNAs Reveal Impairment of Angiogenesis and Autophagy in Parkinson Disease. *Neurol. Genet.* 7:e633. doi: 10.1212/NXG.00000000000633

- Fujita, K., Peng, S., Ma, Y., Tang, C. C., Hellman, M., Feigin, A., et al. (2021). Bloodbrain barrier permeability in Parkinson's disease patients with and without dyskinesia. J. Neurol. 268, 2246–2255. doi: 10.1007/s00415-021-10411-1
- Gaceb, A., Ozen, I., Padel, T., Barbariga, M., and Paul, G. (2018). Pericytes secrete pro-regenerative molecules in response to platelet-derived growth factor-BB. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 38, 45–57. doi: 10.1177/0271678X17719645
- Gaceb, A., and Paul, G. (2018). Pericyte Secretome. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1109, 139–163. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-02601-1\_11
- Garbuzova-Davis, S., and Sanberg, P. R. (2014). Blood-CNS Barrier Impairment in ALS patients versus an animal model. *Front. Cell Neurosci.* 8:21. doi: 10.3389/ fncel.2014.00021
- Gonul, E., Duz, B., Kahraman, S., Kayali, H., Kubar, A., and Timurkaynak, E. (2002). Early pericyte response to brain hypoxia in cats: an ultrastructural study. *Microvasc. Res.* 64, 116–119. doi: 10.1006/mvre.2002.2413
- Gray, M. T., and Woulfe, J. M. (2015). Striatal blood-brain barrier permeability in Parkinson's disease. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 35, 747–750. doi: 10.1038/ jcbfm.2015.32
- Guan, J., Pavlovic, D., Dalkie, N., Waldvogel, H. J., O'Carroll, S. J., Green, C. R., et al. (2013). Vascular degeneration in Parkinson's disease. *Brain Pathol.* 23, 154–164. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2012.00628.x
- Haddick, P. C. G., Larson, J. L., Rathore, N., Bhangale, T. R., Phung, Q. T., Srinivasan, K., et al. (2017). A Common Variant of IL-6R is Associated with Elevated IL-6 Pathway Activity in Alzheimer's Disease Brains. J. Alzheimers Dis. 56, 1037–1054. doi: 10.3233/Jad-160524
- Hansen, C., Bjorklund, T., Petit, G. H., Lundblad, M., Murmu, R. P., Brundin, P., et al. (2013). A novel alpha-synuclein-GFP mouse model displays progressive motor impairment, olfactory dysfunction and accumulation of alpha-synuclein-GFP. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 56, 145–155. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2013.04.017
- Haruwaka, K., Ikegami, A., Tachibana, Y., Ohno, N., Konishi, H., Hashimoto, A., et al. (2019). Dual microglia effects on blood brain barrier permeability induced by systemic inflammation. *Nat. Commun.* 10:5816. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-13812-z
- Heinzel, S., Berg, D., Gasser, T., Chen, H., Yao, C., Postuma, R. B., et al. (2019). Update of the MDS research criteria for prodromal Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 34, 1464–1470. doi: 10.1002/mds.27802
- Huber, J. D., VanGilder, R. L., and Houser, K. A. (2006). Streptozotocin-induced diabetes progressively increases blood-brain barrier permeability in specific brain regions in rats. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 291, H2660–H2668. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00489.2006
- Iadecola, C. (2017). The Neurovascular Unit Coming of Age: a Journey through Neurovascular Coupling in Health and Disease. *Neuron* 96, 17–42. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuron.2017.07.030
- Issidorides, M. R. (1971). Neuronal vascular relationships in the zona compacta of normal and parkinsonian substantia nigra. *Brain Res.* 25, 289–299. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(71)90439-2
- Jain, R. K., and Booth, M. F. (2003). What brings pericytes to tumor vessels? J. Clin. Invest. 112, 1134–1136. doi: 10.1172/JCI20087
- Janelidze, S., Lindqvist, D., Francardo, V., Hall, S., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., et al. (2015). Increased CSF biomarkers of angiogenesis in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 85, 1834–1842. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000002151
- Kam, T. I., Hinkle, J. T., Dawson, T. M., and Dawson, V. L. (2020). Microglia and astrocyte dysfunction in parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 144:105028. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2020.105028
- Kamouchi, M., Ago, T., Kuroda, J., and Kitazono, T. (2012). The possible roles of brain pericytes in brain ischemia and stroke. *Cell Mol. Neurobiol.* 32, 159–165. doi: 10.1007/s10571-011-9747-5
- Kortekaas, R., Leenders, K. L., van Oostrom, J. C. H., Vaalburg, W., Bart, J., Willemsen, A. T. M., et al. (2005). Blood-brain barrier dysfunction in Parkinsonian midbrain *in vivo. Ann. Neurol.* 57, 176–179. doi: 10.1002/ana. 20369
- Lan, G., Wang, P., Chan, R. B., Liu, Z., Yu, Z., Liu, X., et al. (2021). Astrocytic VEGFA: an essential mediator in blood-brain-barrier disruption in Parkinson's disease. *Glia* 70, 337–353. doi: 10.1002/glia.24109
- Lee, H. J., Kim, C., and Lee, S. J. (2010). Alpha-synuclein stimulation of astrocytes Potential role for neuroinflammation and neuroprotection. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 3, 283–287. doi: 10.4161/oxim.3.4.12809
- Machida, T., Takata, F., Matsumoto, J., Miyamura, T., Hirata, R., Kimura, I., et al. (2017). Contribution of thrombin-reactive brain pericytes to blood-brain

barrier dysfunction in an *in vivo* mouse model of obesity-associated diabetes and an *in vitro* rat model. *PLoS One* 12:e0177447. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0177447

- Mcgeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Boyes, B. E., and Mcgeer, E. G. (1988). Reactive Microglia Are Positive for Hla-Dr in the Substantia Nigra of Parkinsons and Alzheimers-Disease Brains. *Neurology* 38, 1285–1291. doi: 10.1212/Wnl.38.8.1285
- McGeer, P. L., and McGeer, E. G. (2008). Glial reactions in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 23, 474–483. doi: 10.1002/mds.21751
- Merlini, M., Rafalski, V. A., Rios Coronado, P. E., Gill, T. M., Ellisman, M., Muthukumar, G., et al. (2019). Fibrinogen Induces Microglia-Mediated Spine Elimination and Cognitive Impairment in an Alzheimer's Disease Model. *Neuron* 101, 1099–1108.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2019.01.014
- Naldini, A., and Carraro, F. (2005). Role of inflammatory mediators in angiogenesis. *Curr. Drug Targets Inflamm. Allergy* 4, 3-8. doi: 10.2174/1568010053622830
- Ni, P. F., Dong, H. Q., Wang, Y. W., Zhou, Q., Xu, M. M., Qian, Y. N., et al. (2018). IL-17A contributes to perioperative neurocognitive disorders through blood-brain barrier disruption in aged mice. *J. Neuroinflammation* 15:332. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1374-3
- Ozen, I., Deierborg, T., Miharada, K., Padel, T., Englund, E., Genove, G., et al. (2014). Brain pericytes acquire a microglial phenotype after stroke. *Acta Neuropathol.* 128, 381–396. doi: 10.1007/s00401-014-1295-x
- Ozerdem, U., and Stallcup, W. B. (2004). Pathological angiogenesis is reduced by targeting pericytes via the NG2 proteoglycan. Angiogenesis 7, 269–276. doi: 10.1007/s10456-004-4182-6
- Padel, T., Ozen, I., Boix, J., Barbariga, M., Gaceb, A., Roth, M., et al. (2016). Platelet-derived growth factor-BB has neurorestorative effects and modulates the pericyte response in a partial 6-hydroxydopamine lesion mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 94, 95–105. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2016.06.002
- Padel, T., Roth, M., Gaceb, A., Li, J. Y., Bjorkqvist, M., and Paul, G. (2018). Brain pericyte activation occurs early in Huntington's disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 305, 139–150. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2018.03.015
- Pagano, G., Polychronis, S., Wilson, H., Giordano, B., Ferrara, N., Niccolini, F., et al. (2018). Diabetes mellitus and Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 90, e1654– e1662. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000005475
- Pandey, P. K., Sharma, A. K., and Gupta, U. (2016). Blood brain barrier: an overview on strategies in drug delivery, realistic *in vitro* modeling and *in vivo* live tracking. *Tissue Barriers* 4, e1129476. doi: 10.1080/21688370.2015.1129476
- Paul, G., and Sullivan, A. M. (2019). Trophic factors for Parkinson's disease: where are we and where do we go from here?. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 49, 440–452. doi: 10.1111/ejn.14102
- Paul, G., Zachrisson, O., Varrone, A., Almqvist, P., Jerling, M., Lind, G., et al. (2015). Safety and tolerability of intracerebroventricular PDGF-BB in Parkinson's disease patients. J. Clin. Invest. 125, 1339–1346. doi: 10.1172/ Jci79635
- Pienaar, I. S., Lee, C. H., Elson, J. L., McGuinness, L., Gentleman, S. M., Kalaria, R. N., et al. (2015). Deep-brain stimulation associates with improved microvascular integrity in the subthalamic nucleus in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 74, 392–405. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014.12.006
- Pisani, V., Stefani, A., Pierantozzi, M., Natoli, S., Stanzione, P., Franciotta, D., et al. (2012). Increased blood-cerebrospinal fluid transfer of albumin in advanced Parkinson's disease. J. Neuroinflammation 9:188. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-9-188
- Raymond, A. D., Diaz, P., Chevelon, S., Agudelo, M., Yndart-Arias, A., Ding, H., et al. (2016). Microglia-derived HIV Nef+ exosome impairment of the bloodbrain barrier is treatable by nanomedicine-based delivery of Nef peptides. *J. Neurovirol.* 22, 129–139. doi: 10.1007/s13365-015-0397-0
- Reynolds, A. D., Stone, D. K., Hutter, J. A. L., Benner, E. J., Mosley, R. L., and Gendelman, H. E. (2010). Regulatory T Cells Attenuate Th17 Cell-Mediated Nigrostriatal Dopaminergic Neurodegeneration in a Model of Parkinson's Disease. J. Immunol. 184, 2261–2271. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901852
- Ritzel, R. M., Patel, A. R., Grenier, J. M., Crapser, J., Verma, R., Jellison, E. R., et al. (2015). Functional differences between microglia and monocytes after ischemic stroke. J. Neuroinflammation 12:106. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0329-1
- Rom, S., Zuluaga-Ramirez, V., Gajghate, S., Seliga, A., Winfield, M., Heldt, N. A., et al. (2019). Hyperglycemia-Driven Neuroinflammation Compromises BBB Leading to Memory Loss in Both Diabetes Mellitus (DM) Type 1 and Type 2 Mouse Models. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 56, 1883–1896. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1195-5
- Rustenhoven, J., Jansson, D., Smyth, L. C., and Dragunow, M. (2017). Brain Pericytes As Mediators of Neuroinflammation. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 38, 291–304. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2016.12.001
- Sagare, A. P., Bell, R. D., Zhao, Z., Ma, Q., Winkler, E. A., Ramanathan, A., et al. (2013). Pericyte loss influences Alzheimer-like neurodegeneration in mice. *Nat. Commun.* 4:2932. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3932
- Salameh, T. S., Shah, G. N., Price, T. O., Hayden, M. R., and Banks, W. A. (2016). Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption and Neurovascular Unit Dysfunction in Diabetic Mice: protection with the Mitochondrial Carbonic Anhydrase Inhibitor Topiramate. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 359, 452–459. doi: 10.1124/jpet. 116.237057
- Salter, M. W., and Stevens, B. (2017). Microglia emerge as central players in brain disease. Nat. Med. 23, 1018–1027. doi: 10.1038/nm.4397
- Sergi, D., Renaud, J., Simola, N., and Martinoli, M. G. (2019). Diabetes, a Contemporary Risk for Parkinson's Disease: epidemiological and Cellular Evidences. Front. Aging Neurosci. 11:302. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019.00302
- Spillantini, M. G., Schmidt, M. L., Lee, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jakes, R., and Goedert, M. (1997). Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. *Nature* 388, 839–840. doi: 10.1038/42166
- Stapor, P. C., Sweat, R. S., Dashti, D. C., Betancourt, A. M., and Murfee, W. L. (2014). Pericyte dynamics during angiogenesis: new insights from new identities. J. Vasc. Res. 51, 163–174. doi: 10.1159/000362276
- Starr, J. M., Wardlaw, J., Ferguson, K., MacLullich, A., Deary, I. J., and Marshall, I. (2003). Increased blood-brain barrier permeability in type II diabetes demonstrated by gadolinium magnetic resonance imaging. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 74, 70–76. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.74.1.70
- Sweeney, M. D., Kisler, K., Montagne, A., Toga, A. W., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2018a). The role of brain vasculature in neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat. Neurosci.* 21, 1318–1331. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0234-x
- Sweeney, M. D., Sagare, A. P., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2018b). Blood-brain barrier breakdown in Alzheimer disease and other neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 14, 133–150. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2017.188
- Tahergorabi, Z., and Khazaei, M. (2012). A review on angiogenesis and its assays. Iran. J. Basic Med. Sci. 15, 1110–1126.
- Takechi, R., Lam, V., Brook, E., Giles, C., Fimognari, N., Mooranian, A., et al. (2017). Blood-Brain Barrier Dysfunction Precedes Cognitive Decline and Neurodegeneration in Diabetic Insulin Resistant Mouse Model: an Implication for Causal Link. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:399. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017. 00399
- Wada, K., Arai, H., Takanashi, M., Fukae, J., Oizumi, H., Yasuda, T., et al. (2006). Expression levels of vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptors in Parkinson's disease. *Neuroreport* 17, 705–709. doi: 10.1097/01.wnr.0000215769. 71657.65
- Wang, Y., Jin, S., Sonobe, Y., Cheng, Y., Horiuchi, H., Parajuli, B., et al. (2014). Interleukin-1 beta Induces Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption by Downregulating Sonic Hedgehog in Astrocytes. *PLoS One* 9:e110024. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0110024
- Westin, J. E., Lindgren, H. S., Gardi, J., Nyengaard, J. R., Brundin, P., Mohapel, P., et al. (2006). Endothelial proliferation and increased blood-brain barrier permeability in the basal ganglia in a rat model of 3,4-dihydroxyphenyl-L-alanine-induced dyskinesia. J. Neurosci. 26, 9448–9461. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.0944-06.2006

- Whitton, P. S. (2007). Inflammation as a causative factor in the aetiology of Parkinson's disease. Br. J. Pharmacol. 150, 963–976. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0707167
- Winkler, E. A., Sengillo, J. D., Sagare, A. P., Zhao, Z., Ma, Q., Zuniga, E., et al. (2014). Blood-spinal cord barrier disruption contributes to early motor-neuron degeneration in ALS-model mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 111, E1035– E1042. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1401595111
- Yamamoto, M., Guo, D. H., Hernandez, C. M., and Stranahan, A. M. (2019). Endothelial Adora2a Activation Promotes Blood-Brain Barrier Breakdown and Cognitive Impairment in Mice with Diet-Induced Insulin Resistance. *J. Neurosci.* 39, 4179–4192. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2506-18.2019
- Yang, P., Pavlovic, D., Waldvogel, H., Dragunow, M., Synek, B., Turner, C., et al. (2015). String Vessel Formation is Increased in the Brain of Parkinson Disease. *J. Parkinsons Dis.* 5, 821–836. doi: 10.3233/JPD-140454
- Yasuda, T., Fukuda-Tani, M., Nihira, T., Wada, K., Hattori, N., Mizuno, Y., et al. (2007). Correlation between levels of pigment epithelium-derived factor and vascular endothelial growth factor in the striatum of patients with Parkinson's disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 206, 308–317. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2007.05.012
- Zachrisson, O., Zhao, M., Andersson, A., Dannaeus, K., Haggblad, J. H., Isacson, R., et al. (2011). Restorative Effects of Platelet Derived Growth Factor-BB in Rodent Models of Parkinson's Disease. *J. Parkinsons Dis.* 1, 49–63. doi: 10.3233/ Jpd-2011-0003
- Zhang, W., Wang, T. G., Pei, Z., Miller, D. S., Wu, X. F., Block, M. L., et al. (2005). Aggregated alpha-synuclein activates microglia: a process leading to disease progression in Parkinson's disease. *FASEB J.* 19, 533–542. doi: 10.1096/fj.04-2751com
- Zhao, C. H., Ling, Z. D., Newman, M. B., Bhatia, A., and Carvey, P. M. (2007). TNF-alpha knockout and minocycline treatment attenuates blood-brain barrier leakage in MPTP-treated mice. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 26, 36–46. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd. 2006.11.012
- Zhao, Z., Nelson, A. R., Betsholtz, C., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2015). Establishment and Dysfunction of the Blood-Brain Barrier. *Cell* 163, 1064–1078. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2015.10.067
- Zhong, Z., Deane, R., Ali, Z., Parisi, M., Shapovalov, Y., O'Banion, M. K., et al. (2008). ALS-causing SOD1 mutants generate vascular changes prior to motor neuron degeneration. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 420–422. doi: 10.1038/nn2073

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Paul and Elabi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Aging-Related Vascular Inflammation: Giant Cell Arteritis and Neurological Disorders

Ryu Watanabe\* and Motomu Hashimoto

Department of Clinical Immunology, Osaka Metropolitan University Graduate School of Medicine, Osaka, Japan

Aging is characterized by the functional decline of the immune system and constitutes the primary risk factor for infectious diseases, cardiovascular disorders, cancer, and neurodegenerative disorders. Blood vessels are immune-privileged sites and consist of endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle cells, macrophages, dendritic cells, fibroblasts, and pericytes, among others. Aging also termed senescence inevitably affects blood vessels, making them vulnerable to inflammation. Atherosclerosis causes low-grade inflammation from the endothelial side; whereas giant cell arteritis (GCA) causes intense inflammation from the adventitial side. GCA is the most common autoimmune vasculitis in the elderly characterized by the formation of granulomas composed of T cells and macrophages in medium- and large-sized vessels. Recent studies explored the pathophysiology of GCA at unprecedented resolutions, and shed new light on cellular signaling pathways and metabolic fitness in wall-destructive T cells and macrophages. Moreover, recent reports have revealed that not only can cerebrovascular disorders, such as stroke and ischemic optic neuropathy, be initial or coexistent manifestations of GCA, but the same is true for dementia and neurodegenerative disorders. In this review, we first outline how aging affects vascular homeostasis. Subsequently, we review the updated pathophysiology of GCA and explain the similarities and differences between vascular aging and GCA. Then, we introduce the possible link between T cell aging, neurological aging, and GCA. Finally, we discuss therapeutic strategies targeting both senescence and vascular inflammation.

### OPEN ACCESS

### Edited by:

Axel Montagne, University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom

### Reviewed by:

Corrado Campochiaro, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Zhen Zhao, University of Southern California, United States

\*Correspondence: Ryu Watanabe doctorwatanaberyu@yahoo.co.jp

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of Brain-aging, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

> Received: 25 December 2021 Accepted: 22 March 2022 Published: 12 April 2022

### Citation:

Watanabe R and Hashimoto M (2022) Aging-Related Vascular Inflammation: Giant Cell Arteritis and Neurological Disorders. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:843305. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.843305 Keywords: giant cell arteritis, inflammation, neurological aging, vascular aging, vasculitis

# INTRODUCTION

Aging is a multifactorial phenomenon that affects virtually every organ system in the human body and is characterized by the progressive functional decline of those organs (Borgoni et al., 2021). Not only infectious diseases like COVID-19, shingles, and pneumonia, but also malignant neoplasms and vascular diseases increase in frequency with aging. Atherosclerosis is a prototypical form of vascular aging (Ungvari et al., 2018; Tyrrell and Goldstein, 2021), and recent studies have revealed the involvement of immune cells and low-grade inflammation in atherosclerosis, known as "inflammaging" (Ferrucci and Fabbri, 2018; Franceschi et al., 2018).

On the other hand, many autoimmune diseases are common in young to middle-aged women, with an exception that is exclusively found in the elderly, giant cell arteritis (GCA)

(Weyand and Goronzy, 2014). GCA is classified as large vessel vasculitis (LVV) and affects the aorta and its major branches (Pugh et al., 2022). Large vessel involvement can be complicated by aortic dissection and aneurysm formation, while inflammation of medium-sized arteries causes headache, jaw claudication, loss of vision, and stroke. Moreover, extravascular manifestations -- such as fever, malaise, weight loss, polymyalgia rheumatica-also frequently occur (Buttgereit et al., 2016; Yamaguchi et al., 2022). The currently available treatments for GCA include glucocorticoids and tocilizumab (TCZ), an IL-6 receptor inhibitor. TCZ reduces flare-up of GCA and has steroidsparing effect (Stone et al., 2017); however, discontinuation of TCZ almost inevitably leads to flare-up of GCA, suggesting that TCZ alleviates symptoms, but it does not cure the disease (Quinn et al., 2021). Therefore, further elucidation of the immunopathogenesis of GCA is essential.

This mini-review summarizes the pathological mechanism of vascular aging. Then, the updated immunopathogenesis of GCA is presented and the similarities and differences between vascular aging and GCA are discussed. Then, we introduce the link between T cell aging, neurological aging, and GCA. Finally, possible therapeutic strategies targeting senescence and vascular inflammation are discussed.

# VASCULAR AGING AND GIANT CELL ARTERITIS

### **Vascular Aging**

Vascular aging refers to the cellular and functional changes that occur in the vasculature during aging, and accounts for most of the morbidity and mortality in the elderly (Figure 1A). Aging-induced functional and structural alterations of the vasculature contribute to not only cardiovascular disease, but also a wide range of age-related diseases, such as cognitive impairment, Alzheimer's disease, sarcopenia, and kidney dysfunction (Ungvari et al., 2018). A variety of pathophysiological mechanisms drive vascular aging: reactive oxygen species (ROS), mitochondrial dysfunction, inflammation, cellular senescence, genomic instability, increased apoptosis, epigenetic alterations, and clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential (CHIP) (Jaiswal et al., 2017; Ungvari et al., 2018). Among these, mitochondrial dysfunction may play a pivotal role in the vascular aging process (Ungvari et al., 2018; Tyrrell et al., 2020). Impaired mitochondrial biogenesis associated with excess ROS production promotes cellular senescence in endothelial cells (ECs) and vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs). Senescent ECs and VSMCs have an increased pro-inflammatory secretome called senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP), and this further enhances pathological remodeling of the extracellular matrix and disrupts barrier function in ECs.

CHIP is a relatively new concept in atherosclerosis. With aging, the risk of somatic mutations increases in hematopoietic stem cells residing in bone marrow (Jaiswal et al., 2017). An expansion of hematopoietic clones carrying somatic mutations — most frequently loss-of-function alleles in the genes *DNMT3A*, *TET2*, and *ASXL1*—in the absence of any other hematologic

abnormalities is defined as CHIP (Jaiswal et al., 2017). During aging, monocytes that carry such mutations are recruited from the lumen of the blood vessel to the atherosclerotic plaque and there produce excess IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and chemokines (Tyrrell and Goldstein, 2021).

Metabolic reprogramming has also been shown to be involved in vascular aging (Shirai et al., 2016). Macrophages from patients with coronary artery disease (CAD) have an enhanced glycolytic flux as well as increased activity of the tricarboxylic acid cycle, leading to an overproduction of mitochondriaderived ROS. This, in turn, promotes dimerization of the glycolytic enzyme pyruvate kinase M2 and enables its nuclear translocation, boosting IL-6 production (Shirai et al., 2016). At the same time, such metabolically reprogrammed macrophages from CAD patients show increased expression of PD-L1, an immunoinhibitory checkpoint molecule, making CAD patients vulnerable to herpes zoster (Watanabe et al., 2017b, 2018a). PD-L1 expression is regulated by pyruvate, an intermediate metabolite of glycolysis. Immunostaining performed in humans demonstrated that PD-L1 is highly expressed in macrophages infiltrating the vessel wall from the early stage of atherosclerosis (Watanabe et al., 2017b). Thus, metabolic reprogramming in CAD macrophages exacerbates vascular inflammation via IL-6 production, while exerting an immunosuppressive function through PD-L1 expression.

A recent single-cell analysis of human carotid atherosclerotic plaque demonstrated multiple cellular activation—such as ECs, VSMCs, T cells, B cells, and myeloid cells— and mutual activation between cell types (Depuydt et al., 2020). This study not only identified EC subsets with angiogenic capacity and endothelial to mesenchymal transition, but also revealed 2 populations of macrophages; pro-inflammatory macrophages with excess production of IL-1 $\beta$  and tumor necrosis factor and fibrosis-promoting macrophages. Thus, the complex interaction of a wide variety of immune cells and vascular cells shapes the pathogenesis of vascular aging.

### **Giant Cell Arteritis**

In recent years, great progress has also been made in the understanding of the pathophysiology of GCA. Research has identified the pivotal roles of vascular dendritic cells (DCs) and microvascular ECs in the adventitia in initiating and exacerbating vascular inflammation (Watanabe et al., 2017c; Wen et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2017). Studies have also elucidated cellular signaling pathways and metabolic fitness in vasculitogenic T cells and macrophages (Watanabe et al., 2018a,b; Zhang et al., 2018, 2019).

The vasculitogenic response is initiated by vascular DCs which reside in the media-adventitial border (**Figure 1B**). When vascular DCs receive an external danger signal via Toll-like receptor, they upregulate costimulatory molecules, such as CD80 and CD86, and release chemokines. This, in turn, recruits monocytes and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells mainly from vasa vasorum located in the adventitia (Ma-Krupa et al., 2004). The monocytes differentiate into tissue macrophages, phagocyte cell debris, and release cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors—such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)—to further enhance inflammation and neoangiogenesis (Kaiser et al., 1999). At the



various cytokines. As a result, the media becomes thin and the inner elastic membrane collapses. In the intima, myofibroblasts overgrow and block the lumen of blood vessels. Angiogenesis is prominent in the adventitia. Dendritic cells present at the border of the adventitia and media have decreased PD-L1 expression;

however, activated T cells highly express PD-1.

same time, they form multinucleated giant cells and digest extracellular matrix by releasing proteolytic enzymes, such as matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9, disrupting the elastic membranes (Rodriguez-Pla et al., 2005; Watanabe et al., 2018b; Weyand et al., 2019). Such tissue-destructive macrophages enable activated T cells to infiltrate into otherwise immuneprivileged sites and form granulomas. Activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are dependent on an increased activity of Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT) pathway (Zhang et al., 2018; Vieira et al., 2022) and release multiple cytokines, including IFN-y, IL-17, IL-21, IL-9, and IL-22 (Deng et al., 2010; Ciccia et al., 2015; Watanabe et al., 2017a; Zerbini et al., 2018). Such a cytokine milieu transforms ECs, VSMCs, and fibroblasts into myofibroblasts, which leads to the occlusion of the blood vessels (Weyand and Goronzy, 2013; Parreau et al., 2021).

The innermost ECs of vasa vasorum control the entry of immune cells. VEGF, which is primarily derived from macrophages and enriched in GCA plasma (Baldini et al., 2012), not only promotes neoangiogenesis in the adventitial layer, but also upregulates the expression of the NOTCH1 ligand on microvascular ECs (Wen et al., 2017). The NOTCH1 ligand stimulates NOTCH1 receptor, expressed on GCA CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and this shifts T cell differentiation toward Th1 and Th17 via activation of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR). Thus,

microvascular ECs play an unexpected role in instructing T cell differentiation in GCA. Therefore, inhibition of NOTCH signaling or mTOR activation could be a new therapeutic strategy for this disease. High mTOR activity in GCA CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is, in part, regulated by CD28 signaling, a "second signal" from antigen-presenting cells (Zhang et al., 2019). For this reason, blocking CD28 signaling could serve as an alternative option to suppress vasculitis.

The next noteworthy research revealed the lack of a system that suppresses aberrant immune activation in vascular lesions. Particularly, deficient expression of PD-L1 is a hallmark feature of vascular DCs present in temporal arteries (Watanabe et al., 2017c; Zhang et al., 2017). Surprisingly, vascular DCs residing in the temporal arteries and monocyte-derived DCs share the feature. PD-L1-deficient DCs have increased capacity for activating CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells as well as skew naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell differentiation toward inflammatory phenotypes, such as Th1, Th17, and IL-21-producing T cells. Inhibition of the PD-1/PD-L1 interaction in a preclinical vasculitis mouse model exacerbated the pathology of GCA and recapitulated the intimal hyperplasia and neoangiogenesis in the adventitia, implicating this inhibitory mechanism as an essential regulator of vascular remodeling (Watanabe et al., 2017c; Zhang et al., 2017). Another group confirmed the decreased PD-L1 expression on vascular DCs during vascular inflammation using a mouse model (Sun et al., 2022). Further elucidation of the regulatory mechanism of PD-L1 expression on DCs is necessary.

Recently, attention has been focused on the role of neutrophils in GCA. Neutrophils phagocytose and subsequently kill microorganisms efficiently (Burn et al., 2021). In addition, they unleash their cellular contents into the extracellular space, even post-mortem. In GCA, apoptosis-resistant immature neutrophils produce high levels of ROS, disrupting the endothelial barrier and increasing vascular permeability (Wang et al., 2020).

### Similarities and Differences Between Vascular Aging and Giant Cell Arteritis

Although the disease mechanisms of GCA and CAD may differ, there are significant overlaps between the two. In both diseases, increasing age is the strongest risk factor, and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and macrophages produce excessive cytokines and chemokines in the vascular lesion, resulting in neoangiogenesis in the adventitia and intimal hyperplasia (**Figure 1**). However, GCA is more tissuedestructive, with macrophages and multinucleated giant cells destroying vascular structures. As a result, the VSMCs undergo cell death and the medial layer becomes thinner. In contrast, in atherosclerosis, the VSMCs proliferate and become irregularly arranged. Arterial stiffness increases due to the accompanied calcification and fibrosis, and adipocyte accumulation is more prominent in atherosclerosis (Tyrrell and Goldstein, 2021).

The direct link between these two diseases is missing. Rather, epidemiological studies have demonstrated that the incidence of GCA was inversely correlated with cardiovascular risk factors, such as obesity, smoking, hyperglycemia, and hypercholesterolemia (Tomasson et al., 2019; Wadstrom et al., 2020). This is consistent with our clinical experience that GCApositive temporal artery biopsies show little atherosclerosis; while GCA-negative temporal artery biopsies often show atherosclerosis. The exact mechanism behind how vascular aging protects against GCA development remains unclear. One possibility is that, since high blood glucose upregulates PD-L1 expression on macrophages (Watanabe et al., 2018a), both tissue macrophages in atherosclerotic plaque and monocyte-derived macrophages from CAD patients overexpress PD-L1 and fail to support clonal expansion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Watanabe et al., 2017b). Impaired T cell immunity due to hyperglycemia may suppress the excess inflammatory response, as seen in GCA.

### T Cell Aging and Giant Cell Arteritis

In contrast to vascular aging, T cell aging may participate in the pathogenesis of GCA (**Figure 2**). With aging, thymic involution accelerates homeostatic proliferation of naïve T cells (**Figure 2A**); however, naïve T cells, particularly naïve CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, fail to maintain their absolute number (**Figure 2B**). Variation of T cell receptors is also reduced, while clonal sizes increase (**Figure 2C**). In addition, aging-related T cells such as senescent T cells, exhausted T cells, and T effector memory CD45 RA (TEMRA) cells—accumulate (**Figure 2D**). Senescent T cells show irreversible cell cycle arrest but have SASP and release pro-inflammatory cytokines. Exhausted T cells express programmed death-1 (PD-1), TIM3, and LAG-3, and their effector functions are defective. TEMRA cells have short telomeres and show cell cycle arrest while maintaining high effector function (Goronzy and Weyand, 2017).

Although the direct evidence showing T cell aging in GCA is lacking, some indirect evidence does exist. Firstly, the T cell repertoire in GCA vascular lesions is restricted, while clonal sizes are expanded (Weyand et al., 1994). Secondly, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have an increased capacity for cytokine production. Thirdly, granulomatous inflammation in Takayasu arteritis—another type of LVV seen in young women—is composed of macrophages, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells; while CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are rarely seen in GCA (Watanabe et al., 2020a,b). Further studies are needed to determine whether T cell aging accelerates vascular pathology in GCA.

### NEUROLOGICAL AGING AND GIANT CELL ARTERITIS

### **Neurological Aging**

Dementia and neurodegenerative disorders are now a major problem in public health. In 2018, nearly 50 million people were affected by Alzheimer's disease and other dementias all over the world (Grande et al., 2020). Dementia and neurodegenerative disorders are prototypes of neurological aging, with aging being the strongest risk factor for these diseases (Hou et al., 2019). Pathways implicated in the development and progression of these disorders include brain resilience, vascular damage, neuroinflammation, oxidative stress, dysfunctional autophagy, apolipoprotein homeostasis, and cellular senescence (Baker and Petersen, 2018; Grande et al., 2020; Montagne et al., 2020). Evidence is accumulating that various cell types in the neural network, including neurons, oligodendrocytes, astrocytes, microglial cells, and endothelial cells show senescent phenotypes with age. Commonly observed features of senescent cells include cell cycle arrest, telomere shortening, resistance to apoptosis, and the SASP, just like in peripheral tissues (Baker and Petersen, 2018).

# Neurological Aging and Giant Cell Arteritis

Well-known neurological complications of GCA include stroke, cerebral infarction, and ischemic optic neuropathy. Cerebrovascular accident (CVA) is not specific to GCA, and does not have high diagnostic accuracy in GCA (van der Geest et al., 2020). However, patients with GCA are more likely to develop CVAs than age- and sex-matched controls (Robson et al., 2016; Tomasson et al., 2019), particularly within 1 year from diagnosis. This may be explained by strong vascular inflammation and high-dose glucocorticoids. The risk factors for CVA include increasing age, male, and social deprivation in GCA (Robson et al., 2016).

In addition, the evidence is accumulating that other forms of neurological disorders, such as dementia and neurodegenerative disorders, can be initial or coexistent manifestations of GCA (Pascuzzi et al., 1989; Caselli, 1990; Caselli and Hunder, 1993;



Ely, 1998; Incalzi et al., 2005; Alisky, 2008; Solans-Laqué et al., 2008; Kushida et al., 2011; Lahaye et al., 2020). It is noteworthy that some of these cases showed improvement after GCA treatment, indicating that GCA could manifest as a "treatable" neurological disorder. Blood sampling and imaging may be useful in diagnosing GCA in patients with dementia, who have difficulty in reporting symptoms (Kushida et al., 2011).

More recently, an epidemiological study has demonstrated that neurodegenerative disorders accounted for 11% of deaths in GCA patients (Chazal et al., 2018). This suggests that the prevalence of neurodegenerative disorders in patients with GCA could be much higher. Such manifestations had been underestimated or considered rare, but this may be no longer the case for patients with GCA. Glucocorticoids and other treatments may not be sufficient to control neurological aging due to vascular damage from GCA or that patients with GCA are able to live longer than before and develop neurodegenerative diseases during the disease process.

# DISCUSSION

We have focused on the relationship between aging in various organ systems and GCA. Is there a way to suppress both senescence and vascular inflammation? As described earlier, since vascular aging is characterized by low-grade inflammation, several attempts have been made to prevent the recurrence of cardiovascular events by controlling inflammation. A large clinical study showed that controlling inflammation by blocking IL-1 $\beta$  could suppress atherosclerosis and reduce cardiovascular events (Ridker et al., 2017); however, subsequent research revealed that IL-1 $\beta$  has atheroprotective effects in mice (Gomez et al., 2018), which suspended further clinical research.

Are there any ways to inhibit cellular senescence? Three strategies for targeting cellular senescence have been proposed (Ovadya and Krizhanovsky, 2018). The leading option is to induce apoptosis selectively in senescent cells with senolytic drugs. The second approach is to potentiate an immune response against senescent cells, leading to apoptotic cell death. The third one is selective blockade of SASP (Ovadya and Krizhanovsky, 2018). Among those therapies, inhibitors of JAK-STAT pathway are not only expected to be effective against cellular senescence by suppressing excessive cytokine signaling, but also expected for treating GCA (Zhang et al., 2018; Rathore et al., 2022; Vieira et al., 2022). In addition, recent research has shown that the complement C3a receptor, expressed on ECs, promotes dysfunction of blood brain barrier as well as vascular inflammation during aging, leading to neurodegenerative disease (Propson et al., 2021). Targeting complement activation could also be a novel therapeutic approach for the treatment of brain aging, neurodegenerative disorder, and vascular inflammation.

In conclusion, GCA is not just vascular aging, but vascular inflammation with the involvement of T-cell and neurological aging. Drugs that could simultaneously inhibit cellular senescence and vascular inflammation may be useful.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

RW drafted the manuscript. MH revised and finalized the manuscript. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### REFERENCES

- Alisky, J. M. (2008). Giant cell arteritis dementia and other steroid-responsive dementia syndromes are a unique opportunity for clinicians and researchers. *Singapore Med. J.* 49, 268–270.
- Baker, D. J., and Petersen, R. C. (2018). Cellular senescence in brain aging and neurodegenerative diseases: evidence and perspectives. J. Clin. Invest. 128, 1208–1216. doi: 10.1172/JCI95145
- Baldini, M., Maugeri, N., Ramirez, G. A., Giacomassi, C., Castiglioni, A., Prieto-Gonzalez, S., et al. (2012). Selective up-regulation of the soluble pattern-recognition receptor pentraxin 3 and of vascular endothelial growth factor in giant cell arteritis: relevance for recent optic nerve ischemia. *Arthritis Rheum.* 64, 854–865. doi: 10.1002/art.33411
- Borgoni, S., Kudryashova, K. S., Burka, K., and De Magalhaes, J. P. (2021). Targeting immune dysfunction in aging. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 70:101410. doi: 10.1016/j.arr. 2021.101410
- Burn, G. L., Foti, A., Marsman, G., Patel, D. F., and Zychlinsky, A. (2021). The Neutrophil. *Immunity* 54, 1377–1391.
- Buttgereit, F., Dejaco, C., Matteson, E. L., and Dasgupta, B. (2016). Polymyalgia Rheumatica and Giant Cell Arteritis: A Systematic Review. JAMA 315, 2442– 2458.
- Caselli, R. J. (1990). Giant cell (temporal) arteritis: a treatable cause of multi-infarct dementia. *Neurology* 40, 753–755. doi: 10.1212/wnl.40.5.753
- Caselli, R. J., and Hunder, G. G. (1993). Neurologic aspects of giant cell (temporal) arteritis. *Rheum. Dis. Clin. North Am.* 19, 941–953. doi: 10.1016/s0889-857x(21) 00214-3
- Chazal, T., Lhote, R., Rey, G., Haroche, J., Eb, M., Amoura, Z., et al. (2018). Giantcell arteritis-related mortality in France: A multiple-cause-of-death analysis. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 17, 1219–1224. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2018.06.012
- Ciccia, F., Rizzo, A., Guggino, G., Cavazza, A., Alessandro, R., Maugeri, R., et al. (2015). Difference in the expression of IL-9 and IL-17 correlates with different histological pattern of vascular wall injury in giant cell arteritis. *Rheumatology* 54, 1596–1604. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kev102
- Deng, J., Younge, B. R., Olshen, R. A., Goronzy, J. J., and Weyand, C. M. (2010). Th17 and Th1 T-cell responses in giant cell arteritis. *Circulation* 121, 906–915. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.872903
- Depuydt, M. A. C., Prange, K. H. M., Slenders, L., Ord, T., Elbersen, D., Boltjes, A., et al. (2020). Microanatomy of the Human Atherosclerotic Plaque by Single-Cell Transcriptomics. *Circ. Res.* 127, 1437–1455. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 120.316770
- Ely, G. M. (1998). Giant cell arteritis complicated by multi-infarct dementia. *J. Clin. Rheumatol.* 4, 209–215. doi: 10.1097/00124743-199808000-00011
- Ferrucci, L., and Fabbri, E. (2018). Inflammageing: chronic inflammation in ageing, cardiovascular disease, and frailty. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 15, 505–522. doi: 10.1038/ s41569-018-0064-2
- Franceschi, C., Garagnani, P., Parini, P., Giuliani, C., and Santoro, A. (2018). Inflammaging: a new immune-metabolic viewpoint for age-related diseases. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 14, 576–590. doi: 10.1038/s41574-018-0059-4
- Gomez, D., Baylis, R. A., Durgin, B. G., Newman, A. A. C., Alencar, G. F., Mahan, S., et al. (2018). Interleukin-1beta has atheroprotective effects in advanced atherosclerotic lesions of mice. *Nat. Med.* 24, 1418–1429. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0124-5

### **FUNDING**

This work was in part supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number 20K17418 and a grant-in-aid of the Cardiovascular Research Fund, Tokyo, Japan to RW.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Enago for the language review (https: //www.enago.jp/).

- Goronzy, J. J., and Weyand, C. M. (2017). Successful and Maladaptive T Cell Aging. Immunity 46, 364–378. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.03.010
- Grande, G., Qiu, C., and Fratiglioni, L. (2020). Prevention of dementia in an ageing world: evidence and biological rationale. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 64:101045. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2020.101045
- Hou, Y., Dan, X., Babbar, M., Wei, Y., Hasselbalch, S. G., Croteau, D. L., et al. (2019). Ageing as a risk factor for neurodegenerative disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 15, 565–581. doi: 10.1038/s41582-019-0244-7
- Incalzi, R. A., Gambassi, G., and Bernabei, R. (2005). Ruffled hair and fever in an old woman with Alzheimer's disease. *Aging Clin. Exp. Res.* 17, 62–66. doi: 10.1007/BF03337722
- Jaiswal, S., Natarajan, P., Silver, A. J., Gibson, C. J., Bick, A. G., Shvartz, E., et al. (2017). Clonal Hematopoiesis and Risk of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 377, 111–121. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1701719
- Kaiser, M., Younge, B., Bjornsson, J., Goronzy, J. J., and Weyand, C. M. (1999). Formation of new vasa vasorum in vasculitis. Production of angiogenic cytokines by multinucleated giant cells. Am. J. Pathol. 155, 765–774. doi: 10. 1016/S0002-9440(10)65175-9
- Kushida, S., Akisaki, T., Yasuda, H., Moriyama, H., Hara, K., Nagata, M., et al. (2011). Usefulness of 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography for diagnosis of asymptomatic giant cell arteritis in a patient with Alzheimer's disease. *Geriatr. Gerontol. Int.* 11, 114–118. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0594.2010. 00663.x
- Lahaye, C., Sanchez, M., Rouet, A., Gross, A., Faucher, N., Raynaud-Simon, A., et al. (2020). A curable pseudo-dementia related to an atypical presentation of giant cell arteritis. *Age Ageing* 49, 487–489. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afaa010
- Ma-Krupa, W., Jeon, M. S., Spoerl, S., Tedder, T. F., Goronzy, J. J., and Weyand, C. M. (2004). Activation of arterial wall dendritic cells and breakdown of selftolerance in giant cell arteritis. *J. Exp. Med.* 199, 173–183. doi: 10.1084/jem. 20030850
- Montagne, A., Nation, D. A., Sagare, A. P., Barisano, G., Sweeney, M. D., Chakhoyan, A., et al. (2020). APOE4 leads to blood-brain barrier dysfunction predicting cognitive decline. *Nature* 581, 71–76. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2247-3
- Ovadya, Y., and Krizhanovsky, V. (2018). Strategies targeting cellular senescence. *J. Clin. Invest.* 128, 1247–1254. doi: 10.1172/jci95149
- Parreau, S., Vedrenne, N., Regent, A., Richard, L., Sindou, P., Mouthon, L., et al. (2021). An immunohistochemical analysis of fibroblasts in giant cell arteritis. *Ann. Diagn. Pathol.* 52:151728. doi: 10.1016/j.anndiagpath.2021.151728
- Pascuzzi, R. M., Roos, K. L., and Davis, T. E. Jr (1989). Mental status abnormalities in temporal arteritis: a treatable cause of dementia in the elderly. *Arthritis Rheum.* 32, 1308–1311. doi: 10.1002/anr.1780321017
- Propson, N. E., Roy, E. R., Litvinchuk, A., Kohl, J., and Zheng, H. (2021). Endothelial C3a receptor mediates vascular inflammation and blood-brain barrier permeability during aging. J. Clin. Invest. 131:e140966. doi: 10.1172/ JCI140966
- Pugh, D., Karabayas, M., Basu, N., Cid, M. C., Goel, R., Goodyear, C. S., et al. (2022). Large-vessel vasculitis. Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers 7:93.
- Quinn, K. A., Dashora, H., Novakovich, E., Ahlman, M. A., and Grayson, P. C. (2021). Use of 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography to monitor tocilizumab effect on vascular inflammation in giant cell arteritis. *Rheumatology* 60, 4384–4389. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa894

- Rathore, U., Thakare, D. R., Patro, P., Agarwal, V., Sharma, A., and Misra, D. P. (2022). A systematic review of clinical and preclinical evidences for Janus kinase inhibitors in large vessel vasculitis. *Clin. Rheumatol.* 41, 33–44. doi: 10.1007/ s10067-021-05973-4
- Ridker, P. M., Everett, B. M., Thuren, T., Macfadyen, J. G., Chang, W. H., Ballantyne, C., et al. (2017). Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 377, 1119–1131.
- Robson, J. C., Kiran, A., Maskell, J., Hutchings, A., Arden, N., Dasgupta, B., et al. (2016). Which Patients with Giant Cell Arteritis Will Develop Cardiovascular or Cerebrovascular Disease? A Clinical Practice Research Datalink Study. *J. Rheumatol.* 43, 1085–1092. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.151024
- Rodriguez-Pla, A., Bosch-Gil, J. A., Rossello-Urgell, J., Huguet-Redecilla, P., Stone, J. H., and Vilardell-Tarres, M. (2005). Metalloproteinase-2 and -9 in giant cell arteritis: involvement in vascular remodeling. *Circulation* 112, 264–269. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.520114
- Shirai, T., Nazarewicz, R. R., Wallis, B. B., Yanes, R. E., Watanabe, R., Hilhorst, M., et al. (2016). The glycolytic enzyme PKM2 bridges metabolic and inflammatory dysfunction in coronary artery disease. J. Exp. Med. 213, 337–354. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20150900
- Solans-Laqué, R., Bosch-Gil, J. A., Molina-Catenario, C. A., Ortega-Aznar, A., Alvarez-Sabin, J., and Vilardell-Tarres, M. (2008). Stroke and multiinfarct dementia as presenting symptoms of giant cell arteritis: report of 7 cases and review of the literature. *Medicine* 87, 335–344. doi: 10.1097/MD. 0b013e3181908e96
- Stone, J. H., Tuckwell, K., Dimonaco, S., Klearman, M., Aringer, M., Blockmans, D., et al. (2017). Trial of Tocilizumab in Giant-Cell Arteritis. N. Engl. J. Med. 377, 317–328.
- Sun, L., Zhang, W., Zhao, L., Zhao, Y., Wang, F., Lew, A. M., et al. (2022). Self-Tolerance of Vascular Tissues Is Broken Down by Vascular Dendritic Cells in Response to Systemic Inflammation to Initiate Regional Autoinflammation. *Front. Immunol.* 13:823853. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.823853
- Tomasson, G., Bjornsson, J., Zhang, Y., Gudnason, V., and Merkel, P. A. (2019). Cardiovascular risk factors and incident giant cell arteritis: a population-based cohort study. *Scand. J. Rheumatol.* 48, 213–217. doi: 10.1080/03009742.2018. 1506821
- Tyrrell, D. J., Blin, M. G., Song, J., Wood, S. C., Zhang, M., Beard, D. A., et al. (2020). Age-Associated Mitochondrial Dysfunction Accelerates Atherogenesis. *Circ. Res.* 126, 298–314. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.119.315644
- Tyrrell, D. J., and Goldstein, D. R. (2021). Ageing and atherosclerosis: vascular intrinsic and extrinsic factors and potential role of IL-6. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 18, 58–68. doi: 10.1038/s41569-020-0431-7
- Ungvari, Z., Tarantini, S., Donato, A. J., Galvan, V., and Csiszar, A. (2018). Mechanisms of Vascular Aging. *Circ. Res.* 123, 849–867.
- van der Geest, K. S. M., Sandovici, M., Brouwer, E., and Mackie, S. L. (2020). Diagnostic Accuracy of Symptoms, Physical Signs, and Laboratory Tests for Giant Cell Arteritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Intern. Med.* 180, 1295–1304. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.3050
- Vieira, M., Regnier, P., Maciejewski-Duval, A., Le Joncour, A., Darasse-Jeze, G., Rosenzwajg, M., et al. (2022). Interferon signature in giant cell arteritis aortitis. *J. Autoimmun.* 127:102796. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2022.102796
- Wadstrom, K., Jacobsson, L., Mohammad, A. J., Warrington, K. J., Matteson, E. L., and Turesson, C. (2020). Negative associations for fasting blood glucose, cholesterol and triglyceride levels with the development of giant cell arteritis. *Rheumatology* 59, 3229–3236. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa080
- Wang, L., Ai, Z., Khoyratty, T., Zec, K., Eames, H. L., Van Grinsven, E., et al. (2020). ROS-producing immature neutrophils in giant cell arteritis are linked to vascular pathologies. *JCI Insight* 5:e139163. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.139163
- Watanabe, R., Berry, G. J., Liang, D. H., Goronzy, J. J., and Weyand, C. M. (2020a). Cellular Signaling Pathways in Medium and Large Vessel Vasculitis. Front. Immunol. 11:587089. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.587089
- Watanabe, R., Berry, G. J., Liang, D. H., Goronzy, J. J., and Weyand, C. M. (2020b). Pathogenesis of Giant Cell Arteritis and Takayasu Arteritis-Similarities and Differences. *Curr. Rheumatol. Rep.* 22:68. doi: 10.1007/s11926-020-00948-x
- Watanabe, R., Hilhorst, M., Zhang, H., Zeisbrich, M., Berry, G. J., Wallis, B. B., et al. (2018a). Glucose metabolism controls disease-specific signatures of macrophage effector functions. *JCI Insight* 3:e123047. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight. 123047

- Watanabe, R., Maeda, T., Zhang, H., Berry, G. J., Zeisbrich, M., Brockett, R., et al. (2018b). MMP (Matrix Metalloprotease)-9-Producing Monocytes Enable T Cells to Invade the Vessel Wall and Cause Vasculitis. *Circ. Res.* 123, 700–715. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.313206
- Watanabe, R., Hosgur, E., Zhang, H., Wen, Z., Berry, G., Goronzy, J. J., et al. (2017a). Pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory T cells in giant cell arteritis. *Joint Bone Spine* 84, 421–426. doi: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2016.07.005
- Watanabe, R., Shirai, T., Namkoong, H., Zhang, H., Berry, G. J., Wallis, B. B., et al. (2017b). Pyruvate controls the checkpoint inhibitor PD-L1 and suppresses T cell immunity. *J. Clin. Invest.* 127, 2725–2738. doi: 10.1172/JCI92167
- Watanabe, R., Zhang, H., Berry, G., Goronzy, J. J., and Weyand, C. M. (2017c). Immune checkpoint dysfunction in large and medium vessel vasculitis. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 312, H1052–H1059. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00024. 2017
- Wen, Z., Shen, Y., Berry, G., Shahram, F., Li, Y., Watanabe, R., et al. (2017). The microvascular niche instructs T cells in large vessel vasculitis via the VEGF-Jagged1-Notch pathway. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 9:eaal3322. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aal3322
- Weyand, C. M., and Goronzy, J. J. (2013). Immune mechanisms in medium and large-vessel vasculitis. *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.* 9, 731–740. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum. 2013.161
- Weyand, C. M., and Goronzy, J. J. (2014). Giant-cell arteritis and polymyalgia rheumatica. N. Engl. J. Med. 371:1653.
- Weyand, C. M., Schonberger, J., Oppitz, U., Hunder, N. N., Hicok, K. C., and Goronzy, J. J. (1994). Distinct vascular lesions in giant cell arteritis share identical T cell clonotypes. *J. Exp. Med.* 179, 951–960. doi: 10.1084/jem.179.3. 951
- Weyand, C. M., Watanabe, R., Zhang, H., Akiyama, M., Berry, G. J., and Goronzy, J. J. (2019). Cytokines, growth factors and proteases in medium and large vessel vasculitis. *Clin. Immunol.* 206, 33–41. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2019.02.007
- Yamaguchi, E., Kadoba, K., Watanabe, R., Iwasaki, T., Kitagori, K., Akizuki, S., et al. (2022). Clinical Profile and Outcome of Large-Vessel Giant Cell Arteritis in Japanese Patients: A Single-Center Retrospective Cohort Study. *Mod. Rheumatol.* [Epub online ahead of print]. doi: 10.1093/mr/roac013
- Zerbini, A., Muratore, F., Boiardi, L., Ciccia, F., Bonacini, M., Belloni, L., et al. (2018). Increased expression of interleukin-22 in patients with giant cell arteritis. *Rheumatology* 57, 64–72. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ kex334
- Zhang, H., Watanabe, R., Berry, G. J., Nadler, S. G., Goronzy, J. J., and Weyand, C. M. (2019). CD28 Signaling Controls Metabolic Fitness of Pathogenic T Cells in Medium and Large Vessel Vasculitis. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 73, 1811–1823. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2019.01.049
- Zhang, H., Watanabe, R., Berry, G. J., Tian, L., Goronzy, J. J., and Weyand, C. M. (2018). Inhibition of JAK-STAT Signaling Suppresses Pathogenic Immune Responses in Medium and Large Vessel Vasculitis. *Circulation* 137, 1934–1948. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.030423
- Zhang, H., Watanabe, R., Berry, G. J., Vaglio, A., Liao, Y. J., Warrington, K. J., et al. (2017). Immunoinhibitory checkpoint deficiency in medium and large vessel vasculitis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, E970–E979. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1616848114

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Watanabe and Hashimoto. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Pathophysiological Mechanisms Underlying Idiopathic Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus: A Review of Recent Insights

Phillip A. Bonney<sup>1\*</sup>, Robert G. Briggs<sup>1</sup>, Kevin Wu<sup>2</sup>, Wooseong Choi<sup>2</sup>, Anadjeet Khahera<sup>1</sup>, Brandon Ojogho<sup>3,4</sup>, Xingfeng Shao<sup>3</sup>, Zhen Zhao<sup>5</sup>, Matthew Borzage<sup>2,6</sup>, Danny J. J. Wang<sup>3</sup>, Charles Liu<sup>1,4</sup> and Darrin J. Lee<sup>1,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurological Surgery, Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>2</sup>Leck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>3</sup>Laboratory of Functional MRI Technology, Stevens Neuroimaging and Informatics Institute, Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>4</sup>USC Neurorestoration Center, Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>5</sup>Department of Physiology & Neuroscience and the Zilkha Neurogenetic Institute, Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>5</sup>Department of Physiology & Neuroscience and the Zilkha Neurogenetic Institute, Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>6</sup>Division of Neonatology, Department of Pediatrics, Fetal and Neonatal Institute, Children's Hospital Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Mark Stecker, Independent Practitioner, Fresno, United States

### Reviewed by:

Per Kristian Eide, University of Oslo, Norway Massimiliano Todisco, IRCCS Mondino Foundation, Italy Ahmet Turan Isik, Dokuz Eylül University, Turkey

> \*Correspondence: Phillip A. Bonney phil.alan.bonney@gmail.com

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

> Received: 31 January 2022 Accepted: 28 March 2022 Published: 28 April 2022

#### Citation:

Bonney PA, Briggs RG, Wu K, Choi W, Khahera A, Ojogho B, Shao X, Zhao Z, Borzage M, Wang DJJ, Liu C and Lee DJ (2022) Pathophysiological Mechanisms Underlying Idiopathic Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus: A Review of Recent Insights. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:866313. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.866313 The pathophysiologic mechanisms underpinning idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus (iNPH), a clinically diagnosed dementia-causing disorder, continue to be explored. An increasing body of evidence implicates multiple systems in the pathogenesis of this condition, though a unifying causative etiology remains elusive. Increased knowledge of the aberrations involved has shed light on the iNPH phenotype and has helped to guide prognostication for treatment with cerebrospinal fluid diversion. In this review, we highlight the central role of the cerebrovasculature in pathogenesis, from hydrocephalus formation to cerebral blood flow derangements, blood-brain barrier breakdown, and glymphatic pathway dysfunction. We offer potential avenues for increasing our understanding of how this disease occurs.

Keywords: idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus (iNPH), glymphatic circulation, ventriculoperitoneal (VP) shunt, cerebral blood flow, dementia, communicating hydrocephalus, blood brain barrier (BBB) breakdown

### INTRODUCTION

Idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus (iNPH) is a common dementia-causing neurological disorder seen in the elderly, with 120 new cases per year per 100,000 population greater than 70 years (Iseki et al., 2014; Martín-Láez et al., 2015). iNPH classically presents with the clinical triad of gait disturbance, urinary incontinence, and dementia, with gait disturbance typically presenting first and cognitive manifestations arising later. The hallmark of the disease is an enlarged ventricular system without an increase in intracranial pressure (ICP). Despite progress in characterizing iNPH and its natural history, its pathophysiology has not been clearly defined.

Treatment for iNPH is centered around cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) shunting, which leads to improvement in symptoms, including dementia, in many patients (Toma et al., 2013). This distinguishes iNPH from other causes of dementia which are largely irreversible and hence represents an opportunity to characterize mechanisms contributing to cognitive impairment. Ultimately, clinical responses to shunting are varied, and long-term outcomes indicate that while shunting improves the natural history, the durability of treatment is less than with other etiologies of hydrocephalus (Junkkari et al., 2021). Taken together, these data suggest that ventriculomegaly alone does not account for the natural history of iNPH, challenging the traditional role of CSF dynamics and appealing for a better understanding of iNPH's underlying pathogenesis.

iNPH has been examined from many view points, ranging from intracranial pressure dynamics, traditional radiographic parameters, advanced neuroimaging modalities, analysis of regional and global cerebral perfusion, and changes at the cellular and molecular levels, including the activity of the glymphatic pathways and the blood-brain barrier. Conclusions to be drawn from this disparate body of work are unsettled. In this manuscript, we review recent evidence related to the pathophysiology of iNPH in the context of current theories, noting areas of interest for future study. In particular, we focus on changes involving the cerebrovasculature, which may be central to pathogenesis.

# CLINICAL FEATURES

The diagnosis of iNPH involves a combination of clinical symptoms, radiologic findings, and results of diagnostic evaluations (**Table 1**; Relkin et al., 2005; Nakajima et al., 2021). The criteria for probable iNPH differ somewhat between American/European and Japanese guidelines and are listed separately in **Table 1**. While both guidelines are accepted and used in practice, the broader radiographic criteria in the American/European guidelines may lead to a greater proportion of patients classified as probable iNPH (Andersson et al., 2017). Confounding the work-up of iNPH is the lack of specificity in diagnostic criteria and overlapping features shared with other neurodegenerative conditions including Alzheimer's disease and other movement disorders including Parkinsonism. Gait disturbance is the most common feature and typically is the first symptom to arise (Hebb and Cusimano, 2001).

Diagnostic radiographic features include ventricular enlargement with an Evans index of 0.3 or greater (**Figure 1**; Jacobs and Kinkel, 1976; George et al., 1995). Other common findings on brain imaging include a callosal angle of 90 degrees or less (Borzage et al., 2021), periventricular hyperintensities, and enlargement of the temporal horns (Relkin et al., 2005). A trial of CSF drainage is often undertaken to aid in the diagnosis, commonly *via* the lumbar subarachnoid space. Clinical benefit after temporary CSF drainage is strongly predictive of improvement in at least one symptom after shunting (Marmarou et al., 2005; Toma et al., 2013). In patients unable or unwilling to receive a shunt, serial lumbar punctures may be a treatment option (Isik et al., 2019).

Frustrating the iNPH clinical picture, there is not a clear neuroanatomic basis for the condition's manifestations. It was originally held that stretching of white matter tracts from ventricular dilation led to iNPH's clinical findings (Hakim and Adams, 1965), but there are several limitations with this hypothesis. First, it is not immediately obvious which white matter tracts would be causative. While the corticospinal tracts are clearly at risk for stretch, corticospinal tract-related gait disorders tend to differ from the hypokinesia and disequilibrium typical of iNPH (Rubino, 2002; Bugalho and Guimarães, 2007; Baker, 2018). Second, ventricular volume prior to CSF diversion-a surrogate for white matter tract stretching-does not correlate with the degree of symptomatology (Neikter et al., 2020). Third, other causes of ventriculomegaly both pathological (e.g., obstructive hydrocephalus) and physiological (e.g., ex vacuo hydrocephalus), do not typically cause gait disturbance as a primary manifestation. Fourth, the actual decrease in ventricular size after shunting is fairly modest in clinical responders, typically resulting in less than a 10% reduction in Evan's index (Neikter et al., 2020). Thus, while changes in the corticospinal tracts and corpus callosum correlating with iNPH have been noted in some studies using tractography and transcranial magnetic stimulation (Röricht et al., 1998; Mataró et al., 2007; Siasios et al., 2016; Sarica et al., 2021), it is difficult to correlate symptomatic improvement following CSF drainage with decreased stretching of white matter tracts alone, and these changes may ultimately be epiphenomena.

Some authors have hypothesized that dysfunction of the cortico-basal ganglia-thalamo-cortical (CBGTC) is involved in iNPH (Curran and Lang, 1994; Lenfeldt et al., 2008), though the CBGTC loop may not explain dementia and urinary incontinence. Recent investigations have implicated striatal dopamine reuptake transporter density in iNPH gait impairment, offering a potential mechanism for basal ganglia dysfunction (Pozzi et al., 2021; Todisco et al., 2021). Other research has implicated frontal lobe dysfunction in not only the cognitive and urinary disturbances, but also gait disorder as well (Bugalho and Guimarães, 2007). As multiple lesional effects are suggested in iNPH, a fruitful approach to understanding the neuroanatomic basis may involve network-level investigations of functional connectivity (Griffa et al., 2020).

# THEORIES ON PATHOGENESIS

Given shared features with other neurodegenerative conditions, iNPH is defined as a unique entity by ventricular enlargement. Our efforts to understand the etiology of the disease are thus inextricably tied to understanding how hydrocephalus develops in iNPH patients.

Generally speaking, communicating hydrocephalus in iNPH and other etiologies results from an imbalance between CSF formation and removal. This is thought to be due to impairment in the return of CSF to the circulation in most cases, through scarring or obstruction of the arachnoid granulations (Chen et al., 2017). A compelling anecdote to challenge this trad itional model is the observation that subarachnoid spaces are not universally dilated in communicating hydrocephalus (Egnor et al., 2002; Greitz, 2004). It warrants mention that in chronic states of hydrocephalus, CSF absorption is coupled to production; that is, while hydrocephalus may initially occur because of impaired absorption of CSF, the imbalance is a transient phenomenon, and the compensated state implies that a new equilibrium between absorption and production is reached. Theoretically, the new equilibrium may be reached through

	American/European	Japanese
Clinical	Gait/balance disturbance	More than one symptom in the clinical triad: gait
	One impairment involving either cognition or urination	disturbance, cognitive impairment, and urinary incontinence
Historical	Insidious onset of symptoms with progression over time	Age ≥60 years
	Age >40 years at symptom onset	No obvious preceding diseases causing ventricular dilation
	Symptom duration for at least 3–6 months	(e.g., subarachnoid hemorrhage, meningitis, head injury)
	No previous insult which could lead to secondary hydrocephalus	Clinical symptoms not completely explained by other
	No other neurologic, psychiatric, or medical cause for symptoms	neurological or non-neurological disease.
Investigational	Ventricular enlargement without macroscopic obstruction with Evans	Ventricular enlargement with Evans Index >0.3
	Index >0.3	CSF opening pressure ≤200 mm H <sub>2</sub> O, normal CSF content
	At least one of the following features:	One of the following two features:
	1. Enlargement of temporal horns without hippocampal atrophy	1. Neuroimaging features of narrowing of the sulci and
	2. Callosal angle of $\sim$ 90 degrees or less	subarachnoid space over the high convexity/midline surface
	3. Evidence of altered brain water content including periventricular	(DESH) with gait disturbance: small stride, shuffle, instability
	signal changes	during walking, and increase in instability on turning
	4. Aqueductal or fourth ventricular flow void seen on MRI	2. Improvement of symptoms after CSF tap test and/or
	CSF opening pressure on lumbar puncture between 5–18 mmHg (70–245 mmH $_2$ O)	drainage test

TABLE 1 | American/European (Relkin et al., 2005) and Japanese (Nakajima et al., 2021) criteria for probable idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus.





increased CSF absorption through other means, or by decreased CSF production.

Unlike other types of communicating hydrocephalus, such as subarachnoid hemorrhage, a lesion causing impaired CSF outflow is not apparent in iNPH. An alternative explanation of communicating hydrocephalus, however, invokes arterial pulsations. In this theory, homeostasis of the CSF spaces including the ventricles relies on the normal propagation through the cerebrovasculature of pulsations delivered through the cardiac cycle. In cases in which cerebral arteries lose compliance, the additional pulse pressure is delivered distally to the capillaries and veins, which may alter CSF dynamics in such a way to produce ventriculomegaly (Egnor et al., 2002; Greitz, 2004). Preliminary evidence suggests that CSF drainage may improve vascular compliance and, subsequently, CBF (Bateman, 2000). Hence, as there is not a lesion to block CSF egress at the

level of the arachnoid granulations in the traditional model of communicating hydrocephalus, impaired vascular compliance may be sufficient to produce iNPH.

Pulsations transferred through the elastic arterial system cause movement of CSF back and forth through the aqueduct during the cardiac cycle (Marmarou et al., 1978; Linninger et al., 2005; Kahlon et al., 2007; Scollato et al., 2008; Ringstad et al., 2015; Yamada et al., 2020). In healthy adults the net movement of ventricular CSF is craniocaudal, however, in iNPH patients, the net movement is typically reversed, towards the third and lateral ventricles (Kim et al., 1999; Penn et al., 2011; Ringstad et al., 2016), which results in transependymal flow of ventricular CSF into the interstitial space (Ringstad et al., 2017). The flow pattern often reverts to anterograde flow after shunting (Ringstad et al., 2016). Clinical study of CSF dynamics in iNPH indicates elevated resistance to CSF outflow and increased CSF pulsatility. These features predict treatment response after CSF diversion, indicating normalization of CSF dynamics and a more physiologic state (Eide and Sorteberg, 2008, 2010; Malm et al., 2011; Qvarlander et al., 2013; Jacobsson et al., 2018).

That iNPH may fundamentally represent a vascular disorder is intriguing, given the high incidence of vascular risk factors including hypertension and diabetes in iNPH patients (Eide and Pripp, 2014; Jaraj et al., 2016; Israelsson et al., 2017). Supporting this notion is the near-ubiquitous finding of deep white matter and periventricular lesions in iNPH (Krauss et al., 1997), hallmarks of small vessel disease. Variations in regional hypoperfusion and degree of hypoxic changes may help explain the clinical heterogeneity of iNPH and poor responses to shunting. Our view is that iNPH is fundamentally a cerebrovasculature disorder. Impaired compliance triggers a cascade of events culminating in the development of hydrocephalus, which subsequently begins a cycle that unchecked eventually progresses to irreversible dementia and neurologic injury. Shunting reverses some of the clinical manifestations, although even with treatment the disease is associated with progressive morbidity, which suggests a component of irreversible small vessel disease. Below we discuss three interrelated systems that may be central to the development and progression of iNPH: cerebral blood flow, the glymphatic system, and the blood-brain barrier. A flow diagram demonstrating possible pathogenic relationships is depicted in Figure 2.

# DEFICIENT CEREBRAL BLOOD FLOW (CBF)

Our understanding of the role of cerebral blood flow (CBF) in iNPH has evolved considerably in the last two decades. In early work, consistent patterns could not be drawn between the association between various CBF changes and: (1) the diagnosis of iNPH, (2) disease severity, or (3) improvement after shunting, which may have been due in part to disparate imaging protocols, inconsistent diagnostic criteria, and small sample sizes (Owler and Pickard, 2001). More recently, several studies reported regional hypoperfusion in critical areas, suggesting that vascular insufficiency is relevant to iNPH. A number of studies have found regional CBF deficits in iNPH patients compared to age-matched healthy controls, including deficits in the periventricular white matter (Momjian et al., 2004; Ziegelitz et al., 2014, 2016; Virhammar et al., 2017), lentiform nucleus (Owler et al., 2004a; Ziegelitz et al., 2014, 2016; Virhammar et al., 2017), thalamus (Owler et al., 2004a; Virhammar et al., 2017), caudate (Owler et al., 2004a), and basal medial frontal cortex (Ziegelitz et al., 2014). Global reductions have been identified as well (Momjian et al., 2004; Owler et al., 2004a; Ziegelitz et al., 2014, 2016). One study noted inverse correlations between thalamic and putaminal CBF and severity of iNPH (Owler et al., 2004a), but most studies found no association between the magnitude of global or regional CBF values and severity of iNPH.

Clinical improvements after CSF drainage have been associated with improvements in CBF in the lateral and frontal white matter regions (Virhammar et al., 2014), periventricular white matter (Ziegelitz et al., 2015, 2016; Satow et al., 2017), periventricular thalamus (Ziegelitz et al., 2015), medial frontal region (Klinge et al., 2008), supplemental motor area (Lenfeldt et al., 2008), brainstem (Agerskov et al., 2020), and globally (Chang et al., 2009). Relating to prognostic variables prior to treatment, one study found decreased preoperative CBF in basal frontal lobes and anterior cingulate region in iNPH patients who responded to shunting compared to non-responders (Murakami et al., 2007). However, in most studies, no associations were found between preoperative regional CBF values and clinical response to shunting.

In light of this body of work, it is useful to consider the clinical findings in iNPH as the result of hypoperfusion. Depending on the extent of the CBF deficit, hypoperfusion may account fo rany or all findings of iNPH. Bladder dysfunction in iNPH is typically referable to detrusor overactivity, which may occur through effects on the frontal lobe or basal ganglia (Andersson, 2004; Sakakibara et al., 2008, 2012). Similarly, both the frontal lobe and basal ganglia have been implicated in gait disturbances that characterize iNPH (Bugalho and Guimarães, 2007). While cognitive impairment may be considered a diffuse lesion, some evidence suggests early frontal involvement in iNPH, consisting of psychomotor slowing and impaired attention rather than memory deficits, before progressing to more profound impairment (Iddon et al., 1999; Ogino et al., 2006; Picascia et al., 2015). With improved perfusion after shunting, symptoms may regress unless infarcts have already occurred.

The mechanism of impaired perfusion of deep gray matter and periventricular white matter is a subject of debate. Hypoperfusion may result from compression of the deep vascularity, compression of superficial venous outflow, impaired autoregulation, changes related to transependymal flow, or some combination of these factors (Momjian et al., 2004; Owler et al., 2004b; Bateman, 2008; Scollato et al., 2008; Chang et al., 2009). While a shunt would potentially improve any of these factors, the manner by which improvement in CBF occurs after shunting has not been well characterized. The effect of CSF drainage on cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) through decreased ICP is limited as the ICP is not elevated, raising questions as to whether improved CPP



alone may explain CBF changes (Eide and Sorteberg, 2010). One explanation may involve the CSF pulsatility curve, in which a relatively small change in ICP leads to decreased CSF pulsatility which may have downstream effects on CBF (Qvarlander et al., 2013).

# IMPAIRED GLYMPHATIC CIRCULATION

The glymphatic (glial-lymphatic) system is a recently discovered homeostatic mechanism by which fluid moves through the brain parenchyma, acting as a waste disposal mechanism for brain tissue (Figure 3; Iliff et al., 2012; Nedergaard, 2013). In brief, subarachnoid CSF is pumped along periarterial channels by arterial pulsations (Iliff et al., 2013; Mestre et al., 2018) and enters the interstitial compartment through aquaporin-4 transporters within astrocyte endfeet (Plog and Nedergaard, 2018). CSF joins interstitial fluid and moves through the interstitial space towards perivenous and perineural channels through which it is removed from the brain. These efflux pathways include perisinusal lymphatic vessels that drain into extracranial lymphatics (Louveau et al., 2015; Ahn et al., 2019). Glymphatic circulation constitutes a primary role in the clearance of toxoids and waste products from the brain parenchyma, akin to the lymphatic function of other organs (Jessen et al., 2015), and is most active during sleep (Kang et al., 2009; Shokri-Kojori et al., 2018).

Mounting evidence suggests impairment of the glymphatic system by multiple mechanisms contributes to neurodegenerative diseases (Rasmussen et al., 2018). Much of the advances in understanding these pathways hail from the recognition that dysfunction of the glymphatic system contributes to amyloid-beta buildup in Alzheimer's disease (Rasmussen et al., 2018; Mestre et al., 2020). Other conditions associated with glymphatic impairment relevant to iNPH include aging (Zhou et al., 2018).

Clinical evaluation of iNPH patients demonstrates sluggish glymphatic flow (Ringstad et al., 2017; Eide and Ringstad, 2019;



channels within subarachnoid spaces (white) and enters the parenchyma (blue) through aquaporin-4 transporters on astrocytic endfeet. Subarachnoid CSF joins interstitial fluid and passes through the brain, delivering substances to and from the parenchyma before being absorbed along perivenous and perineural channels. Impaired glymphatic circulation may result in part from impaired influx through poor arterial compliance and results in progressive neurotoxicity contributing to iNPH's clinical manifestations.

Bae et al., 2021). Lumbar intrathecal gadobutrol injection in iNPH patients resulted in delayed enhancement of subarachnoid spaces and cortical surfaces, compared to younger patients receiving gadobutrol for workup of intracranial hypotension (Ringstad et al., 2017). The age difference between the two patient groups somewhat limits the study's conclusions, as even healthy older people have impaired glymphatic function (Zhou et al., 2020). Given that glymphatic dysfunction also is involved in Alzheimer's disease (Tarasoff-Conway et al., 2015), this may represent a common pathway for cognitive decline in the two conditions (Reeves et al., 2020), but may not necessarily be related to urinary incontinence and gait in iNPH.

One theory posited to explain glymphatic impairment in iNPH is loss of arterial compliance. As vessels become increasingly stiff, the pump driving glymphatic influx is weakened, resulting in the buildup of waste substances in the interstitial fluid. This may in part explain the retrograde movement of subarachnoid CSF into the ventricular system, as the outflow resistance increases along glymphatic pathways. It is possible that the improvement in CSF dynamics after shunting (Ringstad et al., 2016) improves the glymphatic flow and thus cognition. However, that this could represent a primary insult in iNPH has been called into question (Gallina et al., 2020).

Another potential mechanism for glymphatic impairment is through reduced expression of aquaporin-4 channels, which has been demonstrated in iNPH patients (Hasan-Olive et al., 2019). In Alzheimer's disease, decreased expression of aquaporin-4 leads to impaired clearance of misfolded proteins, which results in neurotoxicity and cognitive decline (Xu et al., 2015; Zeppenfeld et al., 2017). Glymphatic impairment in iNPH may lead to a similar buildup of waste products with resultant neurotoxicity that leads to cognitive dysfunction. Improvement in the glymphatic flow after shunting iNPH and subsequent clearance of accumulated interstitial substances may improve neuronal function and hence cognition after shunting, though this is untested.

### **BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER BREAKDOWN**

The blood-brain barrier (BBB), the brain's unique microvascular interface consisting of endothelial tight junctions, pericytes, and astrocytic endfeet, plays a critical role in maintaining the optimal conditions for proper neuronal functioning by acting as a selective barrier between the blood and brain (**Figure 4**; Bradbury et al., 1963; Bernacki et al., 2008; Abbott et al., 2010). The BBB prevents the entry of toxins while facilitating the transportation of metabolites and nutrients into the CNS. Given its role in homeostasis and neuroprotection, the BBB has been investigated in a host of neurological disorders (Sweeney et al., 2018; Profaci et al., 2020).

Several investigations have demonstrated pathology related to the BBB in iNPH patients. Distorted and thickened basement membranes and degenerated pericyte processes were demonstrated in biopsy specimens from iNPH patients (Eidsvaag et al., 2017; Eide and Hansson, 2020). Pericytes are essential components of the BBB and play important roles in induction, maintenance, and selective permeability (Abbott, 2002; Armulik et al., 2010). Pericyte degeneration has been shown to cause increased permeability to water and both low- and high-molecular-weight tracers, creating a leaky BBB (Armulik et al., 2010).

Additional evidence for compromise of the BBB was identified in iNPH patients through the extravasation of fibrin, a blood coagulation protein, in frontal biopsy specimens (Eide and Hansson, 2020). In this study, scattered fibrin staining around capillaries within cortical layers was seen in all iNPH patients compared to fewer than 30% of patients with other



neurological diseases (Eide and Hansson, 2020). Increased fibrin deposition in the brain parenchyma in NPH biopsies correlated with increased levels of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), a marker of reactive astrogliosis (Eide and Hansson, 2020). Astrogliosis decreases compliance, which may in turn contribute to altered CSF dynamics in NPH (Lu et al., 2011; Fattahi et al., 2016). Both the degree of fibrin extravasation and astrogliosis correlated with reduced expression of aquaporin-4 transporters on perivascular astrocytic endfeet in biopsies of NPH patients, suggesting a link with glymphatic function (Eide and Hansson, 2018, 2020).

BBB dysfunction in iNPH may be related to deficient CBF. In a murine model of chronic cerebral hypoperfusion, hypoxia-induced injury to pericytes lead to BBB disruption (Liu et al., 2019). Though not tested in iNPH, a similar mechanism may explain pericyte injury and subsequent loss of BBB integrity. Pericyte dysfunction and other BBB insults have been demonstrated through means such as inflammation, hyperglycemia, and ischemia in Alzheimer's disease, traumatic brain injury, and other disorders (Erickson and Banks, 2013).

### CONCLUSIONS

From the initial insult leading to hydrocephalus and onset of clinical manifestations to the irreversible changes occurring later in untreated cases, the cerebrovasculature is closely tied to the pathogenesis of iNPH. Relevant mechanisms include diminished CBF, glymphatic disruption, and changes to the BBB. Additional work is needed to further characterize how these pathophysiologic mechanisms inter-relate. Further, future studies should address how these pathologic features are reversed with shunting, which will provide insights into both iNPH and other neurodegenerative conditions. Answers to these questions will shed light on improving clinical responses and enhancing the durability of shunting.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

PB, RB, KW, WC, and AK: investigation, manuscript writing, and editing. BO and XS: manuscript editing. ZZ, MB, and DW: conception and manuscript editing. CL and DL: conception,

### REFERENCES

- Abbott, N. J. (2002). Astrocyte-endothelial interactions and blood-brain barrier permeability. J. Anat. 200, 629–638. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-7580.2002.00064.x
- Abbott, N. J., Patabendige, A. A. K., Dolman, D. E. M., Yusof, S. R., and Begley, D. J. (2010). Structure and function of the blood-brain barrier. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 37, 13–25. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.07.030
- Agerskov, S., Arvidsson, J., Ziegelitz, D., Lagerstrand, K., Starck, G., Björkman-Burtscher, I. M., et al. (2020). MRI diffusion and perfusion alterations in the mesencephalon and pons as markers of disease and symptom reversibility in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *PLoS One* 15:e0240327. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0240327
- Ahn, J. H., Cho, H., Kim, J.-H., Kim, S. H., Ham, J.-S., Park, I., et al. (2019). Meningeal lymphatic vessels at the skull base drain cerebrospinal fluid. *Nature* 572, 62–66. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1419-5
- Andersson, K.-E. (2004). Mechanisms of disease: central nervous system involvement in overactive bladder syndrome. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Urol.* 1, 103–108. doi: 10.1038/ncpuro0021
- Andersson, J., Rosell, M., Kockum, K., Söderström, L., and Laurell, K. (2017). Challenges in diagnosing normal pressure hydrocephalus: evaluation of the diagnostic guidelines. *eNeurologicalScience* 7, 27–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ensci.2017. 04.002
- Armulik, A., Genové, G., Mäe, M., Nisancioglu, M. H., Wallgard, E., Niaudet, C., et al. (2010). Pericytes regulate the blood-brain barrier. *Nature* 468, 557–561. doi: 10.1038/nature09522
- Bae, Y. J., Choi, B. S., Kim, J.-M., Choi, J.-H., Cho, S. J., and Kim, J. H. (2021). Altered glymphatic system in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 82, 56–60. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2020.11.009
- Baker, J. M. (2018). Gait disorders. Am. J. Med. 131, 602–607. doi: 10.1016/j. amjmed.2017.11.051
- Bateman, G. A. (2000). Vascular compliance in normal pressure hydrocephalus. Am. J. Neuroradiol. 21, 1574–1585.
- Bateman, G. A. (2008). The pathophysiology of idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: cerebral ischemia or altered venous hemodynamics? *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 29, 198–203. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A0739
- Bernacki, J., Dobrowolska, A., Nierwińska, K., and Maecki, A. (2008). Physiology and pharmacological role of the blood-brain barrier. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 60, 600–622.
- Borzage, M., Saunders, A., Hughes, J., McComb, J. G., Blüml, S., and King, K. S. (2021). The first examination of diagnostic performance of automated measurement of the callosal angle in 1856 elderly patients and volunteers indicates that 12.4% of exams met the criteria for possible normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 42, 1942–1948. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A7294
- Bradbury, M. W., Stubbs, J., Hughes, I. E., and Parker, P. (1963). The distribution of potassium, sodium, chloride and urea between lumbar cerebrospinal fluid and blood serum in human subjects. *Clin. Sci.* 25, 97–105.
- Bugalho, P., and Guimarães, J. (2007). Gait disturbance in normal pressure hydrocephalus: a clinical study. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 13, 434–437. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2006.08.007
- Chang, C.-C., Asada, H., Mimura, T., and Suzuki, S. (2009). A prospective study of cerebral blood flow and cerebrovascular reactivity to acetazolamide in 162 patients with idiopathic normal-pressure hydrocephalus. *J. Neurosurg.* 111, 610–617. doi: 10.3171/2008.10.17676
- Chen, S., Luo, J., Reis, C., Manaenko, A., and Zhang, J. (2017). Hydrocephalus after subarachnoid hemorrhage: pathophysiology, diagnosis and treatment. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2017:8584753. doi: 10.1155/2017/8584753

manuscript editing, and supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This work was partially supported by a USC CTSI Team Science Grant (Southern California Clinical and Translational Science Institute) and the USC Neurorestoration Center.

- Curran, T., and Lang, A. E. (1994). Parkinsonian syndromes associated with hydrocephalus: case reports, a review of the literature and pathophysiological hypotheses. *Mov. Disord.* 9, 508–520. doi: 10.1002/mds.870090503
- Egnor, M., Zheng, L., Rosiello, A., Gutman, F., and Davis, R. (2002). A model of pulsations in communicating hydrocephalus. *Pediatr. Neurosurg.* 36, 281–303. doi: 10.1159/000063533
- Eide, P. K., and Hansson, H.-A. (2018). Astrogliosis and impaired aquaporin-4 and dystrophin systems in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 44, 474–490. doi: 10.1111/nan. 12420
- Eide, P. K., and Hansson, H.-A. (2020). Blood-brain barrier leakage of blood proteins in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Brain Res.* 1727:146547. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2019.146547
- Eide, P. K., and Pripp, A. H. (2014). Increased prevalence of cardiovascular disease in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus patients compared to a population-based cohort from the HUNT3 survey. *Fluids Barriers CNS* 11:19. doi: 10.1186/2045-8118-11-19
- Eide, P. K., and Ringstad, G. (2019). Delayed clearance of cerebrospinal fluid tracer from entorhinal cortex in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: a glymphatic magnetic resonance imaging study. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 39, 1355–1368. doi: 10.1177/0271678X18760974
- Eide, P. K., and Sorteberg, W. (2008). Changes in intracranial pulse pressure amplitudes after shunt implantation and adjustment of shunt valve opening pressure in normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Acta Neurochir. (Wien)* 150, 1141–1147. doi: 10.1007/s00701-008-0138-8
- Eide, P. K., and Sorteberg, W. (2010). Diagnostic intracranial pressure monitoring and surgical management in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: a 6-year review of 214 patients. *Neurosurgery* 66, 80–91. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU. 0000363408.69856.B8
- Eidsvaag, V. A., Hansson, H.-A., Heuser, K., Nagelhus, E. A., and Eide, P. K. (2017). Brain capillary ultrastructure in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: relationship with static and pulsatile intracranial pressure. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 76, 1034–1045. doi: 10.1093/jnen/ nlx091
- Erickson, M. A., and Banks, W. A. (2013). Blood-brain barrier dysfunction as a cause and consequence of Alzheimer's disease. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 33, 1500–1513. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2013.135
- Fattahi, N., Arani, A., Perry, A., Meyer, F., Manduca, A., Glaser, K., et al. (2016). MR elastography demonstrates increased brain stiffness in normal pressure hydrocephalus. Am. J. Neuroradiol. 37, 462–467. doi: 10.3174/ajnr. A4560
- Gallina, P., Porfirio, B., and Lolli, F. (2020). iNPH as a '2-hit' intracranial hydrodynamic derangement disease. *Trends Mol. Med.* 26, 531–532. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2020.04.002
- George, A. E., Holodny, A., Golomb, J., and de Leon, M. J. (1995). The differential diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. Cerebral atrophy versus normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Neuroimaging Clin. N. Am.* 5, 19–31.
- Greitz, D. (2004). Radiological assessment of hydrocephalus: new theories and implications for therapy. *Neurosurg. Rev.* 27, 145–165. doi: 10.1007/s10143-004-0326-9
- Griffa, A., Van De Ville, D., Herrmann, F. R., and Allali, G. (2020). Neural circuits of idiopathic Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus: a perspective review of brain connectivity and symptoms meta-analysis. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 112, 452–471. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.02.023
- Hakim, S., and Adams, R. D. (1965). The special clinical problem of symptomatic hydrocephalus with normal cerebrospinal fluid pressure:

observations on cerebrospinal fluid hydrodynamics. J. Neurol. Sci. 2, 307–327. doi: 10.1016/0022-510x(65)90016-x

- Hasan-Olive, M. M., Enger, R., Hansson, H.-A., Nagelhus, E. A., and Eide, P. K. (2019). Loss of perivascular aquaporin-4 in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Glia* 67, 91–100. doi: 10.1002/glia.23528
- Hebb, A. O., and Cusimano, M. D. (2001). Idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: a systematic review of diagnosis and outcome. *Neurosurgery* 49, 1166–1184. doi: 10.1097/00006123-200111000-00028
- Iddon, J. L., Pickard, J. D., Cross, J. J. L., Griffiths, P. D., Czosnyka, M., and Sahakian, B. J. (1999). Specific patterns of cognitive impairment in patients with idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus and Alzheimer's disease: a pilot study. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 67, 723–732. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.67.6.723
- Iliff, J. J., Wang, M., Liao, Y., Plogg, B. A., Peng, W., Gundersen, G. A., et al. (2012). A paravascular pathway facilitates CSF flow through the brain parenchyma and the clearance of interstitial solutes, including amyloid β. Sci. Transl. Med. 4:147ra111. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003748
- Iliff, J. J., Wang, M., Zeppenfeld, D. M., Venkataraman, A., Plog, B. A., Liao, Y., et al. (2013). Cerebral arterial pulsation drives paravascular CSF-interstitial fluid exchange in the murine brain. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 18190–18199. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1592-13.2013
- Iseki, C., Takahashi, Y., Wada, M., Kawanami, T., Adachi, M., and Kato, T. (2014). Incidence of idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus (iNPH): A 10-year follow-up study of a rural community in Japan. J. Neurol. Sci. 339, 108–112. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2014.01.033
- Isik, A. T., Kaya, D., Ates Bulut, E., Dokuzlar, O., and Soysal, P. (2019). The outcomes of serial cerebrospinal fluid removal in elderly patients with idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 14, 2063–2069. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S228257
- Israelsson, H., Carlberg, B., Wikkelsö, C., Laurell, K., Kahlon, B., Leijon, G., et al. (2017). Vascular risk factors in INPH: a prospective case-control study (the INPH-CRasH study). *Neurology* 88, 577–585. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 000000000003583
- Jacobs, L., and Kinkel, W. (1976). Computerized axial transverse tomography in normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Neurology* 26, 501–507. doi: 10.1212/wnl.26.6. 501
- Jacobsson, J., Qvarlander, S., Eklund, A., and Malm, J. (2018). Comparison of the CSF dynamics between patients with idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus and healthy volunteers. *J. Neurosurg*. 1–6. doi: 10.3171/2018.5. JNS173170[Online ahead of print]
- Jaraj, D., Agerskov, S., Rabiei, K., Marlow, T., Jensen, C., Guo, X., et al. (2016). Vascular factors in suspected normal pressure hydrocephalus: a populationbased study. *Neurology* 86, 592–599. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000 02369
- Jessen, N. A., Munk, A. S. F., Lundgaard, I., and Nedergaard, M. (2015). The glymphatic system: a beginner's guide. *Neurochem. Res.* 40, 2583–2599. doi: 10.1007/s11064-015-1581-6
- Jiang, Q., Zhang, L., Ding, G., Davoodi-Bojd, E., Li, Q., Li, L., et al. (2017). Impairment of the glymphatic system after diabetes. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 37, 1326–1337. doi: 10.1177/0271678X16654702
- Junkkari, A., Sintonen, H., Danner, N., Jyrkkänen, H. K., Rauramaa, T., Luikku, A. J., et al. (2021). 5-Year health-related quality of life outcome in patients with idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *J. Neurol.* 268, 3283–3293. doi: 10.1007/s00415-021-10477-x
- Kahlon, B., Annertz, M., Ståhlberg, F., and Rehncrona, S. (2007). Is aqueductal stroke volume, measured with cine phase-contrast magnetic resonance imaging scans useful in predicting outcome of shunt surgery in suspected normal pressure hydrocephalus? *Neurosurgery* 60, 124–129. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU. 0000249208.04344.A3
- Kang, J.-E., Lim, M. M., Bateman, R. J., Lee, J. J., Smyth, L. P., Cirrito, J. R., et al. (2009). Amyloid-beta dynamics are regulated by orexin and the sleep-wake cycle. *Science* 326, 1005–1007. doi: 10.1126/science.1180962
- Kim, D. S., Choi, J. U., Huh, R., Yun, P. H., and Kim, D. I. (1999). Quantitative assessment of cerebrospinal fluid hydrodynamics using a phasecontrast cine MR image in hydrocephalus. *Childs Nerv. Syst.* 15, 461–467. doi: 10.1007/s003810050440
- Klinge, P. M., Brooks, D. J., Samii, A., Weckesser, E., van den Hoff, J., Fricke, H., et al. (2008). Correlates of local cerebral blood flow (CBF) in normal pressure hydrocephalus patients before and after shunting—A retrospective analysis

of  $[^{15}\mathrm{O}]\mathrm{H_2O}$  PET-CBF studies in 65 patients. Clin. Neurol. Neurosurg. 110, 369–375. doi: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2007.12.019

- Krauss, J. K., Regel, J. P., Vach, W., Orszagh, M., Jüngling, F. D., Bohus, M., et al. (1997). White matter lesions in patients with idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus and in an age-matched control group: a comparative study. *Neurosurgery* 40, 491–496. doi: 10.1097/00006123-199703000-00011
- Lenfeldt, N., Larsson, A., Nyberg, L., Andersson, M., Birgander, R., Eklund, A., et al. (2008). Idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: increased supplementary motor activity accounts for improvement after CSF drainage. *Brain* 131, 2904–2912. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn232
- Linninger, A. A., Tsakiris, C., Zhu, D. C., Xenos, M., Roycewicz, P., Danziger, Z., et al. (2005). Pulsatile cerebrospinal fluid dynamics in the human brain. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 52, 557–565. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2005.844021
- Liu, Q., Radwanski, R., Babadjouni, R., Patel, A., Hodis, D. M., Baumbacher, P., et al. (2019). Experimental chronic cerebral hypoperfusion results in decreased pericyte coverage and increased blood-brain barrier permeability in the corpus callosum. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 39, 240–250. doi: 10.1177/0271678X17743670
- Louveau, A., Smirnov, I., Keyes, T. J., Eccles, J. D., Rouhani, S. J., Peske, J. D., et al. (2015). Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature* 523, 337–341. doi: 10.1038/nature14432
- Lu, Y.-B., Iandiev, I., Hollborn, M., Körber, N., Ulbricht, E., Hirrlinger, P. G., et al. (2011). Reactive glial cells: increased stiffness correlates with increased intermediate filament expression. *FASEB J.* 25, 624–631. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-163790
- Malm, J., Jacobsson, J., Birgander, R., and Eklund, A. (2011). Reference values for CSF outflow resistance and intracranial pressure in healthy elderly. *Neurology* 76, 903–909. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31820f2dd0
- Marmarou, A., Bergsneider, M., Klinge, P., Relkin, N., and Black, P. M. (2005). The value of supplemental prognostic tests for the preoperative assessment of idiopathic normal-pressure hydrocephalus. *Neurosurgery* 57, S17–S28. doi: 10.1227/01.neu.0000168184.01002.60
- Marmarou, A., Shulman, K., and Rosende, R. M. (1978). A nonlinear analysis of the cerebrospinal fluid system and intracranial pressure dynamics. J. Neurosurg. 48, 332–344. doi: 10.3171/jns.1978.48.3.0332
- Martín-Láez, R., Caballero-Arzapalo, H., López-Menéndez, L. Á., Arango-Lasprilla, J. C., and Vázquez-Barquero, A. (2015). Epidemiology of idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: a systematic review of the literature. World Neurosurg. 84, 2002–2009. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2015.07.005
- Mataró, M., Matarín, M., Poca, M. A., Pueyo, R., Sahuquillo, J., Barrios, M., et al. (2007). Functional and magnetic resonance imaging correlates of corpus callosum in normal pressure hydrocephalus before and after shunting. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 78, 395–398. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2006. 096164
- Mestre, H., Mori, Y., and Nedergaard, M. (2020). The brain's glymphatic system: current controversies. *Trends Neurosci.* 43, 458–466. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2020. 04.003
- Mestre, H., Tithof, J., Du, T., Song, W., Peng, W., Sweeney, A. M., et al. (2018). Flow of cerebrospinal fluid is driven by arterial pulsations and is reduced in hypertension. *Nat. Commun.* 9:4878. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07318-3
- Momjian, S., Owler, B. K., Czosnyka, Z., Czosnyka, M., Pena, A., and Pickard, J. D. (2004). Pattern of white matter regional cerebral blood flow and autoregulation in normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Brain* 127, 965–972. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh131
- Murakami, M., Hirata, Y., and Kuratsu, J.-I. (2007). Predictive assessment of shunt effectiveness in patients with idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus by determining regional cerebral blood flow on 3D stereotactic surface projections. Acta Neurochir. (Wien) 149, 991–997. doi: 10.1007/s00701-007-1259-1
- Nakajima, M., Yamada, S., Miyajima, M., Ishii, K., Kuriyama, N., Kazui, H., et al. (2021). Guidelines for management of idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus (third edition): endorsed by the Japanese society of normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Neurol. Med. Chir. (Tokyo)* 61, 63–97. doi: 10.2176/nmc.st.2020-0292
- Nedergaard, M. (2013). Neuroscience. Garbage truck of the brain. *Science* 340, 1529–1530. doi: 10.1126/science.1240514
- Neikter, J., Agerskov, S., Hellström, P., Tullberg, M., Starck, G., Ziegelitz, D., et al. (2020). Ventricular volume is more strongly associated with clinical

improvement than the evans index after shunting in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 41, 1187–1192. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A6620

- Ogino, A., Kazui, H., Miyoshi, N., Hashimoto, M., Ohkawa, S., Tokunaga, H., et al. (2006). Cognitive impairment in patients with idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord.* 21, 113–119. doi: 10.1159/000090510
- Owler, B. K., Momjian, S., Czosnyka, Z., Czosnyka, M., Péna, A., Harris, N. G., et al. (2004a). Normal pressure hydrocephalus and cerebral blood flow: a PET study of baseline values. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 24, 17–23. doi: 10.1097/01. WCB.0000093326.88757.49
- Owler, B. K., Pena, A., Momjian, S., Czosnyka, Z., Czosnyka, M., Harris, N. G., et al. (2004b). Changes in cerebral blood flow during cerebrospinal fluid pressure manipulation in patients with normal pressure hydrocephalus: a methodological study. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 24, 579–587. doi: 10.1097/00004647-200405000-00012
- Owler, B. K., and Pickard, J. D. (2001). Normal pressure hydrocephalus and cerebral blood flow: a review. Acta Neurol. Scand. 104, 325–342. doi: 10.1034/j. 1600-0404.2001.00092.x
- Penn, R. D., Basati, S., Sweetman, B., Guo, X., and Linninger, A. (2011). Ventricle wall movements and cerebrospinal fluid flow in hydrocephalus: clinical article. *J. Neurosurg.* 115, 159–164. doi: 10.3171/2010.12.JNS10926
- Picascia, M., Zangaglia, R., Bernini, S., Minafra, B., Sinforiani, E., and Pacchetti, C. (2015). A review of cognitive impairment and differential diagnosis in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Funct. Neurol.* 30, 217–228. doi: 10.11138/fneur/2015.30.4.217
- Plog, B. A., and Nedergaard, M. (2018). The glymphatic system in central nervous system health and disease: past, present and future. *Annu. Rev. Pathol.* 13, 379–394. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-051217-111018
- Pozzi, N. G., Brumberg, J., Todisco, M., Minafra, B., Zangaglia, R., Bossert, I., et al. (2021). Striatal dopamine deficit and motor impairment in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Mov. Disord.* 36, 124–132. doi: 10.1002/mds. 28366
- Profaci, C. P., Munji, R. N., Pulido, R. S., and Daneman, R. (2020). The bloodbrain barrier in health and disease: important unanswered questions. J. Exp. Med. 217:e20190062. doi: 10.1084/jem.20190062
- Qvarlander, S., Lundkvist, B., Koskinen, L.-O. D., Malm, J., and Eklund, A. (2013). Pulsatility in CSF dynamics: pathophysiology of idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 84, 735–741. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-302924
- Rasmussen, M. K., Mestre, H., and Nedergaard, M. (2018). The glymphatic pathway in neurological disorders. *Lancet Neurol.* 17, 1016–1024. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30318-1
- Reeves, B. C., Karimy, J. K., Kundishora, A. J., Mestre, H., Cerci, H. M., Matouk, C., et al. (2020). Glymphatic system impairment in Alzheimer's disease and idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Trends Mol. Med.* 26, 285–295. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2019.11.008
- Relkin, N., Marmarou, A., Klinge, P., Bergsneider, M., and Black, P. M. (2005). Diagnosing idiopathic normal-pressure hydrocephalus. *Neurosurgery* 57, S4–S16. doi: 10.1227/01.neu.0000168185.29659.c5
- Ringstad, G., Emblem, K. E., and Eide, P. K. (2016). Phase-contrast magnetic resonance imaging reveals net retrograde aqueductal flow in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *J. Neurosurg.* 124, 1850–1857. doi: 10.3171/2015.6. JNS15496
- Ringstad, G., Emblem, K. E., Geier, O., Alperin, N., and Eide, P. K. (2015). Aqueductal stroke volume: comparisons with intracranial pressure scores in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 36, 1623–1630. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A4340
- Ringstad, G., Vatnehol, S. A. S., and Eide, P. K. (2017). Glymphatic MRI in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Brain* 140, 2691–2705. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx191
- Röricht, S., Meyer, B. U., Woiciechowsky, C., and Lehmann, R. (1998). Callosal and corticospinal tract function in patients with hydrocephalus: a morphometric and transcranial magnetic stimulation study. J. Neurol. 245, 280–288. doi: 10.1007/s004150050219
- Rubino, F. A. (2002). Gait disorders. *Neurologist* 8, 254–262. doi: 10.1097/00127893-200207000-00005
- Sakakibara, R., Kanda, T., Sekido, T., Uchiyama, T., Awa, Y., Ito, T., et al. (2008). Mechanism of bladder dysfunction in idiopathic normal

pressure hydrocephalus. Neurourol. Urodyn. 27, 507–510. doi: 10.1002/nau. 20547

- Sakakibara, R., Uchida, Y., Ishii, K., Kazui, H., Hashimoto, M., Ishikawa, M., et al. (2012). Correlation of right frontal hypoperfusion and urinary dysfunction in iNPH: a SPECT study. *Neurourol. Urodyn.* 31, 50–55. doi: 10.1002/nau. 21222
- Sarica, A., Quattrone, A., Mechelli, A., Vaccaro, M. G., Morelli, M., and Quattrone, A. (2021). Corticospinal tract abnormalities and ventricular dilatation: a transdiagnostic comparative tractography study. *Neuroimage Clin.* 32:102862. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2021.102862
- Satow, T., Aso, T., Nishida, S., Komuro, T., Ueno, T., Oishi, N., et al. (2017). Alteration of venous drainage route in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus and normal aging. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:387. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00387
- Scollato, A., Tenenbaum, R., Bahl, G., Celerini, M., Salani, B., and Di Lorenzo, N. (2008). Changes in aqueductal CSF stroke volume and progression of symptoms in patients with unshunted idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 29, 192–197. doi: 10.3174/ajnr. A0785
- Shokri-Kojori, E., Wang, G.-J., Wiers, C. E., Demiral, S. B., Guo, M., Kim, S. W., et al. (2018). β-Amyloid accumulation in the human brain after one night of sleep deprivation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 115, 4483–4488. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1721694115
- Siasios, I., Kapsalaki, E. Z., Fountas, K. N., Fotiadou, A., Dorsch, A., Vakharia, K., et al. (2016). The role of diffusion tensor imaging and fractional anisotropy in the evaluation of patients with idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: a literature review. *Neurosurg. Focus* 41:E12. doi: 10.3171/2016.6.FOCUS 16192
- Sweeney, M. D., Sagare, A. P., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2018). Blood-brain barrier breakdown in Alzheimer disease and other neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 14, 133–150. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2017.188
- Tarasoff-Conway, J. M., Carare, R. O., Osorio, R. S., Glodzik, L., Butler, T., Fieremans, E., et al. (2015). Clearance systems in the brain-implications for Alzheimer disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 11, 457–470. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2015. 119
- Todisco, M., Zangaglia, R., Minafra, B., Pisano, P., Trifirò, G., Bossert, I., et al. (2021). Clinical outcome and striatal dopaminergic function after shunt surgery in patients with idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Neurology* 96, e2861–e2873. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000012064
- Toma, A. K., Papadopoulos, M. C., Stapleton, S., Kitchen, N. D., and Watkins, L. D. (2013). Systematic review of the outcome of shunt surgery in idiopathic normal-pressure hydrocephalus. *Acta Neurochir. (Wien)* 155, 1977–1980. doi: 10.1007/s00701-013-1835-5
- Virhammar, J., Laurell, K., Ahlgren, A., Cesarini, K. G., and Larsson, E.-M. (2014). Idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: cerebral perfusion measured with pCASL before and repeatedly after CSF removal. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 34, 1771–1778. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2014.138
- Virhammar, J., Laurell, K., Ahlgren, A., and Larsson, E.-M. (2017). Arterial spin-labeling perfusion MR imaging demonstrates Regional CBF decrease in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 38, 2081–2088. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A5347
- Xu, Z., Xiao, N., Chen, Y., Huang, H., Marshall, C., Gao, J., et al. (2015). Deletion of aquaporin-4 in APP/PS1 mice exacerbates brain Aβ accumulation and memory deficits. *Mol. Neurodegener.* 10:58. doi: 10.1186/s13024-015-0056-1
- Yamada, S., Ishikawa, M., Ito, H., Yamamoto, K., Yamaguchi, M., Oshima, M., et al. (2020). Cerebrospinal fluid dynamics in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus on four-dimensional flow imaging. *Eur. Radiol.* 30, 4454–4465. doi: 10.1007/s00330-020-06825-6
- Zeppenfeld, D. M., Simon, M., Haswell, J. D., D'Abreo, D., Murchison, C., Quinn, J. F., et al. (2017). Association of perivascular localization of aquaporin-4 with cognition and Alzheimer disease in aging brains. *JAMA Neurol.* 74, 91–99. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2016. 4370
- Zhou, Y., Cai, J., Zhang, W., Gong, X., Yan, S., Zhang, K., et al. (2020). Impairment of the glymphatic pathway and putative meningeal lymphatic vessels in the aging human. *Ann. Neurol.* 87, 357–369. doi: 10.1002/ana. 25670

- Ziegelitz, D., Arvidsson, J., Hellström, P., Tullberg, M., Wikkelsø, C., and Starck, G. (2015). In patients with idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus postoperative cerebral perfusion changes measured by dynamic susceptibility contrast magnetic resonance imaging correlate with clinical improvement. J. Comput. Assist. Tomogr. 39, 531–540. doi: 10.1097/RCT.000000000 000254
- Ziegelitz, D., Arvidsson, J., Hellström, P., Tullberg, M., Wikkelsø, C., and Starck, G. (2016). Pre-and postoperative cerebral blood flow changes in patients with idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus measured by computed tomography (CT)-perfusion. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 36, 1755–1766. doi: 10.1177/0271678X1560 8521
- Ziegelitz, D., Starck, G., Kristiansen, D., Jakobsson, M., Hultenmo, M., Mikkelsen, I. K., et al. (2014). Cerebral perfusion measured by dynamic susceptibility contrast MRI is reduced in patients with idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *J. Magn. Reson. Imaging* 39, 1533–1542. doi: 10.1002/jmri.24292

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Bonney, Briggs, Wu, Choi, Khahera, Ojogho, Shao, Zhao, Borzage, Wang, Liu and Lee. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

125

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Donghui Zhu, Stony Brook University, United States

REVIEWED BY Heather A. Ferris, University of Virginia, United States Fernanda Marques, University of Minho, Portugal

### \*CORRESPONDENCE

Elena Zenaro elena.zenaro@univr.it Gabriela Constantin gabriela.constantin@univr.it

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Neuroinflammation and Neuropathy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

RECEIVED 09 June 2022 ACCEPTED 21 July 2022 PUBLISHED 11 August 2022

#### CITATION

Santos-Lima B, Pietronigro EC, Terrabuio E, Zenaro E and Constantin G (2022) The role of neutrophils in the dysfunction of central nervous system barriers. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 14:965169. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.965169

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Santos-Lima, Pietronigro, Terrabuio, Zenaro and Constantin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# The role of neutrophils in the dysfunction of central nervous system barriers

Bruno Santos-Lima, Enrica Caterina Pietronigro, Eleonora Terrabuio, Elena Zenaro\* and Gabriela Constantin\*

Section of General Pathology, Department of Medicine, University of Verona, Verona, Italy

Leukocyte migration into the central nervous system (CNS) represents a central process in the development of neurological diseases with a detrimental inflammatory component. Infiltrating neutrophils have been detected inside the brain of patients with several neuroinflammatory disorders, including stroke, multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer's disease. During inflammatory responses, these highly reactive innate immune cells can rapidly extravasate and release a plethora of pro-inflammatory and cytotoxic factors, potentially inducing significant collateral tissue damage. Indeed, several studies have shown that neutrophils promote blood-brain barrier damage and increased vascular permeability during neuroinflammatory diseases. Recent studies have shown that neutrophils migrate into the meninges and choroid plexus, suggesting these cells can also damage the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier (BCSFB). In this review, we discuss the emerging role of neutrophils in the dysfunction of brain barriers across different neuroinflammatory conditions and describe the molecular basis and cellular interplays involved in neutrophil-mediated injury of the CNS borders.

#### KEYWORDS

neutrophils, blood-brain barrier, blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier (BCSFB), neurodegenerative diseases, neuroinflammation

### Introduction

The central nervous system (CNS) is physically separated from the peripheral milieu by specialized barriers ensuring a constant state of homeostasis and efficient neuronal function. It was previously considered an immune-privileged site, and this view was attributed to the low number of CNS immune cells and the presence of physical barriers limiting the communication between the systemic circulation and neural tissue (Bechmann et al., 2007; Galea et al., 2007). Over the past decades, this view has been challenged by several studies showing the presence of immune cells, including T and B lymphocytes, in the healthy brain (Anthony et al., 2003; Smolders et al., 2018). Additionally, recent reports describing CNS lymphatics, meningeal tissue

and skull bone marrow as active immune hubs contributed to a broader vision of the immune cell dynamics within the healthy CNS (Louveau et al., 2015; Ribeiro et al., 2019; Alves de Lima et al., 2020; Brioschi et al., 2021; Cugurra et al., 2021; Herz et al., 2021; Rustenhoven et al., 2021). Particularly, under physiological conditions, meningeal immunity plays a key role in modulating cognition and behavior in a cytokinedependent manner, suggesting that brain borders play an active role in brain functions (Filiano et al., 2016; Ribeiro et al., 2019; Alves de Lima et al., 2020; Herz et al., 2021). During CNS inflammatory pathologies, peripheral immune cells migrate into the brain and meninges and play a pathogenic role in several neuropathological disorders (Prinz and Priller, 2017; Rossi et al., 2021). Neutrophils constitute the most abundant immune cell population in the human peripheral blood (Juul et al., 1984), and their role in disease development has been shown in several CNS disorders such as stroke, multiple sclerosis (MS) and Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Rossi et al., 2020, 2021). Their vast granule storage of enzymes potentially inducing collateral tissue damage, the capacity to rapidly extravasate and increase vascular permeability and the ability to favor tissue remodeling, suggest neutrophils may have a key role in the development CNS inflammatory disorders (Rossi et al., 2020; Fischer et al., 2022). This review summarizes recent data on the contribution of neutrophils to brain injury focusing on pathological mechanisms occurring at CNS borders. We discuss what is known about the involvement of neutrophils in the induction of endothelial injury, increased vascular permeability and degradation of extracellular matrix promoting neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration.

# Overview of the central nervous system barriers

The CNS is physically separated from the peripheral milieu by two main barriers: the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier (BCSFB) (Figure 1). Although both barriers are characterized by high expression of junctional proteins and selective permeability capacities, they also have unique anatomical and molecular characteristics. The BBB is an endothelial structure of brain microvessels, which limits the passage of plasma molecules and blood cells into the brain and maintains the chemical composition of the neuronal "milieu" (Zlokovic, 2008). On the other hand, the BCSFB separates the blood from the CSF and was classically associated with the epithelium of the choroid plexus (ChP) and arachnoid matter (Brøchner et al., 2015; Engelhardt et al., 2017) (Figure 1). Overall, the CNS barriers not only protect the parenchyma, restricting the diffusion of pathogens and harmful blood molecules, but also play a critical role in the uptake of nutrients and excretion of byproducts of brain metabolism

(Ballabh et al., 2004). The BBB consists of a monolayer of tightly packed and specialized non-fenestrated endothelial cells (ECs) brought together by junctional complexes, covering brain capillaries and postcapillary venules (Figure 1). It is fenced by the glia limitans formed by perivascular astrocyte endfeet and parenchymal basement membrane, which further restricts BBB permeability. This specialized and dynamic structure, together with the surveying microglia, astrocytes, pericytes, neuronal branches, and the acellular basement membrane, form the neurovascular unit (NVU) (Villabona-Rueda et al., 2019). Furthermore, the BBB represents a high-resistance electrical barrier, expressing transporters and efflux pumps for the regulation of ion fluctuations and solutes, and limiting the paracellular and transcellular movement of molecules. The inter-endothelial junctional structures are responsible for the "gate" function of ECs and consist of tight junction proteins (TJ), adherens junctions (AJs) and gap junctions (Chow and Gu, 2015; Tietz and Engelhardt, 2015; Sweeney et al., 2019; Saint-Pol et al., 2020). Brain endothelial TJs are the most apical cell-cell junctional complexes and constitute the core elements of the BBB with a crucial role in regulating paracellular permeability and maintaining cell polarity. They contain transmembrane proteins, including occludin claudins and junctional adhesion molecules, anchored to intracellular scaffolding proteins of the membrane-associated guanylate kinase family, also known as zonula occludens (ZO-1, -2, -3) (Zlokovic, 2008). The integral membrane proteins provide support to the TJs structure, with occludin contributing to the regulation and stabilization of the junctional structures (Cummins, 2012), whereas claudins are critical sealing determinants of paracellular "tightness" between adjacent ECs (Alahmari, 2021). Particularly, claudin-5, the most abundant transmembrane TJ protein at the BBB, plays a prominent role in maintaining the structural integrity of the vasculature and preventing the diffusion of small molecules through the intercellular space (Figure 2; Greene et al., 2019). Reduced expression of occludin, claudin-5, and ZO-1 is considered a sensitive indicator of BBB alterations associated with increased permeability during CNS diseases (Zlokovic, 2008; Cummins, 2012; Greene et al., 2019). Among the junctional complexes between the cerebral ECs, vascular endothelial (VE)-cadherin represents the major AJ transmembrane protein. VE-cadherin is linked to the cytoskeleton via catenins such as p120, β-catenin, plakoglobin, and y-catenin, ensuring AJ assembly and BBB stability (Zlokovic, 2008; Li et al., 2018). Besides the organized junctional complexes, additional independent molecules are present at ECs junctions, including platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1 or CD31) and CD99. These proteins have homophilic and heterophilic binding capacity and have a role in the context of leukocyte transmigration during inflammatory responses (Lou et al., 2007; Zlokovic, 2008; Sullivan and Muller, 2014). Alterations in junctional molecules facilitate leukocyte transmigration during brain inflammation.



(BCSFB) present in the choroid plexus (ChP) and in the meninges. Starting from the outer part of the CNS (depicted on the top left), the meninges represent a series of connective layers surrounding the brain, including dura mater and leptomeninges (arachnoid and pia mater). During CNS inflammatory diseases, neutrophils adhere in pial vessels and migrate into the SAS; these cells may then cross pia matter and migrate into the underlying brain parenchyma. Within the leptomeningeal vessels, neutrophils release MPO, potentially damaging endothelial cells and the extracellular matrix. On the top right, a representation of the choroid plexus shows the production of neutrophil chemoattractants CXCL1 and CXCL2 by the epithelial cells leading to neutrophil infiltration across the BCSFB. In both ChP stroma and within the CSF, neutrophils have been shown to produce LCN2. On the lower panel, a simplified model of the BBB is depicted, along with the classical neutrophil migration cascade. Inflamed BBB endothelial cells express adhesion molecules such as P- and E-selectins mediating capture and rolling through interaction with neutrophil PSGL-1 and CD44. Endothelial ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 mediate the arrest phase by binding neutrophil integrins LFA-1 and VLA-4, respectively. Firm adhesion and transmigration may contribute to increased BBB permeability (created with BioRender.com).

Indeed, the binding of  $\alpha 4\beta 1$  integrin expressed on lymphocytes to the endothelial vascular adhesion molecule (VCAM-1) induces the phosphorylation of VE-cadherin and leads to the opening of AJ contacts, facilitating leukocyte transmigration (Vockel and Vestweber, 2013).

The BBB together with the BCSFB are considered part of the neurovascular system, providing active immune surveillance and supporting coordinated immune responses (Engelhardt et al., 2017; Mastorakos and McGavern, 2019). Even though the BCSFB is more accessible and permeable than the BBB, the latter has received more attention for its involvement in CNS pathologies (Felgenhauer, 1995; Tumani et al., 2017). Nevertheless, growing evidence suggests the BCSFB also plays a significant role in the communication between the periphery and the CNS during inflammatory neurological disorders. The BCSFB was mainly associated with two areas of the CNS: the ChP and the arachnoid membrane covering the subarachnoid space (SAS). The ChP is located in the lateral and fourth ventricles and is an epithelial tissue surrounding fenestrated vessels. It represents a major site of CSF production in the brain and strictly regulates the exchange of substances between the blood and the CSF (Lun et al., 2015). ChP capillaries do not have TJs, allowing the free movement of molecules through fenestrations and intercellular gaps. However, the choroidal BCSFB is characterized by the presence of junctional molecules in the epithelial lining of ChP, allowing selective permeability of blood components. Despite functional similarities between the BBB and the BSCFB, the choroidal BCSFB shows mainly the expression of claudins 1-3, 9, 12 and 22 and almost no expression of claudin-5, suggesting morphological differences that may lead to a more permeable barrier to small molecules, macromolecules and circulating



tightly bound together by junctional molecules, astrocytic endfeet and pericytes. During neuroinflammation, microglia and astrocytes produce IL-1b, which is a potent inducer of endothelial ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 and promotor of neutrophil infiltration. Engagement of neutrophil integring as well as other stimuli, lead to the production of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) and release of inflammatory mediators including reactive oxygen species (ROS), lipocalin 2 (LCN2), myeloperoxidase (MPO) and matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9). These neutrophil-derived factors contribute to the reduction of tight junction proteins (claudin-5, occludin and ZO-1) and BBB breakdown. (Created with BioRender.com).

immune cells (Kratzer et al., 2012; Tietz and Engelhardt, 2015). The pial microvessel blood-CSF barrier across pial microvessels is also considered part of the BCSFB (Brøchner et al., 2015). Endothelial cells isolated from the pial vessels show similarities with the BBB for some general ultrastructural features and transendothelial electrical resistance (Allt and Lawrenson, 1997). However, pial microvessels show some differences in the junctional systems compared to the BBB and lack astrocyte and NVU proximity, suggesting these vessels are more permeable and easier to cross by leukocytes during inflammatory responses (Allt and Lawrenson, 1997; Cassella et al., 1997).

The meningeal tissue is now considered an active and complex immune hub (Alves De Lima et al., 2020). From a structural point of view, the meninges are divided into three main layers: dura, arachnoid and pia. Dura mater is the outermost layer and is securely attached to the periosteum of the skull (Protasoni et al., 2011). It is composed of a dense and thick fibrous tissue supplied with lymphatic vessels, meningeal arteries and veins (Protasoni et al., 2011). The arachnoid mater is an avascular, thin and translucent membrane forming a barrier between the dura mater and the CSF flowing in the SAS (Yasuda et al., 2013). This space includes trabeculae and collagen bundles generated by fibroblast-like cells, which connect the arachnoid to the pia mater (Alcolado et al., 1988; Saboori and Sadegh, 2015). The deepest layer of the meninges is the pia mater, a thin and transparent membrane composed of connective tissue permeable to solutes and containing a capillary network that nourishes the brain (Adeeb et al., 2013). The pia mater is anchored on the brain surface by astrocyte processes and together with the arachnoid matter forms the leptomeninges (Derk et al., 2021). In addition to their protective role, the meninges also constitute a route of drainage for brain interstitial fluid to lymphatic vessels and deep cervical lymph nodes (Natale et al., 2021), providing communication between the CNS and the immune system. The bona fide barriers from the meningeal tissue can be subdivided into three main interfaces: (1) the

10.3389/fnagi.2022.965169

BCSFB associated with the arachnoid layer separating the dura and its fenestrated vessels from the CSF; (2) the BCSFB at the level of SAS pial microvessels; and (3) the pial surface layer, which together with glia limitans is considered a brain-CSF barrier (Brøchner et al., 2015). The junctional components of the meningeal barriers are less studied, but recent work identified claudin-11 as a marker for the arachnoid BCSFB (Brøchner et al., 2015). However, further studies are needed to better understand the structural and molecular features of meningeal barriers and how they regulate brain function during health and disease.

# Blood-brain barrier dysfunction during neuroinflammation

Neuroinflammation is a well-defined pathological feature of several neurodegenerative disorders and associates with BBB structural changes and increased vascular permeability (Zlokovic, 2008; Rossi et al., 2011; Zenaro et al., 2017; Liebner et al., 2018). For example, studies performed in stroke models and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), the most common model of MS, have shown increased BBB permeability due to a reduction of claudin-5, occludin, and ZO-1 levels in the mouse brain (Jiao et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2016). Similar results were obtained in cerebral amyloidbeta angiopathy in AD post-mortem brains, suggesting the reduction of TJ molecules represents a general feature of BBB dysfunction across several brain diseases (Carrano et al., 2012). The redistribution of inter-endothelial junctional proteins during BBB dysfunction depends on their phosphorylation state, which can be affected by growth factors and inflammatory cytokines (Van Itallie and Anderson, 2018). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is a potent angiogenic factor that induces rapid phosphorylation of occludin and ZO-1, disrupting the TJs organization and promoting endothelial permeability (Antonetti et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2001; Storkebaum and Carmeliet, 2004; Murakami et al., 2009). Moreover, proinflammatory cytokines, including interferon (IFN)-y, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  and interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$ , also affect the molecular mechanisms associated with TJs integrity (Capaldo and Nusrat, 2009). Particularly, IFN- $\gamma$  can directly modify the barrier function of TJs in cultured brain ECs by inducing Rho kinase activity, leading to actin cytoskeletal contractions and junctional disruption (Bonney et al., 2019). In addition, IL-1ß reduces the expression of ZO-1 and transendothelial electrical resistance, increasing the paracellular permeability, the expression of adhesion molecules, and leukocyte migration across BBB models in vitro (Labus et al., 2014). During neuroinflammation, the release of IL-1ß by activated microglia increases the BBB leakage and suppresses the capacity of astrocytes to maintain BBB integrity. Furthermore, IL-1β stimulates astrocytes to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines,

promoting BBB breakdown and increased leukocyte migration (Wang et al., 2014). Exposure of brain ECs to pro-inflammatory cytokines also triggers the expression of adhesion molecules, such as P- and E- selectins, VCAM-1 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), which may bind their counter-ligands on activated circulating immune cells, allowing leukocyte extravasation in the inflamed brain (Wong and Dorovini-Zis, 1992; Rahman et al., 2000; Hauptmann et al., 2020). Despite being constitutively expressed on brain ECs, ICAM-1 is further up-regulated in response to pro-inflammatory mediators, and its engagement activates signal transduction pathways leading to increased BBB permeability (Adamson et al., 2002). BBB integrity can also be affected by oxidative stress, particularly by the imbalance between the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and their elimination by scavenger systems. High levels of ROS trigger intracellular pathways leading to TJ rearrangement and matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) activation, which directly compromise BBB integrity. In vitro studies demonstrated that H2O2 induces cytoskeleton dysfunction and alters the localization of occludin and ZO-1, increasing paracellular permeability of brain endothelial cells (Lee et al., 2004; Anasooya Shaji et al., 2019). ROS also enhances the release of MMPs by brain endothelial cells, acting directly on TJ proteins and degrading the extracellular matrix (Aexander et al., 2002; Harada et al., 2012). Large amounts of ROS can be released by parenchymal-resident cells, such as activated microglia, leading to a loss of BBB integrity. Particularly, the microglial NADPH oxidase system is the main producer of superoxide anion (O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>), which damages ECs and increases BBB permeability (Kahles et al., 2007; Rojo et al., 2014). The principal source of ROS from CNS infiltrating peripheral immune system cells is represented by activated neutrophils, which are professional phagocytes with a strong NADPH oxidase machinery and may also contribute to BBB damage. Neutrophil adhesion to inflamed cerebral vasculature engages integrins leading to ROS production and release of both granule enzymes and complex web-like structures of decondensed DNA fibers and antimicrobial molecules, called neutrophil extracellular traps (NET) (Figure 2; Pietronigro et al., 2017). Thus, migrating neutrophils across the CNS barriers release inflammatory and cytotoxic factors promoting endothelial injury and vascular permeability.

# Neutrophils-blood-brain barrier interplay

Leukocytes receive a variety of signals upon interaction with inflamed endothelial cells, facilitating a cascade of adhesive events, including tethering and rolling, integrin activation, arrest (or firm adhesion), luminal crawling and diapedesis (also called transmigration) (Ley et al., 2007; Vestweber, 2015). Tethering and rolling of circulating leukocytes in inflamed

CNS venules are mainly mediated by endothelial P- and E-selectin and their counter-ligands P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1), TIM (T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain)-1 glycoprotein and CD44 (Siegelman et al., 2000; Piccio et al., 2002, 2005; Battistini et al., 2003; Fabene et al., 2008; Rossi et al., 2011; Angiari and Constantin, 2014; Angiari et al., 2014; Pietronigro et al., 2016; Zenaro et al., 2017; Figure 1). Leukocyte arrest in CNS venules is mediated by the VLA (very late antigen)-4 integrin binding to VCAM-1 and LFA (lymphocyte functional antigen)-1 and Mac-1 integrins binding to ICAM-1 and ICAM-2 (Figure 1; Engelhardt and Ransohoff, 2005; Rossi et al., 2011). Whereas activated T cells mainly rely on VLA-4 (a4\beta1 integrin) for their intravascular arrest, neutrophils highly depend on ß2 integrins (LFA-1 and Mac-1) to arrest and crawl on inflamed brain endothelium (Rossi et al., 2011; Gorina et al., 2014; Zenaro et al., 2015; Pietronigro et al., 2019). However, VLA-4 integrin represents an alternative pathway for neutrophil adhesion, whereas VCAM-1 is a marker of CNS vascular inflammation, suggesting that VLA-4-VCAM-1 interactions may also control neutrophil adhesion during CNS inflammatory diseases (Johnston and Kubes, 1999).

The capacity of neutrophils to increase vascular permeability has been known for four decades, and the interplay between neutrophil adhesion and vascular damage has been studied in several pathological conditions, including brain diseases (Wedmore and Williams, 1981; Wang and Doerschuk, 2002; DiStasi and Ley, 2009; Rossi et al., 2020). In stroke models, neutrophils adhere to cerebral microvessels one hour after stroke induction, suggesting they are early contributors to vascular dysfunction (Hallenbeck et al., 1986; Kataoka et al., 2004; Sienel et al., 2022). Neutrophils can also rapidly adhere in cerebral vessels after status epilepticus induction and contribute to endothelial damage promoting chronic recurrent seizures (Fabene et al., 2008). Interestingly, in both focal ischemia and epilepsy models, it has been suggested that intravascular neutrophil adhesion per se without transmigration is sufficient to induce BBB damage and neuronal dysfunction and death, pointing to neutrophil adhesion mechanisms as drug targets for CNS diseases (Fabene et al., 2008; Sienel et al., 2022).

Studies in EAE models also demonstrated the pathogenic role of neutrophils and the contribution of these cells to bloodspinal cord barrier (BSCB) disruption (Wu et al., 2010; Aubé et al., 2014). These data were confirmed by the analysis of postmortem CNS samples of MS patients showing infiltrated neutrophils in areas of BBB or BSCB leakage. However, whereas ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 have been shown to be upregulated on CNS microvascular endothelial cells during EAE, the molecular mechanisms controlling neutrophil adhesive interactions with the BBB or BSCB are still unclear (Steffen et al., 1994). A role for neutrophils has also been shown in AD, and our group has demonstrated that LFA-1 integrin mediates neutrophil interaction with brain ECs expressing ICAM-1 in transgenic mice with AD-like disease (Zenaro et al., 2015). In addition to the adhesion capacity on the vascular wall, neutrophils can also stall in brain capillaries, obstructing blood flow. Indeed, neutrophil depletion induces capillary reperfusion and reduces brain damage in experimental models of stroke and AD (Cruz Hernández et al., 2019; El Amki et al., 2020). Together, these studies suggest a complex detrimental role for neutrophils in CNS inflammatory diseases by increasing vascular permeability following adhesion to the ECs and inducing ischemic phenomena by plugging cerebral capillaries.

During inflammatory responses, neutrophils can release a plethora of factors potentially contributing to tissue injury. Furthermore, it has been known that adhesion on vascular endothelium via engagement of  $\beta 2$  integrins leads to neutrophil activation and consequent secretion of inflammation mediators such as ROS and cytotoxic granule enzymes (Figure 2; Richter et al., 1990; Cheung et al., 1993; DiStasi and Ley, 2009). Indeed, in animal models of stroke, NET formation and release of neutrophil elastase (NE) have been reported to induce increased BBB permeability, and the inhibition of these two factors reduces brain injury and promotes recovery (Kang et al., 2020). Neutrophils can also produce MMPs, which have been previously shown to represent a key factor in the induction of vascular damage (Aexander et al., 2002; Kolaczkowska and Kubes, 2013). MMPs were shown to be increased in the CNS during several neuroinflammatory conditions, including MS, stroke, epilepsy, and AD, although their presence was not clearly associated to neutrophil infiltration (Backstrom et al., 1996; Clark et al., 1997; Kieseier et al., 1998; Nygårdas and Hinkkanen, 2002; Solé et al., 2004; Wilczynski et al., 2008; Takács et al., 2010; Quirico-Santos et al., 2013; Py et al., 2014). However, among all MMPs produced by neutrophils, MMP-9 was highly correlated with vascular damage during diseases such as tuberculosis, myocardial infarction and cystic fibrosis (Kurihara et al., 2012; Halade et al., 2013; Garratt et al., 2015; Ong et al., 2017; Gelzo et al., 2022). MMP-9 was also associated with BBB dysfunction, and its expression is involved in the disruption of BBB TJs and degradation of basal lamina (Figure 2; Mun-bryce et al., 1998; Asahi et al., 2001; Moxon-Emre and Schlichter, 2011; Li et al., 2013). Furthermore, MMP-9 expression was clearly correlated with the presence of granulocytes in models of stroke and ischemia-reperfusion injury, in which neutrophils were considered the main source of MMP-9 (Romanic et al., 1998; Gidday et al., 2005; Turner and Sharp, 2016). In addition, by using MMP-9<sup>-/-</sup> mice, several studies confirmed the critical role of this enzyme in the induction of BBB permeability in stroke models and EAE (Dubois et al., 1999; Asahi et al., 2001; Agrawal et al., 2006; Svedin et al., 2007). Finally, MMP-9-positive neutrophils have been found surrounding brain microvessels with severe type IV collagen degradation and BBB breakdown in patients with stroke, clearly showing a strong association between neutrophils, MMP-9 and BBB damage also during human CNS disease (Rosell et al., 2008). Interestingly, the C-1562T polymorphism in the MMP-9 gene, which is associated with an elevated MMP-9 expression, increases the susceptibility to neuropsychiatric conditions, suggesting that neutrophil MMP-9 may represent a pathogenic factor also in mental disorders (Rybakowski et al., 2009a,b).

Human MMP-9 is covalently linked to lipocalin (LCN2), which increases its stability and confers protection from proteolytic degradation (Tschesche et al., 2001). LCN2 expression is increased during aging and several neuroinflammatory conditions, including AD, MS and stroke suggesting a role for LCN2 in CNS disorders (Anwaar et al., 1998; Marques et al., 2012; Chou et al., 2015; Weng and Chou, 2015; Al Nimer et al., 2016; Dekens et al., 2017). However, whereas in vitro data suggested a possible role for LCN2 in preserving BBB integrity, other studies clearly showed that LCN2 expression was found in cerebral endothelial cells and neutrophils in a mouse model of stroke, and its inhibition significantly reduced BBB leakage in vivo (Du et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2020). In support of these data, LCN2 was increased in the CNS and CSF in patients with vascular dementia, correlating with reduced expression of TJ proteins and increased BBB permeability, thus suggesting a role for LCN2 in BBB dysfunction (Kim et al., 2017; Llorens et al., 2020).

Myeloperoxidase (MPO) is the most abundant protein stored in neutrophil azurophilic granules. It can be released upon β2 integrin cross-linking in neutrophils and its expression was associated with areas of myeloid cell infiltration in stroke and MS (Figure 2; Matsuo et al., 1994; Walzog et al., 1994; Breckwoldt et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2008; Sajad et al., 2009; Forghani et al., 2012, 2015; Pulli et al., 2015). The link between MPO secretion and endothelial damage has also been reported. Indeed, pharmacological inhibition of MPO attenuates endothelial dysfunction in a mouse model of atherosclerosis (Cheng et al., 2019). Notably, MPO-deficient mice showed decreased leakage in LPS-induced BBB inflammation compared to wild-type littermates (Üllen et al., 2013). These results were supported by in vitro data showing that the MPO-H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-Cl<sub>2</sub> system causes barrier dysfunction in primary brain microvascular endothelial cells by inducing alterations of TJs and AJs (Üllen et al., 2013). Using the MPO inhibitor 4-aminobenzoic acid hydrazide, BBB dysfunction was partially rescued, demonstrating a direct link between BBB increased permeability and MPO release (Üllen et al., 2013). Moreover, in EAE and stroke mouse models, inhibition of MPO with N-acetyl lysyltyrosylcysteine amide prevented BBB breakdown and reduced disease severity, further demonstrating a role for MPO in CNS barrier breakdown (Zhang et al., 2016; Yu et al., 2018). Of note, high expression of MPO was associated with ischemic stroke, and MPO inhibition had beneficial effects, suggesting that MPO may represent a therapeutic target in stroke (Malle et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2016; Kim H. J. et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2022). Interestingly, epidemiological studies associated MPO polymorphisms with an increased risk of neurodegenerative diseases (Reynolds et al., 1999; Crawford et al., 2001; Combarros et al., 2002; Zappia et al., 2004; Pope et al., 2006). Moreover, MPO<sup>+</sup> cells (probably neutrophils) were increased in the brain in subjects with AD and Parkinson's disease (PD) (Zenaro et al., 2015; Gellhaar et al., 2017), thus supporting a role for this enzyme in neurodegeneration. Importantly, recent studies by Smyth et al. have shown that MPO staining is mainly associated with infiltrating neutrophils in the AD brain, further providing evidence of a role for neutrophil-derived inflammatory factors in BBB dysfunction (Smyth et al., 2022).

# Choroid plexus: A gateway for neutrophil infiltration

The ChP constitutively expresses adhesion molecules and cytokines supporting continuous immune surveillance of the CNS (Steffen et al., 1996; Meeker et al., 2012; Kunis et al., 2013; Lun et al., 2015; Strominger et al., 2018). Indeed, the stromal compartment of the ChP is populated by several types of cells, including immune cells of peripheral origin (Marques et al., 2012; Schmitt et al., 2012; Szmydynger-Chodobska et al., 2012; Marques and Sousa, 2015). During inflammatory responses, the ChP epithelium and blood vessels further upregulate adhesion receptors and chemokines, facilitating the migration of blood leukocytes into the CSF (Steffen et al., 1994; Vercellino et al., 2008; Marques et al., 2009, 2012; Kunis et al., 2013). In addition to immune cell migration, structural and functional changes at the level of ChP are present during various brain disorders, and BCSFB breakdown may precede clinical symptoms (Schwartz and Baruch, 2014; Alicioglu et al., 2017; Saul et al., 2020; Gião et al., 2022; Mold and Exley, 2022). During AD, the dysfunctional ChP is characterized by alterations of secretory, barrier, transport, and immune functions. Moreover, several imaging studies in AD subjects showed premature ChP aging with increased lipofuscin vacuoles and Biondi bodies compared to age-matched healthy controls (Miklossy et al., 1998; Wen et al., 1999; Serot et al., 2000; Krzyzanowska and Carro, 2012; Tadayon et al., 2020). In addition, the ChP of AD patients have a lower rate of CSF production (Silverberg et al., 2001), show an increase of several inflammatory transcripts and downregulation of claudin-5, claudin-11, and claudin-18, pointing to a role for ChP breakdown in disease development (Bergen et al., 2015; Kant et al., 2018). Expression of TJ proteins in ChP epithelial cells has also been studied in MS. Although the specific functions of individual TJ proteins are unclear, the analysis of post-mortem brain tissues from MS patients showed a selective loss of claudin-3 compared to control tissues. Claudin-3 displays ChP selectivity and is expressed at the apical parts of epithelial cells, acting as a sealant in a similar manner as claudin-5 at the BBB level (Steinemann et al., 2016). Confirming these data, mice lacking claudin-3 showed impaired BCSFB function and a faster onset and increased EAE severity, clearly indicating a role for claudin-3 in ChP breakdown in CNS autoimmune diseases (Kooij et al., 2014).

Neutrophils can migrate into the CSF through a dysfunctional ChP in several CNS inflammatory conditions. Peripheral administration of the TLR2 ligand PAM3CSK4, a prototypic Gram-positive bacterial lipopeptide, induces the migration of neutrophils through the ChP barrier (Mottahedin et al., 2017). Neutrophils can also infiltrate the ChP in EAE mice and represent a source of CSF LCN2 during early disease phases (Figure 1; Marques et al., 2012). Supporting these data, neutrophils migrate into the ChP stroma in MS patients, and this process is probably favored by a high expression of adhesion molecules on ChP blood vessels (Vercellino et al., 2008; Rodríguez-Lorenzo et al., 2020). Similarly, in models of traumatic brain injury (TBI), the choroidal epithelium produces CXCL1 and CXCL2 chemokines, which promote neutrophil migration, supporting the view that ChP represents an entry point for neutrophils invasion of the damaged brain (Figure 1; Szmydynger-Chodobska et al., 2009). Also, neutrophils migrate in the ChP in stroke models, further showing that ChP is a key site for neutrophil infiltration (Otxoa-De-Amezaga et al., 2019). Despite a clear demonstration of neutrophil migration into the ChP during CNS diseases, the molecular mechanisms promoting neutrophil-dependent ChP damage are unclear. However, previous studies have shown a correlation between ChP dysfunction and increased expression of MMP-8 and MMP-9 (Batra et al., 2010). These two enzymes have been shown to mediate neutrophil-dependent damage in other pathological contexts, suggesting this may be the case also during CNS inflammatory conditions. Collectively, these data suggest that ChP is a gateway for neutrophil entry into the brain, and further studies are needed to better understand neutrophil contribution to BCSFB breakdown.

# Neutrophil contribution to meningeal inflammation

The meninges also serve as an important route for immune cell entry into the CNS (Ransohoff et al., 2003; Derk et al., 2021). Indeed, dural venous sinuses were recently shown to be active sites of immune cell trafficking and contain both adaptive and innate immune cells (Mrdjen et al., 2018; Jordão et al., 2019; Van Hove et al., 2019; Rustenhoven et al., 2021). Particularly, recent results have shown that dural sinuses regulate T cell trafficking and contain APCs presenting CSF antigens to patrolling T cells, demonstrating a role for dura in CNS immune surveillance (Rustenhoven et al., 2021). Furthermore, by releasing cytokines, meningeal immune cells regulate several brain functions, including spatial learning (Derecki et al., 2010; Radjavi et al., 2014; Brombacher et al., 2021), short-term

memory (Ribeiro et al., 2019), sensory responses (Oetjen et al., 2017) and adult hippocampal neurogenesis (Wolf et al., 2009). Notably, recent studies described meningeal-bone marrow channels directly feeding the meninges with immune cells (Herisson et al., 2018; Brioschi et al., 2021; Cugurra et al., 2021), suggesting that a dysfunctional meningeal immunity may contribute to CNS disorders, such as MS, AD, and PD (Russi and Brown, 2015; Silva and Ferrari, 2019; Zou et al., 2019; Mentis et al., 2021). The meningeal BSCFB is more permissive to the entry of immune cells and large molecules compared to the highly restrictive BBB (Ransohoff et al., 2003). The permeability changes of the arachnoid barrier were less studied in CNS diseases. However, recent studies showed that claudin 11, a TJ protein enriched in the arachnoid barrier, is downregulated in EAE mice (Uchida et al., 2019), indicating a disruption of the arachnoid BCSFB. Increased permeability of the leptomeningeal vessels has also been shown in MRI studies in several brain disorders, including stroke, CNS infections and cerebral amyloid angiopathy (Ineichen et al., 2022). Leptomeninges are now recognized as key players in the development of MS and EAE (Pikor et al., 2015; Russi and Brown, 2015; Rua and McGavern, 2018; Wicken et al., 2018). Indeed, subpial lesions are considered the most common type of lesions in MS patients and autoreactive effector T cells have been shown to infiltrate the leptomeninges via pial microvessels, demonstrating a fundamental immunological role for this vascular district in CNS autoimmunity (Bartholomäus et al., 2009; Schläger et al., 2016; Filippi et al., 2018). Accordingly, reports of gadolinium enhancement in the leptomeningeal compartment have been described in MS, confirming a role for meningeal inflammation in MS (Absinta et al., 2015).

Several studies performed in animal models of AD, MS, TBI, stroke and systemic inflammation have shown increased expression of the adhesion molecules, such as ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and P-selectin, as well as consequent leukocyte adhesion in pial microvasculature (Kerfoot and Kubes, 2002; Piccio et al., 2002; Mel'nikova, 2009; Zhou et al., 2009; Zenaro et al., 2015; Szmydynger-Chodobska et al., 2016; Dusi et al., 2019; Lodygin et al., 2019; Pietronigro et al., 2019). These findings support the idea that meningeal tissue represents a gateway for immune cell access into the CNS and open the possibility of a neutrophil contribution to BCSFB dysfunction (Walker-Caulfield et al., 2015). Indeed, studies performed in patients with stroke and its animal model demonstrated the presence of extravasated neutrophils in the leptomeninges, suggesting a role for neutrophils in meningeal inflammation (Perez-de-Puig et al., 2015; Kim S. W. et al., 2019). Also, in a mouse model of subarachnoid hemorrhage, neutrophils infiltrated the meninges and were associated with neuronal damage (Coulibaly et al., 2021). Notably, mice deficient for MPO lacked neuronal dysfunction suggesting this lysosomal enzyme represents a putative mechanism of neutrophil-dependent damage to the underlying brain tissue in subarachnoid hemorrhage

(Coulibaly et al., 2021). Furthermore, studies performed by our group in mouse models of AD showed that neutrophils migrate in pial vessels and brain parenchyma during early disease stages *via* an LFA-1-dependent mechanism promoting cognitive deficit and neuropathological hallmarks of AD (Zenaro et al., 2015). Furthermore, it has been suggested that neutrophil influx in the leptomeninges of EAE mice during pre-clinical stages of the disease promotes early BCSFB breakdown facilitating the access of other immune cells into the CNS (Christy et al., 2013). Overall, although current data provide evidence of neutrophil accumulation in the leptomeninges in models of CNS diseases, how neutrophils promote BCSFB dysfunction and neuronal damage is still largely unknown.

### **Conclusion and future directions**

The role of neutrophils in the induction of BBB damage is now well documented in animal models of neuroinflammation and patients with CNS diseases. Although less investigated, the contribution of neutrophils to BSCFB breakdown is now emerging from recent studies on stroke, AD and MS. Neutrophil-mediated damage to CNS barriers since early disease stages may pave the way for the recruitment of other leukocyte populations during brain inflammatory diseases, and further studies are needed to clarify this interesting aspect (Christy et al., 2013; Rossi et al., 2020, 2021). However, whereas neutrophil accumulation in the meninges and ChP was clearly demonstrated, the intravascular adhesion mechanisms mediating neutrophil-endothelial interactions and the interplay between neutrophils and other barrier cells, such as ChP epithelial cells, are still unknown. Indeed, in vivo tracking of migrating neutrophils in animal models of CNS disorders using advanced microscopy together with noninvasive imaging of radioactive leukocyte tracers may improve our future understanding of neutrophil interaction with CNS borders (Mel'nikova, 2009; Zhou et al., 2009; Szmydynger-Chodobska et al., 2016; Lodygin et al., 2019; Pietronigro et al., 2019). Neutrophils release their arsenal of cytotoxic molecules during inflammatory responses, potentially causing significant collateral tissue damage (Kolaczkowska and Kubes, 2013). However, the molecular mechanisms contributing to neutrophil-dependent inflammation of CNS barriers leading to neuronal and glial cell dysfunction are largely unknown and may

### References

represent a new field of investigation. Finally, the elucidation of the molecular pathways underlying neutrophil contribution to CNS diseases may help design new therapies for neurological disorders such as stroke, MS and AD.

# Author contributions

All authors contributed to the literature search and writing the review.

# Funding

This work was supported in part by the European Research Council (ERC) advanced (grant no. 695714) IMMUNOALZHEIMER and the ERC Proof of Concept (grant no. 693606) IMPEDE and (grant no. 101069397) NeutrAD (to GC), Italian Ministry of University and Research, PNRR National Centers Program (National Biodiversity Future Center – NBFC) (to GC); "Alzheimer's Drug Discovery Foundation (ADDF), USA (to GC), Fondazione Italiana Sclerosi Multipla (FISM), Genoa, Italy project 2019/PR-single/044 (to EZ), INVITE European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie (grant agreement no. 754345) to BS-L. Fondazione Umberto Veronesi post-doctoral fellowship 2019 and 2020 (to EZ).

### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Adamson, P., Wilbourn, B., Etienne-Manneville, S., Calder, V., Beraud, E., and Milligan, G. (2002). Lymphocyte trafficking through the blood-brain barrier is dependent on endothelial cell heterotrimeric G-protein signaling. *FASEB J.* 16, 1185–1194. doi: 10.1096/fj.02-0035com

Absinta, M., Vuolo, L., Rao, A., Nair, G., Sati, P., and Cortese, I. C. M. (2015). Gadolinium-based MRI characterization of leptomeningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* 85, 18–28. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0000000000 01587

Adeeb, N., Deep, A., Griessenauer, C. J., Mortazavi, M. M., Watanabe, K., and Loukas, M. (2013). The intracranial arachnoid mater: A comprehensive review of its history, anatomy, imaging, and pathology. *Child's Nervous Syst.* 29, 17–33. doi: 10.1007/s00381-012-1 910-x

Aexander, J. S., Elrod, J. W., Alexander, J. S., and Elrod, J. W. (2002). Extracellular matrix, junctional integrity and matrix metalloproteinase interactions in endothelial permeability regulation. *J. Anatomy* 200, 561–574. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-7580.2002.00057.x

Agrawal, S., Anderson, P., Durbeej, M., van Rooijen, N., Ivars, F., Opdenakker, G., et al. (2006). Dystroglycan is selectively cleaved at the parenchymal basement membrane at sites of leukocyte extravasation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyclitis. *J. Exp. Med.* 203, 1007–1016. doi: 10.1084/jem.20051342

Al Nimer, F., Elliott, C., Bergman, J., Khademi, M., Dring, A. M., and Aeinehband, S. (2016). Lipocalin-2 is increased in progressive multiple sclerosis and inhibits remyelination. *Neurol. Neuroimmunol. Neuroinflamm.* 3:e191. doi: 10.1212/nxi.00000000000191

Alahmari, A. (2021). Blood-Brain Barrier Overview: Structural and Functional Correlation. *Neural Plast.* 2021:6564585. doi: 10.1155/2021/6564585

Alcolado, R., Weller, R. O., Parrish, E. P., and Garrod, D. (1988). The cranial arachnoid and pia mater in man: Anatomical and ultrastructural observations. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 14, 1–17. doi: 10.1111/J.1365-2990.1988.TB00862.X

Alicioglu, B., Yilmaz, G., Tosun, O., and Bulakbasi, N. (2017). Diffusionweighted magnetic resonance imaging in the assessment of choroid plexus aging. *Neuroradiol. J.* 30, 490–495. doi: 10.1177/1971400917714280

Allt, G., and Lawrenson, J. G. (1997). Short (or topical). review. Is the pial microvessel a good model for blood-brain barrier studies? *Brain Res. Rev.* 24, 67–76. doi: 10.1016/s0165-0173(97)00011-8

Alves de Lima, K., Rustenhoven, J., da Mesquita, S., Wall, M., Salvador, A. F., and Smirnov, I. (2020). Meningeal  $\gamma\delta$  T cells regulate anxiety-like behavior via IL-17a signaling in neurons. *Nat. Immunol.* 21, 1421–1429. doi: 10.1038/S41590-020-0776-4

Alves De Lima, K., Rustenhoven, J., and Kipnis, J. (2020). Meningeal immunity and its function in maintenance of the central nervous system in health and disease. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 38, 597–620. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-102319-103410

Anasooya Shaji, C., Robinson, B. D., Yeager, A., Beeram, M. R., Davis, M. L., and Isbell, C. L. (2019). The tri-phasic role of hydrogen peroxide in blood-brain barrier endothelial cells. *Sci. Rep.* 9:133. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-36769-3

Angiari, S., and Constantin, G. (2014). Regulation of T cell trafficking by the T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain 1 glycoprotein. *Trends Mol. Med.* 20, 675–684. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2014.10.003

Angiari, S., Donnarumma, T., Rossi, B., Dusi, S., Pietronigro, E., and Zenaro, E. (2014). TIM-1 glycoprotein binds the adhesion receptor P-selectin and mediates T cell trafficking during inflammation and autoimmunity. *Immunity* 40, 542–553. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.03.004

Anthony, I. C., Crawford, D. H., and Bell, J. E. (2003). B lymphocytes in the normal brain: Contrasts with HIV-associated lymphoid infiltrates and lymphomas. *Brain* 126, 1058–1067. doi: 10.1093/BRAIN/AWG118

Antonetti, D. A., Barber, A. J., Ann Hollinger, L., Wolpert, E. B., and Gardner, T. W. (1999). Vascular endothelial growth factor induces rapid phosphorylation of tight junction proteins occludin and zonula occluden 1 a potential mechanism for vascular permeability in diabetic retinopathy and tumors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 23463-23467. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.33.23463

Anwaar, I., Gottsäter, A., Ohlsson, K., Mattiasson, I., Lindgärde, F., and Anwaar, I. (1998). Increasing levels of leukocyte-derived inflammatory mediators in plasma and cAMP in platelets during follow-up after acute cerebral ischemia. *Cerebrovasc. Dis.* 8, 310–317. doi: 10.1159/000015873

Asahi, M., Wang, X., Mori, T., Sumii, T., Jung, J.-C., Moskowitz, M. A., et al. (2001). Effects of matrix metalloproteinase-9 gene knock-out on the proteolysis of blood-brain barrier and white matter components after cerebral ischemia. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 7724–7732. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.21-19-07724. 2001

Aubé, B., Lévesque, S. A., Paré, A., Chamma, É, Kébir, H., Gorina, R., et al. (2014). Neutrophils mediate blood-spinal cord barrier disruption in demyelinating neuroinflammatory diseases. *J. Immunol.* 193, 2438–2454. doi: 10. 4049/jimmunol.1400401

Backstrom, J. R., Lim, G. P., Cullen, M. J., and Tökés, Z. A. (1996). Matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9). is synthesized in neurons of the human hippocampus and is capable of degrading the amyloid- $\beta$  peptide (1–40). *J. Neurosci.* 16:7910. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-24-07910. 1996 Ballabh, P., Braun, A., and Nedergaard, M. (2004). The blood-brain barrier: An overview: Structure, regulation, and clinical implications. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 16, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/J.NBD.2003.12.016

Bartholomäus, I., Kawakami, N., Odoardi, F., Schläger, C., Miljkovic, D., and Ellwart, J. W. (2009). Effector T cell interactions with meningeal vascular structures in nascent autoimmune CNS lesions. *Nature* 462, 94–98. doi: 10.1038/ nature08478

Batra, A., Latour, L. L., Ruetzler, C. A., Hallenbeck, J. M., Spatz, M., Warach, S., et al. (2010). Increased plasma and tissue MMP levels are associated with BCSFB and BBB disruption evident on post-contrast FLAIR after experimental stroke. *J. Cerebral Blood Flow Metabolism* 30, 1188–1199. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2010.1

Battistini, L., Piccio, L., Rossi, B., Bach, S., Galgani, S., and Gasperini, C. (2003). CD8 + T cells from patients with acute multiple sclerosis display selective increase of adhesiveness in brain venules: A critical role for P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1. *Blood* 101, 4775–4782. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2002-10-3309

Bechmann, I., Galea, I., and Perry, V. H. (2007). What is the blood-brain barrier (not)? *Trends Immunol.* 28, 5–11. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2006.11.007

Bergen, A. A., Kaing, S., ten Brink, J. B., Gorgels, T. G., and Janssen, S. F. (2015). Gene expression and functional annotation of human choroid plexus epithelium failure in Alzheimer's disease. *BMC Genomics* 16:956. doi: 10.1186/s12864-015-2159-z

Bonney, S., Seitz, S., Ryan, C. A., Jones, K. L., Clarke, P., Tyler, K. L., et al. (2019). Gamma interferon alters junctional integrity via rho kinase, resulting in blood-brain barrier leakage in experimental viral encephalitis. *mBio* 10:e01675-19. doi: 10.1128/MBIO.01675-19

Breckwoldt, M. O., Chen, J. W., Stangenberg, L., Aikawa, E., Rodriguez, E., Qiu, S., et al. (2008). Tracking the inflammatory response in stroke in vivo by sensing the enzyme myeloperoxidase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 18584–18589. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0803945105

Brioschi, S., Wang, W. L., Peng, V., Wang, M., Shchukina, I., and Greenberg, Z. J. (2021). Heterogeneity of meningeal B cells reveals a lymphopoietic niche at the CNS borders. *Science* 373:eabf9277. doi: 10.1126/science.abf9277

Brøchner, C. B., Holst, C. B., and Møllgård, K. (2015). Outer brain barriers in rat and human development. *Front. Neurosci.* 9:75. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00075

Brombacher, T. M., Ajonijebu, D. C., Scibiorek, M., Berkiks, I., Moses, B. O., Mpotje, T., et al. (2021). IL-4Rα deletion disrupts psychomotor performance and reference memory in mice while sparing behavioural phenotype associated with spatial learning. *Brain Behav. Immunity* 92, 157–164. doi: 10.1016/J.BBI.2020.12. 003

Capaldo, C. T., and Nusrat, A. (2009). Cytokine regulation of tight junctions. Biochim. et Biophysica Acta - Biomembranes 1788, 864–871. doi: 10.1016/j. bbamem.2008.08.027

Carrano, A., Hoozemans, J. J. M., van der Vies, S. M., van Horssen, J., de Vries, H. E., and Rozemuller, A. J. M. (2012). Neuroinflammation and blood-brain barrier changes in capillary amyloid angiopathy. *Neurodegener. Dis.* 10, 329–331. doi: 10.1159/000334916

Cassella, J. P., Lawrenson, J. G., and Firth, J. A. (1997). Development of endothelial paracellular clefts and their tight junctions in the pial microvessels of the rat. J. Neurocytol. 26, 567–575. doi: 10.1023/a:1015438624949

Chen, J. W., Breckwoldt, M. O., Aikawa, E., Chiang, G., and Weissleder, R. (2008). Myeloperoxidase-targeted imaging of active inflammatory lesions in murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain* 131, 1123–1133. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn004

Cheng, D., Talib, J., Stanley, C. P., Rashid, I., Michaëlsson, E., and Lindstedt, E. L. (2019). Inhibition of MPO (myeloperoxidase). attenuates endothelial dysfunction in mouse models of vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 39, 1448–1457. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312725

Cheung, A. K., Parker, C. J., and Hohnholt, M. (1993). Beta2 integrins are required for neutrophil degranulation induced by hemodialysis membranes. *Kidney Int.* 43, 649–660. doi: 10.1038/ki.1993.94

Chou, W.-H., Wang, G., Kumar, V., and Weng, Y.-C. (2015). Lipocalin-2 in Stroke. Neuro Open J. 2, 38-41. doi: 10.17140/NOJ-2-109

Chow, B. W., and Gu, C. (2015). The molecular constituents of the blood-brain barrier. *Trends Neurosci.* 38, 598–608. doi: 10.1016/J.TINS.2015.08.003

Christy, A. L., Walker, M. E., Hessner, M. J., and Brown, M. A. (2013). Mast cell activation and neutrophil recruitment promotes early and robust inflammation in the meninges in EAE. J. Autoimmun. 42, 50–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2012.11.003

Clark, A. W., Krekoski, C. A., Bou, S. S., Chapman, K. R., and Edwards, D. R. (1997). Increased gelatinase A (MMP-2). and gelatinase B (MMP-9). activities in human brain after focal ischemia. *Neurosci. Lett.* 238, 53–56. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(97)00859-8

Combarros, O., Infante, J., Llorca, J., Pea, N., Fernández-Viadero, C., and Berciano, J. (2002). The myeloperoxidase gene in Alzheimer's disease: A case-control study and meta-analysis. *Neurosci. Lett.* 326, 33–36. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(02)00303-8

Coulibaly, A. P., Pezuk, P., Varghese, P., Gartman, W., Triebwasser, D., and Kulas, J. A. (2021). Neutrophil enzyme myeloperoxidase modulates neuronal response in a model of subarachnoid hemorrhage by venous injury. *Stroke* 52, 3374–3384. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.120.033513

Crawford, F. C., Freeman, M. J., Schinka, J. A., Morris, M. D., Abdullah, L. I., and Richards, D. (2001). Association between Alzheimer's disease and a functional polymorphism in the myeloperoxidase gene. *Exp. Neurol.* 167, 456–459. doi: 10. 1006/exnr.2000.7560

Cruz Hernández, J. C., Bracko, O., Kersbergen, C. J., Muse, V., Haft-Javaherian, M., and Berg, M. (2019). Neutrophil adhesion in brain capillaries reduces cortical blood flow and impairs memory function in Alzheimer's disease mouse models. *Nat. Neurosci.* 22, 413–420. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0329-4

Cugurra, A., Mamuladze, T., Rustenhoven, J., Dykstra, T., Beroshvili, G., and Greenberg, Z. J. (2021). Skull and vertebral bone marrow are myeloid cell reservoirs for the meninges and CNS parenchyma. *Science* 373:eabf7844. doi: 10.1126/science.abf7844

Cummins, M. (2012). Occludin: One Protein. Many Forms, Mol. Cell. Biol. 32, 242-250. doi: 10.1128/mcb.06029-11

Dekens, D. W., Naudé, J. W., Engelborghs, S., Vermeiren, Y., van Dam, D., and Oude Voshaar, R. C. (2017). Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin and its receptors in Alzheimer's Disease (AD). brain regions: Differential findings in AD with and without depression. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* 55, 763–776. doi: 10.3233/JAD-160330

Derecki, N. C., Cardani, A. N., Yang, C. H., Quinnies, K. M., Crihfield, A., Lynch, K. R., et al. (2010). Regulation of learning and memory by meningeal immunity: A key role for IL-4. *J. Exp. Med.* 207, 1067–1080. doi: 10.1084/jem.20091419

Derk, J., Jones, H. E., Como, C., Pawlikowski, B., and Siegenthaler, J. A. (2021). Living on the edge of the cns: Meninges cell diversity in health and disease. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 15:703944. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2021.703944

DiStasi, M. R., and Ley, K. (2009). Opening the flood-gates: How neutrophilendothelial interactions regulate permeability. *Trends Immunol* 30, 547–556. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2009.07.012

Du, Y., Li, W., Lin, L., Lo, E. H., and Xing, C. (2019). Effects of lipocalin-2 on brain endothelial adhesion and permeability. *PLoS One* 14:e0218965. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0218965

Dubois, B., Masure, S., Hurtenbach, U., Paemen, L., Heremans, H., and van den Oord, J. (1999). Resistance of young gelatinase B-deficient mice to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and necrotizing tail lesions. *J. Clin. Inves.* 104, 1507–1515. doi: 10.1172/JCI6886

Dusi, S., Angiari, S., Pietronigro, E. C., Lopez, N., Angelini, G., and Zenaro, E. (2019). LFA-1 controls Th1 and Th17 motility behavior in the inflamed central nervous system. *Front. Immunol.* 10:2436. doi: 10.3389/FIMMU.2019. 02436/BIBTEX

El Amki, M., Glück, C., Binder, N., Middleham, W., Wyss, M. T., and Weiss, T. (2020). Neutrophils Obstructing Brain Capillaries Are a Major Cause of No-Reflow in Ischemic Stroke. *Cell Rep.* 33:108260. doi: 10.1016/J.CELREP.2020. 108260

Engelhardt, B., and Ransohoff, R. M. (2005). The ins and outs of T-lymphocyte trafficking to the CNS: Anatomical sites and molecular mechanisms. *Trends Immunol.* 26, 485–495. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2005.07.004

Engelhardt, B., Vajkoczy, P., and Weller, R. O. (2017). The movers and shapers in immune privilege of the CNS. *Nat. Immunol.* 18, 123–131. doi: 10.1038/ni.3666

Fabene, F., Mora, G. N., Martinello, M., Rossi, B., Merigo, F., and Ottoboni, L. (2008). A role for leukocyte-endothelial adhesion mechanisms in epilepsy. *Nat. Med.* 14, 1377–1383. doi: 10.1038/NM.1878

Felgenhauer, K. (1995). "The Filtration Concept of the Blood-CSF-Barrier as Basis for the Differentiation of CSF Proteins," in *New Concepts of a Blood—Brain Barrier\*\**, eds J. Greenwood, D. J. Begley, and M. B. Segal (Boston, MA: Springer), doi: 10.1007/978-1-4899-1054-7\_21

Filiano, A. J., Xu, Y., Tustison, N. J., Marsh, R. L., Baker, W., and Smirnov, I. (2016). Unexpected role of interferon- $\gamma$  in regulating neuronal connectivity and social behaviour. *Nature* 535, 425–429. doi: 10.1038/NATURE18626

Filippi, M., Bar-Or, A., Piehl, F., Preziosa, P., Solari, A., Vukusic, S., et al. (2018). Multiple sclerosis. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers* 4:43. doi: 10.1038/s41572-018-0041-4

Fischer, A., Wannemacher, J., Christ, S., Koopmans, T., Kadri, S., and Zhao, J. (2022). Neutrophils direct preexisting matrix to initiate repair in damaged tissues. *Nat. Immunol.* 23, 518–531. doi: 10.1038/s41590-022-01166-6

Forghani, R., Kim, H. J., Wojtkiewicz, G. R., Bure, L., Wu, Y., and Hayase, M. (2015). Myeloperoxidase propagates damage and is a potential therapeutic target for subacute stroke. *J. Perinatol.* 35, 485–493. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2014.222

Forghani, R., Wojtkiewicz, G. R., Zhang, Y., Seeburg, D., Bautz, B. R. M., and Pulli, B. (2012). Demyelinating diseases: Myeloperoxidase as an imaging biomarker and therapeutic target. *Radiol.* 263, 451–460. doi: 10.1148/RADIOL. 12111593

Galea, I., Bechmann, I., and Perry, V. H. (2007). What is immune privilege (not)? *Trends Immunol.* 28, 12–18. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2006.11.004

Garratt, L. W., Sutanto, E. N., Ling, K. M., Looi, K., Iosifidis, T., and Martinovich, K. M. (2015). Matrix metalloproteinase activation by free neutrophil elastase contributes to bronchiectasis progression in early cystic fibrosis. *Eur. Respiratory J.* 46, 384–394. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00212114

Gellhaar, S., Sunnemark, D., Eriksson, H., Olson, L., and Galter, D. (2017). Myeloperoxidase-immunoreactive cells are significantly increased in brain areas affected by neurodegeneration in Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease. *Cell Tissue Res.* 369, 445–454. doi: 10.1007/s00441-017-2626-8

Gelzo, M., Cacciapuoti, S., Pinchera, B., de Rosa, A., Cernera, G., and Scialò, F. (2022). Matrix metalloproteinases (MMP). 3 and 9 as biomarkers of severity in COVID-19 patients. *Sci. Rep.* 12:1212. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-04677-8

Gião, T., Teixeira, T., Almeida, M. R., and Cardoso, I. (2022). Choroid Plexus in Alzheimer's Disease—The Current State of Knowledge. *Biomedicines* 10:224. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10020224

Gidday, J. M., Gasche, Y. G., Copin, J.-C., Shah, A. R., Perez, R. S., Shapiro, S. D., et al. (2005). Leukocyte-derived matrix metalloproteinase-9 mediates bloodbrain barrier breakdown and is proinflammatory after transient focal cerebral ischemia. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circulatory Physiol.* 289, 558–568. doi: 10.1152/ ajpheart.01275.2004.-Results

Gorina, R., Lyck, R., Vestweber, D., and Engelhardt, B. (2014).  $\beta$  2 Integrinmediated crawling on endothelial ICAM-1 and ICAM-2 Is a prerequisite for transcellular neutrophil diapedesis across the inflamed blood-brain barrier. J. Immunol. 192, 324–337. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300858

Greene, C., Hanley, N., and Campbell, M. (2019). Claudin-5: Gatekeeper of neurological function. *Fluids Barriers of the CNS* 16:3. doi: 10.1186/s12987-019-0123-z

Halade, G. V., Jin, Y. F., and Lindsey, M. L. (2013). Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9: A proximal biomarker for cardiac remodeling and a distal biomarker for inflammation. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 139, 32–40. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2013. 03.009

Hallenbeck, J. M., Dutka, A. J., Kochanek, M., Kumaroo, K. K., Thompson, C. B., and Obrenovitch, T. P. (1986). Polymorphonuclear leukocyte accumulation in brain regions with low blood flow during the early postischemic period. *Stroke* 17, 246–253. doi: 10.1161/01.str.17.2.246

Harada, K., Suzuki, Y., Yamakawa, K., Kawakami, J., and Umemura, K. (2012). Combination of reactive oxygen species and tissue-type plasminogen activator enhances the induction of gelatinase B in brain endothelial cells. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 122, 53–59. doi: 10.3109/00207454.2011.623808

Hauptmann, J., Johann, L., Marini, F., Kitic, M., Colombo, E., and Mufazalov, I. A. (2020). Interleukin-1 promotes autoimmune neuroinflammation by suppressing endothelial heme oxygenase-1 at the blood-brain barrier. *Acta Neuropathol.* 140, 549–567. doi: 10.1007/s00401-020-02187-x

Herisson, F., Frodermann, V., Courties, G., Rohde, D., Sun, Y., and Vandoorne, K. (2018). Direct vascular channels connect skull bone marrow and the brain surface enabling myeloid cell migration. *Nat. Neurosci.* 21, 1209–1217. doi: 10. 1038/S41593-018-0213-2

Herz, J., Fu, Z., Kim, K., Dykstra, T., Wall, M., and Li, H. (2021). GABAergic neuronal IL-4R mediates T cell effect on memory. *Neuron* 109, 3609–3618.e9. doi: 10.1016/J.NEURON.2021.10.022

Ineichen, B. V., Tsagkas, C., Absinta, M., and Reich, D. S. (2022). Leptomeningeal enhancement in multiple sclerosis and other neurological diseases: A systematic review and Meta-Analysis. *NeuroImage* 33:102939. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2022.102939

Jiao, H., Wang, Z., Liu, Y., Wang, P., and Xue, Y. (2011). Specific role of tight junction proteins claudin-5, occludin, and ZO-1 of the blood-brain barrier in a focal cerebral ischemic insult. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 44, 130–139. doi: 10.1007/S12031-011-9496-4

Johnston, B., and Kubes. (1999). The  $\alpha$ 4-integrin: An alternative pathway for neutrophil recruitment? *Immunol. Today* 20, 545–550. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5699(99)01544-3

Jordão, M. J. C., Sankowski, R., Brendecke, S. M., Sagar, L. G., Tai, Y. H., and Tay, T. L. (2019). Neuroimmunology: Single-cell profiling identifies myeloid cell subsets with distinct fates during neuroinflammation. *Science* 363:eaat7554. doi: 10.1126/science.aat7554 Juul, S., Pliskin, J. S., and Fineberg, H. V. (1984). Variation and information in white blood cell differential counts. *Med. Dec. Making* 4, 69–80. doi: 10.1177/ 0272989

Kahles, T., Luedike, P., Endres, M., Galla, H. J., Steinmetz, H., and Busse, R. (2007). NADPH oxidase plays a central role in blood-brain barrier damage in experimental stroke. *Stroke* 38, 3000–3006. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107. 489765

Kang, L., Yu, H., Yang, X., Zhu, Y., Bai, X., and Wang, R. (2020). Neutrophil extracellular traps released by neutrophils impair revascularization and vascular remodeling after stroke. *Nat. Commun.* 11:2488. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-16191-y

Kant, S., Stopa, E. G., Johanson, C. E., Baird, A., and Silverberg, G. D. (2018). Choroid plexus genes for CSF production and brain homeostasis are altered in Alzheimer's disease. *Fluids Barriers CNS* 15:34. doi: 10.1186/s12987-018-0120-7

Kataoka, H., Kim, S. W., and Plesnila, N. (2004). Leukocyte-endothelium interactions during permanent focal cerebral ischemia in mice. *J. Cerebral Blood Flow Mmetabolism* 24, 668–676. doi: 10.1097/01.WCB.0000117812.35136.5B

Kerfoot, S. M., and Kubes. (2002). Overlapping roles of P-Selectin and  $\alpha$  4 integrin to recruit leukocytes to the central nervous system in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Immunol.* 169, 1000–1006. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.2.1000

Kieseier, B. C., Kiefer, R., Clements, J. M., Miller, K., Wells, G. M., Schweitzer, T., et al. (1998). Matrix metalloproteinase-9 and-7 are regulated in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain* 121, 159–166. doi: 10.1093/brain/121.1.159

Kim, H. J., Wei, Y., Lee, J. Y., Wu, Y., Zheng, Y., Moskowitz, M. A., et al. (2016). Myeloperoxidase inhibition increases neurogenesis after ischemic stroke. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 359, 262–272. doi: 10.1124/jpet.116.235127

Kim, H. J., Wei, Y., Wojtkiewicz, G. R., Lee, J. Y., Moskowitz, M. A., and Chen, J. W. (2019). Reducing myeloperoxidase activity decreases inflammation and increases cellular protection in ischemic stroke. J. Cerebral Blood Flow Metabolism 39, 1864–1877. doi: 10.1177/0271678

Kim, J. H., Ko, W., Lee, H. W., Jeong, J. Y., Lee, M. G., and Kim, J. H. (2017). Astrocyte-derived lipocalin-2 mediates hippocampal damage and cognitive deficits in experimental models of vascular dementia. *Glia* 65, 1471–1490. doi: 10.1002/glia.23174

Kim, S. W., Lee, H., Lee, H. K., Kim, I. D., and Lee, J. K. (2019). Neutrophil extracellular trap induced by HMGB1 exacerbates damages in the ischemic brain. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* 7:94. doi: 10.1186/s40478-019-0747-x

Kolaczkowska, E., and Kubes. (2013). Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 13, 159–175. doi: 10.1038/nri3399

Kooij, G., Kopplin, K., Blasig, R., Stuiver, M., Koning, N., and Goverse, G. (2014). Disturbed function of the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier aggravates neuro-inflammation. *Acta Neuropathol.* 128, 267–277. doi: 10.1007/s00401-013-1227-1

Kratzer, I., Vasiljevic, A., Rey, C., Fevre-Montange, M., Saunders, N., Strazielle, N., et al. (2012). Complexity and developmental changes in the expression pattern of claudins at the blood-CSF barrier. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 138, 861–879. doi: 10.1007/s00418-012-1001-9

Krzyzanowska, A., and Carro, E. (2012). Pathological alteration in the choroid plexus of Alzheimer's disease: Implication for new therapy aroaches. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:75. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00075

Kunis, G., Baruch, K., Rosenzweig, N., Kertser, A., Miller, O., Berkutzki, T., et al. (2013). IFN-γ-dependent activation of the brain's choroid plexus for CNS immune surveillance and repair. *Brain* 136, 3427–3440. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt259

Kurihara, T., Shimizu-Hirota, R., Shimoda, M., Adachi, T., Shimizu, H., and Weiss, S. J. (2012). Neutrophil-Derived Matrix Metalloproteinase 9 Triggers Acute Aortic Dissection. *Circulation*. 26, 3070–3080. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 112.097097

Labus, J., Häckel, S., Lucka, L., and Danker, K. (2014). Interleukin-1 $\beta$  induces an inflammatory response and the breakdown of the endothelial cell layer in an improved human THBMEC-based in vitro blood-brain barrier model. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 228, 35–45. doi: 10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2014.03.002

Lee, H. S., Namkoong, K., Kim, D. H., Kim, K. J., Cheong, Y. H., Kim, S. S., et al. (2004). Hydrogen peroxide-induced alterations of tight junction proteins in bovine brain microvascular endothelial cells. *Microvasc. Res.* 68, 231–238. doi: 10.1016/J.MVR.2004.07.005

Ley, K., Laudanna, C., Cybulsky, M. I., and Nourshargh, S. (2007). Getting to the site of inflammation: The leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 7, 678–689. doi: 10.1038/NRI2156

Li, W., Chen, Z., Chin, I., Chen, Z., and Dai, H. (2018). The Role of VE-cadherin in Blood-brain Barrier Integrity Under Central Nervous System Pathological Conditions Current Neuropharmacology. 16, 1375–1384. doi: 10.2174/157 0159 Li, Y.-J., Wang, Z.-H., Zhang, B., Zhe, X., Wang, M.-J., and Shi, S.-T. (2013). Disruption of the blood-brain barrier after generalized tonic-clonic seizures correlates with cerebrospinal fluid MMP-9 levels. *J. Neuroinflammation* 10:80. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-10-80

Liebner, S., Dijkhuizen, R. M., Reiss, Y., Plate, K. H., Agalliu, D., and Constantin, G. (2018). Functional morphology of the blood–brain barrier in health and disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* 135, 311–336. doi: 10.1007/s00401-018-1815-1

Llorens, F., Hermann, P., Villar-Piqué, A., Diaz-Lucena, D., Nägga, K., and Hansson, O. (2020). Cerebrospinal fluid lipocalin 2 as a novel biomarker for the differential diagnosis of vascular dementia. *Nat. Commun.* 11:619. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-14373-2

Lodygin, D., Hermann, M., Schweingruber, N., Flügel-Koch, C., Watanabe, T., and Schlosser, C. (2019). β-Synuclein-reactive T cells induce autoimmune CNS grey matter degeneration. *Nature* 566, 503–508. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-0964-2

Lou, O., Alcaide, P., Luscinskas, F. W., and Muller, W. A. (2007). CD99 Is a Key Mediator of the Transendothelial Migration of Neutrophils. *J. Immunol.* 178, 1136–1143. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.2.1136

Louveau, A., Smirnov, I., Keyes, T. J., Eccles, J. D., Rouhani, S. J., and Peske, J. D. (2015). Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature* 523, 337–341. doi: 10.1038/NATURE14432

Lun, M. P., Monuki, E. S., and Lehtinen, M. K. (2015). Development and functions of the choroid plexus-cerebrospinal fluid system. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 6, 445–457. doi: 10.1038/nrn3921

Malle, E., Furtmüller, P. G., Sattler, W., and Obinger, C. (2007). Myeloperoxidase: A target for new drug development? *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 152, 838-854. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0707358

Marques, F., and Sousa, J. C. (2015). The choroid plexus is modulated by various peripheral stimuli: Implications to diseases of the central nervous system. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:136. doi: 10.3389/FNCEL.2015.00136/BIBTEX

Marques, F., Mesquita, S. D., Sousa, J. C., Coola, G., Gao, F., and Geschwind, D. H. (2012). Lipocalin 2 is present in the EAE brain and is modulated by natalizumab. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 6:33. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2012.00033

Marques, F., Sousa, J. C., Coola, G., Falcao, A. M., Rodrigues, A. J., and Geschwind, D. H. (2009). Kinetic profile of the transcriptome changes induced in the choroid plexus by peripheral inflammation. *J. Cerebral Blood Flow Metabolism* 29, 921–932. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2009.15

Mastorakos, P., and McGavern, D. (2019). The anatomy and immunology of vasculature in the central nervous system. *Sci. Immunol.* 4:eaav0492. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aav0492

Matsuo, Y., Onodera, H., Shiga, Y., Nakamura, M., Ninomiya, M., Kihara, T., et al. (1994). Correlation between myeloperoxidase-quantified neutrophil accumulation and ischemic brain injury in the rat effects of neutrophil depletion. *Stroke* 25, 1469–1475. doi: 10.1161/01.str.25.7.1469

Meeker, R. B., Williams, K., Killebrew, D. A., and Hudson, L. C. (2012). Cell trafficking through the choroid plexus. *Cell Adhesion Migration* 6, 390–396. doi: 10.4161/cam.21054

Mel'nikova, N. N. (2009). Leukocyte-endothelial interactions in pial arterioles and venules on development of cerebral ischemia in rats. *Neurosci. Behavioral Physiol.* 39, 167–171. doi: 10.1007/S11055-009-9110-1

Mentis, A. F. A., Dardiotis, E., and Chrousos, G. P. (2021). Apolipoprotein E4 and meningeal lymphatics in Alzheimer disease: A conceptual framework. *Mol. Psychiatry* 26, 1075–1097. doi: 10.1038/s41380-020-0731-7

Miklossy, J., Kraftsik, R., Pillevuit, O., Lepori, D., Genton, C., and Bosman, F. T. (1998). Curly fiber and tangle-like inclusions in the ependyma and choroid Plexus—A pathogenetic relationship with the cortical alzheimer-type changes? *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 57, 1202–1212. doi: 10.1097/00005072-199812000-00012

Mold, M. J., and Exley, C. (2022). Aluminium co-localises with Biondi ring tangles in Parkinson's disease and epilepsy. *Sci. Rep.* 12:1465. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-05627-8

Mottahedin, A., Smith, P. L. P., Hagberg, H., Ek, C. J., and Mallard, C. (2017). TLR2-mediated leukocyte trafficking to the developing brain. *J. Leukocyte Biol.* 101, 297–305. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3a1215-568r

Moxon-Emre, I., and Schlichter, L. C. (2011). Neutrophil depletion reduces blood-brain barrier breakdown, axon injury, and inflammation after intracerebral hemorrhage. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 70, 218–235. doi: 10.1097/NEN. 0B013E31820D94A5

Mrdjen, D., Pavlovic, A., Hartmann, F. J., Schreiner, B., Utz, S. G., and Leung, B. P. (2018). High-dimensional single-cell maing of central nervous system immune cells reveals distinct myeloid subsets in health, aging, and disease. *Immunity* 48, 380–395.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018. 01.011

Mun-bryce, S., Rosenberg, G. A., and Rosenberg Gelatin, G. A. (1998). Gelatinase B modulates selective opening of the blood-brain barrier during inflammation. *Am. J. Physiol.* 274:R1203–R1211. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.1998.274.5. R1203

Murakami, T., Felinski, E. A., and Antonetti, D. A. (2009). Occludin phosphorylation and ubiquitination regulate tight junction trafficking and vascular endothelial growth factor-induced permeability. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 21036–21046. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.016766

Natale, G., Limanaqi, F., Busceti, C. L., Mastroiacovo, F., Nicoletti, F., Puglisi-Allegra, S., et al. (2021). Glymphatic System as a Gateway to Connect Neurodegeneration From Periphery to CNS. *Front. Neurosci.* 15:639140. doi: 10. 3389/fnins.2021.639140

Nygårdas, P. T., and Hinkkanen, A. E. (2002). Up-regulation of MMP-8 and MMP-9 activity in the BALB/c mouse spinal cord correlates with the severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 128, 245–254. doi: 10.1046/J.1365-2249.2002.01855.X

Oetjen, L. K., Mack, M. R., Feng, J., Whelan, T. M., Niu, H., and Guo, C. J. (2017). Sensory neurons co-opt classical immune signaling pathways to mediate chronic itch. *Cell* 171, 217–228.e13. doi: 10.1016/J.CELL.2017.08.006

Ong, C. W. M., Pabisiak, P. J., Brilha, S., Singh, P., Roncaroli, F., Elkington, P. T., et al. (2017). Complex regulation of neutrophil-derived MMP-9 secretion in central nervous system tuberculosis. *J. Neuroinflammation* 14:13. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0801-1

Otxoa-De-Amezaga, A., Gallizioli, M., Pedragosa, J., Justicia, C., Miró-Mur, F., and Salas-Perdomo, A. (2019). Location of neutrophils in different compartments of the damaged mouse brain after severe ischemia/reperfusion. *Stroke* 50, 1548– 1557. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.023837

Perez-de-Puig, I., Miró-Mur, F., Ferrer-Ferrer, M., Gelpi, E., Pedragosa, J., and Justicia, C. (2015). Neutrophil recruitment to the brain in mouse and human ischemic stroke. *Acta Neuropathol.* 129, 239–257. doi: 10.1007/s00401-014-1381-0

Piccio, L., Rossi, B., Colantonio, L., Grenningloh, R., Gho, A., and Ottoboni, L. (2005). Efficient recruitment of lymphocytes in inflamed brain venules requires expression of cutaneous lymphocyte antigen and fucosyltransferase-VII. *J. Immunol.* 174, 5805–5813. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.174.9.5805

Piccio, L., Rossi, B., Scarpini, E., Laudanna, C., Giagulli, C., Issekutz, A. C., et al. (2002). Molecular mechanisms involved in lymphocyte recruitment in inflamed brain microvessels: Critical Roles for P-Selectin Glycoprotein Ligand-1 and Heterotrimeric Gi-Linked Receptors. *J. Immunol.* 168, 1940–1949. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.168.4.1940

Pietronigro, E. C., della Bianca, V., Zenaro, E., and Constantin, G. (2017). NETosis in Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Immunol.* 8:211. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017. 00211

Pietronigro, E., Zenaro, E., and Constantin, G. (2016). Imaging of leukocyte trafficking in Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Immunol.* 7:33. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016. 00033

Pietronigro, E., Zenaro, E., Bianca, V., della Dusi, S., Terrabuio, E., and Iannoto, G. (2019). Blockade of  $\alpha 4$  integrins reduces leukocyte–endothelial interactions in cerebral vessels and improves memory in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Sci. Rep.* 9:12055. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-48538-x

Pikor, N. B., Astarita, J. L., Summers-Deluca, L., Galicia, G., Qu, J., and Ward, L. A. (2015). Integration of Th17- and Lymphotoxin-derived signals initiates meningeal-resident stromal cell remodeling to propagate neuroinflammation. *Immunity* 43, 1160–1173. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.11.010

Pope, S. K., Kritchevsky, S. B., Ambrosone, C., Yaffe, K., Tylavsky, F., and Simonsick, E. M. (2006). Myeloperoxidase polymorphism and cognitive decline in older adults in the health, aging, and body composition study. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 163, 1084–1090. doi: 10.1093/ajc/kwj146

Prinz, M., and Priller, J. (2017). The role of peripheral immune cells in the CNS in steady state and disease. *Nat. Neurosci.* 20, 136–144. doi: 10.1038/NN.4475

Protasoni, M., Sangiorgi, S., Cividini, A., Culuvaris, G. T., Tomei, G., Dell'Orbo, C., et al. (2011). The collagenic architecture of human dura mater: Laboratory investigation. *J. Neurosurgery* 114, 1723–1730. doi: 10.3171/2010.12.JNS101732

Pulli, B., Bure, L., Wojtkiewicz, G. R., Iwamoto, Y., Ali, M., Li, D., et al. (2015). Multiple sclerosis: Myeloperoxidase immunoradiology improves detection of acute and chronic disease in experimental model. *Radiology* 275, 480–489. doi: 10.1148/radiol.14141495

Py, N. A., Bonnet, A. E., Bernard, A., Marchalant, Y., Charrat, E., Checler, F., et al. (2014). Differential spatio-temporal regulation of MMPs in the 5xFAD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease: Evidence for a pro-amyloidogenic role of MT1-MMP. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:247. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00247

Quirico-Santos, T., Mello, N. A., Gomes, C. A., de Carvalho, L. P., de Souza, J. M., and Alves-Leon, S. (2013). Increased metalloprotease activity in the

epileptogenic lesion - Lobectomy reduces metalloprotease activity and urokinasetype uPAR circulating levels. *Brain Res.* 1538, 172–181. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres. 2013.09.044

Radjavi, A., Smirnov, I., Derecki, N., and Kipnis, J. (2014). Dynamics of the meningeal CD4 + T-cell repertoire are defined by the cervical lymph nodes and facilitate cognitive task performance in mice. *Mol. Psychiatry* 19, 531–533. doi: 10.1038/mp.2013.79

Rahman, A., Anwar, K. N., Malik, A. B., Rahman, K. N., and Anwar, A. B. (2000). Protein kinase C-mediates TNF-induced ICAM-1 gene transcription in endothelial cells. *Am. J. physiol.* 279:C906–C914. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.2000.279.4. C906

Ransohoff, R. M., Kivisäkk, P., and Kidd, G. (2003). Three or more routes for leukocyte migration into the central nervous system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 3, 569–581. doi: 10.1038/nri1130

Reynolds, W. F., Rhees, J., Maciejewski, D., Paladino, T., Sieburg, H., Maki, R. A., et al. (1999). Myeloperoxidase polymorphism Is associated with gender specific risk for alzheimer's disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 155, 31–41. doi: 10.1006/exnr.1998.6977

Ribeiro, M., Brigas, H. C., Temido-Ferreira, M., Pousinha, P. A., Regen, T., and Santa, C. (2019). Meningeal  $\gamma\delta$  T cell-derived IL-17 controls synaptic plasticity and short-term memory. *Sci. Immunol.* 4:eaay5199. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aay5199

Richter, J., Ng-Sikorskit, J., Olsson, I., and Anderssont, T. (1990). Tumor necrosis factor-induced degranulation in adherent human neutrophils is dependent on CD1lb/CD18-integrin-triggered oscillations of cytosolic free Ca2 +. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S. A.* 87, 9472–9476. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.23.9472

Rodríguez-Lorenzo, S., Konings, J., van der Pol, S., Kamermans, A., Amor, S., and van Horssen, J. (2020). Inflammation of the choroid plexus in progressive multiple sclerosis: Accumulation of granulocytes and T cells. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* 8:9. doi: 10.1186/s40478-020-0885-1

Rojo, A. I., McBean, G., Cindric, M., Egea, J., López, M. G., Rada, P., et al. (2014). Redox control of microglial function: Molecular mechanisms and functional significance. *Antioxidants Redox Signaling* 21, 1766–1801. doi: 10.1089/ars.2013. 5745

Romanic, A. M., White, R. F., Arleth, A. J., Ohlstein, E. H., and Barone, F. C. (1998). Matrix metalloproteinase expression increases after cerebral focal ischemia in rats inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase-9 reduces infarct size. *Stroke* 29, 1020–1030. doi: 10.1161/01.str.29.5.1020

Rosell, A., Cuadrado, E., Ortega-Aznar, A., Hernández-Guillamon, M., Lo, E. H., and Montaner, J. (2008). MMP-9-positive neutrophil infiltration is associated to blood-brain barrier breakdown and basal lamina type IV collagen degradation during hemorrhagic transformation after human ischemic stroke. *Stroke* 39, 1121–1126. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.500868

Rossi, B., Angiari, S., Zenaro, E., Budui, S. L., and Constantin, G. (2011). Vascular inflammation in central nervous system diseases: Adhesion receptors controlling leukocyte-endothelial interactions. *J. Leukocyte Biol.* 89, 539–556. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0710432

Rossi, B., Constantin, G., and Zenaro, E. (2020). The emerging role of neutrophils in neurodegeneration. *Immunobiology* 225:151865. doi: 10.1016/j. imbio.2019.10.014

Rossi, B., Santos-Lima, B., Terrabuio, E., Zenaro, E., and Constantin, G. (2021). Common peripheral immunity mechanisms in multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Immunol.* 12:639369. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.639369

Rua, R., and McGavern, D. B. (2018). Advances in Meningeal Immunity. Trends Mol. Med. 24, 542–559. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2018.04.003

Russi, A. E., and Brown, M. A. (2015). The meninges: New therapeutic targets for multiple sclerosis. *Trans. Res.* 165, 255–269. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2014.08.005

Rustenhoven, J., Drieu, A., Mamuladze, T., de Lima, K. A., Dykstra, T., and Wall, M. (2021). Functional characterization of the dural sinuses as a neuroimmune interface. *Cell* 184, 1000–1016.e27. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.12.040

Rybakowski, J. K., Skibinska, M., Kapelski, P., Kaczmarek, L., and Hauser, J. (2009a). Functional polymorphism of the matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9). gene in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Res.* 109, 90–93. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009. 02.005

Rybakowski, J. K., Skibinska, M., Leszczynska-Rodziewicz, A., Kaczmarek, L., and Hauser, J. (2009b). Matrix metalloproteinase-9 gene and bipolar mood disorder. *Neuromolec. Med.* 11, 128–132. doi: 10.1007/S12017-009-8072-3

Saboori, P., and Sadegh, A. (2015). Histology and morphology of the brain subarachnoid trabeculae. *Anatomy Res. Int.* 2015:279814. doi: 10.1155/2015/ 279814

Saint-Pol, J., Gosselet, F., Duban-Deweer, S., Pottiez, G., and Karamanos, Y. (2020). Targeting and Crossing the Blood-Brain Barrier with Extracellular Vesicles. *Cells* 9:851. doi: 10.3390/CELLS9040851

Sajad, M., Zargan, J., Chawla, R., Umar, S., Sadaqat, M., and Khan, H. A. (2009). Hiocampal neurodegeneration in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE): Potential role of inflammation activated myeloperoxidase. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 328, 183–188. doi: 10.1007/s11010-009-0088-3

Saul, J., Saul, J., Hutchins, E., Reiman, R., Saul, M., Ostrow, L. W., et al. (2020). Global alterations to the choroid plexus blood-CSF barrier in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* 8:92. doi: 10.1186/s40478-020-00968-9

Schläger, C., Körner, H., Krueger, M., Vidoli, S., Haberl, M., and Mielke, D. (2016). Effector T-cell trafficking between the leptomeninges and the cerebrospinal fluid. *Nature* 530, 349–353. doi: 10.1038/nature16939

Schmitt, C., Strazielle, N., and Ghersi-Egea, J.-F. (2012). Brain leukocyte infiltration initiated by peripheral inflammation or experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis occurs through pathways connected to the CSF-filled compartments of the forebrain and midbrain. *J. Neuroinflammation* 9:187. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-9-187

Schwartz, M., and Baruch, K. (2014). The resolution of neuroinflammation in neurodegeneration: Leukocyte recruitment via the choroid plexus. *EMBO J.* 33, 7–22. doi: 10.1002/embj.201386609

Serot, J. M., Béné, M. C., Foliguet, B., and Faure, G. C. (2000). Morphological alterations of the choroid plexus in late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* 99, 105–108. doi: 10.1007/PL00007412

Siegelman, M. H., Stanescu, D., and Estess, P. (2000). The CD44-initiated pathway of T-cell extravasation uses VLA-4 but not LFA-1 for firm adhesion. *J. Clin. Inves.* 105, 683–691. doi: 10.1172/JCI8692

Sienel, R. I., Kataoka, H., Kim, S. W., Seker, F. B., and Plesnila, N. (2022). Adhesion of leukocytes to cerebral venules precedes neuronal cell death and is sufficient to trigger tissue damage after cerebral ischemia. *Front. Neurol.* 12:2544. doi: 10.3389/FNEUR.2021.807658/BIBTEX

Silva, B. A., and Ferrari, C. C. (2019). Cortical and meningeal pathology in progressive multiple sclerosis: A new therapeutic target? *Rev. Neurosci.* 30, 221–232. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2018-0017

Silverberg, G. D., Heit, G., Huhn, S., Jaffe, R. A., Chang, S. D., Bronte-Stewart, H., et al. (2001). The cerebrospinal fluid production rate is reduced in dementia of the Alzheimer's type. *Neurology* 57, 1763–1766. doi: 10.1212/WNL.57.10.1763

Smolders, J., Heutinck, K. M., Fransen, N. L., Remmerswaal, E. B. M., Hombrink, P., and ten Berge, I. J. M. (2018). Tissue-resident memory T cells populate the human brain. *Nat. Commun.* 9:4593. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07053-9

Smyth, L. C. D., Murray, H. C., Hill, M., van Leeuwen, E., Highet, B., and Magon, N. J. (2022). Neutrophil-vascular interactions drive myeloperoxidase accumulation in the brain in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* 10:38. doi: 10.1186/s40478-022-01347-2

Solé, N., Petegnief, V, Gorina, R, Chamorro, A, Planas, AM. (2004). Activation of matrix metalloproteinase-3 and agrin cleavage in cerebral ischemia/reperfusion. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 63, 338–349. doi: 10.1093/jnen/63.4.338

Steffen, B. J., Breier, G., Butcher, E. C., Schulz, M., and Engelhardtt, B. (1996). ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and MAdCAM-1 are expressed on choroid plexus epithelium but not endothelium and mediate binding of lymphocytes in vitro. *Am. J. Pathol.* 148, 1819–1838.

Steffen, B. J., Butcher, E. C., and Engelhardt, B. (1994). Evidence for Involvement of IAM-1 and VCAM-1 in Lymphocyte Interaction with Endothelium in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis in the Central Nervous System in the SJL/J Mouse. *Am. J. Pathol.* 145, 189–201.

Steinemann, A., Galm, I., Chip, S., Nitsch, C., and Maly, I. P. (2016). Claudin-1, -2 and -3 are selectively expressed in the epithelia of the choroid plexus of the mouse from early development and into adulthood while claudin-5 is restricted to endothelial cells. *Front. Neuroanatomy* 10:16. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2016.00016

Storkebaum, E., and Carmeliet, P. (2004). VEGF: A critical player in neurodegeneration. J. Clin. Inves. 113, 14–18. doi: 10.1172/JCI20682

Strominger, I., Elyahu, Y., Berner, O., Reckhow, J., Mittal, K., Nemirovsky, A., et al. (2018). The choroid plexus functions as a niche for T-cell stimulation within the central nervous system. *Front. Immunol.* 9:1066. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 01066

Sullivan, D. P., and Muller, W. A. (2014). Neutrophil and monocyte recruitment by PECAM. CD99, and other molecules via the LBRC. *Sem. Immunopathol.* 36, 193–209. doi: 10.1007/s00281-013-0412-6

Svedin, P., Hagberg, H., Sävman, K., Zhu, C., and Mallard, C. (2007). Matrix metalloproteinase-9 gene knock-out protects the immature brain after cerebral hypoxia-ischemia. J. Neurosci. 27:1511. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4391-06.2007

Sweeney, M. D., Zhao, Z., Montagne, A., Nelson, A. R., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2019). Blood-brain barrier: From physiology to disease and back. *Physiol. Rev.* 99, 21–78. doi: 10.1152/PHYSREV.00050.2017

Szmydynger-Chodobska, J., Shan, R., Thomasian, N., and Chodobski, A. (2016). The involvement of pial microvessels in leukocyte invasion after mild traumatic brain injury. *PLoS One* 11:e0167677. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167677

Szmydynger-Chodobska, J., Strazielle, N., Gandy, J. R., Keefe, T. H., Zink, B. J., Ghersi-Egea, J. F., et al. (2012). Posttraumatic invasion of monocytes across the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier. *J. Cerebral Blood Flow Metabolism* 32, 93–104. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2011.111

Szmydynger-Chodobska, J., Strazielle, N., Zink, B. J., Ghersi-Egea, J. F., and Chodobski, A. (2009). The role of the choroid plexus in neutrophil invasion after traumatic brain injury. *J. Cerebral Blood Metabolism* 29, 1503–1516. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2009.71

Tadayon, E., Pascual-Leone, A., Press, D., and Santarnecchi, E. (2020). Choroid plexus volume is associated with levels of CSF proteins: Relevance for Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 89, 108–117. doi: 10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2020.01.005

Takács, E., Nyilas, R., Szepesi, Z., Baracskay, P., Karlsen, B., and Røsvold, T. (2010). Matrix metalloproteinase-9 activity increased by two different types of epileptic seizures that do not induce neuronal death: A possible role in homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Neurochem. Int.* 56, 799–809. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2010.03.003

Tietz, S., and Engelhardt, B. (2015). Brain barriers: Crosstalk between complex tight junctions and adherens junctions. *J. Cell Biol.* 209, 493–506. doi: 10.1083/jcb. 201412147

Tschesche, H., Zo, V., Lzer, È, Triebel, S., and Bartsch, S. (2001). The human neutrophil lipocalin suorts the allosteric activation of matrix metalloproteinases. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 268, 1918–1928. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1327.2001.02066.x

Tumani, H., Huss, A., and Bachhuber, F. (2017). The cerebrospinal fluid and barriers - anatomic and physiologic considerations. *Handbook Clin. Neurol.* 146, 21–32. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-804279-3.00002-2

Turner, R. J., and Sharp, F. R. (2016). Implications of MMP9 for blood brain barrier disruption and hemorrhagic transformation following ischemic stroke. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 10:56. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2016.00056

Uchida, Y., Sumiya, T., Tachikawa, M., Yamakawa, T., Murata, S., and Yagi, Y. (2019). Involvement of claudin-11 in disruption of blood-brain, -spinal cord, and -arachnoid barriers in multiple sclerosis. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 56, 2039–2056. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1207-5

Üllen, A., Singewald, E., Konya, V., Fauler, G., Reicher, H., and Nusshold, C. (2013). Myeloperoxidase-derived oxidants induce blood-brain barrier dysfunction in vitro and in vivo. *PLoS One* 8:e64034. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064034

Van Hove, H., Martens, L., Scheyltjens, I., de Vlaminck, K., Pombo Antunes, A. R., and de Prijck, S. (2019). A single-cell atlas of mouse brain macrophages reveals unique transcriptional identities shaped by ontogeny and tissue environment. *Nat. Neurosci.* 22, 1021–1035. doi: 10.1038/s41593-019-0 393-4

Van Itallie, C. M., and Anderson, J. M. (2018). Phosphorylation of tight junction transmembrane proteins: Many sites, much to do. *Tissue Barriers* 6:e1382671. doi: 10.1080/21688370.2017.1382671

Vercellino, M., Votta, B., Condello, C., Piacentino, C., Romagnolo, A., and Merola, A. (2008). Involvement of the choroid plexus in multiple sclerosis autoimmune inflammation: A neuropathological study. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 199, 133–141. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2008.04.035

Vestweber, D. (2015). How leukocytes cross the vascular endothelium. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 15, 692–704. doi: 10.1038/NRI3908

Villabona-Rueda, A., Erice, C., Pardo, C. A., and Stins, M. F. (2019). The evolving concept of the blood brain barrier (BBB): From a single static barrier to a heterogeneous and dynamic relay center. *Front. Cell. Neurosci*.13:405. doi: 10.3389/FNCEL.2019.00405/BIBTEX

Vockel, M., and Vestweber, D. (2013). How T cells trigger the dissociation of the endothelial receptor phosphatase VE-PTP from VE-cadherin. *Blood* 122, 2512–2522. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-499228

Walker-Caulfield, M. E., Hatfield, J. K., and Brown, M. A. (2015). Dynamic changes in meningeal inflammation correspond to clinical exacerbations in a murine model of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 278, 112–122. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014.12.009

Walzog, B., Seifert, R., Zakrzewicz, A., Gaehtgens, P., and Ley, K. (1994). Crosslinking of CD18 in human neutrophils induces an increase of intracellular free Ca2 +, exocytosis of azurophilic granules, quantitative up-regulation of CD18, shedding of L-selectin, and actin polymerization. *J. Leukocyte Biol.* 56, 625–635. doi: 10.1002/jlb.56.5.625

Wang, D., Li, S.-P., Fu, J.-S., Zhang, S., Bai, L., and Guo, L. (2016). Resveratrol defends blood-brain barrier integrity in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mice. *J. Neurophysiol.* 116, 2173–2179. doi: 10.1152/jn.00510. 2016 Wang, G., Weng, Y. C., Chiang, I. C., Huang, Y. T., Liao, Y. C., and Chen, Y. C. (2020). Neutralization of lipocalin-2 diminishes stroke-reperfusion injury. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21, 6253. doi: 10.3390/ijms21176253

Wang, Q., and Doerschuk, C. M. (2002). The signaling pathways induced by neutrophil-endothelial cell adhesion. *Antioxidants Redox Signaling* 4, 39–47. doi: 10.1089/152308602753625843

Wang, W., Dentler, W. L., and Borchardt, R. T. (2001). VEGF increases BMEC monolayer permeability by affecting occludin expression and tight junction assembly. *Heart Circulatory physiol.* 280:H434–H440. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2001. 280.1.H434

Wang, Y. C., Lu, Y. B., Huang, X. L., Lao, Y. F., Zhang, L., and Yang, J. (2022). Myeloperoxidase: A new target for the treatment of stroke? *Neural Regen. Res.* 17, 1711–1716. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.332130

Wang, Y., Jin, S., Sonobe, Y., Cheng, Y., Horiuchi, H., and Parajuli, B. (2014). Interleukin-1 $\beta$  induces blood-brain barrier disruption by downregulating sonic hedgehog in astrocytes. *PLoS One* 9:e110024. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.011 0024

Wedmore, C. V., and Williams, T. J. (1981). Control of vascular permeability by polymorphonuclear leukocytes in inflammation. *Nature* 289, 646–650. doi: 10.1038/289646A0

Wen, G. Y., Wisniewski, H. M., and Kascsak, R. J. (1999). Biondi ring tangles in the choroid plexus of Alzheimer's disease and normal aging brains: A quantitative study. *Brain Res.* 832, 40–46. doi: 10.1016/s0006-899301466-3

Weng, Y.-C., and Chou, W.-H. (2015). Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin and matrix metalloproteinase-9 as potential biomarkers for stroke: A Pilot Study. *J. Neurol. Neurophysiol.* 6:278. doi: 10.4172/2155-9562.1000278

Wicken, C., Nguyen, J., Karna, R., and Bhargava, P. (2018). Leptomeningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis: Insights from animal and human studies. *Mult. Scler. Relat. Disord.* 26, 173–182. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2018.09.025

Wilczynski, G. M., Konopacki, F. A., Wilczek, E., Lasiecka, Z., Gorlewicz, A., and Michaluk, P. (2008). Important role of matrix metalloproteinase 9 in epileptogenesis. *J. Cell Biol.* 180, 1021–1035. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200708213

Wolf, S. A., Steiner, B., Akpinarli, A., Kammertoens, T., Nassenstein, C., and Braun, A. (2009). CD4-Positive T Lymphocytes Provide a Neuroimmunological Link in the Control of Adult Hiocampal Neurogenesis. *J. Immunol.* 182, 3979–3984. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0801218

Wong, D., and Dorovini-Zis, K. (1992). Upregulation of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1). expression in primary cultures of human brain microvessel

endothelial cells by cytokines and lipopolysaccharide. J. Neuroimmunol. 39, 11–21. doi: 10.1016/0165-572890170-p

Wu, F., Cao, W., Yang, Y., and Liu, A. (2010). Extensive infiltration of neutrophils in the acute phase of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in C57BL/6 mice. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 133, 313–322. doi: 10.1007/s00418-009-0 673-2

Yasuda, K., Cline, C., Vogel, P., Onciu, M., Fatima, S., and Sorrentino, B. P. (2013). Drug transporters on arachnoid barrier cells contribute to the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier. *Drug Metabolism Disposition* 41, 923–931. doi: 10. 1124/DMD.112.050344

Yu, G., Liang, Y., Zheng, S., and Zhang, H. (2018). Inhibition of myeloperoxidase by N-Acetyl lysyltyrosylcysteine amide reduces oxidative stressmediated inflammation, neuronal damage, and neural stem cell injury in a murine model of stroke. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 364, 311–322. doi: 10.1124/jpet.117. 245688

Zappia, M., Manna, I., Serra, P., Cittadella, R., Andreoli, V., and La Russa, A. (2004). Increased risk for Alzheimer disease with the interaction of MPO and A2M polymorphisms. *Arch. Neurol.* 61, 341–344. doi: 10.1001/ARCHNEUR.61. 3.341

Zenaro, E., Piacentino, G., and Constantin, G. (2017). The blood-brain barrier in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 107, 41–56. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2016.07.007

Zenaro, E., Pietronigro, E., Bianca, V., della Piacentino, G., Marongiu, L., and Budui, S. (2015). Neutrophils promote Alzheimer's disease-like pathology and cognitive decline via LFA-1 integrin. *Nat. Med.* 21, 880–886. doi: 10.1038/nm.3913

Zhang, H., Ray, A., Miller, N. M., Hartwig, D., Pritchard, K. A., and Dittel, B. N. (2016). Inhibition of myeloperoxidase at the peak of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis restores blood-brain barrier integrity and ameliorates disease severity. *J. Neurochem.* 136, 826–836. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13426

Zhou, H., Andonegui, G., Wong, C. H. Y., and Kubes, P. (2009). Role of Endothelial TLR4 for Neutrophil Recruitment into Central Nervous System Microvessels in Systemic Inflammation. *J. Immunol.* 183, 5244–5250. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.0901309

Zlokovic, B. V. (2008). The blood-brain barrier in health and chronic neurodegenerative disorders. *Neuron* 57, 178–201. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.01. 003

Zou, W., Pu, T., Feng, W., Lu, M., Zheng, Y., Du, R., et al. (2019). Blocking meningeal lymphatic drainage aggravates Parkinson's disease-like pathology in mice overexpressing mutated  $\alpha$ -synuclein. *Trans. Neurodegener.* 8:7. doi: 10.1186/s40035-019-0147-y

#### Check for updates

### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Zhen Zhao, University of Southern California, United States

REVIEWED BY Weimin Yang, First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, China Gian Luigi Gigli, University of Udine, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Shihong Zhang zsh9@hotmail.com Ming Liu wyplmh@hotmail.com

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Neuroinflammation and Neuropathy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

RECEIVED 05 May 2022 ACCEPTED 21 July 2022 PUBLISHED 01 September 2022

#### CITATION

Deng Y, Wu S, Liu J, Liu M, Wang L, Wan J, Zhang S and Liu M (2022) The stress hyperglycemia ratio is associated with the development of cerebral edema and poor functional outcome in patients with acute cerebral infarction. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 14:936862. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.936862

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Deng, Wu, Liu, Liu, Wang, Wan, Zhang and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# The stress hyperglycemia ratio is associated with the development of cerebral edema and poor functional outcome in patients with acute cerebral infarction

Yilun Deng<sup>1</sup>, Simiao Wu<sup>1</sup>, Junfeng Liu<sup>1</sup>, Meng Liu<sup>1</sup>, Lu Wang<sup>2,3</sup>, JinCheng Wan<sup>1</sup>, Shihong Zhang<sup>1\*</sup> and Ming Liu<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, <sup>2</sup>Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, <sup>3</sup>Key Laboratory of Rehabilitation Medicine, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

**Background and purpose:** Absolute hyperglycemia at admission has been shown to be associated with the development of cerebral edema (CED) after acute cerebral infarction. Stress hyperglycemia is a more objective reflection of hyperglycemic state than absolute hyperglycemia. However, studies on the associations between stress hyperglycemia and CED are limited. We aimed to explore the associations of stress hyperglycemia, measured by stress hyperglycemia ratio (SHR), with the development of CED and poor functional outcome of acute cerebral infarction.

**Methods:** Patients with acute middle artery cerebral infarction admitted to the Department of Neurology, West China Hospital of Sichuan University, within 24 h of symptom onset from January 2017 to March 2021 were included. Stress hyperglycemia was assessed by the SHR: admission fasting plasma glucose (FPG)/hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c). The primary outcome was the degree of CED evaluated on brain image. The secondary outcomes were moderate-to-severe CED, poor functional outcome (modified Rankin Scale score > 2), and death at 90 days. The associations between the SHR and outcomes were assessed with multivariate logistic regression analyses. We further compared the predictive value of the SHR, admission random plasma glucose (RPG), and admission FPG for outcomes in the training dataset and validation dataset.

**Results:** 638 patients were enrolled. Each 0.1-point increase in the SHR was independently associated with a 1.31-fold increased risk of a higher degree of CED [odds ratio (OR): 1.31 (95% confidence interval (CI): 1.20–1.42), P < 0.001]. The SHR was independently associated with moderate-to-severe CED [per 0.1-point increase: OR: 1.39 (95% CI: 1.24–1.57), P < 0.001], poor functional outcome [per 0.1-point increase: OR: 1.25 (95% CI: 1.12–1.40), P < 0.001], and death [per 0.1-point increase: OR: 1.13 (95% CI: 1.03–1.25), P < 0.05]. The predictive value of the SHR (as a continuous variable), exhibited by the area

under the curve in receiver operating characteristic analysis, was higher than that of the RPG and FPG for moderate-to-severe CED and poor functional outcome (P < 0.05).

**Conclusion:** The SHR is independently associated with the severity of CED, poor functional outcome, and death after acute cerebral infarction, and the SHR (as a continuous variable) has a better predictive value for moderate-to-severe CED and poor functional outcome than the RPG and FPG.

KEYWORDS

stress hyperglycemia ratio, glucose, cerebral edema, functional outcome, death

### Introduction

Cerebral edema (CED) is a pathophysiological process that occurs after acute cerebral infarction. Notably, the degree of CED often influences the prognosis of patients with acute cerebral infarction (Ferro et al., 2021). The mortality related to space-occupying infarcts by progressive CED within the first days after stroke onset can reach up to 80% (Berrouschot et al., 1998; Broocks et al., 2018). Recently, there has not been considerable progress in treatments to alleviate the development of CED. Therefore, identifying the related risk factors associated with progressive CED is important because they could guide early intervention.

Hyperglycemia is frequently observed in acute cerebral infarction, and it was estimated that 39-83% of diabetic patients and 8-63% of non-diabetic patients have elevated plasma glucose levels at admission (Kruyt et al., 2010). Stress reactions in acute severe illness or preexisting abnormalities in glucose metabolism have been proposed to account for hyperglycemia (Kruyt et al., 2010). Pathophysiologically, hyperglycemia can contribute to the damage of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) in acute ischemic stroke, which can then lead to brain edema or hemorrhagic transformation (Huang et al., 2013; Spronk et al., 2021). The absolute elevation of plasma glucose levels was found to be associated with malignant CED after large hemispheric infarction in previous studies (Shimoyama et al., 2014; Ong et al., 2017). Different from absolute hyperglycemia, stress hyperglycemia is a relative elevation of blood plasma glucose levels adjusted for background glucose, which is a more objective reflection of acute hyperglycemic state (Dungan et al., 2009; Roberts et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2022). Stress hyperglycemia is often evaluated by the stress hyperglycemia ratio (SHR) (Su et al., 2017; Zhu et al., 2019). The SHR is often defined as plasma glucose divided by hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) and represents real transient hyperglycemia controlled for background plasma glucose (Su et al., 2017; Zhu et al., 2019). Stress hyperglycemia has been found to be associated with stroke recurrence, hemorrhagic transformation, neurological deficits, and mortality after acute ischemic stroke in many previous

studies (Pan et al., 2017; Zhu et al., 2019; Li et al., 2020; Yuan et al., 2021). In addition, the SHR was shown to be a better prognostic indicator than the random plasma glucose (RPG) and fasting plasma glucose (FPG) for poor functional outcome in patients with acute cerebral infarction (Chen et al., 2022). However, to our knowledge, the number of previous studies on the association of stress hyperglycemia with the development of CED and its prognosis after acute cerebral infarction is limited, and a comparison of the predictive values of plasma glucose and the SHR for worse CED has not been reported.

The aim of our study was to explore the association of the SHR with the development of CED and its prognosis in patients with acute cerebral infarction and to compare the predictive values of the SHR, admission RPG, and FPG for worse CED and poor functional outcome.

### Materials and methods

### Study participants

We analyzed data from a prospectively collected database between January 2017 and March 2021, the Chengdu Stroke Registry described previously in Liu's research (Liu et al., 2019), in which the patients were consecutively recruited at the Department of Neurology, West China Hospital, Sichuan University. To assess the predictive value of the SHR for moderate-to-severe CED and poor functional outcome, data from 2017 to 2019 formed the training dataset and those from 2020 to 2021 formed the validation dataset. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) age  $\geq$  18 years, (2) admission within 24 h after symptom onset, and (3) involvement of the middle cerebral artery (MCA) territory of infarction, with or without the involvement of the adjacent territories. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) absence of the FPG data within 48 h after symptom onset or the HbA1c data during their hospital stay, (2) absence of the admission RPG data upon arrival at the hospital, (3) absence of brain imaging within 24-120 h after symptom onset, (4) venous blood samples for testing

FPG or RPG that were drawn after performing brain imaging, (5) parenchymal hemorrhage (PH) type 2 occurring before or at the same time as the head imaging to evaluate the degree of CED —the definition of PH type 2 is hemorrhage > 30% of the infarct area according to the European Cooperative Acute Stroke Study criteria (Hacke et al., 1995), and (6) bilateral cerebral infarction. This study was approved by the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee of West China Hospital, Sichuan University.

### Data collection

We collected information on demographics; time from onset; history of diabetes mellitus and other vascular risk factors; presence of symptomatic occlusion of major cerebral arteries relevant to acute ischemic lesions on computed tomography angiography [carotid artery or middle cerebral artery (MCA) M1-M2], magnetic resonance angiography or digital subtraction angiography; admission RPG, FPG, and other laboratory tests (if FPG was tested more than once during hospitalization, we chose the earliest one); HbA1c; and key treatments during hospitalization (acute endovascular treatment, intravenous thrombolysis, antihypertensive therapy, insulin, oral hypoglycemic agents, antiplatelet therapy, statin). Stroke severity was evaluated with the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) score on admission by well-trained neurologists. Stroke etiology was classified based on the Trial of ORG 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment (TOAST) criteria (Adams et al., 1993). Diabetes mellitus was defined as physiciandiagnosed diabetes mellitus. For patients who received acute endovascular treatment, successful [modified thrombolysis in cerebral infarction (mTICI) 2b-3] or unsuccessful reperfusion was also recorded (Dargazanli et al., 2018).

### Assessment of stress hyperglycemia

The SHR was calculated to assess stress hyperglycemia according to the following formula: FPG (mmol/L)/HbA1c (%) (Zhu et al., 2019). Fasting venous blood samples were drawn to measure FPG within 48 h after symptom onset during the morning hours (range: 04:00–12:00) after an overnight fast. HbA1c was measured during hospitalization. FPG was tested by an enzymatic method, and HbA1c was measured by high-performance liquid chromatography analysis in the Department of Laboratory Medicine, West China Hospital.

### Outcome measurements

The primary outcome was the CED grade on brain CT or brain MRI at 24–120 h after onset. The CED grade was classified according to the Safe Implementation of Thrombolysis in Stroke—Monitoring Study (SITS-MOST) protocol: CED-0: no CED; CED-1: focal brain swelling  $\leq 1/3$  of the hemisphere; CED-2: focal brain swelling > 1/3 of the hemisphere; and CED-3: brain swelling with midline shift (Wahlgren et al., 2007; Strbian et al., 2013). In patients who underwent brain imaging more than once, the most severe CED was chosen for assessment. Two well-trained neurologists reviewed the brain images. If there was disagreement, a decision was made with the help of a third neurologist. The secondary outcomes were moderate-to-severe CED (CED-2–3), 90-day poor functional outcome [modified Rankin Scale (mRS) score > 2 within 90 days after stroke], and 90-day death (death within 90 days regardless of causes). All included patients were followed up by telephone interviews 90 days after stroke.

### Statistical analysis

The associations between the SHR and CED grades were assessed using ordinal logistic regression after verification of the proportional odds assumption across all CED degrees. The associations of the SHR with moderate-to-severe CED, poor functional outcome, and death at 90 days were assessed using a binary logistic regression model. The variables with P < 0.05in univariate analysis that changed the odds ratio of the SHR by at least 10 percent in a multivariate logistic regression model were included in the model (Kernan et al., 2000). Some vital clinical variables that might be associated with outcomes were also included in the multivariate logistic regression model. Subgroup analysis was preset to validate the robustness of the results. The following modifiers were included in the subgroup analysis: age ( $\geq$  65 vs. < 65 years), baseline NIHSS score (≥15 vs. <15), diabetes mellitus, acute endovascular treatment, and intravenous thrombolysis. Receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curves were used to calculate the predictive values of SHR, FPG, and RPG as both continuous and binary variables for predicting moderate-to-severe CED, poor functional outcome, and death at 90 days in the training cohort and validation cohort. As a binary variable, FPG was dichotomized to  $\geq$  7 mmol/L and < 7 mmol/L and RPG was dichotomized to  $\geq$  10 mmol/L and < 10 mmol/L based on previous studies (Zhang et al., 2021; Mac Grory et al., 2022). For the SHR, the ROC curve in the training cohort was applied to identify an optimized cutoff value (the maximum value of the Youden index) of the SHR to predict the onset of moderate-to-severe CED. The predictive value of that cutoff value for outcomes was assessed in both the training cohort and the validation cohort. The DeLong test package in MedCalc was used to compare the area under the curve (AUC) values of the SHR, FPG, and RPG. All statistical analyses were performed using R version 4.0.4 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria), MedCalc 20.027 (MedCalc, Belgium), and SPSS version 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States). A two-tailed P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

### Results

### **Baseline characteristics**

From January 2017 to March 2021, 1795 patients who were diagnosed with acute middle cerebral artery infarction within 24 h after stroke onset were screened. Among them, 638 patients met the inclusion criteria, but not the exclusion criteria, for the final analysis (training dataset: n = 407; validation dataset: n = 231) (Figure 1). Baseline characteristics were well balanced between the included and excluded patients except for hyperlipidemia, previous ischemic stroke/TIA, and valvular heart disease (Supplementary Table 1). The baseline characteristics of the training and validation datasets are shown in Table 1. In the training dataset, the median [interquartile range (IQR)] age was 70 (61-79) years, 235 patients (57.7%) were male, and the median (IQR) NIHSS score was 10 (3-16). In the validation dataset, the median (IQR) age was 70 (62-78) years, 143 patients (61.9%) were male, and the median (IQR) NIHSS score was 10 (4-15). Compared with patients in the training dataset, those in the validation dataset were more likely to have hypertension (P = 0.019), hyperlipidemia (P = 0.001), diabetes mellitus (P = 0.029), large artery atherosclerosis and small artery occlusion as TOAST subtypes (P = 0.022), large artery occlusion (carotid artery or MCA M1-M2) (P = 0.004), statin treatment (P = 0.046), and endovascular treatment (P < 0.001). Patients in the validation dataset had a longer onset to admission time (P = 0.004) and higher FPG (P = 0.002) and SHR (P = 0.004) values. Fewer patients in the validation dataset had a history of smoking (P = 0.018) and previous stroke/transient ischemic stroke (TIA) (P = 0.009). In the training dataset, blood samples for testing FPG were collected at a median (IQR) time of 23.4 (16.8-41.6) h from onset, and the median (IQR) time from onset to brain imaging to assess the degree of CED was 56.1 (41.8-76.9) h. In the validation dataset, blood samples for testing FPG were collected at a median (IQR) time of 25.0 (17.8-41.9) h from onset, and the median time from onset to brain imaging to assess the degree of CED was 57.9 (45.0-78.1) h. The median (IQR) SHR value was 1.00 (0.88-1.16) in the training dataset and 1.06 (0.89-1.30) in the validation dataset. There were 20 patients lost to follow-up at 90 days in the training dataset (4.9%) and 21 patients in the validation dataset (9.1%).

### Association between the stress hyperglycemia ratio and cerebral edema

In univariate analysis, the SHR; sex; atrial fibrillation/atrial flutter; onset to admission time; baseline NIHSS score; diabetes mellitus; large artery atherosclerosis, cardioembolism, and other etiologies of the TOAST classification; large artery occlusion [carotid occlusion or MCA occlusion (M1–M2)]; endovascular treatment; intravenous thrombolysis; oral hypoglycemic agents; and antiplatelet therapy were found to be associated with a worse CED grade (Table 2). In ordinal logistic regression (Table 2), the correlation with the SHR was significant [per 0.1-unit increase: odds ratio (OR): 1.31, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.20–1.42, P < 0.001] after adjusting for potential covariates from the univariate analysis and some variables of clinical significance, such as age and RPG.

Eighty-five patients in the training dataset developed moderate-to-severe CED (20.9%). A ROC curve showed that the optimized cutoff value of the SHR to predict moderate-to-severe CED was 1.25 (**Figure 2A**). The SHR was dichotomized into groups of high ( $\geq$  1.25) and low (< 1.25) SHR. In the training dataset, a higher SHR ( $\geq$  1.25) remained independently associated with moderate-to-severe CED in multivariate logistic regression (OR: 6.87, 95% CI: 3.46–13.63, P < 0.001) (**Supplementary Table 2**).

### Association between the stress hyperglycemia ratio and 90-day poor functional outcome

Two hundred and two patients in the training dataset had poor functional outcome (52.2%). In univariate analysis, the SHR; age; sex; atrial fibrillation/atrial flutter; previous ischemic stroke/TIA; baseline NIHSS score; large artery atherosclerosis, cardioembolism, and other etiologies of the TOAST classification; and large artery occlusion [carotid occlusion or MCA occlusion (M1–M2)] were associated with 90-day poor functional outcome (Table 3). The SHR was independently associated with the 90-day poor functional outcome after adjustment for potential confounders in model 1 (per 0.1-point increases: OR: 1.25, 95% CI: 1.12–1.40, P < 0.001) (Table 3). In model 2, compared with patients with a lower SHR, those with a higher SHR ( $\geq$  1.25) had a 3.73-fold higher risk of poor functional outcome at 90 days (OR: 3.73, 95% CI: 1.74–7.97, P < 0.001) (Table 3).

# Association between the stress hyperglycemia ratio and 90-day death

Sixty-six patients in the training dataset died (17.1%). In univariate analysis, the SHR; age; baseline NIHSS score; large artery atherosclerosis and cardioembolism of the TOAST classification; carotid occlusion; antiplatelet use; and statin use were associated with 90-day death (**Supplementary Table 3**). The SHR was independently associated with 90-day death with adjustment for potential confounders in model 1 (per 0.1-point increases: OR: 1.13, 95% CI: 1.03–1.25, P = 0.01). In model 2,



compared with patients with a lower SHR, those with a higher SHR ( $\geq$  1.25) had a 2.79-fold higher risk of death at 90 days (OR: 2.79, 95% CI: 1.42–5.49, *P* = 0.003).

### Subgroup analysis

Subgroup analysis was performed by age ( $\geq 65$  vs. < 65 years), baseline NIHSS score ( $\geq 15$  vs. < 15), diabetes mellitus, endovascular therapy, and intravenous thrombolysis (**Supplementary Figures 1–3**). There was a stronger association of a higher SHR with 90-day poor functional outcome (OR: 2.34 vs. 23.07; P = 0.027) in patients who received acute endovascular therapy compared with those who did not receive acute endovascular therapy (**Supplementary Figure 2**). In other subgroup analyses, no significant interaction between the SHR and stratified variables was observed (P > 0.05).

# Receiver operator characteristic analysis

ROC analysis was applied to assess the performance of the SHR in predicting moderate-to-severe CED, 90-day poor functional outcome, and 90-day death (**Figure 2**). In the training dataset, compared with the RPG and FPG, the SHR had a significantly higher AUC value in the prediction of moderateto-severe CED (AUC: 0.76, 95% CI: 0.72–0.80, P < 0.001) (P < 0.01). For the 90-day poor functional outcome, the predictive value of the SHR, as indicated by the AUC, was 0.67 (95% CI: 0.63–0.72, P < 0.01), which was significantly higher than that of the RPG (P < 0.01) and FPG (P = 0.049). For 90-day death, the predictive value of the SHR exhibited by the AUC was 0.64 (95% CI: 0.59–0.69, P = 0.0011), which was not significantly different from that of RPG or FPG (P > 0.05). In the validation TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of the training dataset and validation dataset.

Variables	Training dataset $(n = 407)$	Validation dataset $(n = 231)$	P-value
Age (year), median (IQR)	70 (61–79)	70 (62–78)	0.959
Male, <i>n</i> (%)	235 (57.7)	143 (61.9)	0.303
Onset to admission time (hour), median (IQR)	5 (3-24)	9 (4–24)	0.004
Vascular risk factors, <i>n</i> (%)			
Hypertension, <i>n</i> (%)	220 (54.1)	147 (63.6)	0.019
Hyperlipidemia, n (%)	19 (4.7)	27 (11.7)	0.001
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	90 (22.1)	69 (29.9)	0.029
Atrial fibrillation/Atrial flutter, $n$ (%)	146 (35.9)	73 (31.6)	0.275
Valvular heart disease, n (%)	43 (10.6)	16 (6.9)	0.127
Previous ischemic stroke/TIA, n (%)	49 (12.0)	13 (5.6)	0.009
Smoking, <i>n</i> (%)	131 (32.2)	54 (23.4)	0.018
Alcohol consumption, <i>n</i> (%)	63 (15.5)	50 (21.6)	0.05
Baseline NIHSS, median (IQR)	10 (3–16)	10 (4–15)	0.679
TOAST subtypes, <i>n</i> (%)			0.022
Large artery atherosclerosis	124 (30.5)	91 (39.4)	
Small artery occlusion	63 (15.5)	47 (20.3)	
Cardioembolism	133 (32.7)	57 (24.7)	
Other etiology	6 (1.5)	2 (0.9)	
Undetermined	81 (19.9)	34 (14.7)	
Occlusion site, n (%)			0.004
Carotid occlusion	75 (18.4)	60 (26.0)	
MCA occlusion (M1-M2)	130 (31.9)	87 (37.7)	
No record or other	202 (49.6)	84 (36.4)	
Treatment during hospitalization, <i>n</i> (%)			
Endovascular treatment	68 (16.7)	86 (37.2)	< 0.001
Intravenous thrombolysis	57 (14.0)	41 (17.7)	0.211
Antihypertensive therapy	151 (37.1)	95 (41.1)	0.315
Insulin	54 (13.3)	34 (14.7)	0.61
Oral hypoglycemic agents	54 (13.3)	39 (16.9)	0.214
Antiplatelet	357 (87.7)	205 (88.7)	0.7
Statin	350 (86.0)	211 (91.3)	0.046
mTICI 2b-3*, n (%)	60 (88.2)	79 (91.9)	0.451
RPG (mmol/l), median (IQR)	7.36 (6.27–9.00)	7.26 (6.34–9.13)	0.488
FPG (mmol/l), median (IQR)	5.94 (5.19-7.32)	6.48 (5.28-8.34)	0.002
HbA1c (%), median (IQR)	6.00 (5.60-6.40)	5.90 (5.60-6.60)	0.557
SHR, median (IQR)	1.00 (0.88-1.16)	1.06 (0.89–1.30)	0.004

IQR, interquartile range; TIA, transient ischemic attack; NIHSS, the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale; TOAST, Trial of Org 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment; MCA, middle cerebral artery; mTICI, modified Thrombolysis in Cerebral Infarction; RPG, random plasma glucose; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; HbA1c, hemoglobin A1c; SHR, stress hyperglycemia ratio.

\*The proportion of the patients receiving endovascular treatment.

dataset, for moderate-to-severe CED, the predictive value of the SHR (AUC: 0.72, 95% CI: 0.66–0.78, P < 0.001) was higher than that of the RPG and FPG (P < 0.01). For the 90-day poor functional outcome, the predictive value of the SHR (AUC: 0.70, 95% CI: 0.63–0.76, P < 0.001) was also higher than that of the RPG and FPG (P < 0.05). In the prediction of 90-day death, the SHR had a significantly higher AUC (AUC: 0.63, 95% CI: 0.56–0.70, P = 0.017) than the FPG (p < 0.01), while there was no significant difference compared with the RPG (P = 0.31).

As binary variables, for moderate-to-severe CED, in the training dataset, the predictive value of the SHR ( $\geq$  1.25 vs. < 1.25) (AUC: 0.7, 95% CI: 0.66–0.75, *P* < 0.01) was higher than that of the RPG ( $\geq$  10 vs. < 10) and FPG ( $\geq$  7 vs. < 7) (*P* < 0.01) (**Figure 3**). For the 90-day poor functional outcome, the SHR (AUC: 0.61, 95% CI: 0.56–0.66, *P* < 0.01) had a significantly higher AUC value than the RPG

(P < 0.01), but there was no significant difference between the AUCs of the SHR and FPG (P = 0.23). For 90-day death, the predictive value of the SHR (AUC: 0.64, 95% CI: 0.59-0.69) was higher than that of the RPG (P < 0.01), while there was no significant difference in the AUC between the SHR and FPG (P = 0.41). In the validation dataset, for moderateto-severe CED and 90-day death, there was no significant difference in AUCs between the SHR and FPG, or RPG (P > 0.05). For the 90-day poor functional outcome, the predictive value of the SHR (AUC: 0.62, 95% CI: 0.55-0.69, P < 0.01) was higher than that of the RPG (P = 0.0069), while there was no significant difference in the AUCs between the SHR and FPG (P = 0.82). The sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and accuracy of the SHR in the prediction of outcomes are presented in Supplementary Table 4.

Variables	Univariate analysis, OR (95%CI)	P-value	Multivariate analysis, OR (95%CI)	P-value
Age	1.01 (1.00–1.03)	0.063	1.01 (0.99–1.02)	0.44
Male	0.65 (0.45-0.94)	0.023		
Hypertension	0.97 (0.67–1.39)	0.861		
Hyperlipidemia	0.99 (0.42-2.32)	0.976		
Atrial fibrillation/Atrial flutter	2.70 (1.84-3.97)	< 0.001		
Previous ischemic stroke/TIA	0.66 (0.37-1.16)	0.146		
Valvular heart disease	1.00 (0.56–1.79)	0.992		
Smoking	0.70 (0.48–1.04)	0.075		
Alcohol consumption	0.67 (0.41–1.12)	0.128		
Diabetes mellitus	0.51 (0.32-0.80)	0.003	0.36 (0.19–0.69)	0.002
Onset to admission time	0.96 (0.94–0.98)	< 0.001		
Baseline NIHSS	1.16 (1.13–1.19)	< 0.001	1.10 (1.06–1.13)	< 0.001
TOAST classification				
Large artery atherosclerosis	13.95 (6.14–31.74)	< 0.001	3.4 (1.36-8.49)	0.009
Cardioembolism	17.31 (7.63–39.28)	< 0.001	3.19 (1.26-8.03)	0.014
Others	12.72 (5.45–29.71)	< 0.001	5.44 (2.18–13.54)	< 0.001
Small-artery occlusion	Reference		Reference	
Occlusion site				
Carotid occlusion	14.68 (8.40-25.66)	< 0.001	6.85 (3.63–12.94)	< 0.001
MCA occlusion (M1-M2)	5.89 (3.75–9.26)	< 0.001	3.83 (2.19-6.69)	< 0.001
No record or other	Reference		Reference	
Endovascular treatment	2.28 (1.41-3.70)	0.001	0.41 (0.22-0.77)	0.005
Intravenous thrombolysis	1.70 (1.02–2.85)	0.044	1.19 (0.67–2.11)	0.56
Antihypertensive therapy	0.83 (0.57–1.21)	0.332		
Insulin	0.81 (0.47–1.38)	0.43		
Oral hypoglycemic agents	0.46 (0.26-0.80)	0.006		
Antiplatelet	0.40 (0.23-0.70)	0.001		
Statin	0.73 (0.43-1.22)	0.224		
mTICI (2b/3)	0.29 (0.07–1.19)	0.087		
RPG	0.98 (0.93–1.04)	0.535	1.03 (0.95–1.12)	0.52
SHR (per 0.1-point increases)	1.33 (1.24–1.43)	0.001	1.31 (1.20–1.42)	< 0.001

TABLE 2 Associated factors for the development of CED on training dataset.

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; TIA, transient ischemic attack; NIHSS, the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale; TOAST, Trial of Org 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment; MCA, middle cerebral artery; mTICI, modified Thrombolysis in Cerebral Infarction; RPG, random plasma glucose; SHR, stress hyperglycemia ratio.

### Discussion

The main finding of our study is that the SHR is independently associated with the development of CED, poor functional outcome, and death at 90 days. Moreover, the SHR (as a continuous variable) has a better predictive value for moderate-to-severe CED and 90-day poor functional outcome than the RPG and FPG.

To our knowledge, few studies have focused on the SHR with CED (Cannarsa et al., 2022) and there have been no studies comparing the SHR with the FPG or RPG in the prediction of CED. Previous literature has mostly focused on the prognosis of mild stroke or a cohort of different acute ischemic stroke types (Pan et al., 2017; Tziomalos et al., 2017; Merlino et al., 2020; Yuan et al., 2021). In those studies, stress hyperglycemia was shown to be associated with a high risk of stroke recurrence, hemorrhagic transformation, or a worse long-term outcome. Moreover, stress hyperglycemia was found to be associated with acute cerebrovascular events because it

might aggravate oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction (Pan et al., 2017).

Stress hyperglycemia, measured by the SHR, which is defined as FPG/HbA1c, is a reliable reflection of a transient increase in blood glucose levels adjusting for the background blood glucose level (Su et al., 2017; Zhu et al., 2019). Compared with the chronic status of hyperglycemia, acute hyperglycemia is associated with greater oxidative stress, an increase in inflammatory factor levels, and neurohormonal derangements such as excessive elevations of glucagon, epinephrine, cortisol, tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), and interleukin-1 levels (Dungan et al., 2009). The acute elevation of blood glucose levels in turn exacerbates these inflammatory factors, which might form a vicious cycle (Dungan et al., 2009). Hyperglycemia plays a critical role in the destruction of BBB integrity mediated by inflammatory factors and oxidative stress (Spronk et al., 2021). In addition, acute glucose fluctuation is harmful to the intact endothelium and promotes a stronger oxidative stress response (Dungan et al., 2009). Hyperglycemia was shown to aggravate



CED by disruption of the BBB in animal studies (Huang et al., 2013; Yuen et al., 2019). Our findings provide further evidence for the association between the SHR and the severity of CED after stroke.

For moderate-to-severe CED, 90-day poor functional outcome, and 90-day death, there was no significant interaction between the admission NIHSS score and the higher SHR  $(\geq 1.25)$  with respect to the outcomes. While a previous study found that stress hyperglycemia only reflected stroke severity rather than having a direct association with adverse outcomes, the researchers found that patients with stress hyperglycemia had more severe stroke; however, when including the NIHSS score, stress hyperglycemia was not significantly associated with adverse outcomes (Tziomalos et al., 2017). Thus, the researchers believed that the SHR was a marker of the stress response mediated by cortisol levels, which was not directly associated with adverse outcomes (Tziomalos et al., 2017). In our study, when the NIHSS score was included in the multivariate model, the SHR was still independently associated with the outcomes. Our findings suggested that the SHR was directly associated with moderate-to-severe CED and poor functional outcome and was more than a marker of the stress response. Similar to our findings, previous literature suggested that the acute elevation of glucose levels in acute illness might promote a stronger inflammatory response, which can contribute to the disruption of the BBB (Spronk et al., 2021). Disruption of the BBB can lead to the development of CED or hemorrhagic transformation.

The definition of the stress hyperglycemia has varied in previous studies, and many studies focused on a stroke population without a history of diabetes mellitus, which might be due to the lack of a consensus definition of a cutoff value for stress hyperglycemia for patients with preexisting diabetes mellitus (Dungan et al., 2009; Yoon et al., 2016; Tziomalos et al., 2017; Zhu et al., 2019). However, considering patients with diagnosed diabetes mellitus is necessary because stress hyperglycemia can also occur in patients with diabetes mellitus. In our study, multivariate logistic regression showed that the SHR was independently positively associated with moderateto-severe CED, 90-day poor functional outcome, and 90-day death, and further subgroup analysis showed no significant interaction between diabetes mellitus status and the higher SHR ( $\geq$  1.25) for the outcomes. Our result was similar to previous literature which demonstrated that elevated plasma glucose levels were prominently associated with poor outcomes regardless of a history of diabetes mellitus in acute ischemic stroke or acute myocardial infarction (Ishihara et al., 2007; Tsivgoulis et al., 2019).

Variables	Univariate analysis, OR (95%CI)	P-value	Multivariate analysis OR (95%CI), model 1	P-value	Multivariate analysis OR (95%CI), model 2	P-value
Age	1.04 (1.02–1.06)	< 0.001	1.04 (1.02, 1.06)	< 0.001	1.04 (1.02, 1.06)	< 0.001
Male	0.58 (0.39-0.87)	0.009				
Hypertension	1.18 (0.79–1.76)	0.43				
Hyperlipidemia	1.46 (0.56-3.86)	0.441				
Atrial fibrillation/Atrial flutter	2.35 (1.53-3.60)	< 0.001				
Previous ischemic stroke/TIA	1.99 (1.05–3.76)	0.034	2.37 (1.08, 5.17)	0.031	2.30 (1.07, 4.94)	0.033
Valvular heart disease	1.19 (0.62–2.29)	0.597				
Smoking	0.90 (0.59–1.39)	0.636				
Alcohol consumption	0.59 (0.33-1.05)	0.074				
Diabetes mellitus	0.79 (0.49–1.28)	0.342	0.54 (0.25, 1.13)	0.102	0.64 (0.31, 1.31)	0.221
Onset to admission time	1.00 (0.98-1.02)	0.979				
Baseline NIHSS	1.14 (1.10–1.18)	< 0.001	1.14 (1.09, 1.19)	< 0.001	1.14 (1.10, 1.19)	< 0.001
TOAST classification						
Large artery atherosclerosis	3.44 (1.71-6.89)	0.001				
Cardioembolism	4.18 (2.10-8.34)	< 0.001				
Others	2.54 (1.22-5.29)	0.013				
Small-artery occlusion	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Occlusion site						
Carotid occlusion	5.11 (2.73-9.58)	< 0.001	3.10 (1.41, 6.81)	0.005	3.05 (1.40, 6.64)	0.005
MCA occlusion (M1-M2)	1.76 (1.12–2.78)	0.014	1.13 (0.61, 2.09)	0.695	1.14 (0.62, 2.09)	0.676
No record or other	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Endovascular treatment	1.34 (0.79–2.29)	0.28	0.45 (0.21, 0.94)	0.035	0.54 (0.26, 1.13)	0.101
Intravenous thrombolysis	0.67 (0.38–1.19)	0.172	0.41 (0.20, 0.82)	0.012	0.40 (0.20, 0.80)	0.01
Antihypertensive therapy	0.95 (0.63-1.44)	0.807				
Insulin	1.19 (0.66-2.17)	0.564				
Oral hypoglycemic agents	0.76 (0.42-1.36)	0.349				
Antiplatelet	0.54 (0.29-1.03)	0.062				
Statin	0.63 (0.35-1.14)	0.125				
mTICI (2b/3)	0.42 (0.079-2.27)	0.316				
RPG	1.00 (0.94–1.07)	0.913	1.03 (0.94, 1.13)	0.5	1.04 (0.95, 1.13)	0.368
SHR (per 0.1-point increases)	1.32 (1.20-1.45)	< 0.001	1.25 (1.12, 1.40)	< 0.001		
SHR (≥ 1.25)	5.46 (2.88-10.35)	< 0.001			3.73 (1.74, 7.97)	0.001

TABLE 3 Predictive factors for the development of 90-day poor outcome (mRS > 2) on training dataset.

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; TIA, transient ischemic attack; NIHSS, National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale; TOAST, Trial of Org 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment; MCA, middle cerebral artery; mTICI, modified Thrombolysis in Cerebral Infarction; RPG: random plasma glucose; SHR, stress hyperglycemia ratio.

For the 90-day poor functional outcome, we found that the positive effect of the SHR was more significant in patients who received acute endovascular therapy than in those who did not, with interactions between the SHR level and endovascular treatment status. Cannarsa suggested that the SHR was associated with malignant CED, intracranial hemorrhage, and poor functional outcome after mechanical thrombectomy, and the blood sample for testing plasma glucose was collected before mechanical thrombectomy (Cannarsa et al., 2022). In our study, the blood sample of testing FPG, which was used to evaluate the SHR, was obtained after acute endovascular treatment. Merlino showed stress hyperglycemia was associated with 90-day poor outcomes in patients undergoing mechanical thrombectomy, and the time of testing FPG was after mechanical thrombectomy as well (Merlino et al., 2021). Thus, it is necessary to be concerned about plasma glucose levels after acute endovascular treatment. Similar to our findings, a previous meta-analysis showed that there was a significant interaction between plasma glucose levels and endovascular treatment status (Chamorro et al., 2019). It was proposed that the redox-mediated harmful effects of glucose are common in endovascular treatment when successful reperfusion is achieved (Chamorro et al., 2019).

Admission plasma glucose has been demonstrated to be a risk factor associated with CED after acute ischemic stroke in previous studies (Shimoyama et al., 2014; Cheng et al., 2020; Dowlati et al., 2021). However, our findings showed that the RPG was not associated with this outcome, while the SHR was independently associated with a higher degree of CED, 90-day



Receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) analyses of the stress hyperglycemia ratio (SHR), admission fasting plasma glucose (FPG), and admission random plasma glucose (RPG) as binary variables for the prediction of outcomes. Training dataset: (A) moderate-to-severe cerebral edema (CED), (B) 90-day poor functional outcome, and (C) 90-day death. Validation dataset: (D) moderate-to-severe CED, (E) 90-day poor functional outcome, and (F) 90-day death.

poor functional outcome, and 90-day death, and the predictive value of the SHR (as a continuous variable) for moderate-tosevere CED and 90-day poor functional outcome, indicated by the AUC, was better than that of the RPG or FPG. Previous literature showed that the SHR was more strongly associated with outcomes than glucose levels: A previous study showed that stress hyperglycemia was associated with poor outcomes of acute cerebral infarction, such as stroke exacerbation, inpatient mortality, or functional deficits at discharge, while glucose levels were not (Roberts et al., 2021). In another study, glucose levels were not associated with critical illness (in-hospital death or critical care) in multivariate logistic regression analysis, while the SHR maintained a significant association. The definition of the SHR in that article was glucose divided by estimated glucose derived from HbA1c, which is similar to the concept of the SHR in our study (Roberts et al., 2015). Similarly, the SHR, rather than glucose, was considered to be a risk factor associated with in-hospital mortality in patients with acute myocardial infarction (Chen et al., 2021). Su's study showed that the SHR had an AUC value of 0.67, while glucose had an AUC value of only 0.52 in the prediction of 90-day all-cause mortality in acute illness (Su et al., 2017). It was proposed that the elevation of absolute glucose levels did not accurately reflect the real stress hyperglycemia state during acute illness without considering the impact of background plasma glucose. To the best of our knowledge, there is still a lack of research comparing the predictive value of admission plasma glucose with the SHR for CED. Previous predictive models of malignant CED, such as the Enhanced Detection of Edema in Malignant Anterior Circulation Stroke (EDEMA) score and DASH score, included admission plasma glucose as an item (Shimoyama et al., 2014; Ong et al., 2017). However, according to our study and previous literature, it was suggested to further compare the predictive power of the SHR and RPG in those models.

The baseline characteristics between the training dataset and the validation dataset were not totally similar. The main reason might be the development of acute endovascular treatment in our hospital in recent years, which led to the increasing number of patients with large cerebral artery occlusion and large artery atherosclerosis as TOAST subtypes. Notably, our results showed the SHR had the highest AUC value for outcomes in both the training dataset and the validation dataset, which reflected the transportability of our model.

The strength of this study is that the comparison of the predictive values of the RPG, FPG, and SHR for worse CED in acute cerebral infarction has not been explored before, to our knowledge. However, there were some limitations of our study: First, patients were excluded due to the lack of RPG, FPG, HbA1c, and brain imaging data, which might cause selection bias, and we compared the baseline information between the excluded and included patients to compensate for this. Second, our study was a single-center study and the results of our study should be validated by multicenter studies in future. Third, our studies only focused on patients with acute middle cerebral

infarction with or without the involvement of the adjacent territories, not for other types.

### Conclusion

In our study, the SHR, measured by the FPG/HbA1c ratio, is independently associated with CED, poor functional outcome, and death after acute cerebral infarction. The SHR (as a continuous variable) appears to have a better predictive value for moderate-to-severe CED and poor functional outcome than the RPG and FPG. In future studies, exploring whether the predictive value of the model consisting of traditional risk factors for the development of CED will be improved by adding the SHR is significant.

### Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

### **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee of West China Hospital, Sichuan University. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

# Author contributions

YD contributed to the study design and data analysis and wrote the manuscript. MiL and SZ contributed to the study

### References

Adams, H. P. Jr., Bendixen, B. H., Kappelle, L. J., Biller, J., Love, B. B., Gordon, D. L., et al. (1993). Classification of subtype of acute ischemic stroke. Definitions for use in a multicenter clinical trial. TOAST. Trial of org 10172 in acute stroke treatment. *Stroke* 24, 35–41. doi: 10.1161/01.str.24.1.35

Berrouschot, J., Sterker, M., Bettin, S., Köster, J., and Schneider, D. (1998). Mortality of space-occupying ('malignant') middle cerebral artery infarction under conservative intensive care. *Intensive Care Med.* 24, 620–623. doi: 10.1007/ s001340050625

Broocks, G., Flottmann, F., Scheibel, A., Aigner, A., Faizy, T. D., Hanning, U., et al. (2018). Quantitative Lesion water uptake in acute stroke computed tomography is a predictor of malignant infarction. *Stroke* 49, 1906–1912. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.118.020507

Cannarsa, G. J., Wessell, A. P., Chryssikos, T., Stokum, J. A., Kim, K., De Paula Carvalho, H., et al. (2022). Initial stress hyperglycemia is associated with malignant design and data analysis and edited the manuscript. SW, JL, and JW assembled the collected data. MeL and LW contributed to the study design and discussion. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# Funding

This study was funded by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 81974181), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 81974208), and the 1.3.5 project for disciplines of excellence, West China Hospital, Sichuan University (Grant No. ZYGD18009).

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

### Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fnagi.2022.936862/full#supplementary-material

cerebral edema, hemorrhage, and poor functional outcome after mechanical thrombectomy. *Neurosurgery* 90, 66-71. doi: 10.1227/neu.000000000001735

Chamorro, Á, Brown, S., Amaro, S., Hill, M. D., Muir, K. W., Dippel, D. W. J., et al. (2019). Glucose modifies the effect of endovascular thrombectomy in patients with acute stroke. *Stroke* 50, 690–696. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.118.023769

Chen, G., Li, M., Wen, X., Wang, R., Zhou, Y., Xue, L., et al. (2021). Association between stress hyperglycemia ratio and in-hospital outcomes in elderly patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 8:698725. doi: 10.3389/ fcvm.2021.698725

Chen, G., Ren, J., Huang, H., Shen, J., Yang, C., Hu, J., et al. (2022). Admission random blood glucose, fasting blood glucose, stress hyperglycemia ratio, and functional outcomes in patients with acute ischemic stroke treated with intravenous thrombolysis. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 14:782282. doi: 10.3389/fnagi. 2022.782282 Cheng, Y., Wu, S., Wang, Y., Song, Q., Yuan, R., Wu, Q., et al. (2020). External validation and modification of the EDEMA score for predicting malignant brain edema after acute ischemic stroke. *Neurocrit. Care* 32, 104–112. doi: 10.1007/s12028-019-00844-y

Dargazanli, C., Fahed, R., Blanc, R., Gory, B., Labreuche, J., Duhamel, A., et al. (2018). Modified thrombolysis in cerebral infarction 2C/Thrombolysis in cerebral infarction 3 reperfusion should be the aim of mechanical thrombectomy: Insights from the ASTER trial (contact aspiration versus stent retriever for successful revascularization). Stroke 49, 1189–1196. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.118.020700

Dowlati, E., Sarpong, K., Kamande, S., Carroll, A. H., Murray, J., Wiley, A., et al. (2021). Abnormal neurological pupil index is associated with malignant cerebral edema after mechanical thrombectomy in large vessel occlusion patients. *Neurol. Sci.* 42, 5139–5148. doi: 10.1007/s10072-021-05218-x

Dungan, K. M., Braithwaite, S. S., and Preiser, J.-C. (2009). Stress hyperglycaemia. *Lancet* 373, 1798–1807. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(09)60553-5

Ferro, D., Matias, M., Neto, J., Dias, R., Moreira, G., Petersen, N., et al. (2021). Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio predicts cerebral edema and clinical worsening early after reperfusion therapy in stroke. *Stroke* 52, 859–867. doi: 10.1161/ strokeaha.120.032130

Hacke, W., Kaste, M., Fieschi, C., Toni, D., Lesaffre, E., von Kummer, R., et al. (1995). Intravenous thrombolysis with recombinant tissue plasminogen activator for acute hemispheric stroke. The European cooperative acute stroke study (ECASS). *JAMA* 274, 1017–1025.

Huang, J., Liu, B., Yang, C., Chen, H., Eunice, D., and Yuan, Z. (2013). Acute hyperglycemia worsens ischemic stroke-induced brain damage via high mobility group box-1 in rats. *Brain Res.* 1535, 148–155. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2013.08.057

Ishihara, M., Kagawa, E., Inoue, I., Kawagoe, T., Shimatani, Y., Kurisu, S., et al. (2007). Impact of admission hyperglycemia and diabetes mellitus on short- and long-term mortality after acute myocardial infarction in the coronary intervention era. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 99, 1674–1679. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2007.01.044

Kernan, W. N., Viscoli, C. M., Brass, L. M., Broderick, J. P., Brott, T., Feldmann, E., et al. (2000). Phenylpropanolamine and the risk of hemorrhagic stroke. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 343, 1826–1832. doi: 10.1056/nejm200012213432501

Kruyt, N. D., Biessels, G. J., Devries, J. H., and Roos, Y. B. (2010). Hyperglycemia in acute ischemic stroke: Pathophysiology and clinical management. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 6, 145–155. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2009.231

Li, J., Quan, K., Wang, Y., Zhao, X., Li, Z., Pan, Y., et al. (2020). Effect of stress hyperglycemia on neurological deficit and mortality in the acute ischemic stroke people with and without diabetes. *Front. Neurol.* 11:576895. doi: 10.3389/fneur. 2020.576895

Liu, J., Zheng, L., Cheng, Y., Zhang, S., Wu, B., Wang, D., et al. (2019). Trends in outcomes of patients with ischemic stroke treated between 2002 and 2016: Insights from a Chinese cohort. *Circ. Cardiovasc. Qual. Outcomes* 12:e005610. doi: 10.1161/circoutcomes.119.005610

Mac Grory, B., Piccini, J. P., Yaghi, S., Poli, S., De Havenon, A., Rostanski, S. K., et al. (2022). Hyperglycemia, risk of subsequent stroke, and efficacy of dual antiplatelet therapy: A post Hoc analysis of the POINT trial. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 11:e023223. doi: 10.1161/jaha.121.023223

Merlino, G., Pez, S., Gigli, G. L., Sponza, M., Lorenzut, S., Surcinelli, A., et al. (2021). Stress hyperglycemia in patients with acute ischemic stroke due to large vessel occlusion undergoing mechanical thrombectomy. *Front. Neurol.* 12:725002.

Merlino, G., Smeralda, C., Gigli, G. L., Lorenzut, S., Pez, S., Surcinelli, A., et al. (2020). Stress hyperglycemia is predictive of worse outcome in patients with acute ischemic stroke undergoing intravenous thrombolysis. *J. Thromb. Thrombolysis* 51, 789–797. doi: 10.1007/s11239-020-02252-y

Ong, C. J., Gluckstein, J., Laurido-Soto, O., Yan, Y., Dhar, R., and Lee, J. M. (2017). Enhanced detection of edema in malignant anterior circulation stroke (EDEMA) score: A risk prediction tool. *Stroke* 48, 1969–1972. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.117.016733

Pan, Y., Cai, X., Jing, J., Meng, X., Li, H., Wang, Y., et al. (2017). Stress Hyperglycemia and prognosis of minor ischemic stroke and transient ischemic attack: The CHANCE study (clopidogrel in high-risk patients with acute nondisabling cerebrovascular events). *Stroke* 48, 3006–3011. doi: 10.1161/ strokeaha.117.019081

Roberts, G. W., Quinn, S. J., Valentine, N., Alhawassi, T., O'Dea, H., Stranks, S. N., et al. (2015). Relative hyperglycemia, a marker of critical illness: Introducing the stress hyperglycemia ratio. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 100, 4490–4497. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-2660

Roberts, G., Sires, J., Chen, A., Thynne, T., Sullivan, C., Quinn, S., et al. (2021). A comparison of the stress hyperglycemia ratio, glycemic gap, and glucose to assess the impact of stress-induced hyperglycemia on ischemic stroke outcome. *J. Diabetes* 13, 1034–1042. doi: 10.1111/1753-0407.13223

Shimoyama, T., Kimura, K., Uemura, J., Yamashita, S., Saji, N., Shibazaki, K., et al. (2014). The DASH score: A simple score to assess risk for development of malignant middle cerebral artery infarction. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 338, 102–106. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2013.12.024

Spronk, E., Sykes, G., Falcione, S., Munsterman, D., Joy, T., Kamtchum-Tatuene, J., et al. (2021). Hemorrhagic transformation in ischemic stroke and the role of inflammation. *Front. Neurol.* 12:661955. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.661955

Strbian, D., Meretoja, A., Putaala, J., Kaste, M., and Tatlisumak, T. (2013). Cerebral edema in acute ischemic stroke patients treated with intravenous thrombolysis. *Int. J. Stroke* 8, 529–534. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-4949.2012.00781.x

Su, Y. W., Hsu, C. Y., Guo, Y. W., and Chen, H. S. (2017). Usefulness of the plasma glucose concentration-to-HbA(1c) ratio in predicting clinical outcomes during acute illness with extreme hyperglycaemia. *Diabetes Metab.* 43, 40–47. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2016.07.036

Tsivgoulis, G., Katsanos, A. H., Mavridis, D., Lambadiari, V., Roffe, C., Macleod, M. J., et al. (2019). Association of baseline hyperglycemia with outcomes of patients with and without diabetes with acute ischemic stroke treated with intravenous thrombolysis: A propensity score-matched analysis from the SITS-ISTR registry. *Diabetes* 68, 1861–1869. doi: 10.2337/db19-0440

Tziomalos, K., Dimitriou, P., Bouziana, S. D., Spanou, M., Kostaki, S., Angelopoulou, S. M., et al. (2017). Stress hyperglycemia and acute ischemic stroke in-hospital outcome. *Metabolism* 67, 99–105. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2016.11.011

Wahlgren, N., Ahmed, N., Dávalos, A., Ford, G. A., Grond, M., Hacke, W., et al. (2007). Thrombolysis with alteplase for acute ischaemic stroke in the safe implementation of thrombolysis in stroke-monitoring study (SITS-MOST): An observational study. *Lancet* 369, 275–282. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(07)60149-4

Yoon, J. A., Kim, D. Y., Sohn, M. K., Lee, J., Lee, S. G., Lee, Y. S., et al. (2016). Effect of stress hyperglycemia and intensive rehabilitation therapy in non-diabetic hemorrhagic stroke: Korean stroke cohort for functioning and rehabilitation. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 23, 1658–1665. doi: 10.1111/ene.13101

Yuan, C., Chen, S., Ruan, Y., Liu, Y., Cheng, H., Zeng, Y., et al. (2021). The Stress hyperglycemia ratio is associated with hemorrhagic transformation in patients with acute ischemic stroke. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 16, 431–442.

Yuen, N. Y., Chechneva, O. V., Chen, Y. J., Tsai, Y. C., Little, L. K., Dang, J., et al. (2019). Exacerbated brain edema in a rat streptozotocin model of hyperglycemic ischemic stroke: Evidence for involvement of blood-brain barrier Na-K-Cl cotransport and Na/H exchange. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 39, 1678–1692. doi: 10.1177/0271678x1877 0844

Zhang, Y., Gu, S., Wang, C., Liu, D., Zhang, Q., Yang, M., et al. (2021). Association between fasting blood glucose levels and stroke events: A large-scale community-based cohort study from China. *BMJ Open* 11: e050234.

Zhu, B., Pan, Y., Jing, J., Meng, X., Zhao, X., Liu, L., et al. (2019). Stress hyperglycemia and outcome of non-diabetic patients after acute ischemic stroke. *Front. Neurol.* 10:1003. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.01003





**@** 

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

**Contact us:** frontiersin.org/about/contact

**Frontiers** 

FOLLOW US @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network